Horizon Therapeutics plc
2020 Irish Statutory Accounts (“Irish Annual Report”)

CONTENTS
Page
DIRECTORS AND OTHER INFORMATION

DIRECTORS' REPORT
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

2
3 – 87
88 – 94

CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

95

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

96

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

97 – 98

99

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

100 – 101

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

102 – 155

PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

156 – 168

DIRECTORS AND OTHER INFORMATION

Board of Directors at December 31, 2020
Timothy Walbert
Michael Grey
William F. Daniel
Jeff Himawan, Ph.D.
Susan Mahony, Ph.D.
Gino Santini
James Shannon, M.D.
H. Thomas Watkins
Pascale Witz

Secretary and Registered Office
Jennifer Lee
Connaught House
1st Floor
1 Burlington Road
Dublin 4
D04 C5Y6
Ireland

Registered Number: 507678

Auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm
One Spencer Dock
North Wall Quay
Dublin 1
D01 X9R7
Ireland

Solicitor
Matheson
70 Sir John Rogerson’s Quay
Grand Canal Dock
Dublin 2
D02 R296
Ireland

2

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The directors present their report and the audited financial statements of the Company (as defined below) for the financial
year ended December 31, 2020.
Basis of Presentation
The Company is a public limited company formed under the laws of Ireland. The Company operates through a number of
international and U.S. subsidiaries with principal business purposes to either perform research and development or manufacturing
operations, serve as distributors of the Company’s medicines, hold intellectual property assets or provide services and financial
support to the Company.
The directors have elected to prepare the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Section 279 of the
Companies Act 2014, which provides that a true and fair view of the state of affairs and profit or loss may be given by preparing
the financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“US
GAAP”), as defined in Section 279 of the Companies Act 2014, to the extent that the use of those principles in the preparation of
the financial statements does not contravene any provision of the Irish Companies Acts (collectively, the “Companies Act”) or of
any regulations made thereunder.
Principal Activities
Unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, references to the “Company”, “Horizon”, “we”, “us” and
“our” refer to Horizon Therapeutics plc and its consolidated subsidiaries.
We are focused on researching, developing and commercializing medicines that address critical needs for people impacted
by rare, autoimmune and serious inflammatory diseases. Our pipeline is purposeful: it applies scientific expertise and courage to
bring clinically meaningful therapies to patients. Horizon believes science and compassion must work together to transform lives.
We have two reportable segments, the orphan segment and the inflammation segment. As of December 31, 2020, our portfolio
consisted of eleven medicines in the areas of rare disease, gout, ophthalmology and inflammation.
Effective in the first quarter of 2020, we (i) reorganized our commercial operations and moved responsibility
for and reporting of RAYOS® to the inflammation segment and (ii) renamed the orphan and rheumatology segment the
orphan segment. Turnover generated by TEPEZZA®, which was approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”)
on January 21, 2020, are reported as part of the renamed orphan segment.

As of December 31, 2020, our marketed medicines portfolio consisted of the following:
Orphan
TEPEZZA (teprotumumab-trbw), for intravenous infusion
KRYSTEXXA® (pegloticase injection), for intravenous infusion
RAVICTI® (glycerol phenylbutyrate) oral liquid
PROCYSBI® (cysteamine bitartrate) delayed-release capsules and granules, for oral use
ACTIMMUNE® (interferon gamma-1b) injection, for subcutaneous use
BUPHENYL® (sodium phenylbutyrate) tablets and powder, for oral use
QUINSAIR™ (levofloxacin) solution for inhalation
Inflammation
PENNSAID® (diclofenac sodium topical solution) 2% w/w, (“PENNSAID 2%”), for topical use
DUEXIS® (ibuprofen/famotidine) tablets, for oral use
RAYOS (prednisone) delayed-release tablets, for oral use
VIMOVO® (naproxen/esomeprazole magnesium) delayed-release tablets, for oral use
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Acquisitions and Divestitures
Since January 1, 2019, we completed the following acquisitions and divestitures:
•

On March 15, 2021, we completed our acquisition of Viela Bio, Inc., or Viela, in which we acquired all of the issued
and outstanding shares of Viela’s common stock for $53.00 per share in cash, which represents a fully diluted equity
value of approximately $3.05 billion, or approximately $2.67 billion net of Viela’s cash and cash equivalents. Viela
has one on-market medicine in the United States and a deep mid-stage biologics pipeline for autoimmune and severe
inflammatory diseases, with four candidates currently in nine development programs. See the “Research and
Development” section below and Note 30 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this report
for further details.

•

On October 27, 2020, we sold our rights to develop and commercialize RAVICTI and BUPHENYL in Japan to
Medical Need Europe AB, part of the Immedica Group, or Immedica.

•

On April 1, 2020, we acquired Curzion Pharmaceuticals, Inc., or Curzion, a privately held development-stage
biopharma company, and its development-stage oral selective lysophosphatidic acid 1 receptor (LPAR1) antagonist,
CZN001 (renamed HZN-825), for an upfront payment with additional payments contingent on the achievement of
development and regulatory milestones.

•

On June 28, 2019, we sold our rights to MIGERGOT to Cosette Pharmaceuticals, Inc., for an upfront payment and
potential additional contingent consideration payments (the “MIGERGOT transaction”).

•

Effective January 1, 2019, we amended its license and supply agreements with Jagotec AG and Skyepharma AG,
which are affiliates of Vectura Group plc (“Vectura”). Under these amendments, we agreed to transfer all economic
benefits of LODOTRA® in Europe to Vectura.

Business Review
Impact of COVID-19
On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization made the assessment that a novel strain of coronavirus, which causes
the COVID-19 disease, had become a pandemic. On March 13, 2020, The President of the United States declared the COVID-19
pandemic a national emergency and many states and municipalities in the United States took aggressive actions to reduce the
spread of the disease, including limiting non-essential gatherings of people, ceasing all non-essential travel, ordering certain
businesses and government agencies to cease non-essential operations at physical locations and issuing “shelter-in-place” orders
which direct individuals to shelter at their places of residence (subject to limited exceptions). Similarly, the Irish government
limited gatherings of people and encouraged employees to work from their homes, and may implement more aggressive policies
in the future. In mid-March 2020 we implemented work-from-home policies for all employees and moved to a “virtual” model
with respect to our physician, patient and partner support activities. As certain U.S. states started to reduce restrictions, we saw
physicians’ offices beginning to reopen, which reopening varied on a state-by-state basis. As a result, our sales representatives in
some areas have transitioned to being back out in the field and are working on ways to re-engage patients and physicians.
However, as COVID-19 cases have increased in certain areas, certain U.S. states have reimplemented restrictions and some
physician offices re-established limits on in-person visits. While our financial results during the year ended December 31, 2020,
were strong and we continue to have a significant amount of available liquidity, we anticipate the COVID-19 pandemic to
continue to have a negative impact on turnover into 2021. In addition, our clinical trials have been and may in the future be
affected by the COVID-19 pandemic as referred to below.
Economic and health conditions in the United States and across most of the world are continuing to change rapidly because
of the COVID-19 pandemic. Although COVID-19 is a global issue that is altering business and consumer activity, the
pharmaceutical industry is considered a critical and essential industry in the United States and many other countries and, therefore,
we do not currently expect any significant extended shut downs of suppliers or distribution channels, except for the short-term
disruption in TEPEZZA supply described below. In respect of our other medicines, we believe we have sufficient stock of raw
materials and finished goods and we expect patients to be able to continue to receive their medicines at a site of care, for our
infused medicines, and from their current pharmacies, alternative pharmacies or, if necessary, by direct shipment from our thirdparty providers that have such capability, for our other medicines.

4

TEPEZZA
The launch of our infused medicine for thyroid eye disease, or TED, TEPEZZA, which was approved by the FDA on
January 21, 2020, significantly exceeded our expectations. In early 2019, we initiated our pre-launch disease awareness, market
development and market access efforts with multi-functional field-based teams beginning to engage with key stakeholders in July
of 2019. We believe these pre-launch efforts, the severity and acute nature of TED, and a highly motivated patient population
have generated significant demand for the medicine. While we experienced a much higher number of new patients in 2020 than
our initial estimates, the impact from COVID-19 has slowed the generation of patient enrollment forms for TEPEZZA, which
drive new patient starts.
On December 17, 2020, we announced that we expected a short-term disruption in TEPEZZA supply as a result of recent
U.S. government-mandated COVID-19 vaccine production orders pursuant to the Defense Production Act of 1950, or DPA, that
dramatically restricted capacity available for the production of TEPEZZA at our drug product contract manufacturer, Catalent
Indiana, LLC, or Catalent. Pursuant to the DPA, Catalent was ordered to prioritize certain COVID-19 vaccine manufacturing at
Catalent, resulting in the cancellation of previously guaranteed and contracted TEPEZZA drug product manufacturing slots in
December 2020, which were required to maintain TEPEZZA supply. To offset the reduced slots, we accelerated plans to increase
the production scale of TEPEZZA drug product at Catalent.
Prior to the announcement of the short-term supply disruption in TEPEZZA, we were able to meet the significantly higher
than initially expected demand for TEPEZZA in 2020. For the year ended December 31, 2020, we recorded TEPEZZA turnover
of $820.0 million, which is more than 20 times greater than the expected TEPEZZA full year 2020 turnover of $30.0 million to
$40.0 million that we stated in a Current Report on Form 8-K filing on February 26, 2020.
In March 2021, the FDA approved a prior approval supplement to the previously approved Biologics Licensing Application,
or BLA, giving us authorization to manufacture more TEPEZZA drug product resulting in an increased number of vials with each
manufacturing slot. We plan to resupply the market beginning in April 2021, which will end the supply disruption that began in
December 2020 following U.S. government-mandated COVID-19 vaccine production orders pursuant to the DPA. In addition,
we are making progress with our second drug product manufacturer and we are on track to begin shipping TEPEZZA supply from
this manufacturer, following U.S. FDA approval, by year end. Other than Catalent, we are not aware of any manufacturing
facilities that are part of the supply chain for our medicines that are being utilized for the manufacture of vaccines for COVID-19.
At this time, we consider our inventories on hand of all our other medicines to be sufficient to meet our commercial requirements.
We have delayed the start of an FDA-required post-marketing study to evaluate safety of TEPEZZA in a larger patient
population and retreatment rates relative to how long patients receive the medicine. We have also delayed the start of our planned
TEPEZZA clinical trial in chronic TED and an exploratory trial of TEPEZZA in diffuse cutaneous systemic sclerosis until later in
2021, assuming commercial drug product supplies have normalized by that time.
KRYSTEXXA
KRYSTEXXA is an infused medicine for uncontrolled gout and was also achieving rapid growth prior to the COVID-19
pandemic. While the vast majority of patients on therapy have maintained therapy, many new patients have delayed infusions due
to shelter-in-place guidelines and patients voluntarily delaying visits to healthcare providers and infusion centers. Patient visits to
physicians substantially declined during 2020, which resulted in a reduction of new patients. Although we cannot predict when
healthcare activities will return to normal levels due to the continued uncertainty with respect to the COVID-19 pandemic, patient
demand is beginning to return with the return of healthcare activity.
Our other medicines
Our other rare disease medicines, RAVICTI, PROCYSBI and ACTIMMUNE, treat serious, chronic diseases with serious
consequences if left untreated. It is therefore critical for patients to maintain therapy. Patient motivation to continue treatment is
high, and therefore turnover for these three medicines were stable during 2020, with less impact from COVID-19 compared to our
other medicines.
In regard to the inflammation segment, we are experiencing reduced demand given the absence of in-person engagement by
our sales representatives with healthcare providers and reduced levels of non-essential patient visits to physicians. This impact
has been somewhat mitigated by the virtual engagement efforts of our sales representatives, as well as the use of telemedicine by
many physicians, which allows them to continue to see patients and prescribe medicines. In addition, with our HorizonCares
program, most patients do not need to physically visit a pharmacy to obtain a prescription because the vast majority of these
medicines are delivered to a patient’s home through mail or local courier, depending on the participating pharmacy.
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Clinical trials
Our clinical trials have been and may in the future be affected by COVID-19. As referred to above, two of our clinical trials
for TEPEZZA have been delayed due to the impact of the TEPEZZA supply disruption at Catalent. In addition, clinical site
initiation and patient enrollment may be delayed due to prioritization of hospital and healthcare resources toward COVID-19.
Current or potential patients in our ongoing or planned clinical trials may also choose to not enroll, not participate in follow-up
clinical visits or drop out of the trial as a result of, or a precaution against, contracting COVID-19. Further, some patients may not
be able or willing to comply with clinical trial protocols if quarantines impede patient movement or interrupt healthcare services.
Some clinical sites in the United States have slowed or stopped further enrollment of new patients in clinical trials, denied access
to site monitors or otherwise curtailed certain operations. Similarly, our ability to recruit and retain principal investigators and site
staff who, as healthcare providers, may have heightened exposure to COVID-19, may be adversely impacted. These events could
delay our clinical trials, increase the cost of completing our clinical trials and negatively impact the integrity, reliability or
robustness of the data from our clinical trials.
We are continuing to actively monitor the possible impacts from the COVID-19 pandemic and may take further actions to
alter our business operations as may be required by federal, state or local authorities or that we determine are in the best interests
of patients. There is significant uncertainty about the duration and potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. This means that
our results could change at any time and the contemplated impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business results and outlook
represents our estimate based on the information available as of the date of this Irish Annual Report.
Key Performance Indicators
Our consolidated results of operations for the financial years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were as follows (in
thousands):

For the Years
Ended December 31,
2020

2019

Change

(in thousands)

Turnover
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Research and development
Selling, general and administrative
(Gain) loss on sale of assets
Total operating expenses
Operating income
Other expense, net:
Interest expense, net (1)
Loss on debt extinguishment (1)
Foreign exchange (loss) gain (2)
Other income (expense), net (2)
Total other expense, net
Income (loss) before taxation
Expense (benefit) for income taxes
Income for the financial year

$

2,200,429 $
532,695
1,667,734
209,364
973,227
(4,883)
1,177,708
490,026
(59,616 )
(31,856 )
(297 )
3,388
(88,381 )
401,645
11,849
389,796 $

$

1,300,029 $
362,175
937,854

900,400
170,520
729,880

103,169
697,111
10,963
811,243
126,611

106,195
276,116
(15,846)
366,465
363,415

(87,089 )
(58,835 )
33
(944 )
(146,835 )
(20,224 )
(593,244 )
573,020 $

27,473
26,979
(330)
4,332
58,454
421,869
605,093
(183,224)

(1)

These items are grouped together as “Interest payable and similar expenses” and “Interest receivable and similar income”
under the required Irish Companies Acts format in the consolidated profit and loss account.

(2)

“Foreign exchange (loss) gain” and “other income (expense)” are grouped together as "other income" and “other expense”
under the required Irish Companies Acts format in the consolidated profit and loss account.
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Turnover. Net turnover increased $900.4 million, or 69%, to $2,200.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2020,
from $1,300.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2019. The increase in net turnover during the year ended December
31, 2020 was primarily due to an increase in turnover in our orphan segment of $936.7 million, primarily due to post-launch sales
of TEPEZZA of $820.0 million, partially offset by a decrease in turnover in our inflammation segment of $36.3 million.
The following table presents a summary of total turnover attributed to geographic sources for the years ended December 31,
2020 and 2019 (in thousands, except percentages):
Year Ended December 31, 2020
% of Total
Amount
Net Turnover

United States
Rest of world
Total turnover

$ 2,191,111
9,318
$ 2,200,429

100%
*

Year Ended December 31, 2019
% of Total
Amount
Net Turnover

$ 1,292,419
7,610
$ 1,300,029

99%
1%

*Less than 1%

The following table reflects the components of turnover for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 (in thousands,
except percentages):
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019

Change
$

Change
%

$

820,008 $
405,849
261,615
170,102
118,834
10,549
698
1,787,655 $

—$
342,379
228,755
161,941
107,302
9,806
817
851,000 $

820,008
63,470
32,860
8,161
11,532
743
(119 )
936,655

100 %
19 %
14 %
5%
11 %
8%
(15 )%
110 %

PENNSAID 2%
DUEXIS
RAYOS
VIMOVO
MIGERGOT
Inflammation segment turnover

$

178,011
125,331
71,811
37,621
—
412,774 $

200,756
115,750
78,595
52,106
1,822
449,029 $

(22,745 )
9,581
(6,784 )
(14,485 )
(1,822 )
(36,255 )

(11 )%
8%
(9 )%
(28 )%
(100 )%
(8 )%

Total turnover

$

2,200,429 $

1,300,029 $

900,400

69 %

TEPEZZA
KRYSTEXXA
RAVICTI
PROCYSBI
ACTIMMUNE
BUPHENYL
QUINSAIR
Orphan segment turnover

$

Orphan Segment
TEPEZZA. On January 21, 2020, the FDA approved TEPEZZA for the treatment of TED. Turnover generated for
TEPEZZA during the year ended December 31, 2020 were $820.0 million. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and despite its
strong launch year performance, TEPEZZA turnover were negatively impacted during the year ended December 31, 2020, due to
reduced willingness of patients to visit physician offices and infusion centers.
KRYSTEXXA. Turnover increased $63.4 million, or 19%, to $405.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2020, from
$342.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2019. Turnover increased by approximately $32.5 million due to volume
growth and $30.9 million due to higher net pricing. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, KRYSTEXXA turnover were
negatively impacted during the year ended December 31, 2020, due to reduced willingness of patients to visit physician offices
and infusion centers.
RAVICTI. Turnover increased $32.9 million, or 14%, to $261.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2020, from
$228.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2019. Turnover increased by approximately $20.6 million due to higher net
pricing and $12.3 million due to volume growth.
PROCYSBI. Turnover increased $8.2 million, or 5%, to $170.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2020, from
$161.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2019. Turnover increased by approximately $7.8 million due to higher net
pricing and $0.4 million due to volume growth.
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ACTIMMUNE. Turnover increased $11.5 million, or 11%, to $118.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2020,
from $107.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2019. Turnover increased by approximately $12.4 million due to higher
net pricing, partially offset by a decrease of approximately $0.9 million resulting from lower sales volume.
Inflammation Segment
As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, sales volumes for our inflammation medicines have been negatively impacted due
to reduced demand given the absence of in-person engagement by our sales representatives with health care providers and reduced
levels of non-essential patient visits to physicians.
PENNSAID 2%. Turnover decreased $22.8 million, or 11%, to $178.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2020,
from $200.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2019. Turnover decreased by approximately $62.0 million resulting
from lower sales volume, partially offset by an increase of $39.2 million resulting from higher net pricing primarily due to lower
utilization of our patient assistance programs.
DUEXIS. Turnover increased $9.5 million, or 8%, to $125.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2020, from
$115.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2019. Turnover increased by approximately $37.9 million due to higher net
pricing primarily due to lower utilization of our patient assistance programs, partially offset by a decrease of approximately $28.4
million resulting from lower sales volume.
RAYOS. Turnover decreased $6.7 million, or 9%, to $71.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2020, from $78.5
million during the year ended December 31, 2019. Turnover decreased by approximately $23.5 million due to lower sales
volume, partially offset by an increase of $16.8 million resulting from higher net pricing primarily due to lower utilization of our
patient assistance programs.
VIMOVO. Turnover decreased $14.5 million, or 28%, to $37.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2020, from
$52.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2019. Turnover decreased by approximately $37.6 million due to lower sales
volume, partially offset by an increase of $23.1 million resulting from higher net pricing primarily due to lower utilization of our
patient assistance programs.
The table below reconciles our gross to net turnover for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 (in millions, except
percentages):
Year Ended
December 31, 2020
% of Gross
Amount
Turnover

Gross turnover
Adjustments to gross turnover:
Prompt pay discounts
Medicine returns
Co-pay and other patient assistance
Commercial rebates and wholesaler fees
Government rebates and chargebacks
Total adjustments
Turnover

$

4,039.4

(52.3 )
(16.4 )
(877.3 )
(304.2 )
(588.8 )
(1,839.0 )
$ 2,200.4

100 % $

Year Ended
December 31, 2019
% of Gross
Amount
Turnover

3,911.8

(1.3 )%
(71.4 )
(0.4 )%
(26.5 )
(21.7 )%
(1,519.7 )
(7.5 )%
(479.5 )
(14.6 )%
(514.7 )
(45.5 )%
(2,611.8 )
54.5 % $ 1,300.0

100 %
(1.8 )%
(0.7 )%
(38.8 )%
(12.3 )%
(13.2 )%
(66.8 )%
33.2 %

During the year ended December 31, 2020, co-pay and other patient assistance costs, as a percentage of gross turnover,
decreased to 21.7% from 38.8% during the year ended December 31, 2019, primarily due to lower utilization of our patient
assistance programs and the reduction of VIMOVO sales as a result of generic competition.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, commercial rebates and wholesaler fees, as a percentage of gross turnover,
decreased to 7.5% from 12.3% during the year ended December 31, 2019, primarily as a result of an increased proportion of
orphan segment medicines sold and the reduction of VIMOVO sales as a result of generic competition.
On a quarter-to-quarter basis, our turnover has traditionally been lower in first half of the year, particularly in the first
quarter, with the second half of the year representing a greater share of overall turnover each year. This is due to annual managed
care plan changes and the re-setting of patients’ medical insurance deductibles at the beginning of each year, resulting in higher
co-pay and other patient assistance costs as patients meet their annual medical insurance deductibles during the first and second
quarters, and higher turnover in the second half of the year after patients meet their deductibles and healthcare plans reimburse a
greater portion of the total cost of our medicines.
8

On December 17, 2020, we announced that we expected a short-term disruption in TEPEZZA supply as a result of recent
U.S. government-mandated COVID-19 vaccine production orders pursuant to the Defense Production Act of 1950, that
dramatically restricted capacity available for the production of TEPEZZA at our drug product contract manufacturer, Catalent.
This short-term supply disruption has negatively impacted our turnover of TEPEZZA. Refer to the Impact of COVID-19 section
in this Irish Annual Report for further information.
Cost of Sales. Cost of sales increased $170.5 million to $532.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2020, from
$362.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2019. The increase in cost of sales during the year ended December 31, 2020,
compared to during the year ended December 31, 2019, was primarily due to a $93.1 million increase in royalty expense and a
$24.7 million increase in amortization expense. These increases are mainly related to royalties payable on turnover of TEPEZZA,
which was launched in the first quarter of 2020, and the amortization of the TEPEZZA developed technology intangible asset,
which commenced in the first quarter of 2020. As a percentage of turnover, cost of sales was 24% during the year ended
December 31, 2020, compared to 28% during the year ended December 31, 2019. The decrease in cost of sales as a percentage of
turnover was primarily due to a change in the mix of medicines sold.
We expect our cost of sales to significantly increase in 2021 as a result of increased amortization expense and stock step-up
expense as a result of the completion of the Viela acquisition. Refer to Note 30 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements, for further details of this acquisition.
Research and Development Expenses. Research and development expenses increased $106.2 million to $209.4 million
during the year ended December 31, 2020, from $103.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2019. The increase was
primarily attributable to the $45.0 million acquisition of Curzion during the year ended December 31, 2020. Pursuant to ASC 805
(as amended by ASU No. 2017-01, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Clarifying the Definition of a Business, or ASU No.
2017-01, we accounted for the Curzion acquisition as the purchase of an in-process research and development asset and, pursuant
to ASC Topic 730, Research and Development, or ASC 730, recorded the purchase price as a research and development expense
during the year ended December 31, 2020. Additionally, during the year ended December 31, 2020, we entered into an agreement
with Halozyme Therapeutics Inc, or Halozyme, which gives us exclusive access to Halozyme’s ENHANZE drug delivery
technology for subcutaneous, or SC, formulation of medicines targeting IGF-1R, and we paid Halozyme an upfront cash payment
of $30.0 million which we recorded as a research and development expense in the consolidated profit and loss account during the
year ended December 31, 2020. Additionally, clinical trial and manufacturing development costs increased $28.7 million during
the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to the year ended December 31, 2019 reflecting increased activity in our research
and development pipeline.
We expect our research and development expenses to significantly increase in 2021 as a result of our planned additional
clinical trials for our pipeline as well as due to the addition of Viela’s medicine candidates and development programs. Refer to
Note 30 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, for further details of this acquisition.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $276.1 million to
$973.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2020, from $697.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2019. The
increase was primarily attributable to an increase of $131.4 million in employee costs and an increase of $78.6 million related to
marketing program costs. These increases were mainly due to TEPEZZA, which was launched in the first quarter of 2020.
We expect our selling, general and administrative expenses to significantly increase as a result of the increase in the
commercial and field-based organization for TEPEZZA, as well as a result of the completion of the Viela acquisition. Refer to
Note 30 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, for further details of this acquisition.
Gain (loss) on sale of assets. During the year ended December 31, 2020, we completed the sale of rights to RAVICTI and
BUPHENYL in Japan for cash proceeds of $5.4 million, and we recorded a gain of $4.9 million on the sale.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, we sold our rights to MIGERGOT for cash proceeds of $6.0 million, and we
recorded a loss of $11.0 million on the sale.
Interest Expense, Net. Interest expense, net, decreased $27.5 million to $59.6 million during the year ended December 31,
2020, from $87.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2019. The decrease was primarily due to a decrease in interest
expense of $42.9 million, primarily related to the decrease in the principal amount of our term loans in March 2019 and July 2019,
redemption of our 6.625% Senior Notes due 2023, or the 2023 Senior Notes, in May 2019 and in August 2019, redemption of our
8.750% Senior Notes due 2024, or the 2024 Senior Notes, in August 2019 and the exchange of our 2.5% Exchangeable Senior
Notes due 2022, or the Exchangeable Senior Notes, in August 2020, partially offset by a decrease in interest income of $15.4
million.
We expect our interest expense to increase as a result of additional debt required to fund the Viela acquisition. Refer to
Note 30 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, for further details of this acquisition.
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Loss on Debt Extinguishment. During the year ended December 31, 2020, we recorded a loss on debt extinguishment of
$31.9 million in the consolidated profit and loss account, which reflects the exchange of our Exchangeable Senior Notes. During
the year ended December 31, 2020, $400.0 million in aggregate principal amount of Exchangeable Senior Notes were exchanged
for ordinary shares and cash payments. See Note 16, Debt Agreements, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, we recorded a loss on debt extinguishment of $58.8 million in the consolidated
profit and loss account, which reflected the early redemption premiums and the write-off of the deferred financing fees and debt
discount fees related to the prepayment of $775.0 million of our 2023 Senior Notes and our 2024 Senior Notes, and the write-off
of the deferred financing fees and debt discount fees related to the $400.0 million of term loan repayments.
Expense (benefit) for Income Taxes. During the year ended December 31, 2020, we recorded an expense for income taxes
of $11.8 million and we recorded a benefit for income taxes of $593.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2019. The
expense for income taxes recorded during the year ended December 31, 2020 was primarily attributable to a $15.2 million
provision recorded following the publication, on April 8, 2020, by the U.S. Department of the Treasury, of Final Regulations for
Section 267A, or commonly referred to as the Anti-Hybrid Rules. The Final Regulations for Section 267A permanently disallow
for U.S. tax purposes certain interest expense accrued to a foreign related party during the year ended December 31, 2019. As a
result, we recorded a write off of a deferred tax asset related to this interest expense during the year ended December 31, 2020 and
recognized a corresponding tax provision of $15.2 million. The remainder of the expense for income taxes recorded during the
year ended December 31, 2020 was primarily attributable to disallowed officer’s compensation under Section 162(m) of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, of $14.6 million, disallowed in-process research and development
expense incurred in connection with the Curzion acquisition of $9.5 million and tax expense recognized on U.S. taxable income
generated from an intercompany transfer of intellectual property from a U.S. subsidiary to an Irish subsidiary during the year
ended December 31, 2020 of $11.2 million and changes in valuation allowances of $4.2 million. These expenses were partially
offset by tax benefits recognized on share-based compensation of $23.8 million, additional U.S. Federal and state tax credits of
$13.8 million and the recognition of a deferred tax asset in the Irish subsidiary resulting from the intercompany transfer of
intellectual property of $6.0 million. The benefit for income taxes recorded during the year ended December 31, 2019 was
primarily attributable to the recognition of a $553.3 million deferred tax asset resulting from an intercompany transfer of
intellectual property assets to an Irish subsidiary.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures
EBITDA, or earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, adjusted EBITDA, non-GAAP net income and
non-GAAP earnings per share are used and provided by us as non-GAAP financial measures. These non-GAAP financial
measures are intended to provide additional information on our performance, operations and profitability. Adjustments to our
GAAP figures as well as EBITDA exclude acquisition/divestiture-related costs, upfront, progress and milestone payments related
to license and collaboration agreements, drug substance harmonization costs, fees related to refinancing activities, restructuring
and realignment costs, litigation settlements and charges related to discontinuation of the Friedreich’s ataxia program, as well as
non-cash items such as share-based compensation, stock step-up expense, depreciation and amortization, non-cash interest
expense, long-lived assets impairment charges, loss on debt extinguishments, gain (loss) on sale of assets and other non-cash
adjustments. Certain other special items or substantive events may also be included in the non-GAAP adjustments periodically
when their magnitude is significant within the periods incurred. We maintain an established non-GAAP cost policy that guides
the determination of what costs will be excluded in non-GAAP measures. We believe that these non-GAAP financial measures,
when considered together with the GAAP figures, can enhance an overall understanding of our financial and operating
performance. The non-GAAP financial measures are included with the intent of providing investors with a more complete
understanding of our historical financial results and trends and to facilitate comparisons between periods. In addition, these nonGAAP financial measures are among the indicators our management uses for planning and forecasting purposes and measuring
our performance. For example, adjusted EBITDA is used by us as one measure of management performance under certain
incentive compensation arrangements. These non-GAAP financial measures should be considered in addition to, and not as a
substitute for, or superior to, financial measures calculated in accordance with GAAP. The non-GAAP financial measures used
by us may be calculated differently from, and therefore may not be comparable to, non-GAAP financial measures used by other
companies.
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Reconciliations of reported GAAP net income to EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA and non-GAAP net income, and the related
per share amounts, were as follows (in thousands, except share and per share amounts):
For the Years Ended December 31,
2020

GAAP income for the financial year
Non-GAAP adjustments:
Depreciation (1)
Amortization and step-up:
Intangible amortization expense (2)
Stock step-up expense
Amortization of debt discount and deferred financing
costs (14)
Share-based compensation (3)
Acquisition/divestiture-related costs (4)
Upfront, progress and milestone payments related to license and collaboration
agreements (5)
Loss on debt extinguishment (6)
Impairment of long-lived assets (7)
Drug substance harmonization costs (8)
Fees related to refinancing activities (9)
Charges relating to discontinuation of Friedreich's ataxia
program (10)
Litigation settlements (11)
Restructuring and realignment costs (12)
(Gain) loss on sale of assets (13)
Total pre-tax non-GAAP adjustments
Income tax effect of pre-tax non-GAAP adjustments (15)
Other non-GAAP income tax adjustments (16)
Total non-GAAP adjustments
Non-GAAP Net Income

$

$

Non-GAAP Earnings Per Share:
Weighted average ordinary shares – Basic

2019

389,796

$

24,303

6,733

255,148
—

230,424
89

12,640
146,627
49,196

22,602
91,215
3,556

33,000
31,856
1,713
542
54

9,073
58,835
—
457
2,292

—
—
(141)
(4,883)
550,055
(102,753 )
20,541
467,843
857,639

$

203,967,246

Non-GAAP Earnings Per Share – Basic
GAAP income per share - Basic
Non-GAAP adjustments
Non-GAAP earnings per share – Basic

$
$

Non-GAAP Net Income
Effect of assumed conversion of Exchangeable Senior Notes, net of tax (17)
Numerator - non-GAAP Net Income

$
$

Weighted average ordinary shares – Diluted
Weighted average ordinary shares – Basic
Ordinary share equivalents
Denominator - weighted average ordinary shares – Diluted
Non-GAAP Earnings Per Share – Diluted
GAAP income per share – Diluted
Non-GAAP adjustments
Diluted earnings per share effect of ordinary share equivalents
Non-GAAP earnings per share – Diluted
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1.91
2.29
4.20

$

857,639
3,789
861,428

$

$

1.81
2.07
—
3.88

1,076
1,000
237
10,963
438,552
(66,568 )
(554,786 )
(182,802)
390,218

182,930,109

$

$

203,967,246
18,203,897
222,171,143

$

573,020

3.13
(1.00 )
2.13
390,218
7,500
397,718

182,930,109
22,294,112
205,224,221

$

$

2.90 )
(0.96 )
—
1.94

For the Years Ended December 31,
2020

GAAP income for the financial year
Depreciation (1)
Amortization and step-up:
Intangible amortization expense (2)
Stock step-up expense
Interest expense, net (including amortization of debt discount and
deferred financing costs)
Expense (benefit) for income taxes
EBITDA
Other non-GAAP adjustments:
Share-based compensation (3)
Acquisition/divestiture-related costs (4)
Upfront, progress and milestone payments related to license and collaboration
agreements (5)
Loss on debt extinguishment (6)
Impairment of long-lived assets (7)
Drug substance harmonization costs (8)
Fees related to refinancing activities (9)
Charges relating to discontinuation of Friedreich's ataxia program (10)
Litigation settlements (11)
Restructuring and realignment costs (12)
(Gain) loss on sale of assets (13)
Total of other non-GAAP adjustments
Adjusted EBITDA

$

$

389,796
24,303

2019

$

573,020
6,733

255,148
—

230,424
89

59,616
11,849
740,712

87,089
(593,244 )
304,111

146,627
49,196

91,215
3,556

33,000
31,856
1,713
542
54
—
—
(141 )
(4,883 )
257,964
998,676 $

9,073
58,835
—
457
2,292
1,076
1,000
237
10,963
178,704
482,815

(1) Represents depreciation expense related to our property, equipment, software and leasehold improvements.
(2) Intangible amortization expenses are associated with our intellectual property rights, developed technology and customer
relationships related to TEPEZZA, KRYSTEXXA, RAVICTI, PROCYSBI, ACTIMMUNE, BUPHENYL, PENNSAID 2%,
RAYOS, VIMOVO and MIGERGOT.
(3) Represents share-based compensation expense associated with our stock option, restricted stock unit and performance stock
unit grants to our employees and non-employee directors and our employee share purchase plan.
(4) Represents expenses, including legal and consulting fees, incurred in connection with our acquisitions and divestitures. Costs
recovered from subleases of acquired facilities and reimbursed expenses incurred under transition arrangements for
divestitures are also reflected in this line item. In addition, the year ended December 31, 2020 amounts include the Curzion
acquisition payment of $45.0 million, which was recorded as a research and development expense.
(5) During the year ended December 31, 2020, we incurred $30.0 million of an upfront cash payment related to a license
agreement entered into with Halozyme. The upfront cash payment was paid in December 2020. In addition, we recognized a
$3.0 million progress payment in relation to the collaboration agreement with HemoShear, which was paid in July 2020.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, we recorded upfront, progress and milestone payments related to license and
collaboration agreements of $9.1 million which was composed of a $3.0 million milestone payment to Roche relating to the
TEPEZZA BLA submission to the FDA during the third quarter of 2019, and an upfront cash payment of $2.0 million and a
progress payment of $4.0 million in relation to the collaboration agreement with HemoShear.
(6) During the year ended December 31, 2020, we recorded a loss on debt extinguishment of $31.9 million in the consolidated
profit and loss account, which reflects the extinguishment of our Exchangeable Senior Notes.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, we recorded a loss on debt extinguishment of $58.8 million in the consolidated
profit and loss account, which reflected the early redemption premiums and the write-off of the deferred financing fees and
debt discount fees related to the prepayment of $775.0 million of our 2023 Senior Notes and 2024 Senior Notes and the writeoff of the deferred financing fees and debt discount fees related to the $400.0 million of term loan repayments.
(7) During the year ended December 31, 2020, we recorded an impairment charge of $1.7 million related to the Novato,
California office lease, which was obtained through an acquisition.
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(8) During the year ended December 31, 2016, we entered into a definitive agreement to acquire certain rights to interferon
gamma-1b, marketed as IMUKIN in an estimated thirty countries primarily in Europe and the Middle East, or the IMUKIN
purchase agreement. We already owned the rights to interferon gamma-1b marketed as ACTIMMUNE in the United States,
Canada and Japan. In connection with the IMUKIN purchase agreement, we also committed to pay our contract
manufacturer certain amounts related to the harmonization of the manufacturing processes for ACTIMMUNE and IMUKIN
drug substance, or the harmonization program. At the time we entered into the IMUKIN purchase agreement and the
harmonization program commitment was made, we had anticipated achieving certain benefits should the Phase 3 clinical trial
evaluating ACTIMMUNE for the treatment of Friedreich’s ataxia be successful. If the study had been successful and if U.S.
marketing approval had subsequently been obtained, we had forecasted significant increases in demand for the medicine and
the harmonization program would have resulted in significant benefits to us. Following our discontinuation of the
Friedreich’s ataxia program, we determined that certain assets, including an upfront payment related to the IMUKIN purchase
agreement, were impaired, and the costs under the harmonization program would no longer have benefit to us and should be
expensed as incurred.

(9) Represents arrangement and other fees relating to our refinancing activities.
(10) Represents expenses incurred relating to discontinuation of the Friedreich’s ataxia program and a reduction to previous
charges recorded.

(11) We recorded $1.0 million of expense during the year ended December 31, 2019 for litigation settlements.
(12) Represents expenses, including severance costs and consulting fees, related to restructuring and realignment activities.
(13) During the year ended December 31, 2020, we completed the sale of rights to RAVICTI and BUPHENYL in Japan for cash
proceeds of $5.4 million, and we recorded a gain of $4.9 million on the sale.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, we recorded a loss of $11.0 million on the sale of our rights to MIGERGOT.
(14) Represents amortization of debt discount and deferred financing costs associated with our debt.
(15) Income tax adjustments on pre-tax non-GAAP adjustments represent the estimated income tax impact of each pre-tax
non-GAAP adjustment based on the statutory income tax rate of the applicable jurisdictions for each non-GAAP adjustment.
(16) During the year ended December 31, 2020, following the publication by the United States Department of Treasury and the
Internal Revenue Service of the Final Regulations on the Anti-Hybrid Rules on April 8, 2020, we recorded a write-off of a
deferred tax asset related to certain interest expense accrued to a foreign related party during the year ended December 31,
2019 and recognized a corresponding one-time tax provision, resulting in a non-GAAP tax adjustment of $15.2 million. We
also recognized a U.S. federal tax liability on U.S. taxable income generated from an intercompany transfer of intellectual
property from a U.S. subsidiary to an Irish subsidiary, which was partially offset by the recognition of a deferred tax asset in
the Irish subsidiary, resulting in a non-GAAP tax adjustment of $5.3 million.
Other non-GAAP income tax adjustments during the year ended December 31, 2019, primarily reflect a tax benefit of $553.3
million resulting from an intercompany transfer of intellectual property assets to an Irish subsidiary.
(17) During the year ended December 31, 2020, $400.0 million in aggregate principal amount of Exchangeable Senior Notes were
fully extinguished and exchanged for ordinary shares or cash. See Note 16, Debt Agreements, of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties
This report contains “forward-looking statements,” — that is, statements related to future, not past, events — as defined in
Section 21E of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, that reflect our current expectations regarding our future
growth, results of operations, cash flows, performance and business prospects and opportunities, as well as assumptions made by,
and information currently available to, our management. Forward-looking statements include any statement that does not directly
relate to a current or historical fact. We have tried to identify forward-looking statements by using words such as “anticipate,”
“believe,” “plan,” “expect,” “intend,” “will,” and similar expressions, but these words are not the exclusive means of identifying
forward-looking statements. These statements are based on information currently available to us and are subject to various risks,
uncertainties, and other factors, including, but not limited to, those matters discussed below, that could cause our actual growth,
results of operations, cash flows, performance and business prospects and opportunities to differ materially from those expressed
in, or implied by, these statements. Except as expressly required by the federal securities laws, we undertake no obligation to
update such factors or to publicly announce the results of any of the forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect future
events, developments, or changed circumstances, or for any other reason.
Certain factors may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations, and you
should carefully consider them. Accordingly, in evaluating our business, we encourage you to consider the following discussion
of risk factors in its entirety, in addition to other information contained in this report as well as our public filings with the SEC.
Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
The COVID-19 global pandemic has and may continue to adversely impact our business, including the commercialization
of our medicines, our supply chain, our clinical trials, our liquidity and access to capital markets and our business
development activities.
On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization made the assessment that a novel strain of coronavirus, which causes
the COVID-19 disease, was a pandemic. The President of the United States declared the COVID-19 pandemic a national
emergency and many states and municipalities in the United States took aggressive actions to reduce the spread of the disease,
including limiting non-essential gatherings of people, ceasing all non-essential travel, ordering certain businesses and government
agencies to cease non-essential operations at physical locations and issuing “shelter-in-place” orders which direct individuals to
shelter at their places of residence (subject to limited exceptions). Similarly, the Irish government has limited gatherings of
people and encouraged employees to work from their homes, and may implement more aggressive policies in the future. In
addition, in mid-March 2020 we implemented work-from-home policies for all employees and moved to a “virtual” model with
respect to our physician, patient and partner support activities. As certain U.S. states started to reduce restrictions, we saw
physician offices beginning to reopen, which reopening has varied on a state-by-state basis. As a result, our sales representatives
in some areas have transitioned to being back out in the field and are working on ways to re-engage patients and physicians in
person. However, as COVID-19 cases have increased in certain areas, certain U.S. states have started to reimplement restrictions
and we have seen some physician offices re-establish limits on in-person visits. Restrictions in response to COVID-19 may
continue to fluctuate in U.S. states and other geographies and we cannot guarantee that additional U.S. states that have previously
reduced restrictions will not reimplement them or that other states will reduce restrictions in the near-term. The effects of
government actions and our policies and those of third parties to reduce the spread of COVID-19 may negatively impact
productivity and our ability to market and sell our medicines, cause disruptions to our supply chain and ongoing and future
clinical trials and impair our ability to execute our business development strategy. These and other disruptions in our operations
and the global economy could negatively impact our business, operating results and financial condition.
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The commercialization of our medicines has been and will continue to be adversely impacted by COVID-19 and actions
taken to slow its spread. For example, patients have postponed visits to healthcare provider facilities, certain healthcare providers
have temporarily closed their offices or are restricting patient visits, healthcare provider employees may become generally
unavailable and there could be disruptions in the operations of payers, distributors, logistics providers and other third parties that
are necessary for our medicines to be prescribed, reimbursed and administered to patients. In March 2020, we transitioned our
sales force to a virtual model such that they no longer had in-person interactions with healthcare professionals and while we have
been working on ways to re-engage patients and physicians as certain U.S. states have started to reduce restrictions, the virtual
model is still being used. While we have attempted to maintain the effectiveness of our sales and marketing efforts in the virtual
model, it may not be as effective as in-person interactions in terms of conveying key information about our medicines or aiding
physicians and their staff in prescribing and helping their patients obtain appropriate reimbursement for our medicines. Many
physicians, in particular in primary care practices that prescribe our inflammation segment medicines, have reduced their
operations in light of COVID-19, including delaying patient visits and writing new prescriptions, and this has negatively impacted
sales in our inflammation segment. Similarly, many patients have deferred non-essential visits to healthcare providers, which has
had a negative impact on prescriptions being written and filled. For example, due to reduced willingness of patients to visit
physician offices and infusion centers, sales of KRYSTEXXA have been negatively impacted, and we expect this impact to
continue in future quarters until healthcare activities and patient visits return to normal levels. In addition, while we experienced a
much higher number of new patients in 2020 for TEPEZZA than our initial estimates, the impact from COVID-19 has slowed the
generation of patient enrollment forms for TEPEZZA, which drive new patient starts. It is also possible that a prolonged period of
“shelter-in-place” orders and social distancing behaviors and the associated reduction of physician office visits could force various
healthcare practices to permanently close or to consolidate with larger practices or healthcare groups, which could cause us to lose
previously-established physician relationships. We cannot predict how long the COVID-19 pandemic will continue to negatively
impact sales of our medicines and we expect that even after government-mandated restrictions are lifted, our sales force activities,
healthcare provider operations and patients’ willingness to visit healthcare facilities will continue to be limited. We also cannot
predict how effective our virtual patient, physician and partner support initiatives will be with respect to marketing and supporting
the administration and reimbursement of our medicines, or when we will be able to resume other in-person sales and marketing
activities.
Quarantines, shelter-in-place and similar government orders, or the perception that such orders, shutdowns or other
restrictions on the conduct of business operations could occur, related to COVID-19 or other infectious diseases could impact
personnel at third-party manufacturing facilities upon which we rely, or the availability or cost of materials, which could disrupt
the supply chain for our medicines. In particular, some of our suppliers of certain materials used in the production of our
medicines are located in regions that have been subject to COVID-19-related actions and policies that limit the conduct of normal
business operations. To the extent our suppliers and service providers are unable to comply with their obligations under our
agreements with them or they are otherwise unable to deliver or are delayed in delivering goods and services to us due to COVID19, our ability to continue meeting commercial demand for our medicines in the United States or advancing development of our
medicine candidates may become impaired. For example, On December 17, 2020, we announced that we expected a short-term
disruption in TEPEZZA supply as a result of recent U.S. government-mandated COVID-19 vaccine production pursuant to the
Defense Production Act of 1950, or DPA, that have dramatically restricted capacity available for the production of TEPEZZA at
our drug product contract manufacturer, Catalent. Refer to the Impact of COVID-19 section in this Irish Annual Report for further
information. At this time, we consider our inventories on hand of all of our other medicines to be sufficient to meet our
commercial requirements.
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Our clinical trials may be affected by COVID-19. As described in the Impact of COVID-19 section in this Irish Annual
Report, two of our clinical trials for TEPEZZA have been delayed due to the impact of the TEPEZZA supply disruption at
Catalent. In addition, clinical site initiation and patient enrollment may be delayed due to prioritization of hospital and healthcare
resources toward COVID-19. Current or potential patients in our ongoing or planned clinical trials may also choose to not enroll,
not participate in follow-up clinical visits or drop out of the trial as a precaution against contracting COVID-19. Further, some
patients may not be able or willing to comply with clinical trial protocols if quarantines impede patient movement or interrupt
healthcare services. Some clinical sites in the United States have slowed or stopped further enrollment of new patients in clinical
trials, denied access to site monitors or otherwise curtailed certain operations. Similarly, our ability to recruit and retain principal
investigators and site staff who, as healthcare providers, may have heightened exposure to COVID-19, may be adversely
impacted. These events could delay our clinical trials, increase the cost of completing our clinical trials and negatively impact the
integrity, reliability or robustness of the data from our clinical trials.
The spread of COVID-19 and actions taken to reduce its spread may also materially affect us economically. As a result of
the COVID-19 pandemic and actions taken to slow its spread, the global credit and financial markets have experienced extreme
volatility and disruptions, including diminished liquidity and credit availability, declines in consumer confidence, declines in
economic growth, increases in unemployment rates and uncertainty about economic stability. If the equity and credit markets
deteriorate, it may make any additional debt or equity financing more difficult, more costly or more dilutive. While the potential
economic impact brought by, and the duration of, COVID-19 may be difficult to assess or predict, there could be a significant
disruption of global financial markets, reducing our ability to access capital, which could in the future negatively affect our
liquidity and financial position or our business development activities.
COVID-19 continues to rapidly evolve. The extent to which COVID-19 may impact the commercialization of our medicines,
our supply chain, our clinical trials, our access to capital and our business development activities, will depend on future
developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence, such as the ultimate geographic spread of the
pandemic, the duration of the pandemic and the efforts by governments and business to contain it, business closures or business
disruptions and the impact on the economy and capital markets.
Our ability to generate revenues from our medicines is subject to attaining significant market acceptance among physicians,
patients and healthcare payers.
Our current medicines, and other medicines or medicine candidates that we may develop or acquire, may not attain market
acceptance among physicians, patients, healthcare payers or the medical community. Some of our medicines, in particular
TEPEZZA, have not been on the market for an extended period of time, which subjects us to numerous risks as we attempt to
increase our market share. We believe that the degree of market acceptance and our ability to generate revenues from our
medicines will depend on a number of factors, including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

timing of market introduction of our medicines as well as competitive medicines;
efficacy and safety of our medicines;
continued projected growth of the markets in which our medicines compete;
the extent to which physicians diagnose and treat the conditions that our medicines are approved to treat;
prevalence and severity of any side effects;
if and when we are able to obtain regulatory approvals for additional indications for our medicines;
acceptance by patients, physicians and applicable specialists;
availability of, and ability to maintain, coverage and adequate reimbursement and pricing from government and other
third-party payers;
potential or perceived advantages or disadvantages of our medicines over alternative treatments, including cost of
treatment and relative convenience and ease of administration;
strength of sales, marketing and distribution support;
the price of our medicines, both in absolute terms and relative to alternative treatments;
impact of past and limitation of future medicine price increases;
our ability to maintain a continuous supply of our medicines for commercial sale;
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•
•

•
•

the effect of current and future healthcare laws;
the extent and duration of the COVID-19 pandemic, including the extent to which physicians and patients delay visits
or writing or filling prescriptions for our medicines, the extent to which operations of healthcare facilities, including
infusion centers, are reduced and the length of time and the extent to which our sales force must continue operating in
a virtual model;
the performance of third-party distribution partners, over which we have limited control; and
medicine labeling or medicine insert requirements of the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, or other
regulatory authorities

With respect to TEPEZZA, sales will depend on market acceptance and adoption by physicians and healthcare payers, as
well as the ability and willingness of physicians who do not have in-house infusion capability to refer patients to infusion sites of
care. With respect to KRYSTEXXA, our ability to grow sales will be affected by the success of our sales, marketing and clinical
strategies, which are intended to expand the patient population and usage of KRYSTEXXA. This includes our marketing efforts
in nephrology and our studies designed to improve the response rate to KRYSTEXXA, to evaluate a shorter infusion time, and to
evaluate the use of KRYSTEXXA in kidney transplant patients. With respect to RAVICTI, which is approved to treat a very
limited patient population, our ability to grow sales will depend in large part on our ability to transition urea cycle disorder, or
UCD, patients from BUPHENYL or generic equivalents, which are comparatively much less expensive, to RAVICTI and to
educate patients and physicians on the benefits of continuing RAVICTI therapy once initiated. With respect to PROCYSBI,
which is also approved to treat a very limited patient population, our ability to grow sales will depend in large part on our ability
to transition patients from the first-generation immediate-release cysteamine therapy to PROCYSBI, to identify additional patients
with nephropathic cystinosis and to educate patients and physicians on the benefits of continuing therapy once initiated. With
respect to ACTIMMUNE, while it is the only FDA-approved treatment for chronic granulomatous disease, or CGD, and severe,
malignant osteopetrosis, or SMO, they are very rare conditions and, as a result, our ability to grow ACTIMMUNE sales will
depend on our ability to identify additional patients with such conditions and educate patients and physicians on the benefits of
continuing treatment once initiated. With respect to each of PENNSAID 2% w/w, or PENNSAID 2%, RAYOS and DUEXIS,
their higher cost compared to the generic or branded forms of their active ingredients alone may limit adoption by physicians,
patients and healthcare payers. With respect to DUEXIS, if physicians remain unaware of, or do not otherwise believe in, the
benefits of combining gastrointestinal protective agents with NSAIDs, our market opportunity will be limited. If our current
medicines or any other medicine that we may seek approval for, or acquire, fail to attain market acceptance, we may not be able to
generate significant revenue to sustain profitability, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, financial condition and prospects (including, possibly, the value of our ordinary shares).
Our future prospects are highly dependent on our ability to successfully develop and execute commercialization strategies
for each of our medicines. Failure to do so would adversely impact our financial condition and prospects.
A substantial majority of our resources are focused on the commercialization of our current medicines. Our ability to
generate significant medicine revenues and to achieve commercial success in the near-term will initially depend almost entirely on
our ability to successfully commercialize these medicines in the United States. With respect to our rare disease medicines,
TEPEZZA, KRYSTEXXA, RAVICTI, PROCYSBI and ACTIMMUNE, our commercialization strategy includes efforts to
increase awareness of the rare conditions that each medicine is designed to treat, enhancing efforts to identify target patients and
in certain cases pursue opportunities for label expansion and more effective use through clinical trials. Our comprehensive postlaunch commercial strategy for TEPEZZA aims to enable more thyroid eye disease, or TED, patients to benefit from TEPEZZA.
We are doing this by: (i) facilitating continued TEPEZZA uptake in the treatment of acute and chronic TED through continued
promotion of TEPEZZA to treating physicians; (ii) continuing to develop the TED market by increasing physician awareness of
the disease severity, the urgency to diagnose and treat it, as well as the benefits of treatment with TEPEZZA; (iii) driving
accelerated disease identification and time to treatment through our digital and broadcast marketing campaigns; (iv) enhancing the
patient journey with our high-touch, patient-centric model as well as support for the patient and site-of-care referral processes; and
(v) expanding more timely access to TEPEZZA for TED patients. Our strategy with respect to KRYSTEXXA includes existing
rheumatology account growth, new rheumatology account growth and accelerating nephrology growth, as well as development
efforts to enhance response rates through combination treatment with methotrexate and to shorten the infusion time. With respect
to RAVICTI and PROCYSBI, our strategy includes accelerating the transition of patients from first-generation therapies,
increasing the diagnosis of the associated rare conditions through patient and physician outreach; and increasing compliance rates.
Our strategy with respect to ACTIMMUNE, includes increasing awareness and diagnosis of chronic granulomatous disease and
increasing compliance rates.
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We are focusing a significant portion of our commercial activities and resources on TEPEZZA, and we believe our ability to
grow our long-term revenues, and a significant portion of the value of our company, relates to our ability to successfully
commercialize TEPEZZA in the United States. As a newly launched medicine for a disease that had no previously-approved
treatments, successful commercialization of TEPEZZA is subject to many risks. There are numerous examples of unsuccessful
product launches and failures to meet high expectations of market potential, including by pharmaceutical companies with more
experience and resources than us. While we have established our commercial team and U.S. sales force, we will need to further
train and develop the team in order to successfully commercialize TEPEZZA. There are many factors that could cause
commercialization of TEPEZZA to be unsuccessful, including a number of factors that are outside our control. Because no
medicine has previously been approved by the FDA for the treatment of TED, it is especially difficult to estimate TEPEZZA’s
market potential or the time it will take to increase patient and physician awareness of TED and change current treatment
paradigms. For example, shortly after the launch of TEPEZZA, we transitioned our sales force to a virtual model in light of the
COVID-19 pandemic, which, combined with physicians generally reducing their own availability, has made it more challenging
to execute on our strategy to educate physicians about TEPEZZA and the treatment of TED. In addition, some physicians that are
potential prescribers of TEPEZZA do not have the necessary infusion capabilities to administer the medicine and may not
otherwise be able or willing to refer their patients to third-party infusion centers, which may discourage them from treating their
patients with TEPEZZA. The commercial success of TEPEZZA depends on the extent to which patients and physicians accept
and adopt TEPEZZA as a treatment for TED. For example, if the patient population suffering from TED is smaller than we
estimate, if it proves difficult to identify TED patients or educate physicians as to the availability and potential benefits of
TEPEZZA, or if physicians are unwilling to prescribe or patients are unwilling to take TEPEZZA, the commercial potential of
TEPEZZA will be limited. In addition, the current disruption in TEPEZZA supply has resulted in existing patients stopping
therapy and an inability of new patients to initiate therapy. Once TEPEZZA supply normalizes, we cannot be certain how many
prior TEPEZZA patients will re-initiate therapy or whether or when growth in TEPEZZA adoption will return to levels seen prior
to the supply disruption. We also have limited information regarding how physicians, patients and payers will respond to the
pricing of TEPEZZA. Physicians may not prescribe TEPEZZA and patients may be unwilling to use TEPEZZA if coverage is not
provided or reimbursement is inadequate to cover a significant portion of the cost. Thus, significant uncertainty remains regarding
the commercial potential of TEPEZZA. If the continued commercialization of TEPEZZA becomes unsuccessful or perceived as
disappointing, the price of our ordinary shares could decline significantly and long-term success of the medicine and our company
could be harmed.
With respect to our inflammation segment medicines, PENNSAID 2% and DUEXIS, our strategy has included entering into
rebate agreements with pharmacy benefit managers, or PBMs, for certain of our inflammation segment medicines where we
believe the rebates and costs justify expanded formulary access for patients and ensuring patient assistance to these drugs when
prescribed through our HorizonCares program. However, we cannot guarantee that we will be able to secure additional rebate
agreements on commercially reasonable terms, that expected volume growth will sufficiently offset the rebates and fees paid to
PBMs or that our existing agreements with PBMs will have the intended impact on formulary access. In addition, as the terms of
our existing agreements with PBMs expire, we may not be able to renew the agreements on commercially favorable terms, or at
all. For each of our inflammation segment medicines, we expect that our commercial success will depend on our sales and
marketing efforts in the United States, reimbursement decisions by commercial payers, the expense we incur through our patient
assistance program for fully bought down contracts and the rebates we pay to PBMs, as well as the impact of numerous efforts at
federal, state and local levels to further reduce reimbursement and net pricing of inflammation segment medicines.
Our strategy for RAYOS in the United States is to focus on the rheumatology indications approved for RAYOS, including
our collaboration with the Alliance for Lupus Research, to study the effect of RAYOS on the fatigue experienced by systemic
lupus erythematosus, or SLE, patients.
If any of our commercial strategies are unsuccessful or we fail to successfully modify our strategies over time due to
changing market conditions, our ability to increase market share for our medicines, grow revenues and to sustain profitability will
be harmed.
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We are dependent on wholesale distributors for distribution of our products in the United States and, accordingly, our
results of operations could be adversely affected if they encounter financial difficulties
In 2020, four wholesale distributors accounted for substantially all of our sales in the United States. If one of our significant
wholesale distributors encounters financial or other difficulties, such distributor may decrease the amount of business that it does
with us, and we may be unable to collect all the amounts that the distributor owes on a timely basis or at all, which could
negatively impact our business and results of operations.
In order to increase adoption and sales of our medicines, we will need to continue developing our commercial organization
as well as recruit and retain qualified sales representatives.
Part of our strategy is to continue to build a biotech company to successfully execute the commercialization of our
medicines in the U.S. market, and in selected markets outside the United States where we have commercial rights. We may not be
able to successfully commercialize our medicines in the United States or in any other territories where we have commercial
rights. In order to commercialize any approved medicines, we must continue to build our sales, marketing, distribution,
managerial and other non-technical capabilities. As of December 31, 2020, we had approximately 460 sales representatives in the
field, consisting of approximately 215 orphan sales representatives and 245 inflammation sales representatives. We currently
have limited resources compared to some of our competitors, and the continued development of our own commercial organization
to market our medicines and any additional medicines we may acquire will be expensive and time-consuming. We also cannot be
certain that we will be able to continue to successfully develop this capability.
As we continue to add medicines through development efforts and acquisition transactions, the members of our sales force
may have limited experience promoting certain of our medicines. To the extent we employ an acquired entity’s sales forces to
promote acquired medicines, we may not be successful in continuing to retain these employees and we otherwise will have limited
experience marketing these medicines under our commercial organization. In addition, none of the members of our sales force
have promoted TEPEZZA or any other medicine for the treatment of TED prior to the launch of TEPEZZA. We are required to
expend significant time and resources to train our sales force to be credible and able to educate physicians on the benefits of
prescribing and pharmacists dispensing our medicines. In addition, we must train our sales force to ensure that a consistent and
appropriate message about our medicines is being delivered to our potential customers. Our sales representatives may also
experience challenges promoting multiple medicines when we call on physicians and their office staff. We have experienced, and
may continue to experience, turnover of the sales representatives that we hired or will hire, requiring us to train new sales
representatives. If we are unable to effectively train our sales force and equip them with effective materials, including medical
and sales literature to help them inform and educate physicians about the benefits of our medicines and their proper administration
and label indication, as well as our patient assistance programs, our efforts to successfully commercialize our medicines could be
put in jeopardy, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, share price and operations. For example,
we have had to train our sales force to operate in a virtual environment due to the COVID-19 pandemic and are continuing to
learn and implement new strategies and techniques to promote our medicines without the benefit of in-person interactions with
healthcare providers and their staff. We may not be successful in finding effective ways to promote our medicines remotely or our
competitors may be more successful than we are at adapting to virtual marketing.
As a result of the evolving role of various constituents in the prescription decision making process, we focus on hiring sales
representatives for our inflammation segment medicines with successful business to business experience. For example, we have
faced challenges due to pharmacists switching a patient’s intended prescription from DUEXIS to a generic or over-the-counter
brand of their active ingredients, despite such substitution being off-label in the case of DUEXIS. We have faced similar
challenges for PENNSAID 2% and RAYOS with respect to generic brands. While we believe the profile of our representatives is
suited for this environment, we cannot be certain that our representatives will be able to successfully protect our market for
PENNSAID 2%, DUEXIS and RAYOS or that we will be able to continue attracting and retaining sales representatives with our
desired profile and skills. We will also have to compete with other pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies to recruit, hire,
train and retain commercial personnel. To the extent we rely on additional third parties to commercialize any approved
medicines, we may receive less revenue than if we commercialized these medicines ourselves. In addition, we may have little or
no control over the sales efforts of any third parties involved in our commercialization efforts. In the event we are unable to
successfully develop and maintain our own commercial organization or collaborate with a third-party sales and marketing
organization, we may not be able to commercialize our medicines and medicine candidates and execute on our business plan.
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Coverage and reimbursement may not be available, or reimbursement may be available at only limited levels, for our
medicines, which could make it difficult for us to sell our medicines profitably or to successfully execute planned medicine
price increases.
Market acceptance and sales of our medicines will depend in large part on global coverage and reimbursement policies and
may be affected by future healthcare reform measures, both in the United States and other key international markets. Successful
commercialization of our medicines will depend in part on the availability of governmental and third-party payer reimbursement
for the cost of our medicines. Government health administration authorities, private health insurers and other organizations
generally provide reimbursement for healthcare. In particular, in the United States, private health insurers and other third-party
payers often provide reimbursement for medicines and services based on the level at which the government (through the Medicare
or Medicaid programs) provides reimbursement for such treatments. In the United States, the European Union, or EU, and other
significant or potentially significant markets for our medicines and medicine candidates, government authorities and third-party
payers are increasingly attempting to limit or regulate the price of medicines and services, particularly for new and innovative
medicines and therapies, which has resulted in lower average selling prices. Further, the increased scrutiny of prescription drug
pricing practices and emphasis on managed healthcare in the United States and on country and regional pricing and
reimbursement controls in the EU and other significant or potentially significant markets will put additional pressure on medicine
pricing, reimbursement and usage, which may adversely affect our medicine sales and results of operations. These pressures can
arise from rules and practices of managed care groups, judicial decisions and governmental laws and regulations related to
Medicare, Medicaid and healthcare reform, pharmaceutical reimbursement policies and pricing in general. These pressures may
create negative reactions to any medicine price increases, or limit the amount by which we may be able to increase our medicine
prices, which may adversely affect our medicine sales and results of operations.
We expect to experience pricing pressures in connection with the sale of our medicines due to the trend toward managed
healthcare, the increasing influence of health maintenance organizations and additional legislative proposals relating to outcomes
and quality. For example, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education
Reconciliation Act, or collectively the ACA, increased the mandated Medicaid rebate from 15.1% to 23.1%, expanded the rebate
to Medicaid managed care utilization and increased the types of entities eligible for the federal 340B drug discount program. As
concerns continue to grow over the need for tighter oversight, there remains the possibility that the Health Resources and Services
Administration or another agency under the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, or HHS, will propose a similar
regulation or that Congress will explore changes to the 340B program through legislation. For example, a bill was introduced in
2018 that would require hospitals to report their low-income utilization of the program. Further, the CMS issued a final rule in
2018 that implemented civil monetary penalties for manufacturers who exceeded the ceiling price methodology for a covered
outpatient drug when selling to a 340B covered entity. Pursuant to the final rule, after January 1, 2019, manufacturers must
calculate 340B program ceiling prices on a quarterly basis. Moreover, manufacturers could be subject to a $5,000 penalty for
each instance where they knowingly and intentionally overcharge a covered entity under the 340B program. With respect to
KRYSTEXXA, the “additional rebate” methodology of the 340B pricing rules, as applied to the historical pricing of
KRYSTEXXA both before and after we acquired the medicine, have resulted in a 340B ceiling price of one penny. A material
portion of KRYSTEXXA prescriptions (normally in the range of 15 percent to 20 percent) are written by healthcare providers that
are eligible for 340B drug pricing and therefore the reduction in 340B pricing to a penny has negatively impacted our turnover of
KRYSTEXXA. The CMS had also finalized a proposal in calendar years 2018, 2019 and 2020 that would revise the Medicare
hospital outpatient prospective payment system by creating a new, significantly reduced reimbursement methodology for drugs
purchased under the 340B program for Medicare patients at hospital and other settings. These reductions were upheld by the U.S.
Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit in July 2020, and it is unclear whether this matter will be subject to further litigation.
Further, the CMS final rule for calendar year 2021 continues these reductions for drugs acquired through the 340B program.
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Patients are unlikely to use our medicines unless coverage is provided and reimbursement is adequate to cover a significant
portion of the cost of our medicines. Third-party payers may limit coverage to specific medicines on an approved list, also known
as a formulary, which might not include all of the FDA-approved medicines for a particular indication. Moreover, a third-party
payer’s decision to provide coverage for a medicine does not imply that an adequate reimbursement rate will be
approved. Additionally, one third-party payer’s decision to cover a particular medicine does not ensure that other payers will also
provide coverage for the medicine, or will provide coverage at an adequate reimbursement rate. Even though we have contracts
with some PBMs in the United States, that does not guarantee that they will perform in accordance with the contracts, nor does
that preclude them from taking adverse actions against us, which could materially adversely affect our operating results. In
addition, the existence of such PBM contracts does not guarantee coverage by such PBM’s contracted health plans or adequate
reimbursement to their respective providers for our medicines. For example, some PBMs have placed some of our medicines on
their exclusion lists from time to time, which has resulted in a loss of coverage for patients whose healthcare plans have adopted
these PBM lists. Additional healthcare plan formularies may also exclude our medicines from coverage due to the actions of
certain PBMs, future price increases we may implement, our use of the HorizonCares program or other free medicine programs
whereby we assist qualified patients with certain out-of-pocket expenditures for our medicine, including donations to patient
assistance programs offered by charitable foundations, or any other co-pay programs, or other reasons. If our strategies to
mitigate formulary exclusions are not effective, these events may reduce the likelihood that physicians prescribe our medicines
and increase the likelihood that prescriptions for our medicines are not filled.
In light of such policies and the uncertainty surrounding proposed regulations and changes in the coverage and
reimbursement policies of governments and third-party payers, we cannot be sure that coverage and reimbursement will be
available for any of our medicines in any additional markets or for any other medicine candidates that we may develop. Also, we
cannot be sure that reimbursement amounts will not reduce the demand for, or the price of, our medicines. If coverage and
reimbursement are not available or are available only at limited levels, we may not be able to successfully commercialize our
medicines.
There may be additional pressure by payers, healthcare providers, state governments, federal regulators and Congress, to use
generic drugs that contain the active ingredients found in our medicines or any other medicine candidates that we may develop or
acquire. If we fail to successfully secure and maintain coverage and adequate reimbursement for our medicines or are
significantly delayed in doing so, we will have difficulty achieving market acceptance of our medicines and expected revenue and
profitability which would have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.
We may also experience pressure from payers as well as state and federal government authorities concerning certain
promotional approaches that we may implement such as our HorizonCares program or any other co-pay programs. Certain state
and federal enforcement authorities and members of Congress have initiated inquiries about co-pay assistance programs. Some
state legislatures have implemented or have been considering implementing laws to restrict or ban co-pay coupons for branded
drugs. For example, legislation was signed into law in California that would limit the use of co-pay coupons in cases where a
lower cost generic drug is available and if individual ingredients in combination therapies are available over the counter at a lower
cost. It is possible that similar legislation could be proposed and enacted in additional states. Additionally, numerous
organizations, including pharmaceutical manufacturers, have been subject to ongoing litigation, enforcement actions and
settlements related to their patient assistance programs and support. If we are unsuccessful with our HorizonCares program or any
other co-pay programs, or we alternatively are unable to secure expanded formulary access through additional arrangements with
PBMs or other payers, we would be at a competitive disadvantage in terms of pricing versus preferred branded and generic
competitors. We may also experience financial pressure in the future which would make it difficult to support investment levels
in areas such as managed care contract rebates, HorizonCares and other access tools.
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Our medicines are subject to extensive regulation, and we may not obtain additional regulatory approvals for our
medicines.
The clinical development, manufacturing, labeling, packaging, storage, recordkeeping, advertising, promotion, export,
marketing and distribution and other possible activities relating to our medicines and our medicine candidates are, and will be,
subject to extensive regulation by the FDA and other regulatory agencies. Failure to comply with FDA and other applicable
regulatory requirements may, either before or after medicine approval, subject us to administrative or judicially imposed
sanctions.
To market any drugs or biologics outside of the United States, we and current or future collaborators must comply with
numerous and varying regulatory and compliance related requirements of other countries. For example, we are pursuing a global
expansion strategy to bring TEPEZZA to patients with TED outside of the United States, including Japan. Approval procedures
vary among countries and can involve additional medicine testing and additional administrative review periods, including
obtaining reimbursement and pricing approval in select markets. The time required to obtain approval in other countries might
differ from that required to obtain FDA approval. The regulatory approval process in other countries may include all of the risks
associated with FDA approval as well as additional, presently unanticipated, risks. Regulatory approval in one country does not
ensure regulatory approval in another, but a failure or delay in obtaining regulatory approval in one country may negatively
impact the regulatory process in others.
Applications for regulatory approval, including a marketing authorization application, or MAA, for marketing new drugs in
the European Economic Area, or EEA, must be supported by extensive clinical and pre-clinical data, as well as extensive
information regarding chemistry, manufacturing and controls, or CMC, to demonstrate the safety and effectiveness of the
applicable medicine candidate. The number and types of pre-clinical studies and clinical trials that will be required for regulatory
approval varies depending on the medicine candidate, the disease or the condition that the medicine candidate is designed to target
and the regulations applicable to any particular medicine candidate. Despite the time and expense associated with pre-clinical and
clinical studies, failure can occur at any stage, and we could encounter problems that cause us to repeat or perform additional preclinical studies, CMC studies or clinical trials. Regulatory authorities could delay, limit or deny approval of a medicine candidate
for many reasons, including because they:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

may not deem a medicine candidate to be adequately safe and effective;
may not find the data from pre-clinical studies, CMC studies and clinical trials to be sufficient to support a claim of
safety and efficacy;
may interpret data from pre-clinical studies, CMC studies and clinical trials significantly differently than we do;
may not approve the manufacturing processes or facilities associated with our medicine candidates;
may conclude that we have not sufficiently demonstrated long-term stability of the formulation for which we are
seeking marketing approval;
may change approval policies (including with respect to our medicine candidates’ class of drugs) or adopt new
regulations; or
may not accept a submission due to, among other reasons, the content or formatting of the submission.

Even if we believe that data collected from our pre-clinical studies, CMC studies and clinical trials of our medicine
candidates are promising and that our information and procedures regarding CMC are sufficient, our data may not be sufficient to
support marketing approval by regulatory authorities, or regulatory interpretation of these data and procedures may be
unfavorable. Even if approved, medicine candidates may not be approved for all indications requested and such approval may be
subject to limitations on the indicated uses for which the medicine may be marketed, restricted distribution methods or other
limitations. Our business and reputation may be harmed by any failure or significant delay in obtaining regulatory approval for
the sale of any of our medicine candidates. We cannot predict when or whether regulatory approval will be obtained for any
medicine candidate we develop.
The ultimate approval and commercial marketing of any of our medicines in additional indications or geographies is subject
to substantial uncertainty. Failure to gain additional regulatory approvals would limit the potential revenues and value of our
medicines and could cause our share price to decline.
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Since a significant proportion of the regulatory framework in the United Kingdom, or UK, applicable to our business and
our products is derived from EU directives and regulations, Brexit has and will continue to impact the regulatory regime with
respect to the development, manufacture, importation, approval and commercialization of our products in the UK. Great Britain is
no longer covered by the centralized procedures for obtaining EEA-wide marketing authorizations from the European
Commission, or EC. Our product candidates require a separate marketing authorization for Great Britain, and it is unclear as to
whether the relevant authorities in the EU and the UK are adequately prepared for the additional administrative burden caused by
Brexit. Any delay in obtaining, or an inability to obtain, any marketing approvals, as a result of Brexit or otherwise, could prevent
us from or delay us commercializing our product candidates in the UK and/or the EEA and restrict our ability to generate revenue
and achieve and sustain profitability. If any of these outcomes occur, we may be forced to restrict or delay efforts to seek
regulatory approval in the UK and/or EEA for our product candidates, which could significantly and materially harm our business.
Brexit may influence the attractiveness of the UK as a place to conduct clinical trials. The EU’s regulatory environment for
clinical trials is being harmonized as part of the Clinical Trial Regulation but it is currently unclear as to what extent the UK will
seek to align its regulations with the EU. Failure of the UK to closely align its regulations with the EU may have an effect on the
cost of conducting clinical trials in the UK as opposed to other countries and/or make it harder to seek a marketing authorization
for our product candidates in the EU on the basis of clinical trials conducted in the UK.
In the short term there is a risk of disrupted import and export processes due to a lack of administrative processing capacity
by the respective UK and EU customs agencies that may delay time-sensitive shipments and may negatively impact our product
supply chain.
We may be subject to penalties and litigation and large incremental expenses if we fail to comply with regulatory
requirements or experience problems with our medicines.
Even after we achieve regulatory approvals, we are subject to ongoing obligations and continued regulatory review with
respect to many operational aspects including our manufacturing processes, labeling, packaging, distribution, storage, adverse
event monitoring and reporting, dispensation, advertising, promotion and recordkeeping. These requirements include submissions
of safety and other post-marketing information and reports, ongoing maintenance of medicine registration and continued
compliance with current good manufacturing practices, or cGMPs, good clinical practices, or GCPs, good pharmacovigilance
practice, good distribution practices and good laboratory practices, or GLPs. If we, our medicines or medicine candidates, or the
third-party manufacturing facilities for our medicines or medicine candidates fail to comply with applicable regulatory
requirements, a regulatory agency may:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

impose injunctions or restrictions on the marketing, manufacturing or distribution of a medicine, suspend or withdraw
medicine approvals, revoke necessary licenses or suspend medicine reimbursement;
issue warning letters, show cause notices or untitled letters describing alleged violations, which may be publicly
available;
suspend any ongoing clinical trials or delay or prevent the initiation of clinical trials;
delay or refuse to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications we have filed;
refuse to permit drugs or precursor or intermediary chemicals to be imported or exported to or from the United States;
suspend or impose restrictions or additional requirements on operations, including costly new manufacturing quality
or pharmacovigilance requirements;
seize or detain medicines or require us to initiate a medicine recall; and/or
commence criminal investigations and prosecutions.

Moreover, existing regulatory approvals and any future regulatory approvals that we obtain will be subject to limitations on
the approved indicated uses and patient populations for which our medicines may be marketed, the conditions of approval,
requirements for potentially costly, post-market testing and requirements for surveillance to monitor the safety and efficacy of the
medicines. Physicians nevertheless may prescribe our medicines to their patients in a manner that is inconsistent with the
approved label or that is off-label. Positive clinical trial results in any of our medicine development programs increase the risk
that approved pharmaceutical forms of the same active pharmaceutical ingredients, or APIs, may be used off-label in those
indications. If we are found to have improperly promoted off-label uses of approved medicines, we may be subject to significant
sanctions, civil and criminal fines and injunctions prohibiting us from engaging in specified promotional conduct.
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In addition, engaging in improper promotion of our medicines for off-label uses in the United States can subject us to false
claims litigation under federal and state statutes. These false claims statutes in the United States include the federal False Claims
Act, which allows any individual to bring a lawsuit against a pharmaceutical company on behalf of the federal government
alleging submission of false or fraudulent claims or causing to present such false or fraudulent claims for payment by a federal
program such as Medicare or Medicaid. Growth in false claims litigation has increased the risk that a pharmaceutical company
will have to defend a false claim action, pay civil money penalties, settlement fines or restitution, agree to comply with
burdensome reporting and compliance obligations and be excluded from Medicare, Medicaid and other federal and state
healthcare programs.
The regulations, policies or guidance of regulatory agencies may change and new or additional statutes or government
regulations may be enacted that could prevent or delay regulatory approval of our medicine candidates or further restrict or
regulate post-approval activities. For example, in January 2014, the FDA released draft guidance on how drug companies can
fulfill their regulatory requirements for post-marketing submission of interactive promotional media, and though the guidance
provided insight into how the FDA views a company’s responsibility for certain types of social media promotion, there remains a
substantial amount of uncertainty regarding internet and social media promotion of regulated medical products. We cannot
predict the likelihood, nature or extent of adverse government regulation that may arise from pending or future legislation or
administrative action, either in the United States or abroad. If we are unable to achieve and maintain regulatory compliance, we
will not be permitted to market our drugs, which would materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and
financial condition.
We have rights to medicines in certain jurisdictions but have no control over third parties that have rights to commercialize
those medicines in other jurisdictions, which could adversely affect our commercialization of these medicines.
Following our sale of the rights to RAVICTI (i) outside of North America and Japan to Medical Need Europe AB, part of
the Immedica Group, or Immedica, in December 2018 and (ii) in Japan to Immedica, Immedica has marketing and distribution
rights to RAVICTI in those regions. Following our sale of the rights to PROCYSBI in the Europe, Middle East and Africa, or
EMEA, regions to Chiesi Farmaceutici S.p.A., or Chiesi, in June 2017, or the Chiesi divestiture, Chiesi has marketing and
distribution rights to PROCYSBI in the EMEA regions. Miravo Healthcare (formerly known as Nuvo Pharmaceuticals Inc.), or
Miravo, has retained its rights to PENNSAID 2% in territories outside of the United States. In March 2017, Miravo announced
that it had entered into an exclusive license agreement with Sayre Therapeutics PVT Ltd. to distribute, market and sell
PENNSAID 2% in India, Sri Lanka, Bangladesh and Nepal, and in December 2017 Miravo announced that it had entered into a
license and distribution agreement with Gebro Pharma AG for the exclusive right to register, distribute, market and sell
PENNSAID 2% in Switzerland and Liechtenstein. We have little or no control over Immedica’s activities with respect to
RAVICTI outside of North America, over Chiesi’s activities with respect to PROCYSBI in the EMEA, or over Miravo’s or its
existing and future commercial partners’ activities with respect to PENNSAID 2% outside of the United States even though those
activities could impact our ability to successfully commercialize these medicines. For example, Immedica or its assignees, Chiesi
or its assignees or Miravo or its assignees can make statements or use promotional materials with respect to RAVICTI,
PROCYSBI or PENNSAID 2% , respectively, outside of the United States that are inconsistent with our positioning of the
medicines in the United States, and could sell RAVICTI, PROCYSBI or PENNSAID 2%, respectively, in foreign countries at
prices that are dramatically lower than the prices we charge in the United States. These activities and decisions, while occurring
outside of the United States, could harm our commercialization strategy in the United States. In addition, medicine recalls or
safety issues with these medicines outside the United States, even if not related to the commercial medicine we sell in the United
States, could result in serious damage to the brand in the United States and impair our ability to successfully market them. We
also rely on Immedica, Chiesi and Miravo, or their assignees to provide us with timely and accurate safety information regarding
the use of these medicines outside of the United States, as we have or will have limited access to this information ourselves.
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We rely on third parties to manufacture commercial supplies of all of our medicines, and we currently intend to rely on
third parties to manufacture commercial supplies of any other approved medicines. The commercialization of any of our
medicines could be stopped, delayed or made less profitable if those third parties fail to provide us with sufficient quantities
of medicine or fail to do so at acceptable quality levels or prices or fail to maintain or achieve satisfactory regulatory
compliance.
The facilities used by our third-party manufacturers to manufacture our medicines and medicine candidates must be
approved by the applicable regulatory authorities. We do not control the manufacturing processes of third-party manufacturers
and are currently completely dependent on our third-party manufacturing partners.
We rely on AGC Biologics A/S (formerly known as CMC Biologics A/S), or AGC Biologics, as our exclusive manufacturer
of the TEPEZZA drug substance and Catalent Indiana, LLC, or Catalent, for TEPEZZA drug product. On December 17, 2020, we
announced that we expected a short-term disruption in TEPEZZA supply as a result of recent U.S. government-mandated COVID19 vaccine production orders pursuant to the DPA that dramatically restricted capacity available for the production of TEPEZZA
at our drug product contract manufacturer, Catalent. To offset the reduced slots allowed by the DPA and Catalent, we accelerated
plans to increase the production scale of TEPEZZA drug product. In March 2021, the FDA approved a prior approval supplement
to the previously approved BLA, giving us authorization to manufacture more TEPEZZA drug product resulting in an increased
number of vials with each manufacturing slot. We plan to resupply the market beginning in April 2021, which will end the supply
disruption that began in December 2020 following U.S. government-mandated COVID-19 vaccine production orders pursuant to
the DPA. While we are not currently aware of any manufacturing facilities other than Catalent that are part of the supply chain for
our medicines that are being utilized for the manufacture of vaccines for COVID-19, similar circumstances could arise in the
future and could result in supply disruption to our other medicines.
Further, following the highly successful launch of TEPEZZA, which significantly exceeded expectations, we began the
process of expanding our production capacity in 2020 to meet anticipated future demand for TEPEZZA. If AGC Biologics fails to
supply TEPEZZA drug substance or if Catalent fails to supply TEPEZZA drug product for a period beyond our current
expectation or either manufacturer is otherwise unable to meet our volume requirements due to unexpected market demand for
TEPEZZA, it may lead to further TEPEZZA supply constraints. We rely on NOF Corporation, or NOF, as our exclusive supplier
of the PEGylation agent that is a critical raw material in the manufacture of KRYSTEXXA. If NOF fails to supply such
PEGylation agent, it may lead to KRYSTEXXA supply constraints. A key excipient used in PENNSAID 2% as a penetration
enhancer is dimethyl sulfoxide, or DMSO. We and Miravo, our exclusive supplier of PENNSAID 2%, rely on a sole proprietary
form of DMSO for which we maintain a substantial safety stock. However, should this supply become inadequate, damaged,
destroyed or unusable, we and Miravo may not be able to qualify a second source. We rely on an exclusive supply agreement
with Boehringer Ingelheim Biopharmaceuticals GmbH, or Boehringer Ingelheim Biopharmaceuticals, for manufacturing and
supply of ACTIMMUNE. ACTIMMUNE is manufactured by starting with cells from working cell bank samples which are
derived from a master cell bank. We and Boehringer Ingelheim Biopharmaceuticals separately store multiple vials of the master
cell bank. In the event of catastrophic loss at our or Boehringer Ingelheim Biopharmaceuticals’ storage facility, it is possible that
we could lose multiple cell banks and have the manufacturing capacity of ACTIMMUNE severely impacted by the need to
substitute or replace the cell banks.
If any of our third-party manufacturers cannot successfully manufacture material that conforms to our specifications and the
applicable regulatory authorities’ strict regulatory requirements, or pass regulatory inspection, they will not be able to secure or
maintain regulatory approval for the manufacturing facilities. In addition, we have no control over the ability of third-party
manufacturers to maintain adequate quality control, quality assurance and qualified personnel. If the FDA or any other applicable
regulatory authorities do not approve these facilities for the manufacture of our medicines or if they withdraw any such approval
in the future, or if our suppliers or third-party manufacturers decide they no longer want to supply our primary active ingredients
or manufacture our medicines, we may need to find alternative manufacturing facilities, which would significantly impact our
ability to develop, obtain regulatory approval for or market our medicines. To the extent any third-party manufacturers that we
engage with respect to our medicines are different from those currently being used for commercial supply in the United States, the
FDA will need to approve the facilities of those third-party manufacturers used in the manufacture of our medicines prior to our
sale of any medicine using these facilities.
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Although we have entered into supply agreements for the manufacture and packaging of our medicines, our manufacturers
may not perform as agreed or may terminate their agreements with us. We currently rely on single source suppliers for certain of
our medicines. If our manufacturers terminate their agreements with us, we may have to qualify new back-up manufacturers. We
rely on safety stock to mitigate the risk of our current suppliers electing to cease producing bulk drug product or ceasing to do so
at acceptable prices and quality. However, we can provide no assurance that such safety stocks would be sufficient to avoid
supply shortfalls in the event we have to identify and qualify new contract manufacturers.
The manufacture of medicines requires significant expertise and capital investment, including the development of advanced
manufacturing techniques and process controls. Manufacturers of medicines often encounter difficulties in production,
particularly in scaling up and validating initial production. These problems include difficulties with production costs and yields,
quality control, including stability of the medicine, quality assurance testing, shortages of qualified personnel, as well as
compliance with strictly enforced federal, state and foreign regulations. Furthermore, if microbial, viral or other contaminations
are discovered in the medicines or in the manufacturing facilities in which our medicines are made, such manufacturing facilities
may need to be closed for an extended period of time to investigate and remedy the contamination. We cannot assure that issues
relating to the manufacture of any of our medicines will not occur in the future. Additionally, our manufacturers may experience
manufacturing difficulties due to resource constraints or as a result of labor disputes or unstable political environments. If our
manufacturers were to encounter any of these difficulties, or otherwise fail to comply with their contractual obligations, our ability
to commercialize our medicines or provide any medicine candidates to patients in clinical trials would be jeopardized.
Any delay or interruption in our ability to meet commercial demand for our medicines will result in the loss of potential
revenues and could adversely affect our ability to gain market acceptance for these medicines. In addition, any delay or
interruption in the supply of clinical trial supplies could delay the completion of clinical trials, increase the costs associated with
maintaining clinical trial programs and, depending upon the period of delay, require us to commence new clinical trials at
additional expense or terminate clinical trials completely.
Failures or difficulties faced at any level of our supply chain, including any further potential disruption caused by the
COVID-19 pandemic, could materially adversely affect our business and delay or impede the development and commercialization
of any of our medicines or medicine candidates and could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations,
financial condition and prospects.
We face significant competition from other biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies, including those marketing
generic medicines and our operating results will suffer if we fail to compete effectively.
The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries are intensely competitive. We have competitors both in the United States
and international markets, including major multinational pharmaceutical companies, biotechnology companies and universities
and other research institutions. Many of our competitors have substantially greater financial, technical and other resources, such
as larger research and development staff, experienced marketing and manufacturing organizations and well-established sales
forces. Additional consolidations in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries may result in even more resources being
concentrated in our competitors and we will have to find new ways to compete and may have to potentially merge with or acquire
other businesses to stay competitive. Competition may increase further as a result of advances in the commercial applicability of
technologies and greater availability of capital for investment in these industries. Our competitors may succeed in developing,
acquiring or in-licensing on an exclusive basis, medicines that are more effective and/or less costly than our medicines.
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Although TEPEZZA does not face direct competition, other therapies, such as corticosteroids, have been used on an offlabel basis to alleviate some of the symptoms of TED. While these therapies have not proved effective in treating the underlying
disease, and carry with them significant side effects, their off-label use could reduce or delay treatment in the addressable patient
population for TEPEZZA. Immunovant Inc., or Immunovant, is conducting Phase 2 clinical trials of a fully human anti-FcRn
monoclonal antibody candidate for the treatment of active TED, also referred to as Graves’ ophthalmopathy. On February 2,
2021, Immunovant announced a voluntary pause in the clinical dosing of the candidate due to elevated total cholesterol and lowdensity lipoprotein levels in patients treated with the candidate. Immunovant has indicated it intends to continue developing the
candidate but did not provide an estimate of when the dosing might resume. Viridian Therapeutics, Inc. is pursuing development
of an anti-IGF-1R monoclonal antibody for TED and has announced plans to initiate a Phase 2 trial in the second half of 2021.
While KRYSTEXXA faces limited direct competition, a number of competitors have medicines in clinical trials, including Selecta
Biosciences Inc., or Selecta, which has initiated a Phase 3 trial of a candidate for the treatment of chronic refractory gout. In
September 2020, Selecta announced topline clinical data that did not meet the primary endpoint or demonstrate statistical
superiority for their Phase 2 trial that compared their candidate, which includes an immunomodulator, to KRYSTEXXA alone. In
July 2020, Selecta and Swedish Orphan Biovitrum AB, or Sobi, entered into a strategic licensing agreement under which Sobi will
assume responsibility for certain development, regulatory, and commercial activities for this candidate. RAVICTI could face
competition from a few medicine candidates that are in early-stage development, including a gene-therapy candidate by
Ultragenyx Pharmaceutical Inc., a generic taste-masked formulation option of BUPHENYL by ACER Therapeutics Inc., an
enzyme replacement for a specific UCD subtype (ARG) by Aeglea Bio Therapeutics Inc. and a mRNA-based therapeutic for a
specific UCD subtype (OTC) by Arcturus Therapeutics Holdings Inc. PROCYSBI faces competition from Cystagon (immediaterelease cysteamine bitartrate capsules) for the treatment of cystinosis, Cystadrops (cysteamine ophthalmic solution) for the
treatment of corneal cystine crystal deposits and Cystaran (cysteamine ophthalmic solution) for treatment of corneal crystal
accumulation in patients with cystinosis. Additionally, we are also aware that AVROBIO, Inc. has an early-stage gene therapy
candidate in development for the treatment of cystinosis. PENNSAID 2% faces competition from generic versions of diclofenac
sodium topical solutions that are priced significantly less than the price we charge for PENNSAID 2%. The generic version of
Voltaren Gel is the market leader in the topical NSAID category. Legislation enacted in most states in the United States allows, or
in some instances mandates, that a pharmacist dispense an available generic equivalent when filling a prescription for a branded
medicine, in the absence of specific instructions from the prescribing physician. DUEXIS faces competition from other NSAIDs,
including Celebrex®, marketed by Pfizer Inc., and celecoxib, a generic form of the medicine marketed by other pharmaceutical
companies. DUEXIS also faces significant competition from the separate use of NSAIDs for pain relief and GI protective
medications to reduce the risk of NSAID-induced upper GI ulcers. Both NSAIDs and GI protective medications are available in
generic form and may be less expensive to use separately than DUEXIS, despite such substitution being off-label in the case of
DUEXIS. Because pharmacists often have economic and other incentives to prescribe lower-cost generics, if physicians prescribe
PENNSAID 2% or DUEXIS, those prescriptions may not result in sales. If physicians do not complete prescriptions through our
HorizonCares program or otherwise provide prescribing instructions prohibiting generic diclofenac sodium topical solutions as a
substitute for PENNSAID 2%, the substitution of generic ibuprofen and famotidine separately as a substitution for DUEXIS, sales
of PENNSAID 2% and DUEXIS may suffer despite any success we may have in promoting PENNSAID 2% or DUEXIS to
physicians. In addition, other medicine candidates that contain ibuprofen and famotidine in combination or naproxen and
esomeprazole in combination, while not currently known or FDA approved, may be developed and compete with DUEXIS in the
future.
We have also entered into settlement and license agreements that may allow certain of our competitors to sell generic
versions of certain of our medicines in the United States, subject to the terms of such agreements. We granted (i) a non-exclusive
license (that is only royalty-bearing in some circumstances) to manufacture and commercialize a generic version of DUEXIS in
the United States after January 1, 2023, (ii) non-exclusive licenses to manufacture and commercialize generic versions of
PENNSAID 2% in the United States after October 17, 2027, (iii) a non-exclusive license to manufacture and commercialize a
generic version of RAYOS tablets in the United States after December 23, 2022, and (iv) non-exclusive licenses to manufacture
and commercialize generic versions of RAVICTI in the United States after July 1, 2025, or earlier under certain circumstances.
Patent litigation is currently pending in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey against Actavis
Laboratories UT, Inc., formerly known as Watson Laboratories, Inc., Actavis, Inc. and Actavis plc, or collectively Actavis, who
intend to market a generic version of PENNSAID 2% prior to the expiration of certain of our patents listed in the FDA’s Orange
Book, or the Orange Book. These cases arise from Paragraph IV Patent Certification notice letters from Actavis advising it had
filed an Abbreviated New Drug Application, or ANDA, with the FDA seeking approval to market a generic version of
PENNSAID 2% before the expiration of the patents-in-suit.
On February 27, 2020, following a judgment in federal court invalidating certain patents covering VIMOVO, Dr. Reddy’s
launched a generic version of VIMOVO in the United States. While patent litigation against Dr. Reddy’s for infringement
continues on additional patents in the New Jersey District Court, we now face generic competition for VIMOVO, which has
negatively impacted turnover of VIMOVO in 2020. As a result, we have repositioned our promotional efforts previously directed
to VIMOVO to the other inflammation segment medicines and expect that our VIMOVO turnover will continue to decrease in
future periods.
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Patent litigation is currently pending in the Federal Circuit Court of Appeals and the United States District Court of New
Jersey against Alkem Laboratories, Inc., or Alkem, and Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc., or Teva USA, respectively, who each
intend to market a generic version of DUEXIS prior to the expiration of certain of our patents listed in the Orange Book. These
cases arise from Paragraph IV Patent Certification notice letters from Alkem and Teva USA advising they had filed an ANDA
with the FDA seeking approval to market a generic version of DUEXIS before the expiration of the patents-in-suit.
On June 27, 2020, we received notice from Lupin Limited, or Lupin, that it had filed an ANDA with the FDA seeking
approval of a generic version of PROCYSBI. The ANDA contained a Paragraph IV Patent Certification alleging that the patents
covering PROCYSBI are invalid and/or will not be infringed by Lupin’s manufacture, use or sale of a generic version of
PROCYSBI. Patent litigation is currently pending in the United States District Court of New Jersey against Lupin seeking to
prevent Lupin from selling its generic version of PROCYSBI before the expiration of the patents-in-suit.
If we are unsuccessful in any of the PENNSAID 2% cases, DUEXIS cases or PROCYSBI case, we will likely face generic
competition with respect to PENNSAID 2%, DUEXIS, and/or PROCYSBI and sales of PENNSAID 2%, DUEXIS, and/or
PROCYSBI will be substantially harmed.
ACTIMMUNE is the only medicine currently approved by the FDA specifically for the treatment of CGD and SMO. While
there are additional or alternative approaches used to treat patients with CGD and SMO, there are currently no medicines on the
market that compete directly with ACTIMMUNE. A widely accepted protocol to treat CGD in the United States is the use of
concomitant “triple prophylactic therapy” comprising ACTIMMUNE, an oral antibiotic agent and an oral antifungal
agent. However, the FDA-approved labeling for ACTIMMUNE does not discuss this “triple prophylactic therapy,” and
physicians may choose to prescribe one or both of the other modalities in the absence of ACTIMMUNE. Because of the
immediate and life-threatening nature of SMO, the preferred treatment option for SMO is often to have the patient undergo a bone
marrow transplant which, if successful, will likely obviate the need for further use of ACTIMMUNE in that patient. Likewise, the
use of bone marrow transplants in the treatment of patients with CGD is becoming more prevalent, which could have a material
adverse effect on sales of ACTIMMUNE and its profitability. We are aware of a number of research programs investigating the
potential of gene therapy as a possible cure for CGD. Additionally, other companies may be pursuing the development of
medicines and treatments that target the same diseases and conditions which ACTIMMUNE is currently approved to treat. As a
result, it is possible that our competitors may develop new medicines that manage CGD or SMO more effectively, cost less or
possibly even cure CGD or SMO. In addition, U.S. healthcare legislation passed in March 2010 authorized the FDA to approve
biological products, known as biosimilars, that are similar to or interchangeable with previously approved biological products, like
ACTIMMUNE, based upon potentially abbreviated data packages. Biosimilars are likely to be sold at substantially lower prices
than branded medicines because the biosimilar manufacturer would not have to recoup the research and development and
marketing costs associated with the branded medicine. Though we are not currently aware of any biosimilar under development,
the development and commercialization of any competing medicines or the discovery of any new alternative treatment for CGD or
SMO could have a material adverse effect on sales of ACTIMMUNE and its profitability. We have licenses to U.S. patents
covering ACTIMMUNE. If not otherwise invalidated, those patents expire in 2022.
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BUPHENYL’s composition of matter patent protection and orphan drug exclusivity have expired. Because BUPHENYL
has no regulatory exclusivity or listed patents, there is nothing to prevent a competitor from submitting an ANDA for a generic
version of BUPHENYL and receiving FDA approval. Generic versions of BUPHENYL to date have been priced at a discount
relative to RAVICTI, and physicians, patients, or payers may decide that this less expensive alternative is preferable to
RAVICTI. If this occurs, sales of RAVICTI could be materially reduced, but we would nevertheless be required to make royalty
payments to Bausch Health Companies Inc. (formerly Ucyclyd Pharma, Inc.), or Bausch, and another external party, at the same
royalty rates. While Bausch and its affiliates are generally contractually prohibited from developing or commercializing new
medicines, anywhere in the world, for the treatment of UCD or hepatic encephalopathy, or HE, which are chemically similar to
RAVICTI, they may still develop and commercialize medicines that compete with RAVICTI. For example, medicines approved
for indications other than UCD and HE may still compete with RAVICTI if physicians prescribe such medicines off-label for
UCD or HE. We are also aware that Recordati S.p.A (formerly known as Orphan Europe SARL), or Recordati, is conducting
clinical trials of carglumic acid to assess the efficacy for acute hyperammonemia in some of the UCD enzyme deficiencies for
which RAVICTI is approved for chronic treatment. Carglumic acid is approved for maintenance therapy for chronic
hyperammonemia and to treat hyperammonemic crises in N-acetylglutamate synthase deficiency, a rare UCD subtype, and is sold
under the name Carbaglu. If the results of this trial are successful and Recordati is able to complete development and obtain
approval of Carbaglu to treat additional UCD enzyme deficiencies, RAVICTI may face additional competition from this
compound.
The availability and price of our competitors’ medicines could limit the demand, and the price we are able to charge, for our
medicines. We will not successfully execute on our business objectives if the market acceptance of our medicines is inhibited by
price competition, if physicians are reluctant to switch from existing medicines to our medicines, or if physicians switch to other
new medicines or choose to reserve our medicines for use in limited patient populations.
In addition, established pharmaceutical companies may invest heavily to accelerate discovery and development of novel
compounds or to acquire novel compounds that could make our medicines obsolete. Our ability to compete successfully with
these companies and other potential competitors will depend largely on our ability to leverage our experience in clinical,
regulatory and commercial development to:
•
develop and acquire medicines that are superior to other medicines in the market;
•
attract qualified clinical, regulatory, and sales and marketing personnel;
•
obtain patent and/or other proprietary protection for our medicines and technologies;
•
obtain required regulatory approvals; and
•
successfully collaborate with pharmaceutical companies in the discovery, development and commercialization of new
medicine candidates.
If we are unable to maintain or realize the benefits of orphan drug exclusivity, we may face increased competition with
respect to certain of our medicines.
Under the Orphan Drug Act of 1983, the FDA may designate a medicine as an orphan drug if it is a drug intended to treat a
rare disease or condition affecting fewer than 200,000 people in the United States. A company that first obtains FDA approval for
a designated orphan drug for the specified rare disease or condition receives orphan drug marketing exclusivity for that drug for a
period of seven years from the date of its approval. PROCYSBI received ten years of market exclusivity, through 2023, as an
orphan drug in Europe. PROCYSBI received seven years of market exclusivity, through 2022, for patients two years of age to
less than six years of age, and seven years of market exclusivity, through 2024, for patients one year of age to less than two years
of age, as an orphan drug in the United States. In addition, TEPEZZA has been granted orphan drug exclusivity for treatment of
active (dynamic) phase Graves’ ophthalmopathy, which we expect will provide orphan drug marketing exclusivity in the United
States until January 2027. However, despite orphan drug exclusivity, the FDA can still approve another drug containing the same
active ingredient and used for the same orphan indication if it determines that a subsequent drug is safer, more effective or makes
a major contribution to patient care, and orphan exclusivity can be lost if the orphan drug manufacturer is unable to ensure that a
sufficient quantity of the orphan drug is available to meet the needs of patients with the rare disease or condition. Orphan drug
exclusivity may also be lost if the FDA later determines that the initial request for designation was materially defective. In
addition, orphan drug exclusivity does not prevent the FDA from approving competing drugs for the same or similar indication
containing a different active ingredient. If orphan drug exclusivity is lost and we were unable to successfully enforce any
remaining patents covering the applicable medicine, we could be subject to generic competition and revenues from the medicine
could decrease materially. In addition, if a subsequent drug is approved for marketing for the same or a similar indication as our
medicines despite orphan drug exclusivity, we may face increased competition and lose market share with respect to these
medicines.
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If we cannot successfully implement our patient assistance programs or increase formulary access and reimbursement for
our medicines in the face of increasing pressure to reduce the price of medications, the adoption of our medicines by
physicians, patients and payers may decline.
There continues to be immense pressure from healthcare payers, PBMs and others to use less expensive or generic
medicines or over-the-counter brands instead of certain branded medicines. For example, some PBMs have placed certain of our
medicines on their exclusion lists from time to time, which has resulted in a loss of coverage for patients whose healthcare plans
have adopted these PBM lists. Additional healthcare plans, including those that contract with these PBMs but use different
formularies, may also choose to exclude our medicines from their formularies or restrict coverage to situations where a generic or
over-the-counter medicine has been tried first. Many payers and PBMs also require patients to make co-payments for branded
medicines, including many of our medicines, in order to incentivize the use of generic or other lower-priced alternatives instead.
Legislation enacted in most states in the United States allows, or in some instances mandates, that a pharmacist dispenses an
available generic equivalent when filling a prescription for a branded medicine, in the absence of specific instructions from the
prescribing physician. Because our medicines (other than BUPHENYL and VIMOVO) do not currently have FDA-approved
generic equivalents in the United States, we do not believe our medicines should be subject to mandatory generic substitution
laws. We understand that some pharmacies may attempt to obtain physician authorization to switch prescriptions for DUEXIS to
prescriptions for multiple generic medicines with similar APIs to ensure payment for the medicine if the physician’s prescription
for the branded medicine is not immediately covered by the payer, despite such substitution being off-label in the case of
DUEXIS. If these limitations in coverage and other incentives result in patients refusing to fill prescriptions or being dissatisfied
with the out-of-pocket costs of their medications, or if pharmacies otherwise seek and receive physician authorization to switch
prescriptions, not only would we lose sales on prescriptions that are ultimately not filled, but physicians may be dissuaded from
writing prescriptions for our medicines in the first place in order to avoid potential patient non-compliance or dissatisfaction over
medication costs, or to avoid spending the time and effort of responding to pharmacy requests to switch prescriptions.
Part of our commercial strategy to increase adoption and access to our medicines in the face of these incentives to use
generic alternatives is to offer physicians the opportunity to have eligible patients fill prescriptions through independent
pharmacies participating in our HorizonCares patient assistance program, including shipment of prescriptions to patients. We also
have contracted with a third-party prescription clearinghouse that offers physicians a single point of contact for processing
prescriptions through these independent pharmacies, reducing physician administrative costs, increasing the fill rates for
prescriptions and enabling physicians to monitor refill activity. Through HorizonCares, financial assistance may be available to
reduce eligible patients’ out-of-pocket costs for prescriptions filled. Because of this assistance, eligible patients’ out-of-pocket
cost for our medicines when dispensed through HorizonCares may be significantly lower than such costs when our medicines are
dispensed outside of the HorizonCares program. However, to the extent physicians do not direct prescriptions currently filled
through traditional pharmacies, including those associated with or controlled by PBMs, to pharmacies participating in our
HorizonCares program, we may experience a significant decline in PENNSAID 2% and DUEXIS prescriptions. Our ability to
increase utilization of our patient assistance programs will depend on physician and patient awareness and comfort with the
programs, and we do not control whether physicians will ultimately use our patient assistance programs to prescribe our medicines
or whether patients will agree to receive our medicines through our HorizonCares program. In addition, the HorizonCares
program is not available to federal health care program (such as Medicare and Medicaid) beneficiaries. We have also contracted
with certain PBMs and other payers to secure formulary status and reimbursement for certain of our inflammation segment
medicines, which generally require us to pay administrative fees and rebates to the PBMs and other payers for qualifying
prescriptions. While we have business relationships with two of the largest PBMs, Express Scripts, Inc., or Express Scripts, and
CVS Caremark, as well as rebate agreements with other PBMs, and we believe these agreements will secure formulary status for
certain of our medicines, we cannot guarantee that we will be able to agree to terms with other PBMs and other payers, or that
such terms will be commercially reasonable to us. Despite our agreements with PBMs, the extent of formulary status and
reimbursement will ultimately depend to a large extent upon individual healthcare plan formulary decisions. If healthcare plans
that contract with PBMs with which we have agreements do not adopt formulary changes recommended by the PBMs with respect
to our medicines, we may not realize the expected access and reimbursement benefits from these agreements. In addition, we
generally pay higher rebates for prescriptions covered under plans that adopt a PBM-chosen formulary than for plans that adopt
custom formularies. Consequently, the success of our PBM contracting strategy will depend not only on our ability to expand
formulary adoption among healthcare plans, but also upon the relative mix of healthcare plans that have PBM-chosen formularies
versus custom formularies. If we are unable to realize the expected benefits of our contractual arrangements with the PBMs we
may continue to experience reductions in turnover from our inflammation segment medicines and/or reductions in net pricing for
our inflammation segment medicines due to increasing patient assistance costs. If we are unable to increase adoption of
HorizonCares for filling prescriptions of our medicines and to secure formulary status and reimbursement through arrangements
with PBMs and other payers, particularly with healthcare plans that use custom formularies, our ability to achieve turnover growth
for our inflammation segment medicines would be impaired.
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There has been negative publicity and inquiries from Congress and enforcement authorities regarding the use of specialty
pharmacies and drug pricing. Our patient assistance programs are not involved in the prescribing of medicines and are solely to
assist in ensuring that when a physician determines one of our medicines offers a potential clinical benefit to their patients and
they prescribe one for an eligible patient, financial assistance may be available to reduce the patient’s out-of-pocket costs. In
addition, all pharmacies that fill prescriptions for our medicines are fully independent, including those that participate in
HorizonCares. We do not own or possess any option to purchase an ownership stake in any pharmacy that distributes our
medicines, and our relationship with each pharmacy is non-exclusive and arm’s length. All of our sales are processed through
pharmacies independent of us. Despite this, the negative publicity and interest from Congress and enforcement authorities
regarding specialty pharmacies may result in physicians being less willing to participate in our patient assistance programs and
thereby limit our ability to increase patient assistance and adoption of our medicines.
We may also encounter difficulty in forming and maintaining relationships with pharmacies that participate in our patient
assistance programs. We currently depend on a limited number of pharmacies participating in HorizonCares to fulfill patient
prescriptions under the HorizonCares program. If these HorizonCares participating pharmacies are unable to process and fulfill
the volume of patient prescriptions directed to them under the HorizonCares program, our ability to maintain or increase
prescriptions for our medicines will be impaired. The commercialization of our medicines and our operating results could be
affected should any of the HorizonCares participating pharmacies choose not to continue participation in our HorizonCares
program or by any adverse events at any of those HorizonCares participating pharmacies. For example, pharmacies that dispense
our medicines could lose contracts that they currently maintain with managed care organizations, or MCOs, including PBMs.
Pharmacies often enter into agreements with MCOs. They may be required to abide by certain terms and conditions to maintain
access to MCO networks, including terms and conditions that could limit their ability to participate in patient assistance programs
like ours. Failure to comply with the terms of their agreements with MCOs could result in a variety of penalties, including
termination of their agreement, which could negatively impact the ability of those pharmacies to dispense our medicines and
collect reimbursement from MCOs for such medicines.
The HorizonCares program may implicate certain federal and state laws related to, among other things, unlawful schemes to
defraud, excessive fees for services, healthcare kickbacks, tortious interference with patient contracts and statutory or common
law fraud. We have a comprehensive compliance program in place to address adherence with various laws and regulations
relating to the selling, marketing and manufacturing of our medicines, as well as certain third-party relationships, including
pharmacies. Specifically, with respect to pharmacies, the compliance program utilizes a variety of methods and tools to monitor
and audit pharmacies, including those that participate in the HorizonCares program, to confirm their activities, adjudication and
practices are consistent with our compliance policies and guidance. Despite our compliance efforts, to the extent the
HorizonCares program is found to be inconsistent with applicable laws or the pharmacies that participate in our patient assistance
programs do not comply with applicable laws, we may be required to restructure or discontinue such programs, terminate our
relationship with certain pharmacies, or be subject to other significant penalties. In November 2015, we received a subpoena from
the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of New York requesting documents and information related to our patient
assistance programs and other aspects of our marketing and commercialization activities. We are unable to predict how long this
investigation will continue or its outcome, but we have incurred and anticipate that we may continue to incur significant costs in
connection with the investigation, regardless of the outcome. We may also become subject to similar investigations by other
governmental agencies or Congress. The investigation by the U.S. Attorney’s Office and any additional investigations of our
patient assistance programs and sales and marketing activities may result in significant damages, fines, penalties, exclusion,
additional reporting requirements and/or oversight or other administrative sanctions against us.
If the cost of maintaining our patient assistance programs increases relative to our sales revenues, we could be forced to
reduce the amount of patient financial assistance that we offer or otherwise scale back or eliminate such programs, which could in
turn have a negative impact on physicians’ willingness to prescribe and patients’ willingness to fill prescriptions of our medicines.
While we believe that our arrangements with PBMs will result in broader inclusion of certain of our inflammation segment
medicines on healthcare plan formularies, and therefore increase payer reimbursement and lower our cost of providing patient
assistance programs, these arrangements generally require us to pay administrative and rebate payments to the PBMs and/or other
payers and their effectiveness will ultimately depend to a large extent upon individual healthcare plan formulary decisions that are
beyond the control of the PBMs. If our arrangements with PBMs and other payers do not result in increased prescriptions and
reductions in our costs to provide our patient assistance programs that are sufficient to offset the administrative fees and rebate
payments to the PBMs and/or other payers, our financial results may continue to be harmed.
If we are unable to successfully implement our commercial plans and facilitate adoption by patients and physicians of any
approved medicines through our sales, marketing and commercialization efforts, then we will not be able to generate sustainable
revenues from medicine sales which will have a material adverse effect on our business and prospects.
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Our business operations may subject us to numerous commercial disputes, claims and/or lawsuits and such litigation may
be costly and time-consuming and could materially and adversely impact our financial position and results of operations.
Operating in the pharmaceutical industry, particularly the commercialization of medicines, involves numerous commercial
relationships, complex contractual arrangements, uncertain intellectual property rights, potential product liability and other aspects
that create heightened risks of disputes, claims and lawsuits. In particular, we may face claims related to the safety of our medicines,
intellectual property matters, employment matters, tax matters, commercial disputes, competition, sales and marketing practices,
environmental matters, personal injury, insurance coverage and acquisition or divestiture-related matters. Any commercial dispute,
claim or lawsuit may divert management’s attention away from our business, we may incur significant expenses in addressing or
defending any commercial dispute, claim or lawsuit, and we may be required to pay damage awards or settlements or become subject
to equitable remedies that could adversely affect our operations and financial results.
We are currently in litigation with multiple generic drug manufacturers regarding intellectual property infringement. For
example, we are currently involved in Hatch Waxman litigation with generic drug manufacturers related to DUEXIS, PENNSAID
2%, VIMOVO, and PROCYSBI.
Similarly, from time to time we are involved in disputes with distributors, PBMs and licensing partners regarding our rights
and performance of obligations under contractual arrangements. For example, we were previously in litigation with Express
Scripts related to alleged breach of contract claims.
Litigation related to these disputes may be costly and time-consuming and could materially and adversely impact our
financial position and results of operations if resolved against us.
A variety of risks associated with operating our business internationally could adversely affect our business.
In addition to our U.S. operations, we have operations in Ireland, Bermuda, the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg, or
Luxembourg, Switzerland, Germany and in Canada. Furthermore, we are pursuing a global expansion strategy to bring
TEPEZZA to patients with TED outside of the United States, including Japan. We face risks associated with our international
operations, including possible unfavorable political, tax and labor conditions, which could harm our business. We are subject to
numerous risks associated with international business activities, including:
•

compliance with Irish laws and the maintenance of our Irish tax residency with respect to our overall corporate
structure and administrative operations, including the need to generally hold meetings of our board of directors and
make decisions in Ireland, which may make certain corporate actions more cumbersome, costly and time-consuming;

•

difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations;

•

foreign government taxes, regulations and permit requirements;

•

U.S. and foreign government tariffs, trade restrictions, price and exchange controls and other regulatory requirements;

•

anti-corruption laws, including the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or the FCPA;

•

economic weakness, including inflation, natural disasters, war, events of terrorism or political instability in particular
foreign countries;

•

fluctuations in currency exchange rates, which could result in increased operating expenses and reduced revenues, and
other obligations related to doing business in another country;

•

compliance with tax, employment, immigration and labor laws, regulations and restrictions for employees living or
traveling abroad;

•

workforce uncertainty in countries where labor unrest is more common than in the United States;

•

production shortages resulting from any events affecting raw material supply or manufacturing capabilities abroad;

•

changes in diplomatic and trade relationships; and

•

challenges in enforcing our contractual and intellectual property rights, especially in those foreign countries that do
not respect and protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the United States.
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Our business activities outside of the United States are subject to the FCPA and similar anti-bribery or anti-corruption laws,
regulations or rules of other countries in which we operate. The FCPA and similar anti-corruption laws generally prohibit
offering, promising, giving, or authorizing others to give anything of value, either directly or indirectly, to non-U.S. government
officials in order to improperly influence any act or decision, secure any other improper advantage, or obtain or retain
business. The FCPA also requires public companies to make and keep books and records that accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions of the company and to devise and maintain an adequate system of internal accounting controls. As described above,
our business is heavily regulated and therefore involves significant interaction with public officials, including officials of non-U.S.
governments. Additionally, in many other countries, the health care providers who prescribe pharmaceuticals are employed by
their government, and the purchasers of pharmaceuticals are government entities; therefore, any dealings with these prescribers
and purchasers may be subject to regulation under the FCPA. Recently the SEC and the U.S. Department of Justice, or DOJ, have
increased their FCPA enforcement activities with respect to pharmaceutical companies. In addition, under the Dodd–Frank Wall
Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, private individuals who report to the SEC original information that leads to
successful enforcement actions may be eligible for a monetary award. We are engaged in ongoing efforts that are designed to
ensure our compliance with these laws, including due diligence, training, policies, procedures and internal controls. However,
there is no certainty that all employees and third-party business partners (including our distributors, wholesalers, agents,
contractors, and other partners) will comply with anti-bribery laws. In particular, we do not control the actions of manufacturers
and other third-party agents, although we may be liable for their actions. Violation of these laws may result in civil or criminal
sanctions, which could include monetary fines, criminal penalties, and disgorgement of past profits, which could have a material
adverse impact on our business and financial condition.
We are subject to tax audits around the world, and such jurisdictions may assess additional income tax against us. Although
we believe our tax positions are reasonable, the final determination of tax audits could be materially different from our recorded
income tax provisions and accruals. The ultimate results of an audit could have a material adverse effect on our operating results
or cash flows in the period or periods for which that determination is made and could result in increases to our overall tax expense
in subsequent periods.
These and other risks associated with our international operations may materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
If we fail to develop or acquire other medicine candidates or medicines, our business and prospects would be limited.
A key element of our strategy is to develop or acquire and commercialize a portfolio of other medicines or medicine
candidates in addition to our current medicines, through business or medicine acquisitions such as our acquisition of Viela Bio,
Inc. or Viela. Because we do not engage in proprietary drug discovery, the success of this strategy depends in large part upon the
combination of our regulatory, development and commercial capabilities and expertise and our ability to identify, select and
acquire approved or clinically enabled medicine candidates for therapeutic indications that complement or augment our current
medicines, or that otherwise fit into our development or strategic plans on terms that are acceptable to us. Identifying, selecting
and acquiring promising medicines or medicine candidates requires substantial technical, financial and human resources
expertise. Efforts to do so may not result in the actual acquisition or license of a particular medicine or medicine candidate,
potentially resulting in a diversion of our management’s time and the expenditure of our resources with no resulting benefit. If we
are unable to identify, select and acquire suitable medicines or medicine candidates from third parties or acquire businesses at
valuations and on other terms acceptable to us, or if we are unable to raise capital required to acquire businesses or new
medicines, our business and prospects will be limited.
Moreover, any medicine candidate we acquire may require additional, time-consuming development or regulatory efforts
prior to commercial sale or prior to expansion into other indications, including pre-clinical studies if applicable, and extensive
clinical testing and approval by the FDA and applicable foreign regulatory authorities. All medicine candidates are prone to the
risk of failure that is inherent in pharmaceutical medicine development, including the possibility that the medicine candidate will
not be shown to be sufficiently safe and/or effective for approval by regulatory authorities. In addition, we cannot assure that any
such medicines that are approved will be manufactured or produced economically, successfully commercialized or widely
accepted in the marketplace or be more effective or desired than other commercially available alternatives.
In addition, if we fail to successfully commercialize and further develop our medicines, there is a greater likelihood that we
will fail to successfully develop a pipeline of other medicine candidates to follow our existing medicines or be able to acquire
other medicines to expand our existing portfolio, and our business and prospects would be harmed.
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We have experienced growth and expanded the size of our organization substantially in connection with our acquisition
transactions, and we may experience difficulties in managing this growth as well as potential additional growth in
connection with future medicine, development program or company acquisitions.
As of December 31, 2013, we employed approximately 300 full-time employees as a consolidated entity. As of December
31, 2020, we employed approximately 1,395 full-time employees, including approximately 460 sales representatives, representing
a substantial change to the size of our organization. As a result of the acquisition of Viela in March 2021, we have experienced a
further increase in headcount. We have also experienced, and may continue to experience, turnover of the sales representatives
that we hired or will hire in connection with the commercialization of our medicines, requiring us to hire and train new sales
representatives. Our management, personnel, systems and facilities currently in place may not be adequate to support anticipated
growth, and we may not be able to retain or recruit qualified personnel in the future due to competition for personnel among
pharmaceutical businesses.
As our commercialization plans and strategies continue to develop, including as a result of our acquisition of Viela, we will
need to continue to recruit and train sales and marketing personnel. Our ability to manage any future growth effectively may
require us to, among other things:
•

continue to manage and expand the sales and marketing efforts for our existing medicines;

•

enhance our operational, financial and management controls, reporting systems and procedures;

•

expand our international resources;

•

successfully identify, recruit, hire, train, maintain, motivate and integrate additional employees;

•

establish and increase our access to commercial supplies of our medicines and medicine candidates;

•

expand our facilities and equipment; and

•

manage our internal development efforts effectively while complying with our contractual obligations to licensors,
licensees, contractors, collaborators, distributors and other third parties.

Our acquisitions have resulted in many changes, and our acquisition of Viela may result in additional changes, including
significant changes in the corporate business and legal entity structure, the integration of other companies and their personnel with
us, and changes in systems. We may encounter unexpected difficulties or incur unexpected costs, including:
•

difficulties in achieving growth prospects from combining third-party businesses with our business;

•

difficulties in the integration of operations and systems;

•

difficulties in the assimilation of employees and corporate cultures;

•

challenges in preparing financial statements and reporting timely results at both a statutory level for multiple entities
and jurisdictions and at a consolidated level for public reporting;

•

challenges in keeping existing physician prescribers and patients and increasing adoption of acquired medicines;

•

difficulties in achieving anticipated cost savings, synergies, business opportunities and growth prospects from the
combination;

•

potential unknown liabilities, adverse consequences and unforeseen increased expenses associated with the
transaction; and

•

challenges in attracting and retaining key personnel.

If any of these factors impair our ability to continue to integrate our operations with those of any companies or businesses
we acquire, including Viela, we may not be able to realize the business opportunities, growth prospects and anticipated tax
synergies from combining the businesses. In addition, we may be required to spend additional time or money on integration that
otherwise would be spent on the development and expansion of our business. For example, we will need to spend additional time
and money on the integration of Viela’s research and development and sales and marketing functions with our own functions.
We may not be successful in growing our commercial operations outside the United States, and could encounter other
challenges in growing our commercial presence, including due to risks associated with political and economic instability,
operating under different legal requirements and tax complexities. If we are unable to manage our commercial growth outside of
the United States, our opportunities to expand sales in other countries will be limited or we may experience greater costs with
respect to our ex-U.S. commercial operations.
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We have also broadened our acquisition strategy to include development-stage assets or programs, which entails additional
risk to us. For example, if we are unable to identify programs that ultimately result in approved medicines, we may spend
material amounts of our capital and other resources evaluating, acquiring and developing medicines that ultimately do not provide
a return on our investment. We have less experience evaluating development-stage assets and may be at a disadvantage compared
to other entities pursuing similar opportunities. Regardless, development-stage programs generally have a high rate of failure and
we cannot guarantee that any such programs will ultimately be successful. While we have significantly enhanced our research and
development function in recent years, we may need to enhance our clinical development and regulatory functions to properly
evaluate and develop earlier-stage opportunities, which may include recruiting personnel that are knowledgeable in therapeutic
areas we have not yet pursued. If we are unable to acquire promising development-stage assets or eventually obtain marketing
approval for them, we may not be able to create a meaningful pipeline of new medicines and eventually realize a return on our
investments. For example, a core strategic rationale for the Viela acquisition is Viela’s pipeline of medicine candidates and
research and development capabilities, but if we experience clinical failures with respect to Viela’s medicine candidates and
research programs or such candidates and programs do not otherwise result in marketed medicines, we will not realize the
expected benefits from the substantial investment we intend to make in the acquisition and subsequent development of the Viela
pipeline.
Our management may also have to divert a disproportionate amount of its attention away from day-to-day activities and
toward managing these growth and integration activities. Our future financial performance and our ability to execute on our
business plan will depend, in part, on our ability to effectively manage any future growth and our failure to effectively manage
growth could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.
Our prior medicine and company acquisitions and any other strategic transactions that we may pursue in the future could
have a variety of negative consequences, and we may not realize the benefits of such transactions or attempts to engage in
such transactions.
We have completed multiple medicine and company acquisitions and our strategy is to engage in additional strategic
transactions with third parties, such as acquisitions of companies or divisions of companies and asset purchases of medicines,
medicine candidates or technologies that we believe will complement or augment our existing business. We may also consider a
variety of other business arrangements, including spin-offs, strategic partnerships, joint ventures, restructurings, divestitures,
business combinations and other investments. Any such transaction may require us to incur non-recurring and other charges,
increase our near and long-term expenditures, pose significant integration challenges, create additional tax, legal, accounting and
operational complexities in our business, require additional expertise, result in dilution to our existing shareholders and disrupt our
management and business, which could harm our operations and financial results.
We are subject to contractual obligations under an amended and restated license agreement with the Regents of the
University of California, San Diego, or UCSD, as amended, with respect to PROCYSBI. To the extent that we fail to perform our
obligations under the agreement, UCSD may, with respect to applicable indications, terminate the license or otherwise cause the
license to become non-exclusive. If this license was terminated, we would have no further right to use or exploit the related
intellectual property, which would limit our ability to develop PROCYSBI in other indications, and could impact our ability to
continue commercializing PROCYSBI in its approved indications.
We face significant competition in seeking appropriate strategic transaction opportunities and the negotiation process for
any strategic transaction can be time-consuming and complex. In addition, we may not be successful in our efforts to engage in
certain strategic transactions because our financial resources may be insufficient and/or third parties may not view our commercial
and development capabilities as being adequate. We may not be able to expand our business or realize our strategic goals if we do
not have sufficient funding or cannot borrow or raise additional capital. There is no assurance that following any of our recent
acquisition transactions or any other strategic transaction, including the acquisition of Viela, we will achieve the anticipated
revenues, net income or other benefits that we believe justify such transactions. In addition, any failures or delays in entering into
strategic transactions anticipated by analysts or the investment community could seriously harm our consolidated business,
financial condition, results of operations or cash flow.
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We may not be able to successfully maintain our current advantageous tax status and resulting tax rates, which could
adversely affect our business and financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.
Our parent company is incorporated in Ireland and has subsidiaries maintained in multiple jurisdictions, including Ireland,
the United States, Switzerland, Luxembourg, Germany, Canada and Bermuda. We are able to achieve a favorable tax rate through
the performance of certain functions and ownership of certain assets in tax-efficient jurisdictions, including Ireland and Bermuda,
together with the use of intercompany service and transfer pricing agreements, each on an arm’s length basis. Our effective tax
rate may be different than experienced in the past due to numerous factors including, changes to the tax laws of jurisdictions that
we operate in, the enactment of new tax treaties or changes to existing tax treaties, changes in the mix of our profitability from
jurisdiction to jurisdiction, the implementation of the EU Anti-Tax Avoidance Directive (see further discussion below), the
implementation of the Bermuda Economic Substance Act 2018 (effective December 31, 2018) and our inability to secure or
sustain acceptable agreements with tax authorities (if applicable). Any of these factors could cause us to experience an effective
tax rate significantly different from previous periods or our current expectations. Taxing authorities, such as the U.S. Internal
Revenue Service, or IRS, actively audit and otherwise challenge these types of arrangements, and have done so in the
pharmaceutical industry. We expect that these challenges will continue as a result of the recent increase in scrutiny and political
attention on corporate tax structures. The IRS and/or the Irish tax authorities may challenge our structure and transfer pricing
arrangements through an audit or lawsuit. Responding to or defending such a challenge could be expensive and consume time and
other resources, and divert management’s time and focus from operating our business. We cannot predict whether taxing
authorities will conduct an audit or file a lawsuit challenging this structure, the cost involved in responding to any such audit or
lawsuit, or the outcome. If we are unsuccessful in defending such a challenge, we may be required to pay taxes for prior periods,
as well as interest, fines or penalties, and may be obligated to pay increased taxes in the future, any of which could require us to
reduce our operating expenses, decrease efforts in support of our medicines or seek to raise additional funds, all of which could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.
The IRS may not agree with our conclusion that our parent company should be treated as a foreign corporation for U.S.
federal income tax purposes following the combination of the businesses of Horizon Pharma, Inc., or HPI, our predecessor,
and Vidara Therapeutics International Public Limited Company, or Vidara.
Although our parent company is incorporated in Ireland, the IRS may assert that it should be treated as a U.S. corporation
(and, therefore, a U.S. tax resident) for U.S. federal income tax purposes pursuant to Section 7874 of the Internal Revenue Code
of 1986, as amended, or the Code. A corporation is generally considered a tax resident in the jurisdiction of its organization or
incorporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Because our parent company is an Irish incorporated entity, it would
generally be classified as a foreign corporation (and, therefore, a non-U.S. tax resident) under these general rules. Section 7874 of
the Code provides an exception pursuant to which a foreign incorporated entity may, in certain circumstances, be treated as a U.S.
corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes.
In July 2018, the IRS issued regulations under Section 7874. We do not believe that our classification as a foreign
corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes is affected by Section 7874 or the regulations thereunder, though the IRS may
disagree.
Recent and future changes to U.S. and non-U.S. tax laws could materially adversely affect our company.
Under current law, we expect our parent company to be treated as a foreign corporation for U.S. federal income tax
purposes. However, changes to the rules in Section 7874 of the Code or regulations promulgated thereunder or other guidance
issued by the U.S. Department of the Treasury, or the U.S. Treasury, or the IRS could adversely affect our parent company’s
status as a foreign corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes or the taxation of transactions between members of our group,
and any such changes could have prospective or retroactive application. If our parent company is treated as a domestic
corporation, more of our income will be taxed by the United States which may substantially increase our effective tax rate.
In addition, the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development, or the OECD, released its Base Erosion and
Profit Shifting project final report on October 5, 2015. This report provides the basis for international standards for corporate
taxation that are designed to prevent, among other things, the artificial shifting of income to tax havens and low-tax jurisdictions,
the erosion of the tax base through interest deductions on intercompany debt and the artificial avoidance of permanent
establishments (i.e., tax nexus with a jurisdiction). Legislation to adopt these standards has been enacted or is currently under
consideration in a number of jurisdictions. On June 7, 2017, several countries, including many countries that we operate and have
subsidiaries in, participated in the signing ceremony adopting the OECD’s Multilateral Convention to Implement Tax Treaty
Related Measures to Prevent Base Erosion and Profit Shifting, commonly referred to as the MLI. The MLI came into effect on
July 1, 2018. In January 2019, Ireland deposited the instrument of ratification of Ireland’s MLI choices with the OECD. Ireland’s
MLI came into force on May 1, 2019, however the provisions in respect of withholding taxes and other taxes levied by Ireland did
not come into effect for us until January 1, 2020 (with application also depending on whether the MLI has been ratified in other
jurisdictions whose tax treaties with Ireland are affected). The MLI may modify affected tax treaties making it more difficult for
us to obtain advantageous tax-treaty benefits. The number of affected tax treaties could eventually be in the thousands. As a
result, our income may be taxed in jurisdictions where it is not currently taxed and at higher rates of tax than it is currently taxed,
which may increase our effective tax rate.
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The Irish Finance Act 2019, or Finance Act 2019, which was signed into law on December 22, 2019, introduced changes to
Ireland’s transfer pricing rules, which came into force with effect from January 1, 2020. The changes introduce the 2017 version
of the OECD Transfer Pricing Guidelines, or 2017 OECD Guidelines, as the reference guidelines for Ireland’s domestic transfer
pricing regime. The 2017 OECD Guidelines were already applicable under Ireland’s international tax treaties and therefore the
introduction of these guidelines should only affect transactions with non-tax treaty countries. In addition to updating Irish tax law
for the 2017 OECD Guidelines, these changes also extend the transfer pricing rules to certain non-trading transactions and to
certain capital transactions. We have restructured certain intercompany arrangements, such that we do not expect there to be a
material impact on our effective tax rate as a result of the introduction of these provisions.
On July 12, 2016, the Anti-Tax Avoidance Directive, or ATAD, was formally adopted by the Economic and Financial
Affairs Council of the EU. The stated objective of the ATAD is to provide for the effective and swift coordinated implementation
of anti-base erosion and profit shifting measures at EU level. Like all directives, the ATAD is binding as to the results it aims to
achieve though EU Member States are free to choose the form and method of achieving those results. In addition, the ATAD
contains a number of optional provisions that present an element of choice as to how it will be implemented into law. On
December 25, 2018, the Finance Act 2018 was signed into Irish law, which introduced certain elements of the ATAD, such as the
Controlled Foreign Company, or CFC, regime, into Irish law. The CFC regime became effective as of January 1, 2019. The
ATAD also set out a high-level framework for the introduction of Anti-hybrid provisions. Finance Act 2019 introduced Antihybrid legislation in Ireland with effect from January 1, 2020. It is anticipated that Finance Act 2021 will introduce further
ATAD measures, such as the interest limitation rules and anti-hybrid rules to neutralize reverse-hybrid mismatches into Irish law
with effect from January 1, 2022. Although it is difficult at this stage to determine with precision the impact that these remaining
provisions will have, their implementation could materially increase our effective tax rate.
On December 22, 2017, U.S. federal income tax legislation was signed into law (H.R. 1, “An Act to provide for
reconciliation pursuant to titles II and V of the concurrent resolution on the budget for fiscal year 2018”, informally titled the Tax
Cuts and Jobs Act, or the Tax Act) that significantly revised the Code in the United States. The Tax Act, among other things,
contained significant changes to corporate taxation, including reduction of the corporate tax rate from a top marginal rate of 35%
to a flat rate of 21%, limitation of the tax deduction for interest expense to 30% of adjusted earnings (except for certain small
businesses), implementation of a “base erosion anti-abuse tax” which requires U.S. corporations to make an alternative
determination of taxable income without regard to tax deductions for certain payments to affiliates, taxation of certain non-U.S.
corporations’ earnings considered to be “global intangible low taxed income”, or GILTI, repeal of the alternative minimum tax, or
AMT, for corporations and changes to a taxpayer’s ability to either utilize or refund the AMT credits previously generated,
changes to the limitation on deductions for certain executive compensation particularly with respect to the removal of the
previously allowed performance based compensation exception, changes in the attribution rules relating to shareholders of certain
“controlled foreign corporations”, limitation of the deduction for net operating losses to 80% of current year taxable income and
elimination of net operating loss carrybacks, one-time taxation of offshore earnings at reduced rates regardless of whether they are
repatriated, elimination of U.S. tax on foreign earnings (subject to certain important exceptions), immediate deductions for certain
new investments instead of deductions for depreciation expense over time, and modifying or repealing many business deductions
and credits. For example, U.S. federal income tax law resulting in additional taxes owed by U.S. shareholders under the GILTI
rules, together with the Tax Act’s change to the attribution rules related to “controlled foreign corporations” may discourage U.S.
investors from owning or acquiring 10% or greater of our outstanding ordinary shares, which other shareholders may have viewed
as beneficial or may otherwise negatively impact the trading price of our ordinary shares.
On March 27, 2020, H.R.748, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act, or the CARES Act, was enacted in
the United States, which provides temporary relief from certain aspects of the Tax Act that had imposed limitations on the
utilization of certain losses, interest expense deductions, and the timing of refunds of alternative minimum tax credits.
We are unable to predict what tax laws may be proposed or enacted in the future or what effect such changes would have on
our business. To the extent new tax laws are enacted, or new guidance released, this could have an adverse effect on our future
effective tax rate. It could also lead to an increase in the complexity and cost of tax compliance. We urge our shareholders to
consult with their legal and tax advisors with respect to the potential tax consequences of investing in or holding our ordinary
shares.
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If a United States person is treated as owning at least 10% of our ordinary shares, such holder may be subject to adverse
U.S. federal income tax consequences.
If a United States person is treated as owning (directly, indirectly, or constructively) at least 10% of the value or voting
power of our ordinary shares, such person may be treated as a “United States shareholder” with respect to each “controlled foreign
corporation” in our group (if any). Because our group includes one or more U.S. subsidiaries, certain of our non-U.S. subsidiaries
could be treated as controlled foreign corporations (regardless of whether or not we are treated as a controlled foreign
corporation). A United States shareholder of a controlled foreign corporation may be required to report annually and include in its
U.S. taxable income its pro rata share of “Subpart F income,” “global intangible low-taxed income,” and investments in U.S.
property by controlled foreign corporations, regardless of whether we make any distributions. An individual that is a United
States shareholder with respect to a controlled foreign corporation generally would not be allowed certain tax deductions or
foreign tax credits that would be allowed to a U.S. corporation that is a United States shareholder with respect to a controlled
foreign corporation. Failure to comply with these reporting and tax paying obligations may subject a United States shareholder to
significant monetary penalties and may prevent the statute of limitations from starting with respect to such shareholder’s U.S.
federal income tax return for the year for which reporting was due. We cannot provide any assurances that we will assist investors
in determining whether any of our non-U.S. subsidiaries is treated as a controlled foreign corporation or whether any investor is
treated as a United States shareholder with respect to any such controlled foreign corporation or furnish to any United States
shareholders information that may be necessary to comply with the aforementioned reporting and tax paying obligations. A
United States investor should consult its advisors regarding the potential application of these rules to an investment in our
ordinary shares.
If we are not successful in attracting and retaining highly qualified personnel, we may not be able to successfully implement
our business strategy.
Our ability to compete in the highly competitive biotechnology and pharmaceuticals industries depends upon our ability to
attract and retain highly qualified managerial, scientific and medical personnel. We are highly dependent on our management,
sales and marketing and scientific and medical personnel, including our executive officers. In order to retain valuable employees
at our company, in addition to salary and annual cash incentives, we provide a mix of performance stock units, or PSUs, that vest
subject to attainment of specified corporate performance goals and continued services, stock options and restricted stock units, or
RSUs, that vest over time subject to continued services. The value to employees of PSUs, stock options and RSUs will be
significantly affected by movements in our share price that are beyond our control, and may at any time be insufficient to
counteract more lucrative offers from other companies.
Despite our efforts to retain valuable employees, members of our management, sales and marketing, regulatory affairs,
clinical development, medical affairs and development teams may terminate their employment with us on short notice. Although
we have written employment arrangements with all of our employees, these employment arrangements generally provide for atwill employment, which means that our employees can leave our employment at any time, with or without notice. The loss of the
services of any of our executive officers or other key employees and our inability to find suitable replacements could potentially
harm our business, financial condition and prospects. We do not maintain “key man” insurance policies on the lives of these
individuals or the lives of any of our other employees. Our success also depends on our ability to continue to attract, retain and
motivate highly skilled junior, mid-level, and senior managers as well as junior, mid-level, and senior sales and marketing and
scientific and medical personnel.
Many of the other biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies with whom we compete for qualified personnel have
greater financial and other resources, different risk profiles and longer histories in the industry than we do. They also may provide
more diverse opportunities and better chances for career advancement. Some of these characteristics may be more appealing to
high quality candidates than that which we have to offer. If we are unable to continue to attract and retain high quality personnel,
the rate and success at which we can develop and commercialize medicines and medicine candidates will be limited.
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We are subject to ongoing obligations and continued regulatory review by the FDA and equivalent foreign regulatory
agencies, which may result in significant additional expense and significant penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory
requirements or experience unanticipated problems with our medicines.
Any regulatory approvals that we obtain for our medicine candidates may also be subject to limitations on the approved
indicated uses for which the medicine may be marketed or to the conditions of approval, or contain requirements for potentially
costly post-marketing testing, including Phase 4 clinical trials and surveillance to monitor the safety and efficacy of the medicine
candidate. In addition, with respect to our current FDA-approved medicines (and with respect to our medicine candidates, if
approved), the manufacturing processes, labeling, packaging, distribution, adverse event reporting, storage, advertising, promotion
and recordkeeping for the medicine are subject to extensive and ongoing regulatory requirements. These requirements include
submissions of safety and other post-marketing information and reports, registration, as well as continued compliance with
cGMPs, GCPs, International Council for Harmonisation, or ICH, guidelines and GLPs, which are regulations and guidelines
enforced by the FDA for all of our medicines in clinical development, for any clinical trials that we conduct post-approval.
In addition, the FDA closely regulates the marketing and promotion of drugs and biologics. The FDA does not regulate the
behaviour of physicians in their choice of treatments. The FDA does, however, restrict manufacturers’ promotional
communications. A significant number of pharmaceutical companies have been the target of inquiries and investigations by
various U.S. federal and state regulatory, investigative, prosecutorial and administrative entities in connection with the promotion
of medicines for off-label uses and other sales practices. These investigations have alleged violations of various U.S. federal and
state laws and regulations, including claims asserting antitrust violations, violations of the Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, false
claims laws, the Prescription Drug Marketing Act, anti-kickback laws, and other alleged violations in connection with the
promotion of medicines for unapproved uses, pricing and Medicare and/or Medicaid reimbursement.
Later discovery of previously unknown problems with a medicine, including adverse events of unanticipated severity or
frequency, or with our third-party manufacturers or manufacturing processes, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements,
may result in, among other things:
•

restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of the medicine, withdrawal of the medicine from the market, or
voluntary or mandatory medicine recalls;

•

refusal by the FDA to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications filed by us or our
strategic partners, or suspension or revocation of medicine license approvals;

•

medicine seizure or detention, or refusal to permit the import or export of medicines; and

•

injunctions, the imposition of civil or criminal penalties, or exclusion, debarment or suspension from government
healthcare programs.

If we are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may lose any marketing approval that we may have obtained and
we may not sustain profitability, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial
condition and prospects.
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We are subject to federal, state and foreign healthcare laws and regulations and implementation or changes to such
healthcare laws and regulations could adversely affect our business and results of operations.
The United States and some foreign jurisdictions are considering or have enacted a number of legislative and regulatory
proposals that change the healthcare system in ways that could impact profitability. In the United States and abroad there is
significant interest in implementing regulations and legislation with the stated goals of containing healthcare costs, improving
quality, and/or expanding access. The pharmaceutical industry has been a focus of these efforts and has been significantly
affected by major legislative initiatives, particularly in the United States.
The healthcare system is highly regulated in the United States and, as a biotech company that participates in governmentregulated healthcare programs, we are subject to complex laws and regulations. Violation of these laws, or any other federal or
state regulations, may subject us to significant administrative, civil and/or criminal penalties, damages, disgorgement, fines,
exclusion, imprisonment, additional reporting requirements, and/or oversight from federal health care programs that could require
the restructuring of our operations. Any of these could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial results. Any
action against us for violation of these laws, even if we ultimately are successful in our defense, will cause us to incur significant
legal expenses and divert our management’s attention away from the operation of our business.
There were efforts by the Trump administration as well as Congressional and judicial actions taken to replace or weaken
certain aspects of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation
Act (collectively, the ACA). For example, President Trump signed several Executive Orders and other directives designed to
eliminate, delay or otherwise modify the implementation of certain provisions of the ACA. Concurrently, Congress considered
legislation that would repeal and/or replace all or part of the ACA. While Congress has not passed comprehensive repeal
legislation, it has enacted laws that modify certain provisions of the ACA. In particular, the Tax Act included a provision which
decreased, effective January 1, 2019, the tax-based shared responsibility payment imposed by the ACA to $0. Commonly referred
to as the “individual mandate,” this provision imposed a fine on certain individuals who fail to maintain qualifying health
coverage for all or part of the year. In addition, the 2020 federal spending package permanently eliminated, effective January 1,
2020, the ACA-mandated “Cadillac” tax on high-cost employer-sponsored health coverage and medical device tax and, effective
January 1, 2021, also eliminated the health insurer tax. Finally, Congress increased the manufacturer coverage gap discount that
is owed by pharmaceutical manufacturers of branded drugs and biosimilars who participate in Medicare Part D from 50% to 70%.
Challenges to the ACA are also taking place in courts, including the U.S. Supreme Court, with some lower court’s ruling
some or all of the ACA unconstitutional. For example, on December 14, 2018, a Texas U.S. District Court Judge ruled that the
ACA is unconstitutional in its entirety because the “individual mandate” was repealed by Congress as part of the Tax Act.
Additionally, on December 18, 2019, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the 5th Circuit upheld the District Court ruling that the
individual mandate was unconstitutional and remanded the case back to the District Court to determine whether the remaining
provisions of the ACA are invalid as well. The U.S. Supreme Court is currently reviewing this case, although it is unclear when a
decision will be made. Although the U.S. Supreme Court has not yet ruled on the constitutionality of the ACA, on January 28,
2021, President Biden issued an executive order to initiate a special enrollment period from February 15, 2021 through May 15,
2021 for purposes of obtaining health insurance coverage through the ACA marketplace. The executive order also instructs
certain governmental agencies to review and reconsider their existing policies and rules that limit access to healthcare, including
among others, reexamining Medicaid demonstration projects and waiver programs that include work requirements, and policies
that create unnecessary barriers to obtaining access to health insurance coverage through Medicaid or the ACA. There is a wide
range of potential outcomes to this litigation and it is unclear how the Supreme Court ruling, other such litigation and the
healthcare reform measures of the Biden administration will impact the ACA’s many different provisions affecting the health
system, the pharmaceutical sector and our business.
In addition, drug pricing by pharmaceutical companies in the United States has come under increased scrutiny. Specifically,
there have been several recent state and U.S. congressional inquiries into pricing practices by pharmaceutical companies.
At the federal level, the Trump Administration used several means to propose or implement drug pricing reform, including
through federal budget proposals and issuing executive orders and proposals in an effort to reduce the cost of drugs under
Medicare and reform government program reimbursement methodologies, while calling on Congress to pass legislation that
addresses drug prices and competition.
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Additionally, in 2020, the Administration advanced its agenda on drug pricing through a series of executive orders. For
example, on July 24, 2020, President Trump announced several executive orders related to prescription drug pricing that attempt
to implement several of the Trump Administration proposals, including a policy that would tie both Medicare Part B and Part D
drug prices to international drug prices, or the “most favored nation price,” the details of which were released on September 13,
2020; one that directs HHS to finalize the Canadian drug importation proposed rule previously issued by HHS and makes other
changes allowing for personal importation of drugs from Canada; one that directs HHS to finalize the rulemaking process on
modifying the anti-kickback law safe harbors for plans, pharmacies, and PBMs, commonly known as the “rebate rule”; and one
that reduces the cost of insulin and injectable epinephrine to patients acquired through the 340B program. Further, on August 6,
2020, the Trump administration issued another executive order that instructs the federal government to develop a list of
“essential” medicines and then buy them and other medical supplies from U.S. manufacturers instead of from companies around
the world, including China. The order is meant to reduce regulatory barriers to domestic pharmaceutical manufacturing and
catalyze manufacturing technologies needed to keep drug prices low and the production of drug products in the United States.
The FDA issued the list of “essential” medicines pursuant to this order on October 30, 2020.
In November 2020, CMS issued an interim final rule, or IFR, implementing the Most Favored Nation, or MFN, Model
basing Medicare Part B reimbursement rates for the top fifty drugs covered by Part B based to the lowest price drug manufacturers
receive in Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development, or OECD, countries with a similar gross domestic product
per capita. The MFN Model mandates participation for providers prescribing drugs included on the list and will apply in all U.S.
states and territories for a seven-year period that was scheduled to begin on January 1, 2021 and end December 31, 2027.
However, several lawsuits were filed challenging the rule. On December 28, 2020, the United States District Court in Northern
California issued a nationwide preliminary injunction against implementation of the interim final rule. One court granted a
preliminary injunction enjoining CMS from moving forward with the rule until CMS completed regular notice and comment
rulemaking, delaying implementation. It is unclear if the Biden Administration will support, modify, or reverse the MFN model
or implement other alternative measures. President Biden’s presidential election campaign had indicated that Biden would direct
Medicare to negotiate drug prices using international prices as a reference. The FDA released a final rule implementing a portion
of the importation executive order providing guidance for states to build and submit importation plans. Several states have acted
to implement importation plans or have introduced legislation to do so. FDA also finalized guidance for manufacturers to obtain
an additional National Drug Code for an FDA-approved drug as part of a process to provide a manufacturer a means to import its
drugs that were originally intended to be marketed in and authorized for sale in a foreign country. In addition, HHS and FDA are
in the process of accepting industry proposals to facilitate personal importation of prescription drugs. On November 20, 2020,
HHS also finalized the “rebate rule” regulation by removing safe harbor protection for price reductions from pharmaceutical
manufacturers to plan sponsors under Part D, either directly or through PBMs, unless the price reduction is required by law. The
implementation of the rule has been delayed by the Biden administration from January 1, 2022 to January 1, 2023 in response to
ongoing litigation. The rule also creates a new safe harbor for price reductions reflected at the point-of-sale, as well as a safe
harbor for certain fixed fee arrangements between PBMs, the implementation of which have also been delayed pending review by
the Biden administration until January 1, 2023.
Congress continued to seek new legislative and/or administrative measures to control drug costs. For example, in June
2020, the U.S. House of Representatives passed a bill, H.R. 1425, “Patient Protection and Affordable Care Enhancement Act”,
which would strengthen and expand parts of the ACA and incentivize Medicaid expansion, but also proposes to implement a “Fair
Price Negotiation Program” to utilize international price referencing metrics for certain drugs that are considered high-cost or are
reimbursable by both Medicare Part D and Part B, while giving commercial payers, including employer and individual market
plans, access to the reference price. The majority of our medicines are purchased by private payers, and much of the focus of
pending legislation is on government program reimbursement.
Additionally, certain proposals have been contemplated that would implement a cap on annual price increases for certain
drugs covered under Medicare at the rate of inflation or require the respective manufacturers to pay a rebate. There has also been
advocacy for increasing the Medicaid drug rebates cap, currently at 100% of a drug's average manufacturer price or removing
such cap in its entirety.
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In addition to the federal government, many states have taken action in an effort to address rising health care costs.
Generally, states have been more focused on introducing and enacting legislation that brings more transparency to drug pricing by
requiring drug companies subject to these laws to notify insurers and government regulators of price increases and provide an
explanation of the reasons for the increases, reducing the out-of-pocket cost of prescription drugs, and reviewing the relationship
between pricing and manufacturer patient programs. However, in the 2020 budget, the California legislature directed the
California Health and Human Services Agency to develop a process to use international reference pricing for Medicaid drugs.
Certain states, including California, have enacted drug transparency laws requiring drug manufacturers to provide advance notice
and explanation for price increases above a certain threshold. In addition, a growing number of states have implemented, or are
contemplating implementing, drug affordability boards to establish “allowable rates” for certain high-cost drugs identified by such
boards.
In addition to the aforementioned price reform measures, there are other potential reform measures relating to the
pharmaceutical industry. For example, there have been efforts to amend the Orphan Drug Act, including a bill passed in the
House of Representatives in November 2020, the Orphan Drug Exclusivity Act, that would have limited manufacturers’ ability to
receive orphan drug exclusivity under the “cost recovery” pathway under the Orphan Drug Act. While the Senate did not take
further action on this bill in 2020, the bill’s co-sponsors were re-elected, and it remains unclear whether it will be re-introduced.
Further, on December 31, 2020, CMS issued a final rule that broadened the definition of “line extension” under the ACA. It is
unclear whether this final rule will be challenged similar to other final rules that were issued shortly prior to the change in
presidential administration.
In countries in the EU, legislators, policymakers, and healthcare insurance funds continue to propose and implement costcontaining measures to keep healthcare costs down, due in part to the attention being paid to healthcare cost containment in the
EU. Certain of these changes could impose limitations on the prices we will be able to charge for our products and any approved
product candidates or the amounts of reimbursement available for these products from governmental agencies or third-party
payers, may increase the tax obligations on pharmaceutical companies such as ours, or may facilitate the introduction of generic
competition with respect to our products.
The implementation of cost containment measures or other healthcare reforms may prevent us from being able to generate
revenue, attain profitability, or commercialize our current medicines and/or those for which we may receive regulatory approval in
the future.
We are subject, directly or indirectly, to federal and state healthcare fraud and abuse, transparency laws and false claims
laws. Prosecutions under such laws have increased in recent years and we may become subject to such litigation. If we are
unable to comply, or have not fully complied, with such laws, we could face substantial penalties.
In the United States, we are subject directly, or indirectly through our customers and other third parties, to various state and
federal fraud and abuse and transparency laws, including, without limitation, the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, the federal False
Claims Act, civil monetary penalty statutes prohibiting, among other things, beneficiary inducements, and similar state and local
laws, federal and state privacy and security laws, such as the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996,
sunshine laws, government price reporting laws, and other fraud laws. Some states, such as Massachusetts, make certain reported
information public. In addition, there are state and local laws that require pharmaceutical representatives to be licensed and
comply with codes of conduct, transparency reporting, and other obligations. Collectively, these laws may affect, among other
things, our current and proposed research, sales, marketing and educational programs, as well as other possible relationships with
customers, pharmacies, physicians, payers, and patients. We are subject to similar laws in the EU/EEA, including the EU General
Data Protection Regulation (2016/679), or GDPR, under which fines of up to €20.0 million or up to 4% of the annual global
turnover of the infringer, whichever is greater, could be imposed for significant non-compliance.
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Compliance with these laws, including the development of a comprehensive compliance program, is difficult, costly and
time consuming. Because of the breadth of these laws and the narrowness of available statutory and regulatory exemptions, it is
possible that some of our business activities could be subject to challenge under one or more of such laws. Moreover, state
governmental agencies may propose or enact laws and regulations that extend or contradict federal requirements. These risks may
be increased where there are evolving interpretations of applicable regulatory requirements, such as those applicable to
manufacturer co-pay programs. Pharmaceutical manufacturer co-pay programs, including pharmaceutical manufacturer donations
to patient assistance programs offered by charitable foundations, are the subject of ongoing litigation, enforcement actions and
settlements (involving other manufacturers and to which we are not a party) and evolving interpretations of applicable regulatory
requirements and certain state laws, and any change in the regulatory or enforcement environment regarding such programs could
impact our ability to offer such programs. Other recent legislation and regulatory policies contain provisions that disincentivizes
the use of co-pay coupons by requiring their value to be included in average sales price or best price calculations, potentially
lowering reimbursement for drugs with a high use of copay coupons in Medicare Part B and Medicaid. If we are unsuccessful
with our co-pay programs, we would be at a competitive disadvantage in terms of pricing versus preferred branded and generic
competitors, or be subject to significant penalties. We are engaged in various business arrangements with current and potential
customers, and we can give no assurance that such arrangements would not be subject to scrutiny under such laws, despite our
efforts to properly structure such arrangements. Even if we structure our programs with the intent of compliance with such laws,
there can be no certainty that we would not need to defend our business activities against enforcement or litigation. Further, we
cannot give any assurances that prior business activities or arrangements of other companies that we acquire will not be
scrutinized or subject to enforcement or litigation. If any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in
defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could have an impact on our business, including the imposition of
significant civil, criminal and administrative sanctions, damages, disgorgement, monetary fines, possible exclusion from
participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal healthcare programs, imprisonment, integrity oversight and reporting
obligations, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings, and curtailment or restructuring of
our operations, any of which could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our results of operations.
There has also been a trend of increased federal and state regulation of payments made to physicians and other healthcare
providers. The ACA, among other things, imposed reporting requirements on drug manufacturers for payments made by them to
physicians and teaching hospitals, as well as ownership and investment interests held by physicians, defined to include dentists,
podiatrists, optometrists and licensed chiropractors, and their immediate family members. Beginning in 2022, applicable
manufacturers also will be required to report such information regarding payments and transfers of value provided during the
previous year to include physician assistants, nurse practitioners, clinical nurse specialists, anesthesiologist assistants, certified
registered nurse anesthetists and certified nurse midwives. Failure to submit required information may result in significant civil
monetary penalties.
On March 5, 2019, we received a civil investigative demand, or CID, from the DOJ pursuant to the Federal False Claims
Act regarding assertions that certain of our payments to PBMs were potentially in violation of the Anti-Kickback Statute. The
CID requests certain documents and information related to our payments to PBMs, pricing and our patient assistance program
regarding DUEXIS, VIMOVO and PENNSAID 2%. We are cooperating with the investigation. While we believe that our
payments and programs are compliant with the Anti-Kickback Statute, no assurance can be given as to the timing or outcome of
the DOJ’s investigation, or that it will not result in a material adverse effect on our business.
We are unable to predict whether we could be subject to other actions under any of these or other healthcare laws, or the
impact of such actions. If we are found to be in violation of, or to have encouraged or assisted the violation by third parties of any
of the laws described above or other applicable state and federal fraud and abuse laws, we may be subject to penalties, including
significant administrative, civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, withdrawal of regulatory approval, imprisonment,
exclusion from government healthcare reimbursement programs, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and
future earnings, injunctions and other associated remedies, or private “qui tam” actions brought by individual whistleblowers in
the name of the government, and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations, all of which could have a material adverse
effect on our business and results of operations. Any action against us for violation of these laws, even if we successfully defend
against it, could cause us to incur significant legal expenses and divert our management’s attention from the operation of our
business.
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Our medicines or any other medicine candidate that we develop may cause undesirable side effects or have other properties
that could delay or prevent regulatory approval or commercialization, result in medicine re-labeling or withdrawal from
the market or have a significant impact on customer demand.
Undesirable side effects caused by any medicine candidate that we develop could result in the denial of regulatory approval
by the FDA or other regulatory authorities for any or all targeted indications, or cause us to evaluate the future of our development
programs. In our Phase 3 clinical trial evaluating TEPEZZA for the treatment of active TED, the most commonly reported
treatment-emergent adverse events were muscle spasms, nausea, alopecia, diarrhea, fatigue, hyperglycemia, hearing impairment,
dysgeusia, headache and dry skin. With respect to KRYSTEXXA, the most commonly reported serious adverse reactions in the
pivotal trial were gout flares, infusion reactions, nausea, contusion or ecchymosis, nasopharyngitis, constipation, chest pain,
anaphylaxis, exacerbation of pre-existing congestive heart failure and vomiting. With respect to RAVICTI, the most common
side effects are diarrhea, nausea, decreased appetite, gas, vomiting, high blood levels of ammonia, headache, tiredness and
dizziness. The most common adverse events reported in a Phase 2 clinical trial of PENNSAID 2% were application site reactions,
such as dryness, exfoliation, erythema, pruritus, pain, induration, rash and scabbing. With respect to PROCYSBI, the most
common side effects include vomiting, nausea, abdominal pain, breath odor, diarrhea, skin odor, fatigue, rash and headache. In
our two Phase 3 clinical trials with DUEXIS, the most commonly reported treatment-emergent adverse events were nausea,
dyspepsia, diarrhea, constipation and upper respiratory tract infection. The most common side effects observed in pivotal trials
for ACTIMMUNE were “flu-like” or constitutional symptoms such as fever, headache, chills, myalgia and fatigue. The most
commonly reported treatment-emergent adverse events in the Phase 3 clinical trials with RAYOS included flare in rheumatoid
arthritis related symptoms, abdominal pain, nasopharyngitis, headache, flushing, upper respiratory tract infection, back pain and
weight gain.
The FDA or other regulatory authorities may also require, or we may undertake, additional clinical trials to support the
safety profile of our medicines or medicine candidates.
In addition, if we or others identify undesirable side effects caused by our medicines or any other medicine candidate that
we may develop that receives marketing approval, or if there is a perception that the medicine is associated with undesirable side
effects:
•
regulatory authorities may require the addition of labeling statements, such as a “black box” warning or a
contraindication;
•
regulatory authorities may withdraw their approval of the medicine or place restrictions on the way it is prescribed;
•
we may be required to change the way the medicine is administered, conduct additional clinical trials or change the
labeling of the medicine or implement a risk evaluation and mitigation strategy; and
•
we may be subject to increased exposure to product liability and/or personal injury claims.
If any of these events occurred with respect to our medicines, our ability to generate significant revenues from the sale of
these medicines would be significantly harmed.
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We rely on third parties to conduct our pre-clinical and clinical trials. If these third parties do not successfully carry out
their contractual duties or meet expected deadlines or if they experience regulatory compliance issues, we may not be able
to obtain regulatory approval for or commercialize our medicine candidates and our business could be substantially
harmed.
We have agreements with third-party contract research organizations, or CROs, to conduct our clinical programs, including
those required for post-marketing commitments, and we expect to continue to rely on CROs for the completion of on-going and
planned clinical trials. We may also have the need to enter into other such agreements in the future if we were to develop other
medicine candidates or conduct clinical trials in additional indications for our existing medicines. We also rely heavily on these
parties for the execution of our clinical studies and control only certain aspects of their activities. Nevertheless, we are
responsible for ensuring that each of our studies is conducted in accordance with the applicable protocol. We, our CROs and our
academic research organizations are required to comply with current GCP or ICH regulations. The FDA, and regulatory
authorities in other jurisdictions, enforce these GCP or ICH regulations through periodic inspections of trial sponsors, principal
investigators and trial sites. If we or our CROs or collaborators fail to comply with applicable GCP or ICH regulations, the data
generated in our clinical trials may be deemed unreliable and our submission of marketing applications may be delayed or the
FDA, or such other regulatory authorities, may require us to perform additional clinical trials before approving our marketing
applications. We cannot assure that, upon inspection, the FDA, or such other regulatory authorities, will determine that any of our
clinical trials comply or complied with GCP or ICH regulations. In addition, our clinical trials must be conducted with medicine
produced under cGMP regulations, and may require a large number of test subjects. Our failure to comply with these regulations
may require us to repeat clinical trials, which would delay the regulatory approval process. Moreover, our business may be
implicated if any of our CROs or collaborators violates federal or state fraud and abuse or false claims laws and regulations or
privacy and security laws. We must also obtain certain third-party institutional review board, or IRB, and ethics committee
approvals in order to conduct our clinical trials. Delays by IRBs and ethics committees in providing such approvals may delay our
clinical trials.
If any of our relationships with these third-party CROs or collaborators terminate, we may not be able to enter into similar
arrangements on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. If CROs or collaborators do not successfully carry out their contractual
duties or obligations or meet expected deadlines, if they need to be replaced or if the quality or accuracy of the clinical data they
obtain is compromised due to the failure to adhere to our clinical protocols or regulatory requirements or for other reasons, our
clinical trials may be extended, delayed or terminated and we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or successfully
commercialize our medicines and medicine candidates. As a result, our results of operations and the commercial prospects for our
medicines and medicine candidates would be harmed, our costs could increase and our ability to generate revenues could be
delayed.
Switching or adding additional CROs or collaborators can involve substantial cost and require extensive management time
and focus. In addition, there is a natural transition period when a new CRO or collaborator commences work. As a result, delays
may occur, which can materially impact our ability to meet our desired clinical development timelines. Though we carefully
manage our relationships with our CROs and collaborators, there can be no assurance that we will not encounter similar
challenges or delays in the future or that these delays or challenges will not have a material adverse impact on our business,
financial condition or prospects. In particular, the ability of our CROs to conduct certain of their operations, including monitoring
of clinical sites, has been limited by the COVID-19 pandemic, and to the extent that our CROs are unable to fulfil their contractual
obligations as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic or government orders in response to the pandemic, we may have limited or no
recourse under the terms of our contractual agreements with our CROs.
Clinical development of drugs and biologics involves a lengthy and expensive process with an uncertain outcome, and
results of earlier studies and trials may not be predictive of future trial results.
Clinical testing is expensive and can take many years to complete, and its outcome is uncertain. Failure can occur at any
time during the clinical trial process. The results of pre-clinical studies and early clinical trials of potential medicine candidates
may not be predictive of the results of later-stage clinical trials. Medicine candidates in later stages of clinical trials may fail to
show the desired safety and efficacy traits despite having progressed through pre-clinical studies and initial clinical testing. For
example, in December 2016, we announced that the Phase 3 trial, Safety, Tolerability and Efficacy of ACTIMMUNE Dose
Escalation in Friedreich’s ataxia, evaluating ACTIMMUNE for the treatment of Friedreich’s ataxia did not meet its primary
endpoint. Additionally, we discontinued our ACTIMMUNE investigator-initiated trials in oncology to focus on our strategic
pipeline where we see more promise and long-term intellectual property protection.
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We may experience delays in clinical trials or investigator-initiated studies. We do not know whether any additional
clinical trials will be initiated in the future, begin on time, need to be redesigned, enroll patients on time or be completed on
schedule, if at all. Clinical trials can be delayed for a variety of reasons, including delays related to:
•

obtaining regulatory approval to commence a trial;

•

reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prospective CROs and clinical trial sites, the terms of which can be
subject to extensive negotiation and may vary significantly among different CROs and trial sites;

•

obtaining IRB or ethics committee approval at each site;

•

recruiting suitable patients to participate in a trial;

•

having patients complete a trial or return for post-treatment follow-up;

•

clinical sites dropping out of a trial;

•

adding new sites; or

•

manufacturing sufficient quantities of medicine candidates for use in clinical trials.

Our clinical trials may also be affected by COVID-19. For example, two of our clinical trials for TEPEZZA have been
delayed until later in 2021 due to the impact of the TEPEZZA supply disruption at Catalent. In addition, clinical site initiation and
patient enrollment may be delayed due to prioritization of hospital and healthcare resources toward COVID-19. Current or
potential patients in our ongoing or planned clinical trials may also choose to not enroll, not participate in follow-up clinical visits
or drop out of the trial as a precaution against contracting COVID-19. Further, some patients may not be able or willing to
comply with clinical trial protocols if quarantines impede patient movement or interrupt healthcare services. Some clinical sites in
the United States have slowed or stopped further enrollment of new patients in clinical trials, denied access to site monitors or
otherwise curtailed certain operations. Similarly, our ability to recruit and retain principal investigators and site staff who, as
healthcare providers, may have heightened exposure to COVID-19, may be adversely impacted. These events could delay our
clinical trials, increase the cost of completing our clinical trials and negatively impact the integrity, reliability or robustness of the
data from our clinical trials.
Patient enrollment, a significant factor in the timing of clinical trials, is affected by many factors including the size and
nature of the patient population, the proximity of patients to clinical sites, the eligibility criteria for the trial, the design of the
clinical trial, competing clinical trials and clinicians’ and patients’ perceptions as to the potential advantages of the medicine
candidate being studied in relation to other available therapies, including any new drugs or biologics that may be approved for the
indications we are investigating. In addition, if patients drop out of our trials, miss scheduled doses or follow-up visits or
otherwise fail to follow trial protocols, or if our trials are otherwise disputed due to COVID-19 or actions taken to slow its spread,
the integrity of data from our trials may be compromised or not accepted by the FDA or other regulatory authorities, which would
represent a significant setback for the applicable program.
We could encounter delays if prescribing physicians encounter unresolved ethical issues associated with enrolling patients
in clinical trials of our medicine candidates in lieu of prescribing existing treatments that have established safety and efficacy
profiles. Further, a clinical trial may be suspended or terminated by us, our collaborators, the FDA or other regulatory authorities
due to a number of factors, including failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordance with regulatory requirements or our clinical
protocols, inspection of the clinical trial operations or trial site by the FDA or other regulatory authorities resulting in the
imposition of a clinical hold, unforeseen safety issues or adverse side effects, failure to demonstrate a benefit from using a
medicine candidate, changes in governmental regulations or administrative actions or lack of adequate funding to continue the
clinical trial. If we experience delays in the completion of, or if we terminate, any clinical trial of our medicine candidates, the
commercial prospects of our medicine candidates will be harmed, and our ability to generate medicine revenues from any of these
medicine candidates will be delayed. In addition, any delays in completing our clinical trials will increase our costs, slow down
our medicine development and approval process and jeopardize our ability to commence medicine sales and generate revenues.
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Moreover, principal investigators for our clinical trials may serve as scientific advisors or consultants to us from time to
time and receive compensation in connection with such services. Under certain circumstances, we may be required to report some
of these relationships to the FDA. The FDA may conclude that a financial relationship between us and a principal investigator has
created a conflict of interest or otherwise affected interpretation of the study. The FDA may therefore question the integrity of the
data generated at the applicable clinical trial site and the utility of the clinical trial itself may be jeopardized. This could result in a
delay in approval, or rejection, of our marketing applications by the FDA and may ultimately lead to the denial of marketing
approval of one or more of our medicine candidates.
Any of these occurrences may harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects significantly. In
addition, many of the factors that cause, or lead to, a delay in the commencement or completion of clinical trials may also
ultimately lead to the denial of regulatory approval of our medicine candidates.
Business interruptions could seriously harm our future revenue and financial condition and increase our costs and
expenses.
Our operations could be subject to earthquakes, power shortages, telecommunications failures, water shortages, floods,
hurricanes, typhoons, fires, extreme weather conditions, medical epidemics or health pandemics, such as the current COVID-19
pandemic, and other natural or man-made disasters or business interruptions. While we carry insurance for certain of these events
and have implemented disaster management plans and contingencies, the occurrence of any of these business interruptions could
seriously harm our business and financial condition and increase our costs and expenses. We conduct significant management
operations at both our global headquarters located in Dublin, Ireland and our U.S. office located in Deerfield, Illinois. If our
Dublin or Deerfield offices were affected by a natural or man-made disaster or other business interruption, our ability to manage
our domestic and foreign operations could be impaired, which could materially and adversely affect our results of operations and
financial condition. We currently rely, and intend to rely in the future, on third-party manufacturers and suppliers to produce our
medicines and third-party logistics partners to ship our medicines. Our ability to obtain commercial supplies of our medicines
could be disrupted and our results of operations and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected if the
operations of these third-party suppliers or logistics partners were affected by a man-made or natural disaster or other business
interruption. The ultimate impact of such events on us, our significant suppliers and our general infrastructure is unknown.
We are dependent on information technology systems, infrastructure and data, which exposes us to data security risks.
We generate and store sensitive data, including research data, intellectual property, personal data, and proprietary business
information owned or controlled by ourselves or our employees, partners and other parties. We manage and maintain our
applications and data utilizing a combination of our own on-site systems and third-party information technology systems,
including cloud-based data centers. We are dependent upon such systems, infrastructure and data, including mobile technologies,
to operate our business. The multitude and complexity of our computer systems may make them vulnerable to service interruption
or destruction, disruption of data integrity, inadvertent errors that expose our data or systems, malicious intrusion, or random
attacks. Likewise, data privacy or security incidents or breaches by employees or others may pose a risk that sensitive data,
including our intellectual property, trade secrets or personal information of our employees, patients, customers or other business
partners may be exposed to unauthorized persons or to the public. Cyber incidents are increasing in their frequency,
sophistication and intensity.
Cyber incidents could include the deployment of harmful malware, ransomware, denial-of-service, social engineering and
other means to affect service reliability and threaten data confidentiality, integrity and availability. Changes in how our
employees work and access our systems during the COVID-19 pandemic could lead to additional opportunities for bad actors to
launch cyberattacks or for employees to cause inadvertent security risks or incidents. Our business partners face similar risks and
any security breach of their systems could adversely affect our security posture. A security breach or privacy violation that leads
to disclosure or modification of or prevents access to patient information, including personally identifiable information or
protected health information, could harm our reputation, compel us to comply with federal and/or state breach notification laws
and foreign law equivalents, subject us to mandatory corrective action, require us to verify the correctness of database contents
and otherwise subject us to litigation or other liability under laws and regulations that protect personal data, any of which could
disrupt our business and/or result in increased costs or loss of revenue. The effects of a security breach or privacy violation could
be further amplified during the COVID-19 pandemic. Moreover, the prevalent use of mobile devices that access confidential
information increases the risk of data security breaches, which could lead to the loss of confidential information, trade secrets or
other intellectual property.
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Despite significant efforts to create security barriers to the above described threats, it is impossible for us to entirely mitigate
these risks. We may be unable to anticipate or prevent techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or to compromise our
systems because they change frequently and are generally not detected until after an incident has occurred. In addition, an
accidental or intentional cybersecurity event could result in significant increases in costs, including costs for remediating the
effects of such an event, fines imposed by regulators, lost revenues due to decrease in customer trust and network downtime,
increases in insurance premiums due to cybersecurity incidents and damages to our reputation because of any such incident.
While we have invested, and continue to invest, in the protection of our data and information technology infrastructure, there can
be no assurance that our efforts will prevent service interruptions, or identify vulnerabilities or breaches in our systems, that could
adversely affect our business and operations and/or result in the loss of critical or sensitive information, which could result in
financial, legal, business or reputational harm to us. In addition, we cannot be certain that (a) our liability insurance will be
sufficient in type or amount to cover us against claims related to security breaches, cyberattacks and other related breaches; (b)
such coverage will cover any indemnification claims against us relating to any incident, will continue to be available to us on
economically reasonable terms, or at all; or (c) any insurer will not deny coverage as to any future claim. The successful assertion
of one or more large claims against us that exceed available insurance coverage, or the occurrence of changes in our insurance
policies, including premium increases or the imposition of large deductible or co-insurance requirements, could adversely affect
our reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations.
We are subject to extensive laws and regulations related to data privacy, and our failure to comply with these laws and
regulations could harm our business.
We are subject to laws and regulations governing data privacy and the protection of personal information. These laws and
regulations govern our processing of personal data, including the collection, access, use, analysis, modification, storage, transfer,
security breach notification, destruction and disposal of personal data. There are foreign and state law versions of these laws and
regulations to which we are currently and/or may in the future, be subject. For example, the collection and use of personal health
data in the EU is governed by the GDPR. The GDPR, which is wide-ranging in scope, imposes several requirements relating to
the consent of the individuals to whom the personal data relates, the information disclosed to the individuals about our privacy
practices, the security and confidentiality of the personal data, data breach notification and the use of third-party processors in
connection with the processing of personal data. The GDPR also imposes strict rules on the transfer of personal data out of the
EU to the United States, provides an enforcement authority and imposes potentially large monetary penalties for noncompliance.
The GDPR requirements apply not only to third-party transactions, but also to transfers of information within our company,
including employee information. The GDPR and similar data privacy laws of other jurisdictions place significant responsibilities
on us and create potential liability in relation to personal data that we or our third-party service providers process, including in
clinical trials conducted in the United States and EU. In addition, we expect that there will continue to be new proposed laws,
regulations and industry standards relating to privacy and data protection in the United States, the EU and other jurisdictions, and
we cannot determine the impact such future laws, regulations and standards may have on our business.
The UK’s vote in favor of exiting the EU, often referred to as Brexit, and ongoing developments in the UK have created
uncertainty with regard to data protection regulation in the UK. As of January 1, 2021, and the expiry of transitional arrangements
agreed to between the UK and EU, data processing in the UK is governed by a UK version of the GDPR (combining the GDPR
and the Data Protection Act 2018), exposing us to two parallel regimes, each of which potentially authorizes similar fines and
other potentially divergent enforcement actions for certain violations. Pursuant to the Trade and Cooperation Agreement, or TCA,
which went into effect on January 1, 2021, the UK and EU agreed to a specified period during which the UK will be treated like
an EU member state in relation to transfers of personal data to the UK for four months from January 1, 2021. This period may be
extended by two further months. Unless the EC makes an ‘adequacy finding’ in respect of the UK before the expiration of such
specified period, the UK will become an ‘inadequate third country’ under the GDPR and transfers of data from the EEA to the UK
will require an ‘transfer mechanism,’ such as the standard contractual clauses. Furthermore, following the expiration of the
specified period, there will be increasing scope for divergence in application, interpretation and enforcement of the data protection
law as between the UK and EEA. As a result, we may incur liabilities, expenses, costs, and other operational losses under GDPR
and applicable EU Member States and the UK privacy laws in connection with any measures we take to comply with them.

48

Recent legal developments in Europe have created further complexity and uncertainty regarding transfers of personal data
from the EU and UK to the United States. On July 16, 2020, the Court of Justice of the European Union, or CJEU, invalidated the
EU-US Privacy Shield Framework, or Privacy Shield, under which personal data could be transferred from the EU and UK to
United States entities who had self-certified under the Privacy Shield scheme. Nine of our United States entities have selfcertified under the scheme to facilitate the transfer of personal data from the EU and UK to the United States. The UK’s
supervisory authority may similarly invalidate use of the Privacy Shield as a vehicle for lawful data transfers from the UK to the
United States. As such, our transfers of personal data to the United States may not comply with European data protection law and
may increase our exposure to the GDPR’s heightened sanctions for violations of its cross-border data transfer restrictions,
including fines of up to 4% of annual global revenue and injunctions against transfers. While the CJEU upheld the adequacy of
the standard contractual clauses (a standard form of contract approved by the EC as an adequate personal data transfer mechanism,
and potential alternative to the Privacy Shield), it made clear that reliance on them alone may not necessarily be sufficient in all
circumstances. Use of the standard contractual clauses must now be assessed on a case-by-case basis taking into account the legal
regime applicable in the destination country, in particular applicable surveillance laws and rights of individuals and additional
measures and/or contractual provisions may need to be put in place, however, the nature of these additional measures is currently
uncertain. As supervisory authorities issue further guidance on personal data export mechanisms, including circumstances where
the standard contractual clauses cannot be used, and/or start taking enforcement action, we could suffer additional costs,
complaints and/or regulatory investigations or fines, and/or if we are otherwise unable to transfer personal data between and
among countries and regions in which we operate, it could affect the manner in which we provide our services, the geographical
location or segregation of our relevant systems and operations, and could adversely affect our financial results.
Additionally, the California Consumer Privacy Act, or CCPA, went into effect on January 1, 2020. The CCPA has been
dubbed the first “GDPR-like” law in the United States since it creates new individual privacy rights for consumers (as that word is
broadly defined in the law) and places increased privacy and security obligations on entities handling personal data of consumers
or households. The CCPA requires covered companies to provide new disclosures to California consumers (as that word is
broadly defined in the CCPA), provide such consumers new ways to opt-out of certain sales of personal information, and allow for
a new private right of action for data breaches. It remains unclear how the CCPA will be interpreted, but as currently written, it
will likely impact our business activities and exemplifies the vulnerability of our business to not only cyber threats but also the
evolving regulatory environment related to personal data and protected health information. Further, California voters approved a
new privacy law, the California Privacy Rights Act, or CPRA, in the November 3, 2020 election. Effective starting on January 1,
2023, the CPRA will significantly modify the CCPA, including by expanding consumers’ rights with respect to certain sensitive
personal information. The CPRA also creates a new state agency that will be vested with authority to implement and enforce the
CCPA and the CPRA. New legislation proposed or enacted in various other states will continue to shape the data privacy
environment nationally. Certain state laws may be more stringent or broader in scope, or offer greater individual rights, with
respect to confidential, sensitive and personal information than federal, international or other state laws, and such laws may differ
from each other, which may complicate compliance efforts. As we expand our operations and trials (both preclinical or clinical),
the CCPA and CPRA may increase our compliance costs and potential liability. Some observers have noted that the CCPA and
CPRA could mark the beginning of a trend toward more stringent privacy legislation in the United States. Other states are
beginning to pass similar laws.
Compliance with these and any other applicable privacy and data security laws and regulations is a rigorous and timeintensive process, and we may be required to put in place additional mechanisms ensuring compliance with the new data
protection rules. Any actual or perceived failure by us to comply with any applicable federal, state or similar foreign laws and
regulations relating to data privacy and security could result in damage to our reputation, as well as proceedings or litigation by
governmental agencies or other third parties, including class action privacy litigation in certain jurisdictions, which would subject
us to significant fines, sanctions, awards, penalties or judgments, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Furthermore, the laws are not consistent, and compliance in the
event of a widespread data breach is costly.
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If product liability lawsuits are brought against us, we may incur substantial liabilities and may be required to limit
commercialization of our medicines.
We face an inherent risk of product liability claims as a result of the commercial sales of our medicines and the clinical
testing of our medicine candidates. For example, we may be sued if any of our medicines or medicine candidates allegedly causes
injury or is found to be otherwise unsuitable during clinical testing, manufacturing, marketing or sale. Any such product liability
claims may include allegations of defects in manufacturing, defects in design, a failure to warn of dangers inherent in the
medicine, negligence, strict liability or a breach of warranties. Claims could also be asserted under state consumer protection
acts. If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against product liability claims, we may incur substantial liabilities or be
required to limit commercialization of our medicines and medicine candidates. Even a successful defense would require
significant financial and management resources. Regardless of the merits or eventual outcome, liability claims may result in:
•

decreased demand for our medicines or medicine candidates that we may develop;

•

injury to our reputation;

•

withdrawal of clinical trial participants;

•

initiation of investigations by regulators;

•

costs to defend the related litigation;

•

a diversion of management’s time and resources;

•

substantial monetary awards to trial participants or patients;

•

medicine recalls, withdrawals or labeling, marketing or promotional restrictions;

•

loss of revenue;

•

exhaustion of any available insurance and our capital resources; and

•

the inability to commercialize our medicines or medicine candidates.

Our inability to obtain and retain sufficient product liability insurance at an acceptable cost to protect against potential
product liability claims could prevent or inhibit the commercialization of medicines we develop. We currently carry product
liability insurance covering our clinical studies and commercial medicine sales in the amount of $125.0 million in the aggregate.
Although we maintain such insurance, any claim that may be brought against us could result in a court judgment or settlement in
an amount that is not covered, in whole or in part, by our insurance or that is in excess of the limits of our insurance coverage. If
we determine that it is prudent to increase our product liability coverage due to the on-going commercialization of our current
medicines in the United States, and/or the potential commercial launches of any of our medicines in additional markets or for
additional indications, we may be unable to obtain such increased coverage on acceptable terms or at all. Our insurance policies
also have various exclusions, and we may be subject to a product liability claim for which we have no coverage. We will have to
pay any amounts awarded by a court or negotiated in a settlement that exceed our coverage limitations or that are not covered by
our insurance, and we may not have, or be able to obtain, sufficient capital to pay such amounts.
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Our business involves the use of hazardous materials, and we and our third-party manufacturers must comply with
environmental laws and regulations, which can be expensive and restrict how we do business.
Our third-party manufacturers’ activities involve the controlled storage, use and disposal of hazardous materials owned by us,
including the components of our medicine candidates and other hazardous compounds. We and our manufacturers are subject to
federal, state and local as well as foreign laws and regulations governing the use, manufacture, storage, handling and disposal of
these hazardous materials. Although we believe that the safety procedures utilized by our third-party manufacturers for handling
and disposing of these materials comply with the standards prescribed by these laws and regulations, we cannot eliminate the risk
of accidental contamination or injury from these materials. In the event of an accident, state, federal or foreign authorities may
curtail the use of these materials and interrupt our business operations. We currently only maintain hazardous materials insurance
coverage related to our South San Francisco facility. If we are subject to any liability as a result of our third-party manufacturers’
activities involving hazardous materials, our business and financial condition may be adversely affected. In the future we may
seek to establish longer-term third-party manufacturing arrangements, pursuant to which we would seek to obtain contractual
indemnification protection from such third-party manufacturers potentially limiting this liability exposure.
Risks Related to our Financial Position and Capital Requirements
We have incurred significant operating losses.
We have financed our operations primarily through equity and debt financings and have incurred significant operating
losses in prior years. We recorded operating income of $490.0 million and $126.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2020
and 2019, respectively. We recorded net income of $389.8 million and $573.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and
2019, respectively. As of December 31, 2020, we had a profit and loss account deficit of $220.6 million. Our prior losses have
resulted principally from costs incurred in our development activities for our medicines and medicine candidates,
commercialization activities related to our medicines and costs associated with our acquisition transactions. Our prior losses,
combined with possible future losses, have had and will continue to have an adverse effect on our shareholders’ equity and
working capital. While we anticipate that we will continue to generate operating profits in the future, whether we can accomplish
this will depend on the revenues we generate from the sale of our medicines being sufficient to cover our operating expenses. We
also expect our operating expenses to increase substantially as a result of continuing to develop Viela’s pipeline of medicine
candidates, which will negatively impact our future profitability until such time that these potential medicine candidates are
approved and successfully commercialized.
We have limited sources of revenues and significant expenses. We cannot be certain that we will sustain profitability, which
would depress the market price of our ordinary shares and could cause our investors to lose all or a part of their
investment.
Our ability to sustain profitability depends upon our ability to generate sales of our medicines. The commercialization of
our medicines has been primarily in the United States. We may never be able to successfully commercialize our medicines or
develop or commercialize other medicines in the United States, which we believe represents our most significant commercial
opportunity. Our ability to generate future revenues depends heavily on our success in:
•
•
•

continued commercialization of our existing medicines and any other medicine candidates for which we obtain
approval;
securing additional foreign regulatory approvals for our medicines in territories where we have commercial rights;
and
developing, acquiring and commercializing a portfolio of other medicines or medicine candidates in addition to our
current medicines.

Even if we do generate additional medicine sales, we may not be able to sustain profitability on a quarterly or annual basis.
Our failure to become and remain profitable would depress the market price of our ordinary shares and could impair our ability to
raise capital, expand our business, diversify our medicine offerings or continue our operations.
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We may need to obtain additional financing to fund additional acquisitions.
Our operations have consumed substantial amounts of cash since inception. We expect to continue to spend substantial
amounts to:
•

commercialize our existing medicines in the United States, including the substantial expansion of our sales force in
recent years;

•

complete the regulatory approval process, and any future required clinical development related thereto, for our
medicines and medicine candidates;

•

potentially acquire other businesses or additional complementary medicines or medicines that augment our current
medicine portfolio, including costs associated with refinancing debt of acquired companies;

•

satisfy progress and milestone payments under our existing and future license, collaboration and acquisition
agreements; and

•

conduct clinical trials with respect to potential additional indications, as well as conduct post-marketing requirements
and commitments, with respect to our medicines and medicines we acquire.

While we believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, along with future cash flows based on our current expectations
of continued revenue growth, will be sufficient to fund our operations, we may need to raise additional funds if we choose to
expand our commercialization or development efforts more rapidly than presently anticipated, if we develop or acquire additional
medicines or acquire companies, or if our revenue does not meet expectations.
We cannot be certain that additional funding will be available on acceptable terms, or at all. As a result of the COVID-19
pandemic and actions taken to slow its spread, the global credit and financial markets have at times experienced extreme volatility
and disruptions, including diminished liquidity and credit availability, declines in consumer confidence, declines in economic
growth, increases in unemployment rates and uncertainty about economic stability. If the equity and credit markets deteriorate, it
may make any additional debt or equity financing more difficult, more costly and more dilutive. If we are unable to raise
additional capital in sufficient amounts or on terms acceptable to us, we may have to significantly delay, scale back or discontinue
the development or commercialization of one or more of our medicines or medicine candidates or one or more of our other
research and development initiatives, or delay, cut back or abandon our plans to grow the business through acquisitions. We also
could be required to:
•
seek collaborators for one or more of our current or future medicine candidates at an earlier stage than otherwise
would be desirable or on terms that are less favorable than might otherwise be available; or
•
relinquish or license on unfavorable terms our rights to technologies or medicine candidates that we would otherwise
seek to develop or commercialize ourselves.
In addition, if we are unable to secure financing to support future acquisitions, our ability to execute on a key aspect of our
overall growth strategy would be impaired.
Any of the above events could significantly harm our business, financial condition and prospects.
We have incurred a substantial amount of debt, which could adversely affect our business, including by restricting our
ability to engage in additional transactions or incur additional indebtedness, and prevent us from meeting our debt
obligations.
As of December 31, 2020, we had $1,003.4 million book value, or $1,018.0 million aggregate principal amount of
indebtedness, including $418.0 million in secured indebtedness. In connection with our acquisition of Viela, we borrowed an
additional $1,600.0 million aggregate principal amount of term loans pursuant to an amendment to our Credit Agreement, the
proceeds of which, in addition to a portion of our existing cash on hand, was used to pay the consideration for the Viela
acquisition.
This substantial level of debt could have important consequences to our business, including, but not limited to:
•
reducing the benefits we expect to receive from our prior and any future acquisition transactions;
•
making it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations;
•
requiring a substantial portion of our cash flows from operations to be dedicated to the payment of principal and
interest on our indebtedness, therefore reducing our ability to use our cash flows to fund acquisitions, capital
expenditures, and future business opportunities;
•
exposing us to the risk of increased interest rates to the extent of any future borrowings, including borrowings under
our credit agreement, at variable rates of interest;
•
making it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations with respect to our indebtedness, including our outstanding
notes, our credit agreement, and any failure to comply with the obligations of any of our debt instruments, including
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•
•
•

•

restrictive covenants and borrowing conditions, could result in an event of default under the agreements governing
such indebtedness;
increasing our vulnerability to, and reducing our flexibility to respond to, changes in our business or general adverse
economic and industry conditions;
limiting our ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures, debt service requirements,
acquisitions, and general corporate or other purposes and increasing the cost of any such financing;
limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we operate;
and placing us at a competitive disadvantage as compared to our competitors, to the extent they are not as highly
leveraged and who, therefore, may be able to take advantage of opportunities that our leverage may prevent us from
exploiting; and
restricting us from pursuing certain business opportunities.

Our credit agreement and the indenture governing our 5.5% Senior Notes due 2027, or 2027 Senior Notes, impose, and the
terms of any future indebtedness may impose, various covenants that limit our ability and/or the ability of our restricted
subsidiaries’ (as designated under such agreements) to, among other things, pay dividends or distributions, repurchase equity,
prepay junior debt and make certain investments, incur additional debt and issue certain preferred stock, incur liens on assets,
engage in certain asset sales, consolidate with or merge or sell all or substantially all of our assets, enter into transactions with
affiliates, designate subsidiaries as unrestricted subsidiaries, and allow to exist certain restrictions on the ability of restricted
subsidiaries to pay dividends or make other payments to us.
Our ability to obtain future financing and engage in other transactions may be restricted by these covenants. In addition,
any credit ratings will impact the cost and availability of future borrowings and our cost of capital. Our ratings at any time will
reflect each rating organization’s then opinion of our financial strength, operating performance and ability to meet our debt
obligations. There can be no assurance that we will achieve a particular rating or maintain a particular rating in the future. A
reduction in our credit ratings may limit our ability to borrow at acceptable interest rates. If our credit ratings were downgraded or
put on watch for a potential downgrade, we may not be able to sell additional debt securities or borrow money in the amounts, at
the times or interest rates or upon the more favorable terms and conditions that might otherwise be available. Any impairment of
our ability to obtain future financing on favorable terms could have an adverse effect on our ability to refinance any of our thenexisting debt and may severely restrict our ability to execute on our business strategy, which includes the continued acquisition of
additional medicines or businesses.
As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and actions taken to slow its spread, the global credit and financial markets have
experienced extreme volatility and disruptions, including diminished liquidity and credit availability, declines in consumer
confidence, declines in economic growth, increases in unemployment rates and uncertainty about economic stability. If the equity
and credit markets deteriorate, it may make any additional debt or equity financing more difficult, more costly or more dilutive.
We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service all of our indebtedness and may be forced to take other actions to
satisfy our obligations under our indebtedness, which may not be successful.
Our ability to make scheduled payments under or to refinance our debt obligations depends on our financial condition and
operating performance, which is subject to prevailing economic, industry and competitive conditions and to certain financial,
business and other factors beyond our control. For example, we expect that the COVID-19 pandemic and actions taken to slow its
spread will continue to have a negative impact on turnover of our medicines, which will in turn negatively impact our cash flows.
Our ability to generate cash flow to meet our payment obligations under our debt may also depend on the successful
implementation of our operating and growth strategies. Any refinancing of our debt could be at higher interest rates and may
require us to comply with more onerous covenants, which could further restrict our business operations. We cannot assure that we
will maintain a level of cash flows from operating activities sufficient to pay the principal, premium, if any, and interest on our
indebtedness.
If our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service obligations, we may be forced to reduce or
delay capital expenditures, sell assets or business operations, seek additional capital or restructure or refinance our indebtedness.
We cannot ensure that we would be able to take any of these actions, that these actions would be successful and permit us to meet
our scheduled debt service obligations or that these actions would be permitted under the terms of existing or future debt
agreements, including the indenture that governs the 2027 Senior Notes and our credit agreement. In addition, any failure to make
payments of interest and principal on our outstanding indebtedness on a timely basis would likely result in a reduction of our
credit rating, which could harm our ability to incur additional indebtedness.
If we cannot make scheduled payments on our debt, we will be in default and, as a result:
•
our debt holders could declare all outstanding principal and interest to be due and payable;
•
the administrative agent and/or the lenders under our credit agreement could foreclose against the assets securing the
borrowings then outstanding; and
•
we could be forced into bankruptcy or liquidation, which could result in you losing your investment.
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We generally have broad discretion in the use of our cash and may not use it effectively.
Our management has broad discretion in the application of our cash, and investors will be relying on the judgment of our
management regarding the use of our cash. Our management may not apply our cash in ways that ultimately increase the value of
any investment in our securities. We expect to use our existing cash to fund commercialization activities for our medicines, to
potentially fund additional medicine, medicine candidate or business acquisitions, to potentially fund additional regulatory
approvals of certain of our medicines, to potentially fund development, life cycle management or manufacturing activities of our
medicines and medicine candidates, to potentially fund share repurchases, and for working capital, milestone payments, capital
expenditures and general corporate purposes. We may also invest our cash in short-term, investment-grade, interest-bearing
securities. These investments may not yield a favorable return to our shareholders. If we do not invest or apply our cash in ways
that enhance shareholder value, we may fail to achieve expected financial results, which could cause the price of our ordinary
shares to decline.
Our ability to use net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes to offset U.S. income taxes may be
limited.
Under Sections 382 and 383 of the Code, if a corporation undergoes an “ownership change” (generally defined as a greater
than 50 percent change (by value) in its equity ownership over a three-year period), the corporation’s ability to use pre-change net
operating loss carryforwards and other pre-change tax attributes to offset post-change income may be limited. For example, we
continue to carry forward our annual limitation resulting from an ownership change date of August 2, 2012. The limitation on
pre-change net operating losses incurred prior to the August 2, 2012 change date is approximately $7.7 million for 2021 through
2028. The net operating loss carryforward and tax credit carryforward limitations are cumulative such that any use of the
carryforwards below the limitations in one year will result in a corresponding increase in the limitations for the subsequent tax
year. Under the Tax Act, as modified by the CARES Act, U.S. federal net operating losses incurred in taxable years beginning
after December 31, 2017 may be carried forward indefinitely, but the deductibility of federal net operating losses generated in
taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017, to the extent such net operating losses are carried forward into taxable years
beginning after December 31, 2020, is limited to 80 percent of the then current year’s taxable income. Under the CARES Act,
U.S. federal net operating losses arising in a tax year beginning after December 31, 2017, and before January 1, 2021, can be
carried back five years. It remains uncertain if and to what extent various U.S. states will conform to the Tax Act and the CARES
Act.
Following certain acquisitions of a U.S. corporation by a foreign corporation, Section 7874 of the Code limits the ability of
the acquired U.S. corporation and its U.S. affiliates to utilize U.S. tax attributes such as net operating losses to offset U.S. taxable
income resulting from certain transactions. Based on the limited guidance available, we expect this limitation is applicable for
approximately ten years following our merger transaction with Vidara with respect to certain intercompany transactions. As a
result, we or our other U.S. affiliates may not be able to utilize U.S. tax attributes to offset U.S. taxable income or U.S. tax
liability respectively, if any, resulting from certain intercompany taxable transactions during such period. Notwithstanding this
limitation, we expect that we will be able to fully use our U.S. net operating losses and tax credits prior to their expiration. As a
result of this limitation, however, it may take Horizon Therapeutics USA, Inc. (formerly known as Horizon Pharma USA, Inc. and
as the successor to HPI) longer to use its net operating losses and tax credits. Moreover, contrary to these expectations, it is
possible that the limitation under Section 7874 of the Code on the utilization of U.S. tax attributes could prevent us from fully
utilizing our U.S. tax attributes prior to their expiration if we do not generate sufficient taxable income or tax obligations.
Any limitation on our ability to use our net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards, including the carryforwards of
companies that we acquire, will likely increase the taxes we would otherwise pay in future years if we were not subject to such
limitations.
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Unstable market and economic conditions may have serious adverse consequences on our business, financial condition and
share price.
From time to time, including recently as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and actions taken to slow its spread, global
credit and financial markets have experienced extreme volatility and disruptions, including severely diminished liquidity and
credit availability, declines in consumer confidence, declines in economic growth, increases in unemployment rates, and
uncertainty about economic stability. Our general business strategy may be adversely affected by any such economic downturn,
volatile business environment and continued unpredictable and unstable market conditions. If the equity and credit markets
deteriorate, it may make any necessary debt or equity financing more difficult to complete, more costly, and more
dilutive. Failure to secure any necessary financing in a timely manner and on favorable terms could have a material adverse effect
on our growth strategy, financial performance and share price and could require us to delay or abandon commercialization or
development plans. There is a risk that one or more of our current service providers, manufacturers and other partners may not
survive an economic down-turn, which could directly affect our ability to attain our operating goals on schedule and on budget.
At December 31, 2020, we had $2,079.9 million of cash and cash equivalents consisting of cash and money market
funds. While we are not aware of any downgrades, material losses, or other significant deterioration in the fair value of our cash
equivalents since December 31, 2020, no assurance can be given that deterioration in conditions of the global credit and financial
markets would not negatively impact our current portfolio of cash equivalents or our ability to meet our financing
objectives. Dislocations in the credit market may adversely impact the value and/or liquidity of marketable securities owned by
us.
The UK’s referendum to leave the EU and the UK’s exit from the EU on January 31, 2020, or “Brexit,” has caused and may
continue to cause disruptions to capital and currency markets worldwide. The full impact of Brexit, however, remains
uncertain. Pursuant to the formal withdrawal arrangements agreed to between the UK and the EU, the UK was subject to a
transition period, or Transition Period, until December 31, 2020, during which EU rules continued to apply. The TCA, which
outlines the future trading relationship between the UK and the EU was agreed in December 2020 and has been approved by each
EU member state and the UK. The TCA is due to be voted upon by the European Parliament in the near future, but has
provisionally applied since January 1, 2021.
There remains uncertainty as to the practical impacts of Brexit and, especially in the early stages of the UK and the EU
operating under different legislation, our results of operations and access to capital may be negatively affected by interest rate,
exchange rate and other market and economic volatility, as well as political uncertainty. Brexit may also have a detrimental effect
on our customers, distributors and suppliers, which would, in turn, adversely affect our revenues and financial condition.
While the TCA provides for the tariff-free trade of medicinal products between the UK and the EU there may be additional
non-tariff costs to such trade which did not exist prior to the end of the Transition Period. Further, should the UK diverge from
the EU from a regulatory perspective in relation to medicinal products, tariffs could be put into place in the future. Any further
changes in international trade, tariff and import/export regulations as a result of Brexit or otherwise may impose unexpected duty
costs or other non-tariff barriers on us.
We could therefore, both now and in the future, face additional expenses (when compared to the position prior to the end of
the Transition Period) to operate our business, which could harm or delay our business. These developments, or the perception
that any of them could occur, may significantly reduce global trade and, in particular, trade between the impacted nations and the
UK.
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If the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate, or LIBOR, is discontinued, interest payments under our credit agreement may be
calculated using another reference rate.
In July 2017, the Chief Executive of the United Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority, or FCA, which regulates LIBOR,
announced that the FCA intends to phase out the use of LIBOR by the end of 2021. In addition, the U.S. Federal Reserve, in
conjunction with the Alternative Reference Rates Committee, a steering committee comprised of large U.S. financial institutions,
is considering replacing U.S. dollar LIBOR with the Secured Overnight Financing Rate, or SOFR, a new index calculated by
short-term repurchase agreements, backed by Treasury securities. Although there have been certain issuances utilizing SOFR, it is
unknown whether this or any other alternative reference rate will attain market acceptance as a replacement for LIBOR. LIBOR
is used as a benchmark rate throughout our credit agreement, and our credit agreement does not address all circumstances in
which LIBOR ceases to be published. There remains uncertainty regarding the future utilization of LIBOR and the nature of any
replacement rate, and any potential effects of the transition away from LIBOR on us are not known. The transition process may
involve, among other things, increased volatility and illiquidity in markets for instruments that currently rely on LIBOR and may
result in increased borrowing costs, the effectiveness of related transactions such as hedges, uncertainty under applicable
documentation, including the credit agreement, or difficult and costly processes to amend such documentation. As a result, our
ability to refinance our credit agreement or other indebtedness or to hedge our exposure to floating rate instruments may be
impaired, which would adversely affect the operations of our business.
Changes in accounting rules or policies may affect our financial position and results of operations.
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, or GAAP, and related implementation guidelines and
interpretations can be highly complex and involve subjective judgments. Changes in these rules or their interpretation, the
adoption of new guidance or the application of existing guidance to changes in our business could significantly affect our financial
position and results of operations. In addition, our operation as an Irish company with multiple subsidiaries in different
jurisdictions adds additional complexity to the application of GAAP and this complexity will be exacerbated further if we
complete additional strategic transactions. Changes in the application of existing rules or guidance applicable to us or our wholly
owned subsidiaries could significantly affect our consolidated financial position and results of operations.
Covenants under the indenture governing our 2027 Senior Notes and our credit agreement may restrict our business and
operations in many ways, and if we do not effectively manage our covenants, our financial conditions and results of
operations could be adversely affected.
The indenture governing the 2027 Senior Notes and the credit agreement impose various covenants that limit our ability
and/or our restricted subsidiaries’ ability to, among other things:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

pay dividends or distributions, repurchase equity, prepay, redeem or repurchase certain debt and make certain
investments;
incur additional debt and issue certain preferred stock;
provide guarantees in respect of obligations of other persons;
incur liens on assets;
engage in certain asset sales;
merge, consolidate with or sell all or substantially all of our assets to another person;
enter into transactions with affiliates;
sell assets and capital stock of our subsidiaries;
enter into agreements that restrict distributions from our subsidiaries;
designate subsidiaries as unrestricted subsidiaries; and
allow to exist certain restrictions on the ability of restricted subsidiaries to pay dividends or make other payments to
us.

These covenants may:
•
•
•
•

limit our ability to borrow additional funds for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions or other general
business purposes;
limit our ability to use our cash flow or obtain additional financing for future working capital, capital expenditures,
acquisitions or other general business purposes;
require us to use a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to make debt service payments;
limit our flexibility to plan for, or react to, changes in our business and industry;
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•
•

place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to less leveraged competitors; and
increase our vulnerability to the impact of adverse economic and industry conditions.

If we are unable to successfully manage the limitations and decreased flexibility on our business due to our significant debt
obligations, we may not be able to capitalize on strategic opportunities or grow our business to the extent we would be able to
without these limitations.
Our failure to comply with any of the covenants could result in a default under the credit agreement or the indenture
governing the 2027 Senior Notes, which could permit the administrative agent or the trustee, as applicable, or permit the lenders
or the holders of the 2027 Senior Notes to cause the administrative agent or the trustee, as applicable, to declare all or part of any
outstanding senior secured term loans or revolving loans, or the 2027 Senior Notes to be immediately due and payable or to
exercise any remedies provided to the administrative agent or the trustee, including, in the case of the credit agreement proceeding
against the collateral granted to secure our obligations under the credit agreement. An event of default under the credit agreement
or the indenture governing the 2027 Senior Notes could also lead to an event of default under the terms of the other
agreement. Any such event of default or any exercise of rights and remedies by our creditors could seriously harm our business.
If intangible assets that we have recorded in connection with our acquisition transactions become impaired, we could have
to take significant charges against earnings.
In connection with the accounting for our various acquisition transactions, we have recorded significant amounts of
intangible assets. Under GAAP, we must assess, at least annually and potentially more frequently, whether the value of goodwill
has been impaired. Amortizing intangible assets will be assessed for impairment in the event of an impairment indicator. For
example, during the year ended December 31, 2018, we recorded an impairment of $33.6 million to fully write off the book value
of developed technology related to PROCYSBI in Canada and Latin America. Such impairment and any reduction or other
impairment of the value of goodwill or other intangible assets will result in a charge against earnings, which could materially
adversely affect our results of operations and shareholders’ equity in future periods.
Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
If we are unable to obtain or protect intellectual property rights related to our medicines and medicine candidates, we may
not be able to compete effectively in our markets.
We rely upon a combination of patents, trade secret protection and confidentiality agreements to protect the intellectual
property related to our medicines and medicine candidates. The strength of patents in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical field
involves complex legal and scientific questions and can be uncertain. The patent applications that we own may fail to result in
issued patents with claims that cover our medicines in the United States or in other foreign countries. If this were to occur, early
generic competition could be expected against our current medicines and other medicine candidates in development. There is no
assurance that all potentially relevant prior art relating to our patents and patent applications has been found, which prior art can
invalidate a patent or prevent a patent from issuing based on a pending patent application. In particular, because the APIs in
RAYOS, DUEXIS and PENNSAID 2% have been on the market as separate medicines for many years, it is possible that these
medicines have previously been used off-label in such a manner that such prior usage would affect the validity of our patents or
our ability to obtain patents based on our patent applications. In addition, claims directed to dosing and dose adjustment may be
substantially less likely to issue in light of the Supreme Court decision in Mayo Collaborative Services v. Prometheus
Laboratories, Inc., where the court held that claims directed to methods of determining whether to adjust drug dosing levels based
on drug metabolite levels in the red blood cells were not patent eligible because they were directed to a law of nature. This
decision may have wide-ranging implications on the validity and scope of pharmaceutical method claims.
Even if patents do successfully issue, third parties may challenge their validity, enforceability or scope, which may result in
such patents being narrowed or invalidated.
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Patent litigation is currently pending in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey against Actavis. This
case arises from Paragraph IV Patent Certification notice letters from Actavis advising they had filed an ANDA with the FDA
seeking approval to market a generic version of PENNSAID 2% before the expiration of the patents-in-suit. For a more detailed
description of the PENNSAID 2% litigation, see Note 20, Legal, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Patent litigation is currently pending in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey and the Court of
Appeals for the Federal Circuit against Dr. Reddy’s for marketing a generic version of VIMOVO before the expiration of certain
of our patents listed in the Orange Book. The case arises from Paragraph IV Patent Certification notice letters from Dr. Reddy’s,
advising that it had filed an ANDA with the FDA seeking approval to market generic versions of VIMOVO before the expiration
of the patents-in-suit. On July 30, 2019, the Federal Circuit Court of Appeals denied our request for a rehearing of the Court’s
invalidity ruling against the 6,926,907 and 8,557,285 patents for VIMOVO coordinated-release tablets. As a result, the District
Court entered judgment in September 2019 invalidating the ‘907 and ‘285 patents, which ended any restriction against the FDA
from granting final approval to Dr. Reddy’s generic version of VIMOVO. On February 18, 2020, the FDA granted final approval
for Dr. Reddy’s generic version of VIMOVO. On February 27, 2020, Dr. Reddy’s launched its generic version of VIMOVO in
the United States. Patent litigation against Dr. Reddy’s for infringement continues with respect to certain patents in the New
Jersey District Court. We have repositioned our promotional efforts previously directed to VIMOVO to the other inflammation
segment medicines and expect that our VIMOVO turnover will continue to decrease in future periods. For a more detailed
description of the VIMOVO litigation, see Note 20, Legal, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Patent litigation is currently pending in the Federal Circuit of Appeals and the United States District Court of New Jersey
against Alkem and Teva USA, respectively, who each intend to market a generic version of DUEXIS prior to the expiration of
certain of our patents listed in the Orange Book. These cases arise from Paragraph IV Patent Certification notice letters from
Alkem and Teva USA advising they had filed an ANDA with the FDA seeking approval to market a generic version of DUEXIS
before the expiration of the patents-in-suit. For a more detailed description of the DUEXIS litigation, see Note 20, Legal, of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Patent litigation is currently pending in the United States District Court of New Jersey against Lupin, who intends to market
a generic version of PROCYSBI prior to the expiration of certain of our patents listed in the Orange Book. The case arises from
Paragraph IV Patent Certification notice letter from Lupin advising it has filed an ANDA with the FDA seeking approval to
market a generic version of PROCYSBI before the expiration of the patents-in-suit. For a more detailed description of the
PROCYSBI litigation, see Note 20, Legal, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
We intend to vigorously defend our intellectual property rights relating to our medicines, but we cannot predict the outcome
of the DUEXIS cases, the PENNSAID 2% case, and the PROCYSBI case. Any adverse outcome in these matters or any new
generic challenges that may arise could result in one or more generic versions of our medicines being launched before the
expiration of the listed patents, which could adversely affect our ability to successfully execute our business strategy to increase
sales of our medicines, and would negatively impact our financial condition and results of operations, including causing a
significant decrease in our revenues and cash flows.
Furthermore, even if they are unchallenged, our patents and patent applications may not adequately protect our intellectual
property or prevent others from designing around our claims. If the patent applications we hold with respect to our medicines fail
to issue or if their breadth or strength of protection is threatened, it could dissuade companies from collaborating with us to
develop them and threaten our ability to commercialize our medicines. We cannot offer any assurances about which, if any,
patents will issue or whether any issued patents will be found not invalid and not unenforceable or will go unthreatened by third
parties. Since patent applications in the United States and most other countries are confidential for a period of time after filing,
and some remain so until issued, we cannot be certain that we were the first to file any patent application related to our medicines
or any other medicine candidates. Furthermore, if third parties have filed such patent applications, an interference proceeding in
the United States can be provoked by a third-party or instituted by us to determine which party was the first to invent any of the
subject matter covered by the patent claims of our applications.
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In addition to the protection afforded by patents, we rely on trade secret protection and confidentiality agreements to protect
proprietary know-how that is not patentable, processes for which patents are difficult to enforce and any other elements of our
drug discovery and development processes that involve proprietary know-how, information or technology that is not covered by
patents. Although we expect all of our employees to assign their inventions to us, and all of our employees, consultants, advisors
and any third parties who have access to our proprietary know-how, information or technology to enter into confidentiality
agreements, we cannot provide any assurances that all such agreements have been duly executed or that our trade secrets and other
confidential proprietary information will not be disclosed or that competitors will not otherwise gain access to our trade secrets or
independently develop substantially equivalent information and techniques.
Further, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect proprietary rights to the same extent or in the same manner as the
laws of the United States. As a result, we may encounter significant problems in protecting and defending our intellectual
property both in the United States and abroad. For example, if the issuance, in a given country, of a patent to us, covering an
invention, is not followed by the issuance, in other countries, of patents covering the same invention, or if any judicial
interpretation of the validity, enforceability, or scope of the claims in, or the written description or enablement in, a patent issued
in one country is not similar to the interpretation given to the corresponding patent issued in another country, our ability to protect
our intellectual property in those countries may be limited. Changes in either patent laws or in interpretations of patent laws in the
United States and other countries may materially diminish the value of our intellectual property or narrow the scope of our patent
protection. If we are unable to prevent material disclosure of the non-patented intellectual property related to our technologies to
third parties, and there is no guarantee that we will have any such enforceable trade secret protection, we may not be able to
establish or maintain a competitive advantage in our market, which could materially adversely affect our business, results of
operations and financial condition.
If we fail to comply with our obligations in the agreements under which we license rights to technology from third parties,
we could lose license rights that are important to our business.
We are party to a number of technology licenses that are important to our business and expect to enter into additional
licenses in the future. For example, we rely on a license from Bausch with respect to technology developed by Bausch in
connection with the manufacturing of RAVICTI. The purchase agreement under which Hyperion purchased the rights to
RAVICTI contains obligations to pay Bausch regulatory and sales milestone payments relating to RAVICTI, as well as royalties
on the turnover of RAVICTI. On May 31, 2013, when Hyperion acquired BUPHENYL under a restated collaboration agreement
with Bausch, Hyperion received a license to use some of the manufacturing technology developed by Bausch in connection with
the manufacturing of BUPHENYL. The restated collaboration agreement also contains obligations to pay Bausch regulatory and
sales milestone payments, as well as royalties on turnover of BUPHENYL. If we fail to make a required payment to Bausch and
do not cure the failure within the required time period, Bausch may be able to terminate the license to use its manufacturing
technology for RAVICTI and BUPHENYL. If we lose access to the Bausch manufacturing technology, we cannot guarantee that
an acceptable alternative method of manufacture could be developed or acquired. Even if alternative technology could be
developed or acquired, the loss of the Bausch technology could still result in substantial costs and potential periods where we
would not be able to market and sell RAVICTI and/or BUPHENYL. We also license intellectual property necessary for
commercialization of RAVICTI from an external party. This party may be entitled to terminate the license if we breach the
agreement, including failure to pay required royalties on turnover of RAVICTI, or we do not meet specified diligence obligations
in our development and commercialization of RAVICTI, and we do not cure the failure within the required time period. If the
license is terminated, it may be difficult or impossible for us to continue to commercialize RAVICTI, which would have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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We hold an exclusive, worldwide license from F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd and Hoffmann-La Roche Inc., or Roche, to
patents and know-how for TEPEZZA. We also have exclusive sub-licenses for rights licensed to Roche for TEPEZZA by certain
third-party licensors. Roche may have the right to terminate the license upon our breach, if not cured within a specified period of
time. Roche may also terminate the license in the event of our bankruptcy or insolvency, or if we challenge the validity of
Roche’s patents. If the license is terminated for our breach or based on our challenging the validity of Roche’s patents, then all
rights and licenses granted to us by Roche would also terminate, and we may be required to assign and transfer to Roche certain
filings and approvals, trademarks, and data in our possession necessary for the development and commercialization of TEPEZZA,
and assign clinical trial agreements to the extent permitted. We may also be required to grant Roche an exclusive license under
our patents and know-how for TEPEZZA, and to manufacture and supply TEPEZZA to Roche for a transitional period. We also
have a license of patent rights to TEPEZZA under a license agreement with Lundquist Institute (formerly known as Los Angeles
Biomedical Research Institute at Harbor-UCLA Medical Center), or Lundquist. Lundquist has the right to terminate the license
agreement upon our material breach, if not cured within a specified period of time, or in the event of our bankruptcy or
insolvency. If one or more of these licenses is terminated, it may be impossible for us to continue to commercialize TEPEZZA,
which would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We also hold an exclusive license to patents and technology from Duke University, or Duke, and Mountain View
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., or MVP, covering KRYSTEXXA. Duke and MVP may terminate the license if we commit fraud or for our
willful misconduct or illegal conduct. Duke and MVP may also terminate the license upon our material breach of the agreement,
if not cured within a specified period of time, or upon written notice if we have committed two or more material breaches under
the agreement. Duke and MVP may also terminate the license in the event of our bankruptcy or insolvency. If the license is
terminated, it may be impossible for us to continue to commercialize KRYSTEXXA, which would have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We are subject to contractual obligations under our amended and restated license agreement with UCSD, as amended, with
respect to PROCYSBI. If one or more of these licenses was terminated, we would have no further right to use or exploit the
related intellectual property, which would limit our ability to develop PROCYSBI in other indications, and could impact our
ability to continue commercializing PROCYSBI in its approved indications.
We also license rights to know-how and trademarks for ACTIMMUNE from Genentech Inc., or Genentech. Genentech
may terminate the agreement upon our material default, if not cured within a specified period of time. Genentech may also
terminate the agreement in the event of our bankruptcy or insolvency. Upon such a termination of the agreement, all intellectual
property rights conveyed to us under the agreement, including the rights to the ACTIMMUNE trademark, revert to Genentech. If
we fail to comply with our obligations under this agreement, we could lose the ability to market and distribute ACTIMMUNE,
which would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We hold an exclusive license to Vectura Group plc’s, or Vectura, proprietary technology and know-how covering the
delayed release of corticosteroids relating to RAYOS. If we fail to comply with our obligations under our agreement with Vectura
or our other license agreements, or if we are subject to a bankruptcy, the licensor may have the right to terminate the license, in
which event we would not be able to market medicines covered by the license, including RAYOS.
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Risks Related to Ownership of Our Ordinary Shares
The market price of our ordinary shares historically has been volatile and is likely to continue to be volatile, and you could
lose all or part of any investment in our ordinary shares.
The trading price of our ordinary shares has been volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to various
factors, some of which are beyond our control. In addition to the factors discussed in this “Risk Factors” section and elsewhere in
this report, these factors include:
•
our failure to successfully execute our commercialization strategy with respect to our approved medicines,
particularly our commercialization of our medicines in the United States;
•
the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business and industry as well as the global economy;
•
actions or announcements by third-party or government payers with respect to coverage and reimbursement of our
medicines;
•
disputes or other developments relating to intellectual property and other proprietary rights, including patents,
litigation matters and our ability to obtain patent protection for our medicines and medicine candidates;
•
unanticipated serious safety concerns related to the use of our medicines;
•
adverse regulatory decisions;
•
changes in laws or regulations applicable to our business, medicines or medicine candidates, including but not limited
to clinical trial requirements for approvals or tax laws;
•
inability to comply with our debt covenants and to make payments as they become due;
•
inability to obtain adequate commercial supply for any approved medicine or inability to do so at acceptable prices;
•
developments concerning our commercial partners, including but not limited to those with our sources of
manufacturing supply;
•
our decision to initiate a clinical trial, not to initiate a clinical trial or to terminate an existing clinical trial;
•
adverse results or delays in clinical trials;
•
our failure to successfully develop and/or acquire additional medicine candidates or obtain approvals for additional
indications for our existing medicine candidates;
•
introduction of new medicines or services offered by us or our competitors;
•
overall performance of the equity markets, including the pharmaceutical sector, and general political and economic
conditions;
•
failure to meet or exceed revenue and financial projections that we may provide to the public;
•
actual or anticipated variations in quarterly operating results;
•
failure to meet or exceed the estimates and projections of the investment community;
•
inaccurate or significant adverse media coverage;
•
publication of research reports about us or our industry or positive or negative recommendations or withdrawal of
research coverage by securities analysts;
•
our inability to successfully enter new markets;
•
the termination of a collaboration or the inability to establish additional collaborations;
•
announcements of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments by us or our
competitors;
•
our inability to maintain an adequate rate of growth;
•
ineffectiveness of our internal controls or our inability to otherwise comply with financial reporting requirements;
•
adverse U.S. and foreign tax exposure;
•
additions or departures of key management, commercial or regulatory personnel;
•
issuances of debt or equity securities;
•
significant lawsuits, including patent or shareholder litigation;
•
changes in the market valuations of similar companies to us;
•
sales of our ordinary shares by us or our shareholders in the future;
•
trading volume of our ordinary shares;
•
effects of natural or man-made catastrophic events or other business interruptions; and
•
other events or factors, many of which are beyond our control.
In addition, the stock market in general, and The Nasdaq Global Select Market and the stock of biotechnology companies in
particular, have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the
operating performance of these companies. Broad market and industry factors may adversely affect the market price of our
ordinary shares, regardless of our actual operating performance.
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We have never declared or paid dividends on our share capital and we do not anticipate paying dividends in the foreseeable
future.
We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our ordinary shares. We currently anticipate that we will retain
future earnings for the development, operation and expansion of our business and do not anticipate declaring or paying any cash
dividends for the foreseeable future, including due to limitations that are currently imposed by our credit agreement and the
indenture governing the 2027 Senior Notes. Any return to shareholders will therefore be limited to the increase, if any, of our
ordinary share price.
Future sales and issuances of our ordinary shares, securities convertible into our ordinary shares or rights to purchase
ordinary shares or convertible securities could result in additional dilution of the percentage ownership of our shareholders
and could cause our share price to decline.
Additional capital may be needed in the future to continue our planned operations. To the extent we raise additional capital
by issuing equity securities or securities convertible into or exchangeable for ordinary shares, our shareholders may experience
substantial dilution. We may sell ordinary shares, and we may sell convertible or exchangeable securities or other equity
securities in one or more transactions at prices and in a manner we determine from time to time. If we sell such ordinary shares,
convertible or exchangeable securities or other equity securities in subsequent transactions, existing shareholders may be
materially diluted. New investors in such subsequent transactions could gain rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of
holders of ordinary shares. We also maintain equity incentive plans, including our 2020 Equity Incentive Plan, 2014 NonEmployee Equity Plan, as amended, and 2020 Employee Share Purchase Plan, and intend to grant additional ordinary share
awards under these and future plans, which will result in additional dilution to our existing shareholders.
Irish law differs from the laws in effect in the United States and may afford less protection to holders of our securities.
It may not be possible to enforce court judgments obtained in the United States against us in Ireland based on the civil
liability provisions of the U.S. federal or state securities laws. In addition, there is some uncertainty as to whether the courts of
Ireland would recognize or enforce judgments of U.S. courts obtained against us or our directors or officers based on the civil
liabilities provisions of the U.S. federal or state securities laws or hear actions against us or those persons based on those
laws. We have been advised that the United States currently does not have a treaty with Ireland providing for the reciprocal
recognition and enforcement of judgments in civil and commercial matters. Therefore, a final judgment for the payment of money
rendered by any U.S. federal or state court based on civil liability, whether or not based solely on U.S. federal or state securities
laws, would not automatically or necessarily be enforceable in Ireland.
As an Irish company, we are governed by the Irish Companies Act 2014 (as amended), which differs in some material
respects from laws generally applicable to U.S. corporations and shareholders, including, among others, differences relating to
interested director and officer transactions and shareholder lawsuits. Likewise, the duties of directors and officers of an Irish
company generally are owed to the company only. Shareholders of Irish companies generally do not have a personal right of
action against directors or officers of the company and may exercise such rights of action on behalf of the company only in limited
circumstances. Accordingly, holders of our securities may have more difficulty protecting their interests than would holders of
securities of a corporation incorporated in a jurisdiction of the United States.
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Provisions of our articles of association, and Irish law could delay or prevent a takeover of us by a third party.
Our articles of association could delay, defer or prevent a third-party from acquiring us, despite the possible benefit to our
shareholders, or otherwise adversely affect the price of our ordinary shares. For example, our articles of association:
•
impose advance notice requirements for shareholder proposals and nominations of directors to be considered at
shareholder meetings;
•
stagger the terms of our board of directors into three classes; and
•
require the approval of a supermajority of the voting power of the shares of our share capital entitled to vote generally
at a meeting of shareholders to amend or repeal our articles of association.
In addition, several mandatory provisions of Irish law could prevent or delay an acquisition of us. For example, Irish law
does not permit shareholders of an Irish public limited company to take action by written consent with less than unanimous
consent. We are also subject to various provisions of Irish law relating to mandatory bids, voluntary bids, requirements to make a
cash offer and minimum price requirements, as well as substantial acquisition rules and rules requiring the disclosure of interests
in our ordinary shares in certain circumstances.
These provisions may discourage potential takeover attempts, discourage bids for our ordinary shares at a premium over the
market price or adversely affect the market price of, and the voting and other rights of the holders of, our ordinary shares. These
provisions could also discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for you and our other shareholders to elect directors
other than the candidates nominated by our board of directors, and could depress the market price of our ordinary shares.
Any attempts to take us over will be subject to Irish Takeover Rules and subject to review by the Irish Takeover Panel.
We are subject to the Irish Takeover Rules, under which our board of directors will not be permitted to take any action
which might frustrate an offer for our ordinary shares once it has received an approach which may lead to an offer or has reason to
believe an offer is imminent.
A transfer of our ordinary shares may be subject to Irish stamp duty.
In certain circumstances, the transfer of shares in an Irish incorporated company will be subject to Irish stamp duty, which is
a legal obligation of the buyer. This duty is currently charged at the rate of 1.0 percent of the price paid or the market value of the
shares acquired, if higher. Because our ordinary shares are traded on a recognized stock exchange in the United States, an
exemption from this stamp duty is available to transfers by shareholders who hold ordinary shares beneficially through brokers,
which in turn hold those shares through the Depositary Trust Company, or DTC, to holders who also hold through
DTC. However, a transfer by or to a record holder who holds ordinary shares directly in his, her or its own name could be subject
to this stamp duty. We, in our absolute discretion and insofar as the Irish Companies Act 2014 (as amended) or any other
applicable law permit, may, or may provide that one of our subsidiaries will pay Irish stamp duty arising on a transfer of our
ordinary shares on behalf of the transferee of such ordinary shares. If stamp duty resulting from the transfer of ordinary shares
which would otherwise be payable by the transferee is paid by us or any of our subsidiaries on behalf of the transferee, then in
those circumstances, we will, on our behalf or on behalf of such subsidiary (as the case may be), be entitled to (i) seek
reimbursement of the stamp duty from the transferee, (ii) set-off the stamp duty against any dividends payable to the transferee of
those ordinary shares and (iii) claim a first and permanent lien on the ordinary shares on which stamp duty has been paid by us or
such subsidiary for the amount of stamp duty paid. Our lien shall extend to all dividends paid on those ordinary shares.

Dividends paid by us may be subject to Irish dividend withholding tax.
In certain circumstances, as an Irish tax resident company, we will be required to deduct Irish dividend withholding tax
(currently at the rate of 25%) from dividends paid to our shareholders. Shareholders that are resident in the United States, EU
countries (other than Ireland) or other countries with which Ireland has signed a tax treaty (whether the treaty has been ratified or
not) generally should not be subject to Irish withholding tax so long as the shareholder has provided its broker, for onward
transmission to our qualifying intermediary or other designated agent (in the case of shares held beneficially), or our or its transfer
agent (in the case of shares held directly), with all the necessary documentation by the appropriate due date prior to payment of
the dividend. However, some shareholders may be subject to withholding tax, which could adversely affect the price of our
ordinary shares.
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General Risk Factors
We have incurred and will continue to incur significant increased costs as a result of operating as a public company and
our management will be required to devote substantial time to compliance initiatives.
As a public company, we have incurred and will continue to incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that we
did not incur as a private company. In particular, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2000, or the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, as well as rules
subsequently implemented by the SEC and the Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., or Nasdaq, impose significant requirements on public
companies, including requiring establishment and maintenance of effective disclosure and financial controls and changes in
corporate governance practices. These rules and regulations have substantially increased our legal and financial compliance costs
and have made some activities more time-consuming and costly. These effects are exacerbated by our transition to an Irish
company and the integration of numerous acquired businesses and operations into our historical business and operating
structure. If these requirements divert the attention of our management and personnel from other business concerns, they could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. The increased costs will continue to
decrease our net income or increase our net income (loss), and may require us to reduce costs in other areas of our business or
increase the prices of our medicines or services. For example, these rules and regulations make it more difficult and more
expensive for us to obtain and maintain director and officer liability insurance. We cannot predict or estimate the amount or
timing of additional costs that we may incur to respond to these requirements. The impact of these requirements could also make
it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our board of directors, our board committees or as
executive officers. If we fail to comply with the continued listing requirements of Nasdaq, our ordinary shares could be delisted
from The Nasdaq Global Select Market, which would adversely affect the liquidity of our ordinary shares and our ability to obtain
future financing.
The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective internal controls for financial reporting
and disclosure controls and procedures. In particular, we are required to perform annual system and process evaluation and
testing of our internal controls over financial reporting to allow management to report on the effectiveness of our internal controls
over financial reporting, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, or Section 404. Our independent registered public
accounting firm is also required to deliver a report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Our
testing, or the testing by our independent registered public accounting firm, may reveal deficiencies in our internal controls over
financial reporting that are deemed to be material weaknesses. Our compliance with Section 404 requires that we incur substantial
expense and expend significant management efforts, particularly because of our Irish parent company structure and international
operations. If we are not able to comply with the requirements of Section 404 or if we or our independent registered public
accounting firm identify deficiencies in our internal controls over financial reporting that are deemed to be material weaknesses,
the market price of our ordinary shares could decline and we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by Nasdaq, the SEC or
other regulatory authorities, which would require additional financial and management resources.
New laws and regulations as well as changes to existing laws and regulations affecting public companies, including the
provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and rules adopted by the SEC and by Nasdaq, would likely result in increased costs as we
respond to their requirements.
Securities class action litigation could divert our management’s attention and harm our business and could subject us to
significant liabilities.
The stock markets have from time to time experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that have affected the
market prices for the equity securities of pharmaceutical companies. These broad market fluctuations may cause the market price
of our ordinary shares to decline. In the past, securities class action litigation has often been brought against a company following
a decline in the market price of its securities. This risk is especially relevant for us because biotechnology and biopharma
companies have experienced significant stock price volatility in recent years. For example, following declines in our stock price,
two federal securities class action lawsuits were filed in March 2016 against us and certain of our current and former officers
alleging violations of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which lawsuits were dismissed by the plaintiffs in June
2018. Even if we are successful in defending any similar claims that may be brought in the future, such litigation could result in
substantial costs and may be a distraction to our management and may lead to an unfavorable outcome that could adversely impact
our financial condition and prospects.
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Our employees, independent contractors, principal investigators, consultants, vendors, distributors and CROs may engage
in misconduct or other improper activities, including noncompliance with regulatory standards and requirements.
We are exposed to the risk that our employees, independent contractors, principal investigators, consultants, vendors,
distributors and CROs may engage in fraudulent or other illegal activity. Misconduct by these parties could include intentional,
reckless and/or negligent conduct or unauthorized activities that violate FDA regulations, including those laws that require the
reporting of true, complete and accurate information to the FDA, manufacturing standards, federal and state healthcare fraud and
abuse laws and regulations, and laws that require the true, complete and accurate reporting of financial information or data. In
particular, sales, marketing and business arrangements in the healthcare industry are subject to extensive laws and regulations
intended to prevent fraud, misconduct, kickbacks, self-dealing and other abusive practices. These laws and regulations may
restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing, discounting, marketing and promotion, sales commission, customer incentive programs
and other business arrangements. Misconduct by our employees and other third parties may also include the improper use of
information obtained in the course of clinical trials, which could result in regulatory sanctions and serious harm to our
reputation. We have adopted a Code of Conduct and Ethics, but it is not always possible to identify and deter misconduct by our
employees and other third parties, and the precautions we take to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in
controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or
lawsuits stemming from a failure to be in compliance with such laws or regulations. If any such actions are instituted against us,
and we are not successful in defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could have a significant impact on our
business, including the imposition of significant civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, the curtailment or restructuring of
our operations, the exclusion from participation in federal and state healthcare programs and imprisonment.
Third-party claims of intellectual property infringement may prevent or delay our development and commercialization
efforts.
Our commercial success depends in part on us avoiding infringement of the patents and proprietary rights of third
parties. There is a substantial amount of litigation, both within and outside the United States, involving patent and other
intellectual property rights in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries, including patent infringement lawsuits,
interferences, oppositions and inter party reexamination proceedings before the United States Patent and Trademark Office, or the
U.S. PTO. Numerous U.S. and foreign issued patents and pending patent applications, which are owned by third parties, exist in
the fields in which our collaborators are developing medicine candidates. As the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries
expand and more patents are issued, the risk increases that our medicine candidates may be subject to claims of infringement of
the patent rights of third parties.
Third parties may assert that we are employing their proprietary technology without authorization. There may be third-party
patents or patent applications with claims to materials, formulations, methods of manufacture or methods for treatment related to
the use or manufacture of our medicines and/or any other medicine candidates. Because patent applications can take many years
to issue, there may be currently pending patent applications, which may later result in issued patents that our medicine candidates
may infringe. In addition, third parties may obtain patents in the future and claim that use of our technologies infringes upon these
patents. If any third-party patents were held by a court of competent jurisdiction to cover the manufacturing process of any of our
medicine candidates, any molecules formed during the manufacturing process or any final medicine itself, the holders of any such
patents may be able to block our ability to commercialize such medicine candidate unless we obtained a license under the
applicable patents, or until such patents expire. Similarly, if any third-party patent were held by a court of competent jurisdiction
to cover aspects of our formulations, processes for manufacture or methods of use, including combination therapy, the holders of
any such patent may be able to block our ability to develop and commercialize the applicable medicine candidate unless we
obtained a license or until such patent expires. In either case, such a license may not be available on commercially reasonable
terms or at all.
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Parties making claims against us may obtain injunctive or other equitable relief, which could effectively block our ability to
further develop and commercialize one or more of our medicine candidates. Defense of these claims, regardless of their merit,
would involve substantial litigation expense and would be a substantial diversion of employee resources from our business. In the
event of a successful claim of infringement against us, we may have to pay substantial damages, including treble damages and
attorneys’ fees for willful infringement, obtain one or more licenses from third parties, pay royalties or redesign our infringing
medicines, which may be impossible or require substantial time and monetary expenditure. We cannot predict whether any such
license would be available at all or whether it would be available on commercially reasonable terms. Furthermore, even in the
absence of litigation, we may need to obtain licenses from third parties to advance our research or allow commercialization of our
medicine candidates, and we have done so from time to time. We may fail to obtain any of these licenses at a reasonable cost or
on reasonable terms, if at all. In that event, we would be unable to further develop and commercialize one or more of our
medicine candidates, which could harm our business significantly. We cannot provide any assurances that third-party patents do
not exist which might be enforced against our medicines, resulting in either an injunction prohibiting our sales, or, with respect to
our sales, an obligation on our part to pay royalties and/or other forms of compensation to third parties.
We may be involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our patents or the patents of our licensors, which could be expensive,
time consuming and unsuccessful.
Competitors may infringe our patents or the patents of our licensors. To counter infringement or unauthorized use, we may
be required to file infringement claims, which can be expensive and time-consuming. In addition, in an infringement proceeding,
a court may decide that one of our patents, or a patent of one of our licensors, is not valid or is unenforceable, or may refuse to
stop the other party from using the technology at issue on the grounds that our patents do not cover the technology in
question. An adverse result in any litigation or defense proceedings could put one or more of our patents at risk of being
invalidated or interpreted narrowly and could put our patent applications at risk of not issuing.
There are numerous post grant review proceedings available at the U.S. PTO (including inter partes review, post-grant
review and ex-parte reexamination) and similar proceedings in other countries of the world that could be initiated by a third-party
that could potentially negatively impact our issued patents.
Interference proceedings provoked by third parties or brought by us may be necessary to determine the priority of inventions
with respect to our patents or patent applications or those of our collaborators or licensors. An unfavorable outcome could require
us to cease using the related technology or to attempt to license rights to it from the prevailing party. Our business could be
harmed if the prevailing party does not offer us a license on commercially reasonable terms. Our defense of litigation or
interference proceedings may fail and, even if successful, may result in substantial costs and distract our management and other
employees. We may not be able to prevent, alone or with our licensors, misappropriation of our intellectual property rights,
particularly in countries where the laws may not protect those rights as fully as in the United States.
Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation,
there is a risk that some of our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation. There
could also be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments. If securities
analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a material adverse effect on the price of our ordinary
shares.
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Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, document submission,
fee payment and other requirements imposed by governmental patent agencies, and our patent protection could be reduced
or eliminated for non-compliance with these requirements.
Periodic maintenance fees on any issued patent are due to be paid to the U.S. PTO and foreign patent agencies in several
stages over the lifetime of the patent. The U.S. PTO and various foreign governmental patent agencies require compliance with a
number of procedural, documentary, fee payment and other similar provisions during the patent application process. While an
inadvertent lapse can in many cases be cured by payment of a late fee or by other means in accordance with the applicable rules,
there are situations in which noncompliance can result in abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting in
partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. Non-compliance events that could result in abandonment or
lapse of a patent or patent application include, but are not limited to, failure to respond to official actions within prescribed time
limits, non-payment of fees and failure to properly legalize and submit formal documents. If we or licensors that control the
prosecution and maintenance of our licensed patents fail to maintain the patents and patent applications covering our medicine
candidates, our competitors might be able to enter the market, which would have a material adverse effect on our business.
We may be subject to claims that our employees, consultants or independent contractors have wrongfully used or disclosed
confidential information of third parties.
We employ individuals who were previously employed at other biotechnology or pharmaceutical companies. We may be
subject to claims that we or our employees, consultants or independent contractors have inadvertently or otherwise used or
disclosed confidential information of our employees’ former employers or other third parties. We may also be subject to claims
that former employers or other third parties have an ownership interest in our patents. Litigation may be necessary to defend
against these claims. There is no guarantee of success in defending these claims, and even if we are successful, litigation could
result in substantial cost and be a distraction to our management and other employees.
Sales of a substantial number of our ordinary shares in the public market could cause our share price to decline.
If our existing shareholders sell, or indicate an intention to sell, substantial amounts of our ordinary shares in the public
market, the trading price of such ordinary shares could decline. In addition, our ordinary shares that are either subject to
outstanding options and restricted stock units or reserved for future issuance under our employee benefit plans are or may become
eligible for sale in the public market to the extent permitted by the provisions of various vesting schedules and the Securities Act
of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act. If these additional ordinary shares are sold, or if it is perceived that they will be sold,
in the public market, the trading price of our ordinary shares could decline.
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business,
our share price and trading volume could decline.
The trading market for our ordinary shares will depend in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts
publish about us or our business. If one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our rating or publish inaccurate or
unfavorable research about our business, our share price could decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of our
company or fail to publish reports on our company regularly, demand for our ordinary shares could decrease, which might cause
our share price and trading volume to decline.
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Research and Development
Our 14 research and development programs currently include preclinical and clinical development of new medicine
candidates, as well as development programs that are intended to maximize the benefit and value of our existing medicines. We
devote significant resources to research and development activities associated with our medicines and medicine candidates. The
graphic below summarizes our significant research and development activities in order of the program stage, from post-market to
preclinical:

Our research and development programs are focused on our development candidate HZN-825, the most recent addition to
our pipeline, and growth drivers TEPEZZA and KRYSTEXXA. Six of our 14 programs are expected to begin in 2021. The
following describes our programs for HZN-825, TEPEZZA and KRYSTEXXA, followed by our other clinical programs.
HZN-825 Clinical Programs
HZN-825 is an oral lysophosphatidic acid 1 receptor (LPAR1) antagonist candidate we acquired in April 2020 that we are
developing as a potential treatment of fibrotic diseases with significant unmet need.
LPAR1 signaling has been implicated in fibrosis and inflammation; furthermore, research, preclinical and clinical evidence
supports the anti-fibrotic potential of LPAR1 antagonism across organ systems, including lung and skin. The results of an eightweek placebo-controlled Phase 2a trial of HZN-825, for example, showed evidence of potential clinical benefit in patients with
diffuse cutaneous systemic sclerosis, or dcSSc, with a numerically greater median reduction in the modified Rodnan skin
thickness score, or mRSS, from baseline to Week 8. However, the timeframe was likely too short to show statistically significant
clinical benefit. Data from the 16-week open-label extension period of the same trial, however, suggest that longer treatment
duration could show more meaningful benefit: 79 percent of patients (11 of 14 patients) who received 24 weeks of continuous
treatment responded with a clinically significant 5-or-more point reduction in mRSS.
Additionally, proof of concept for LPAR1 antagonism in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis, or IPF, has been demonstrated with
differentiated forced vital capacity, or FVC, outcomes compared to the current treatments. FVC is a measure of lung capacity
used to assess the progression of lung disease and the effectiveness of treatment. The mechanistic rationale for HZN-825 also
supports evaluation in other interstitial lung disease, or ILD, conditions.
Our HZN-825 clinical programs include studying HZN-825 in dcSSc and ILDs. We expect to initiate two HZN-825 Phase
2b pivotal trials in 2021, one in dcSSc and the other in IPF. The primary endpoint for both trials will be FVC.
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HZN-825 Diffuse Cutaneous Systemic Sclerosis
dcSSc is a rare, chronic, progressive autoimmune disease in which excess collagen production causes skin thickening and
hardening, or fibrosis, over large areas of the skin and internal organs. It can progress to internal organ damage. Given that there
is no compelling evidence that current treatments halt disease progression, and dcSSc has a high mortality rate, it represents a
significant unmet need. We expect to initiate a Phase 2b pivotal trial to evaluate HZN-825 in the treatment of dcSSc in 2021. We
expect to enroll approximately 300 patients, who will be randomized in a 1:1:1 ratio to receive HZN-825 300 mg once daily,
HZN-825 300 mg twice daily, or placebo, for 52 weeks. The primary endpoint of the trial will be change in FVC after 52 weeks.
We expect enrollment to take approximately two years and so, with a one-year endpoint, we expect data to be available in 2024.
HZN-825 Interstitial Lung Diseases – Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis
We expect to initiate a Phase 2b pivotal trial to evaluate HZN-825 in the treatment of IPF in 2021. This trial is part of our
clinical development program for HZN-825 in ILDs. IPF, the most common ILD, is a rare, progressive lung disease with a
median survival rate of less than five years. While current treatments may slow disease progression, there is no evidence that they
stabilize or reverse the disease. In addition, significant tolerability and compliance issues are associated with the current antifibrotic therapies. However, lung transplant has lower survival rates than other solid-organ transplants, and among lung
transplants, survival is lower for pulmonary fibrosis patients compared with those with other diagnoses such as cystic fibrosis or
chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Therefore, IPF represents a significant unmet need.
TEPEZZA Clinical Programs
In addition to OPTIC-X, the extension trial of the TEPEZZA Phase 3 OPTIC clinical trial, we have three other TEPEZZA
programs: TEPEZZA Chronic Thyroid Eye Disease and TEPEZZA Subcutaneous Administration, which are further studies of
TEPEZZA in TED; and TEPEZZA Diffuse Cutaneous Systemic Sclerosis, which will explore TEPEZZA in the potential
additional indication of dcSSc. Our clinical strategy for TEPEZZA is to maximize the value of the medicine for patients and its
long-term potential.
On December 17, 2020, we announced that we expected a short-term disruption in TEPEZZA supply as a result of recent
U.S. government-mandated COVID-19 vaccine production orders pursuant to the DPA that dramatically restricted capacity
available for the production of TEPEZZA at our drug product contract manufacturer, Catalent. See Impact of COVID-19 above
for further information relating to the impact of the supply disruption on our TEPEZZA clinical programs.
TEPEZZA Chronic Thyroid Eye Disease
We expect to initiate a randomized, placebo-controlled trial of TEPEZZA in patients with chronic TED in 2021, contingent
on the normalization of TEPEZZA supply. The disease in patients with chronic TED is no longer progressive or inflammatory;
however, patients may continue to experience proptosis, diplopia, pain and other debilitating eye symptoms that can impair their
quality of life. Signaling through the IGF-1R drives many of these symptoms. Given that IGF-1R is still present at heightened
levels in orbital fibroblasts from surgical samples of chronic TED patients, the TEPEZZA mechanism of action that inhibits IGF1R appears to be relevant in chronic disease. While the TEPEZZA prescribing information is broad and encompasses all patients
with TED, including chronic TED patients, our objective for the Chronic Thyroid Eye Disease trial is to generate data to better
inform the physician community who may wish to use TEPEZZA in treating their chronic TED patients as well as to better inform
the payer community about the benefits of TEPEZZA in treating chronic TED, given that patients with chronic TED were not
studied in the Phase 3 clinical program.
Target enrollment for the chronic TED randomized controlled trial is approximately 40 patients, with a two-to-one ratio of
patients who will receive infusions of TEPEZZA or placebo once every three weeks for a total of eight infusions. The primary
endpoint is the change in proptosis in the study eye from baseline at Week 24. After the initial 24-week treatment period,
proptosis non-responders may choose to enter an additional 24-week open-label treatment period.
TEPEZZA OPTIC-X
OPTIC-X is an extension trial of OPTIC, the TEPEZZA Phase 3 confirmatory clinical trial, in which 82.9 percent of
TEPEZZA patients achieved the primary endpoint, defined as a reduction of proptosis of at least 2 mm, compared to 9.5 percent
of placebo patients.
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In OPTIC-X, placebo patients who participated in the OPTIC trial had the option to participate in the extension trial and
receive eight infusions of TEPEZZA. In July 2020, we announced OPTIC-X results that showed that 89 percent of OPTIC
placebo patients who then entered OPTIC-X and received a course of TEPEZZA achieved the primary endpoint of a reduction in
proptosis of 2 mm or more at Week 24. These patients had TED diagnoses for an average of one year compared with an average
of six months for patients in OPTIC. OPTIC-X is in its final stage of completion.
In addition, there were a small number of TEPEZZA patients in the OPTIC 48-week off-treatment follow-up period who
relapsed, which was defined as: (i) patients who lost at least 2 mm of their proptosis improvement during the 48-week offtreatment period, even if the proptosis was substantially better than at OPTIC baseline; or (ii) patients who had a substantial
increase in the number of inflammatory signs or symptoms during the 48-week off-treatment period without worsening proptosis.
Of the small number of TEPEZZA patients who relapsed during the off-treatment period, more than 60 percent experienced at
least 2 mm of proptosis improvement with an additional course of TEPEZZA in OPTIC-X.
Of note, the majority of TEPEZZA patients who were proptosis responders at Week 24 of OPTIC maintained their proptosis
response at Week 72, the end of the 48-week off-treatment follow-up period. In addition, there were no new safety concerns in
either the 48-week off-treatment follow-up period, or in OPTIC-X, during which patients received additional TEPEZZA
treatment. The OPTIC-X and OPTIC 48-week off-treatment follow-up period data underscore the long-term durability of clinical
benefits from TEPEZZA treatment, the potential for retreatment, and the efficacy of TEPEZZA in patients with longer duration of
TED.
TEPEZZA Diffuse Cutaneous Systemic Sclerosis
We plan to initiate an exploratory TEPEZZA trial in dcSSc as part of our approach to evaluate additional indications for
TEPEZZA in 2021, contingent on the normalization of TEPEZZA supply. Literature suggests that the mechanism of action of
TEPEZZA, which is to block the IGF-1R, could have an impact on fibrotic processes, such as those that are relevant to dcSSc.
The objective of the exploratory trial is to investigate the safety, tolerability and effect of TEPEZZA on IGF-1R
inflammatory/fibrotic biomarkers to inform potential subsequent larger and longer duration clinical trials.
TEPEZZA Subcutaneous Administration
The objective of the TEPEZZA subcutaneous administration trial is to explore the potential for additional administration
options for TEPEZZA, which could provide greater flexibility for patients and physicians. We initiated a pharmacokinetic trial in
2020 to explore subcutaneous dosing of TEPEZZA, which is currently administered by infusion. In addition, in 2020 we
announced a global collaboration and licensing agreement with Halozyme to develop a subcutaneous formulation using
Halozyme’s ENHANZE® drug-delivery technology. This technology is based on its patented recombinant human hyaluronidase
enzyme, or rHuPH20, which has been shown to remove traditional limitations on the volume of biologics that can be delivered
subcutaneously. By using rHuPH20, some biologics and compounds that are administered intravenously may instead be delivered
subcutaneously. This delivery technology has been shown in studies to shorten time for administration of certain medicines. We
expect to initiate our early clinical work of TEPEZZA with the Halozyme delivery technology for subcutaneous administration in
2021.
KRYSTEXXA Clinical Programs
Our five KRYSTEXXA programs aim to maximize the value of KRYSTEXXA in three ways: increasing the response rate
of the medicine, allowing broader populations of patients with uncontrolled gout to benefit from KRYSTEXXA and improving
the patient experience with the medicine.
KRYSTEXXA MIRROR Randomized Clinical Trial
We are evaluating the use of immunomodulation with KRYSTEXXA to increase the response rate of the medicine in our
MIRROR randomized control trial, or RCT.
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As with many biologic medicines, some people treated with KRYSTEXXA develop anti-drug antibodies as part of an
immune response to the medicine and lose response to therapy. In the KRYSTEXXA Phase 3 pivotal trials, 42 percent of patients
achieved a complete response, defined as the proportion of sUA responders (sUA < 6 mg/dL) at Months 3 and 6. There is welldocumented evidence that the addition of immunomodulators to biological therapies can decrease rates of immunogenicity, as the
immunomodulators work to reduce the formation of anti-drug antibodies to the medicine, allowing it to maintain appropriate
blood levels over a longer period of time. Furthermore, there is a growing body of evidence supporting the immunomodulation
approach for KRYSTEXXA: results of several trials and case series using KRYSTEXXA with immunomodulators have
demonstrated response rates ranging between 70 and 100 percent, significantly higher than the 42 percent response rate achieved
in the KRYSTEXXA Phase 3 clinical program.
Our MIRROR RCT, which we initiated in June 2019, is a 12-month trial evaluating KRYSTEXXA with methotrexate, the
immunomodulator most commonly used by rheumatologists, and results are expected by year-end 2021. Enrollment in the
MIRROR RCT was completed in 2020 with 145 patients, exceeding its target enrollment by 10 patients. The trial is designed to
support the potential for registration and modification of our KRYSTEXXA FDA label to include immunomodulation with
methotrexate.
The MIRROR RCT was preceded by our smaller MIRROR open-label trial, which also evaluated the use of the
immunomodulator methotrexate with KRYSTEXXA to increase the response rate and was completed in 2019. Of the 14 patients
in the trial, 79 percent achieved a complete response, defined as the proportion of sUA responders (sUA < 6 mg/dL) at Month 6.
The 79 percent response rate is clinically importantly higher than the 42 percent response rate in the KRYSTEXXA Phase 3
clinical program. No new safety concerns associated with the combination were identified.
One of the trials supporting the immunomodulation approach is the RECIPE trial, an investigator-initiated trial partially
funded by Horizon, and the first randomized controlled trial, or RCT, to evaluate the effect of the use of KRYSTEXXA with an
immunomodulator to increase the response rate. Data presented in 2020 showed that 86 percent of patients who received
KRYSTEXXA with the immunomodulator mycophenolate mofetil, or MMF, achieved a complete response rate at 12 weeks
compared to 40 percent of placebo patients on KRYSTEXXA alone. Furthermore, 68 percent of the immunomodulation patients
achieved a sustained response 12 weeks off MMF but continuing on KRYSTEXXA therapy, compared to 30 percent of placebo
patients.
KRYSTEXXA PROTECT Trial in Kidney Transplant Patients with Uncontrolled Gout
PROTECT is an open-label clinical trial evaluating the effect of KRYSTEXXA on sUA levels in adults with uncontrolled
gout who have undergone a kidney transplant, with the objective of demonstrating that KRYSTEXXA can provide effective
disease control in a severe uncontrolled gout population. Kidney transplant patients have more than a tenfold increase in the
prevalence of gout when compared to the general population, and literature suggests that persistently high sUA levels can be
associated with organ rejection. Managing uncontrolled gout is one of the most common and significant unmet needs of kidney
transplant patients. In January 2021, we completed enrollment in the PROTECT open-label trial.
We announced interim PROTECT data in 2020 that showed that KRYSTEXXA improved the management of uncontrolled
gout in this very sensitive transplant population without compromising kidney function. This data was presented as part of the
2020 American Society of Nephrology Kidney Week. The interim data indicated that the estimated glomerular filtration rate, a
measurement of kidney function, remained stable throughout the initial period of KRYSTEXXA treatment. The data also showed
reductions in pain and disability scores.
KRYSTEXXA Retreatment
As part of our clinical objective to explore ways for KRYSTEXXA to benefit wider uncontrolled gout patient populations,
we plan to initiate an open-label trial in 2021 to evaluate KRYSTEXXA co-administered with methotrexate in patients who
previously failed therapy after having developed an immune response to KRYSTEXXA when taken alone. Patients who have
previously failed KRYSTEXXA have limited options available to address their uncontrolled gout.
KRYSTEXXA Shorter Infusion Duration
We initiated an open-label trial in the fourth quarter of 2020 to evaluate the impact of administering KRYSTEXXA with
methotrexate over a significantly shorter infusion duration. Currently, KRYSTEXXA is infused over a two-hour or longer
timeframe. This shorter infusion duration trial is assessing up to three new infusion durations: 60-minute, 45-minute- and 30minute durations. A shorter infusion duration could meaningfully improve the experience for patients, physicians and sites of
care.
KRYSTEXXA Monthly Dosing
We plan to initiate an open-label trial in 2021 to evaluate a monthly dosing regimen of KRYSTEXXA with methotrexate to
treat people with uncontrolled gout. The current dosing schedule for KRYSTEXXA is every other week. Our new monthly
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dosing trial will assess the impact on patients of receiving twice the current dose of KRYSTEXXA monthly, instead of the current
bi-weekly dosing regimen.
Other Clinical Programs
HZN-003, HZN-007 and the HemoShear programs are all exploring innovative approaches to improve the treatment of
uncontrolled gout, with the objective to enhance our leadership position in the treatment of this painful, debilitating systemic
disease.
HZN-003: Potential Next-Generation Biologic for Uncontrolled Gout Using Optimized Uricase and Optimized PEGylation
Technology
A potential biologic for uncontrolled gout, HZN-003 is a pre-clinical, genetically engineered uricase with optimized
PEGylation technology that has the potential to improve the half-life and reduce immunogenicity of this molecule. In addition, it
has the potential for subcutaneous dosing. HZN-003 is licensed from MedImmune LLC, the global biologics research and
development arm of the AstraZeneca Group.
HZN-007: PASylated Uricase for Uncontrolled Gout Using Optimized Uricase and PASylation Technology
HZN-007 is a PASylated uricase, resulting from a collaboration program to identify uncontrolled gout biologic candidates.
HZN-007 is a pre-clinical medicine candidate, using PASylation technology as a biological alternative to synthetic PEGylation.
PASylation is a novel approach for extending the half-life of pharmaceutically active proteins and reducing immunogenicity with
the potential for subcutaneous dosing.
HemoShear Gout Discovery Collaboration
We have a collaboration agreement with HemoShear Therapeutics, LLC, to discover and develop novel therapeutics for
gout. The collaboration provides us an opportunity to address unmet treatment needs for people with gout by evaluating new
targets for the control of sUA levels as well as new targets to address the inflammation associated with acute flares of gout.
Viela Clinical Programs
On March 15, 2021, we completed our acquisition of Viela. Viela has a deep mid-stage biologics pipeline for autoimmune
and severe inflammatory diseases, with four candidates currently in nine development programs. Each molecule targets central
pathways that are implicated in a wide range of autoimmune diseases.
UPLIZNA® Clinical Programs
Targeting the autoantibody pathway, UPLIZNA is a humanized monoclonal antibody that works by binding to CD19, a cellsurface molecule broadly expressed throughout the B cell development, including plasmablasts. In the autoantibody pathway,
autoantibodies secreted by a subset of B cells (plasmablasts, plasma cells) attack native tissues as opposed to foreign pathogens.
UPLIZNA depletes B cells and the pathogenic cells that produce autoantibodies. UPLIZNA was approved by the FDA in June
2020 for the treatment of neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder, or NMOSD. Viela is pursuing three additional indications for
UPLIZNA: myasthenia gravis, IgG4-related disease and kidney transplant desensitization.
Myasthenia Gravis, or MG, is a chronic, rare, autoimmune neuromuscular disease that affects voluntary muscles, especially
those that control the eyes, mouth, throat and limbs. In severe cases, respiratory muscles may be compromised. Viela initiated its
Phase 3 trial in MG in the third quarter of 2020 to assess the safety and efficacy of UPLIZNA in this disease.
IgG4-related disease refers to a group of disorders marked by tumor-like swelling and fibrosis of affected organs, such as
the pancreas, salivary glands and kidneys. It is primarily treated by rheumatologists, and rheumatology is one of our key
therapeutic areas. Viela has a Phase 3 trial underway to assess whether UPLIZNA can reduce flares in the absence of concomitant
steroid treatment. Similar to many other autoimmune diseases, chronic steroid therapy is the current treatment approach, which
has a significant and toxic side-effect profile.
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UPLIZNA is also being evaluated in a Phase 2 proof-of-concept trial in kidney transplant desensitization. Desensitization is
aimed at reducing alloantibodies that often preclude patients with end-stage renal disease, or ESRD, from finding a matching
organ and result in poor post-transplant outcomes through antibody mediated graft rejection. Given the at-risk patient population
studied, this trial was paused in 2020 due to COVID-19.
VIB4920 Clinical Programs
VIB4920 targets the CD40/CD40 ligand co-stimulatory pathway. In this pathway, overstimulation of immune cells can be
triggered by interaction of CD40/CD40L, leading to an immune response cascade and overproduction of molecules that mediate
inflammation. Several autoimmune diseases are associated with the overactivation of the CD40/CD40 ligand co-stimulatory
pathway. A CD40 ligand antagonist, VIB4920 is a fusion protein that binds to CD40 ligand, disrupting this pathway and reducing
autoantibody production. VIB4920 is being studied by Viela for three potential indications: Sjögren’s syndrome, kidney
transplant rejection and RA.
Sjögren’s syndrome, the second most common rheumatic disease after RA, is a chronic, systemic autoimmune condition
that impacts exocrine glands, including the salivary glands and tear glands. Inflammation and destruction of these glands lead to
dry eye and dry mouth. In severe cases, the joints, lungs, skin, blood and kidneys may be also affected. There are currently no
treatments approved for Sjögren’s syndrome. In patients with for Sjögren’s syndrome, both CD40 ligand and its receptor, CD40,
are overexpressed in inflamed tissues. Targeting this pathway with VIB4920 may reduce inflammation and tissue damage.
VIB4920 is in a Phase 2b trial for Sjögren’s syndrome.
Kidney transplant rejection occurs when the immune system detects an organ transplant as a threat and attacks it, resulting
in organ rejection. The current standard of care to prevent transplant rejection involves a combination of various
immunosuppressants and calcineurin inhibitors, the latter of which is associated with kidney toxicity. Viela is conducting a small
Phase 2 proof-of-concept study with VIB4920 in kidney transplant rejection, evaluating if a combination of the
immunosuppressant, belatacept, and VIB4920 can be effective in preventing transplant rejection while reducing renal toxicity.
VIB4920 is also in a Phase 2 trial in active RA, a chronic inflammatory disorder characterized by progressive destruction of
the joints. The primary objectives of this study are to better understand the pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic effects of
VIB4920 and to further optimize its dosing regimen.
VIB7734 Clinical Programs
VIB 7734 targets the innate immunity pathway. In this pathway, there is an overproduction of pro-inflammatory cytokines
secreted by plasmacytoid dendritic cells, or pDCs. pDCs play a critical role in autoimmune signaling, inflammation and
associated tissue damage through cytokine production. VIB7734 is a human monoclonal antibody that binds to a unique cell
surface receptor on pDCs called ILT7, causing pDC depletion. Depleting these cells may interrupt the vicious cycle of
inflammation that causes tissue damage in diseases such as lupus, dermatomyositis and a variety of other autoimmune conditions.
VIB 7734 has the potential to become a novel treatment for autoimmune diseases in which pDCs overproduce interferons and
other types of cytokines and chemokines. Viela is conducting two trials in VIB7734, one for SLE and one for COVID-19-related
acute lung injury.
pDCs play a key role in SLE, a systemic autoimmune disease in which the body's immune system attacks an individual’s
tissues and organs. Inflammation caused by SLE can affect many different body systems, including joints, skin, kidneys, blood
cells, brain, heart and lungs. With only one biologic approved and substantial room for improved efficacy, SLE represents a
significant unmet need. Viela recently announced plans for a Phase 2 trial in SLE after demonstrating encouraging results from
their Phase 1b cutaneous lupus erythematosus trial that suggested that VIB7734 has the potential to meaningfully reduce skin
lesions in lupus patients. The Phase 2 trial in SLE is expected to begin in the first half of 2021.
COVID-19-related acute lung injury is the result of immune overactivation which can cause lung injury. VIB7734 is also in
Phase 1 development for COVID-19-related acute lung injury.
VIB1116 Clinical Program
VIB1116 is a monoclonal antibody expected to begin a Phase 1 first-in-human trial in mid-2021 for autoimmune diseases.
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Liquidity, Financial Position and Capital Resources
We have incurred losses in most fiscal years since our inception in June 2005 and, as of December 31, 2020, we had a profit
and loss account deficit of $220.6 million. We expect that our sales and marketing expenses will continue to increase as a result
of the commercialization of our medicines, but we believe these cost increases will be more than offset by higher turnover and
gross profits in future periods. Additionally, we expect that our research and development costs will increase as we acquire or
develop more development-stage medicine candidates and advance our candidates through the clinical development and
regulatory approval processes. In particular, we expect to incur substantial costs in connection with advancing Viela’s pipeline of
medicine candidates and development programs in on-going and planned clinical trials.
On December 17, 2020, we announced that we expected a short-term disruption in TEPEZZA supply as a result of recent
U.S. government-mandated COVID-19 vaccine production orders pursuant to the Defense Production Act of 1950, that
dramatically restricted capacity available for the production of TEPEZZA at our drug product contract manufacturer, Catalent.
This short-term supply disruption has negatively impacted our turnover of TEPEZZA. Refer to the Impact of COVID-19 section
in this Irish Annual Report for further information.
Further, following the highly successful launch of TEPEZZA, which significantly exceeded expectations, we are in the
process of expanding our production capacity to meet anticipated future demand for TEPEZZA. As of December 31, 2020, we
had total purchase commitments, including the minimum annual order quantities and binding firm orders, with AGC Biologics
A/S (formerly known as CMC Biologics A/S) for TEPEZZA drug substance of €134.7 million ($164.6 million converted at an
exchange rate as of December 31, 2020 of 1.2216), to be delivered through December 2022. In addition, we had binding purchase
commitments with Catalent Indiana, LLC for TEPEZZA drug product of $17.9 million, to be delivered through December 2021.
We also expect to incur additional costs and to enter into additional purchase commitments in connection with our efforts to
expand TEPEZZA production capacity in order to meet this anticipated increase in demand.
During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, our accounts receivables increased significantly from $408.7 million as
of December 31, 2019 to $705.9 million as of September 30, 2020. This increase was primarily due to both the growth in and the
timing of receipts for TEPEZZA sales. During the initial launch period, the payment terms for TEPEZZA were extended. On
October 1, 2020, the permanent J-code for TEPEZZA was implemented and the payment terms for TEPEZZA started to decline.
This resulted in a decrease of $46.2 million in accounts receivable and significant cash inflows during the fourth quarter of 2020
from the collection of TEPEZZA-related receivables. We expect to continue to receive significant cash inflows from the
collection of TEPEZZA-related receivables in the first quarter of 2021. In the second quarter of 2021, we expect to receive
significantly lower cash inflows from TEPEZZA sales as a result of the supply disruption.
On August 11, 2020, we completed an underwritten public equity offering of 13.6 million ordinary shares at a price to the
public of $71.0 per share, resulting in net proceeds of approximately $919.8 million after deducting underwriting discounts and
other offering expenses payable by us. This included the exercise in full by the underwriters of their option to purchase up to 1.8
million additional ordinary shares.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, we issued an aggregate of 5.9 million of ordinary shares in connection with
stock option exercises, the vesting of restricted stock units and performance stock units, and employee share purchase plan
purchases. We received a total of $53.0 million in net proceeds in connection with such issuances.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, we made payments of $66.5 million for employee withholding taxes relating to
vesting of share-based awards.
On June 3, 2020, we issued a notice of redemption, or the Redemption Notice, for all our outstanding Exchangeable Senior
Notes. From June 3, 2020 through July 30, 2020, we issued an aggregate of 13,898,414 of our ordinary shares to noteholders as a
result of exchanges of $398.3 million in aggregate principal amount of Exchangeable Senior Notes following the issuance of the
Redemption Notice. On August 3, 2020, we redeemed the remaining $1.7 million in aggregate principal amount of Exchangeable
Senior Notes and made aggregate cash payments to the holders of such Exchangeable Senior Notes of $1.8 million, including
accrued interest. During the year ended December 31, 2020, we recorded a loss on debt extinguishment of $31.9 million related
to these exchanges and cash redemptions.
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As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and actions taken to slow its spread, the global credit and financial markets have
experienced extreme volatility and disruptions, including diminished liquidity and credit availability, declines in consumer
confidence, declines in economic growth, increases in unemployment rates and uncertainty about economic stability. If the equity
and credit markets deteriorate, it may make any additional debt or equity financing more difficult, more costly or more dilutive.
In February 2020, we purchased a three-building campus in Deerfield, Illinois, for total consideration and directly
attributable transaction costs of $118.5 million. The Deerfield campus totals 70 acres and consists of approximately 650,000
square feet of office space. Our Lake Forest office employees moved to the Deerfield campus in February 2021 and we are
marketing the Lake Forest office space for sublease. We made significant capital expenditures during 2020 and the first quarter of
2021 in order to prepare the Deerfield campus for occupancy. In addition, if we are unable to sublease our existing Lake Forest
office at rental rates similar to the rates under our existing lease or at all, we would be obligated to continue incurring substantial
costs for rental payments through the end of the lease term in 2031.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, we committed to invest as a strategic limited partner in four venture capital
funds: Forbion Growth Opportunities Fund I C.V., Forbion Capital Fund V C.V., Aisling Capital V, L.P. and RiverVest Venture
Fund V, L.P. As of December 31, 2020, the total carrying amount of our investments in these funds is $10.6 million, which is
included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheet, and our total future commitments to these funds are $56.2 million.
We have financed our operations to date through equity financings, debt financings and the issuance of convertible notes, along
with cash flows from operations during the last several years. As of December 31, 2020, we had $2,079.9 million in cash and cash
equivalents and total debt with a book value of $1,003.4 million and principal value of $1,018.0 million. We believe our existing
cash and cash equivalents and our expected cash flows from operations will be sufficient to fund our business needs for at least the
next twelve months from the issuance of the financial statements in this Irish Annual Report. We do not have any financial covenants
or non-financial covenants that we expect to be affected by the economic disruptions and negative effects of the COVID-19 pandemic
on the financial environment.
We have a significant amount of debt outstanding on a consolidated basis. For a description of our debt agreements, see
Note 16, Debt Agreements, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. In addition, in connection with our acquisition of
Viela, we borrowed an additional $1,600.0 million aggregate principal amount of term loans pursuant to an amendment to our
Credit Agreement, the proceeds of which, in addition to a portion of our existing cash on hand, was used to pay the consideration
for the Viela acquisition. This substantial level of debt could have important consequences to our business, including, but not
limited to: making it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations; requiring a substantial portion of our cash flows from
operations to be dedicated to the payment of principal and interest on our indebtedness, therefore reducing our ability to use our
cash flows to fund acquisitions, capital expenditures, and future business opportunities; limiting our ability to obtain additional
financing, including borrowing additional funds; increasing our vulnerability to, and reducing our flexibility to respond to, general
adverse economic and industry conditions; limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the
industry in which we operate; and placing us at a disadvantage as compared to our competitors, to the extent that they are not as
highly leveraged. We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service all of our indebtedness and may be forced to take
other actions to satisfy our obligations under our indebtedness.
In addition, the indenture governing our 5.5% Senior Notes due 2027 and our Credit Agreement impose various covenants
that limit our ability and/or our restricted subsidiaries’ ability to, among other things, pay dividends or distributions, repurchase
equity, prepay junior debt and make certain investments, incur additional debt and issue certain preferred stock, incur liens on
assets, engage in certain asset sales or merger transactions, enter into transactions with affiliates, designate subsidiaries as
unrestricted subsidiaries; and allow to exist certain restrictions on the ability of restricted subsidiaries to pay dividends or make
other payments to us.
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Sources and Uses of Cash
The following table provides a summary of our cash position and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2020 and
2019 (in thousands):
For the Years Ended December 31,
2020

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities

$

2,083,479 $
555,688
(464,071 )
904,579

2019

1,080,039
426,332
(17,857)
(290,446 )

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities
During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, net cash provided by operating activities was $555.7 million and
$426.3 million, respectively.
Net cash provided by operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2020 of $555.7 million was primarily
attributable to cash collections from gross sales, partially offset by payments made related to patient assistance costs for our
inflammation segment medicines and government rebates for our orphan segment medicines, payments related to selling, general
and administrative expenses and research and development expenses and advanced payments for TEPEZZA stock.
Net cash provided by operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2019 was primarily attributable to cash
collections from gross sales, partially offset by payments made related to patient assistance programs and commercial rebates for
our inflammation segment medicines, and payments related to selling, general and administrative expenses and research and
development expenses. Operating cash flow was also used to fund interest on outstanding debt of $78.0 million.
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities
During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, net cash used in investing activities was $464.1 million and $17.9
million, respectively.
Net cash used in investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2020 of $464.1 million was primarily attributable
to payments for acquisitions of $262.3 million which consisted of $215.2 million of milestone payments associated with the
acquisition of River Vision Development Corp., or River Vision, and our agreements with F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd and
Hoffmann-La Roche Inc, or together referred to as Roche, with S.R. One, Limited, or S.R. One, and with Lundbeckfond Invest
A/S, or Lundbeckfond, and $45.0 million due to the acquisition of Curzion in the second quarter of 2020. Additionally, $112.5
million was paid in the first quarter of 2020 in relation to the purchase of a three-building campus in Deerfield, Illinois. We also
paid an upfront cash payment of $30.0 million in the fourth quarter of 2020 related to a license agreement entered into with
Halozyme, that gives us exclusive access to Halozyme’s ENHANZE drug delivery technology for subcutaneous formulation of
medicines targeting IGF-1R. We intend to use ENHANZE to develop a subcutaneous formulation of TEPEZZA.
Net cash used in investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2019, was primarily attributable to the purchases
of property and equipment of $17.9 million and an escrow deposit payment of $6.0 million related to the purchase of the Deerfield
campus, partially offset by proceeds from the MIGERGOT transaction of $6.0 million.
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities
During the year ended December 31, 2020, net cash provided by financing activities was $904.6 million. During the year
ended December 31, 2019, net cash used in financing activities was $290.5 million.
Net cash provided by financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2020 of $904.6 million was primarily
attributable to the issuance of 13.6 million ordinary shares in connection with our underwritten public equity offering in August
2020. We received net proceeds of approximately $919.8 million after deducting underwriting discounts and other offering
expenses payable by us in connection with such offering.
Net cash used in financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2019 of $290.5 million was primarily attributable
to the net repayment of $400.0 million of the outstanding principal amount of term loans under our Credit Agreement, the
repayment of the outstanding principal amount of our 2023 Senior Notes and 2024 Senior Notes of $775.0 million and related
early redemption premiums of $39.5 million, partially offset by net proceeds from the issuance of our 2027 Senior Notes of
$590.1 million and net proceeds from the issuance of ordinary shares of $326.8 million.
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Contractual Obligations
As of December 31, 2020, minimum future cash payments due under contractual obligations, including, among others, our debt
agreements, purchase agreements with third-party manufacturers and non-cancelable operating lease agreements, were as follows (in
thousands):
2021

Debt agreements – principal (1)
Debt agreements - interest (1)
Purchase commitments (2)
Operating lease obligations (3)
Total contractual cash obligations
(1)

(2)

(3)

2022

— $
— $
43,163
43,163
129,352
90,392
7,296
6,119
$ 179,811 $ 139,674 $
$

2023

2024

— $
— $
42,299
42,458
10,736
7,347
5,969
6,587
59,004 $ 56,392 $

2025

2026 &
Thereafter

Total

— $ 1,018,026 $ 1,018,026
42,398
70,140
283,621
5,000
5,000
247,827
6,836
33,241
66,048
54,234 $ 1,126,407 $ 1,615,522

Represents the minimum contractual obligation due under the following debt agreements:
•

$418.0 million under our term loans, which includes estimated monthly interest payments based on the applicable
interest rate at December 31, 2020 of 2.19% and repayment of the remaining principal in May 2026.

•

$600.0 million of our 5.5% Senior Notes due 2027, which includes bi-annual interest payments and repayment of the
principal in August 2027.

These amounts reflect the following purchase commitments with our third-party manufacturers:
•

Purchase commitment for TEPEZZA drugs substance with AGC Biologics A/S to be delivered through December
2022. Purchase commitments with Catalent Indiana, LLC for TEPEZZA drug product to be delivered through
December 2021.

•

Minimum annual order quantities required to be placed with Boehringer Ingelheim for final packaged ACTIMMUNE
through June 2024 and additional units we also committed to purchase which were intended to cover anticipated
demand if the results of the Friedreich’s ataxia program of ACTIMMUNE for the treatment of Friedreich’s ataxia had
been successful. As of December 31, 2020, the minimum purchase commitment to Boehringer Ingelheim
Biopharmaceuticals GmbH was $15.8 million (converted using a Dollar-to-Euro exchange rate of 1.2216 as of
December 31, 2020) through June 2024.

•

Minimum purchase commitment for KRYSTEXXA through 2026.

•

Purchase commitments for RAVICTI, BUPHENYL, PROCYSBI, PENNSAID 2%, DUEXIS, RAYOS and
QUINSAIR of $14.7 million were outstanding at December 31, 2020.

These amounts reflect payments due under our operating leases, which are principally for our facilities. For further details
regarding these properties, see Note 9 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The above table does not include the following items:
•

An agreement for lease entered into on October 14, 2019, relating to approximately 63,000 square feet of office space
under construction in Dublin, Ireland. Lease commencement will begin when construction of the offices is completed
by the lessor and we have access to begin the construction of leasehold improvements. We expect to receive access to
the office space and commence the related lease in the first half of 2021 and incur leasehold improvement costs
during 2021 in order to prepare the building for occupancy.
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•

Non-cancellable advertising commitments due within one year of $25.0 million, primarily related to agreements for
advertising for TEPEZZA and KRYSTEXXA.

•

As of December 31, 2020, our contingent liability for uncertain tax positions amounted to $29.4 million (excluding
interest and penalties). Due to the nature and timing of the ultimate outcome of these uncertain tax positions, we
cannot make a reasonably reliable estimate of the amount and period of related future payments, if any. Therefore,
our contingent liability has been excluded from the above contractual obligations table. We do not expect a
significant tax payment related to these obligations within the next year.

•

Assumed material obligations to make royalty and milestone payments to certain third parties on turnover of certain
of our medicines. See Note 19 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

•

In February 2020, we purchased a three-building campus in Deerfield, Illinois, for total consideration and directly
attributable transaction costs of $118.5 million. The Deerfield campus totals 70 acres and consists of approximately
650,000 square feet of office space. Our Lake Forest office employees moved to the Deerfield campus in February
2021 and we are marketing the Lake Forest office for sublease. We made significant capital expenditures during 2020
and the first quarter of 2021 in order to prepare the Deerfield campus for occupancy. In addition, if we are unable to
sublease our existing Lake Forest office at rental rates similar to the rates under our existing lease or at all, we would
be obligated to continue incurring substantial costs for rental payments through the end of the lease term in 2031.

•

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we committed to invest as a strategic limited partner in four venture
capital funds: Forbion Growth Opportunities Fund I C.V., Forbion Capital Fund V C.V., Aisling Capital V, L.P. and
RiverVest Venture Fund V, L.P. As of December 31, 2020, the total carrying amount of our investments in these
funds is $10.6 million, which is included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheet, and our total future
commitments to these funds are $56.2 million.

On March 15, 2021, we completed our acquisition of Viela, in which we acquired all of the outstanding shares of Viela’s
common stock at a price of $53.00 per share in cash, or approximately $2.67 billion net of Viela’s cash and cash equivalents. In
connection with our acquisition of Viela, we borrowed an additional $1,600.0 million aggregate principal amount of term loans
pursuant to an amendment to our Credit Agreement, the proceeds of which, in addition to a portion of our existing cash on hand,
was used to pay the consideration for the Viela acquisition.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
Since our inception, we have not engaged in any off-balance sheet arrangements, including the use of structured finance,
special purpose entities or variable interest entities, other than the indemnification agreements discussed in Note 16 in the notes to
our consolidated financial statements included in this report.
Financial Risk Management
We are exposed to various market risks, which include potential losses arising from adverse changes in market rates and
prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange fluctuations. We do not enter into derivatives or other financial instruments for
trading or speculative purposes.
Interest Rate Risk. We are subject to interest rate fluctuation exposure through our borrowings under our Credit Agreement
and our investment in money market accounts which bear a variable interest rate. Our approximately $418.0 million aggregate
principal amount of senior secured term loans borrowed under our Credit Agreement in December 2019, or the December 2019
Term Loans, bear interest, at our option, at a rate equal to the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate, or LIBOR, plus 2.25% per annum
(subject to a 0.00% LIBOR floor), or the adjusted base rate plus 1.25% per annum with a step-down to LIBOR plus 2.00% per
annum or the adjusted base rate plus 1.00% per annum at the time our leverage ratio is less than or equal to 2.00 to 1.00. The
adjusted base rate is defined as the greatest of (a) LIBOR (using one-month interest period) plus 1.00%, (b) the prime rate, (c) the
federal funds rate plus 0.50%, and (d) 1.00%. The loans under our incremental revolving credit facility, or Revolving Credit
Facility, bear interest, at our option, at a rate equal to either LIBOR plus an applicable margin of 2.25% per annum (subject to a
LIBOR floor of 0.00%), or the adjusted base rate plus 1.25% per annum with a step-down to LIBOR plus 2.00% per annum or the
adjusted base rate plus 1.00% per annum at the time our leverage ratio is less than or equal to 2.00 to 1.00. Our December 2019
Term Loans are based on LIBOR. As of December 31, 2020, the Revolving Credit Facility was undrawn. The one-month LIBOR
rate as of March 16, 2021, which was the most recent date the interest rate on the December 2019 Term Loans was fixed, was
0.13%, and as a result, the interest rate on our December 2019 Term Loans is currently 2.13% per annum. Our $1,600.0 million
aggregate principal amount of senior secured term loans borrowed under our Credit Agreement in March 2021, or the Incremental
Loans, bear interest, at our option, at a rate equal to LIBOR, plus 2.00% per annum (subject to a 0.50% LIBOR floor), or the
adjusted base rate plus 1.00% per annum with a step-down to LIBOR plus 1.75% per annum or the adjusted base rate plus 0.75%
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per annum at the time our leverage ratio is less than or equal to 2.00 to 1.00. Our Incremental Loans are based on LIBOR. The
one-month LIBOR rate as of March 15, 2021, which was the most recent date the interest rate on the Incremental Loans was
fixed, was 0.13%, and as a result, the interest rate on our Incremental Loans is currently 2.50% per annum. Because the United
Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority, which regulates LIBOR, intends to phase out the use of LIBOR by the end of 2021, future
borrowings under our Credit Agreement could be subject to reference rates other than LIBOR.
An increase in the LIBOR of 100 basis points above the current LIBOR rate would increase our interest expense related to
the Credit Agreement by $20.2 million per year.
The goals of our investment policy are to preserve capital, fulfill liquidity needs and maintain fiduciary control of cash. To
achieve our goal of maximizing income without assuming significant market risk, we maintain our excess cash and cash
equivalents in money market funds. Because of the short-term maturities of our cash equivalents, we do not believe that a
decrease in interest rates would have any material negative impact on the fair value of our cash equivalents.
Foreign Currency Risk. Our purchase costs of TEPEZZA drug substance and ACTIMMUNE stock are principally
denominated in Euros and are subject to foreign currency risk. In addition, we are obligated to pay certain milestones and a
royalty on sales of TEPEZZA to Roche in Swiss Francs, which obligations are subject to foreign currency risk. We have contracts
relating to RAVICTI, QUINSAIR and PROCYSBI for sales in Canada which sales are subject to foreign currency risk. We also
incur certain operating expenses in currencies other than the U.S. dollar in relation to our Irish operations and foreign subsidiaries.
Therefore, we are subject to volatility in cash flows due to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, particularly changes in
the Euro, the Swiss Franc and the Canadian dollar.
Inflation Risk. We do not believe that inflation has had a material impact on our business or results of operations during the
periods for which the consolidated financial statements are presented in this report.
Credit Risk. Historically, our accounts receivable balances have been highly concentrated with a select number of
customers, consisting primarily of large wholesale pharmaceutical distributors who, in turn, sell the medicines to pharmacies,
hospitals and other customers. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, our top four customers accounted for approximately 93% and
84%, respectively, of our total outstanding accounts receivable balances.
Future Developments
Horizon is a leading high-growth, innovation-driven, profitable biotech company. We are focused on rare diseases,
delivering innovative therapies to patients and generating value for our shareholders. Our strategy is to expand our developmentstage pipeline for long-term sustainable growth and maximize the benefit and value of our on-market medicines, with particular
focus on our key growth drivers TEPEZZA and KRYSTEXXA, both rare disease medicines. Our vision is to build healthier
communities, urgently and responsibly, which we believe generates value for our many stakeholders, including our shareholders.
We have significantly transformed Horizon since our beginnings as a public company in 2011, when we had two on-market
medicines and total turnover of approximately $7.0 million. In a span of only nine years, we have evolved to a profitable, biotech
company with eleven on-market medicines, seven of them for the treatment of rare diseases, total turnover in 2020 of $2.2 billion,
and a growing pipeline with 14 development programs.
On March 15, 2021, we completed our acquisition of Viela, in which we acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of
Viela’s common stock for $53.00 per share in cash, which represents a fully diluted equity value of approximately $3.05 billion,
or approximately $2.67 billion net of Viela’s cash and cash equivalents. Viela has one on-market medicine in the United States
and a deep mid-stage biologics pipeline for autoimmune and severe inflammatory diseases, with four candidates currently in nine
development programs. We expect our cost of sales, research and development expenses and selling, general and administrative
expenses to significantly increase in 2021 as a result of the completion of the Viela acquisition. In addition, we expect our interest
expense to increase as a result of additional debt required to fund the Viela acquisition. See the “Research and Development”
section above and Note 30 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this report for further details.
We have achieved this transformation by first building a strong commercial business as our foundation, then using the
resulting cash flows to build our portfolio of rare disease medicines, including the acquisition of KRYSTEXXA, which we
transformed into a key growth driver, and then building our development-stage pipeline, primarily through business development.
Our second key growth driver, TEPEZZA, is the result of our acquisition of River Vision, in 2017, when TEPEZZA was a latestage development candidate.
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We are executing on our strategy to expand our pipeline and maximize the value of our on-market medicines by leveraging
the three elements that we believe set Horizon apart and are key to our success: (i) our excellence in commercial execution; (ii)
our proven and disciplined business development strategy; and (iii) our strong clinical development capability. Through our
commercial execution, we seek to accelerate the growth trajectory and maximize the potential of our medicines. Through our
strong in-house business development capability, we acquire medicines focused on opportunities in which we believe we are
uniquely positioned to drive value. We also leverage the deep collective drug development experience of our research and
development organization using an agile approach to continually innovate our existing medicines and develop new medicines.
We have two reportable segments, (i) the orphan segment (previously the orphan and rheumatology segment), our strategic
growth business, and (ii) the inflammation segment, and we report turnover and segment operating income for each segment.

Political Donations
No political contributions that require disclosure under Irish Law were made during the years ended December 31, 2020 and
2019.
Treasury Shares
At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the total number of treasury shares outstanding was 384,366 ordinary shares of $0.0001
par value each. This was the maximum number of treasury shares outstanding held at any time during the years ended December
31, 2020 and 2019.
Share Repurchases
In May 2016, our board of directors authorized a share repurchase program pursuant to which we may repurchase up to 5.0
million of our ordinary shares. In May 2020, the Company’s shareholders reauthorized a share repurchase program pursuant to
which we may repurchase up to approximately 19.0 million of our ordinary shares. Market purchases of our ordinary shares are
made only at price levels which the board of directors considers to be in the best interest of shareholders generally, after taking
into account our overall financial position. During the year ended December 31, 2017, we repurchased 100,000 of our ordinary
shares under the repurchase program which represented approximately 0.06% of our ordinary shares in issue at the time of
purchase, for total consideration of $1.0 million. The par value method was used to account for the repurchase of ordinary shares
and shares repurchased were cancelled. The timing and amount of future repurchases, if any, will depend on a variety of factors,
including the price of our ordinary shares, alternative investment opportunities, our cash resources, restrictions under the Credit
Agreement and market conditions.
Dividend Policy
We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common equity. We currently intend to retain all available funds and
any future earnings to support operations and finance the growth and development of our business and do not intend to pay cash
dividends on our ordinary shares for the foreseeable future. Under Irish law, dividends may only be paid, and share repurchases
and redemptions must generally be funded only out of, “distributable reserves”. In addition, our ability to pay cash dividends is
currently prohibited by the terms of our credit agreement with Citibank, N.A., as administrative and collateral agent and our
$600.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.5% Senior Notes due 2027, subject to customary exceptions. Any future
determination as to the payment of dividends will, subject to Irish legal requirements, be at the sole discretion of our board of
directors and will depend on our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements and other factors our board of
directors deems relevant.
Non Financial Statement
Introduction
At Horizon, we are committed to supporting our patients, our employees and the communities where we live and work, as
well as promoting a sustainable environment.
Environment
It is our objective to conduct our business in a responsible way that minimizes environmental impacts. In 2021, we are
relocating our global headquarters to a near-zero-emission building being constructed to LEED Gold standard and our new
Deerfield, Illinois campus is LEED Gold certified. In addition, we are committed to minimizing and, if practicable, eliminating
the use of any substance or material that may cause environmental damage; reducing waste generation and disposing of all waste
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through safe and responsible methods; minimizing environmental risks by employing safe technologies and operating procedures;
and being prepared to respond appropriately to accidents and emergencies.
Social and Employee Matters
At Horizon, our impact goes beyond our medicines. We are proud to devote our time and resources to initiatives that
benefit our patients, our employees and our communities.
Patients
We believe science and compassion must work together to transform lives.
We are driven to deliver breakthrough medicines to those living with rare and rheumatic diseases because we uniquely
understand the patient journey. Many of us at Horizon know a patient, are a patient or have been deeply moved to action through
a patient story. This deep appreciation fuels every decision we make and shapes who we are.
Of approximately 7,000 known rare diseases in the world, only five percent have treatments. We want to change those
odds. Our mission for R&D is clear – we apply scientific expertise and courage to address the most challenging needs while
constantly looking through a patient-informed lens. This mission pushes our teams to find new uses and benefits for patients with
our current portfolio of medicines. It also drives us to apply the latest technologies, while moving urgently and decisively through
the clinical process, to bring new and novel therapies to patients. Changing the odds in rare disease means delivering on our
promise to bring meaningful therapies to patients, their families and the physicians who care for them.
Throughout 2020, we have provided more than $1.0 million to advocacy organizations to support COVID-19 relief
initiatives. This includes educational resources, emergency financial relief and internet connectivity to facilitate continued care
via telehealth.
We run a program called RAREis™, which is designed to elevate the voices, faces and experiences of the rare disease
community. Since the initial RAREis launch on Instagram, it has evolved from a social media platform to an umbrella brand for
all of our work in rare disease, including a website, called RAREisCommunity.com, which provides people living with rare
diseases, and those who care about them, a platform to share experiences, access resources for managing life transitions and
connect to advocacy organizations.
To date, we have used the platform to launch several unique partnerships. One of these partnerships is with the Sing Me A
Story Foundation, or Sing Me A Story, which works with third-party organizations serving children in need – including those with
rare diseases – to use the power of song to tell their stories. With the help of Sing Me A Story, children write or draw their own
stories and a songwriter turns those personal journeys into songs. Along with Global Genes, a leading rare disease patient
advocacy organization, Horizon worked with Sing Me A Story to build the RAREis Playlist, which is a collection of songs about
children living with rare diseases.
Another partnership, launched with Gift of Adoption, is a life-changing opportunity for children with rare diseases. More
than 35 percent of the financial grants provided by Gift of Adoption support finalizing adoptions of children with medical needs
and nearly 40 percent of these adoptions are for children with rare diseases. In addition, many families who have a child with a
rare disease open their homes again to another child with the same rare disease. To help these families, we established the
#RAREis Adoption Fund, which provides financial support to complete the final steps of adoption of these children. Our threeyear commitment will support the adoption of more than 30 children living with rare diseases.
In 2020, we partnered with the EveryLife Foundation to create the RAREis Scholarship. This is a $1.0 million commitment
over five years to support the pursuit of life enrichment activities for adults living with rare diseases for a variety of educational
pursuits, including educational courses, travel stipends for rare disease conferences and obtaining two-and four-year degrees.
Horizon partners with more than 100 patient advocacy groups, from large global and regional umbrella organizations to
small, local disease-specific groups, addressing the needs of people living with common disorders to those struggling with very
rare diseases.
Each year, our employees take part in patient advocacy events around the world supporting people living with diseases that
many of its medicines help treat, including rare and rheumatic diseases. Through these interactions, we listen, learn and support
the creation of new resources that address the most pressing unmet needs for patients, caregivers and healthcare professionals.
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Employees
Our human capital resources objectives include, as applicable, identifying, recruiting, retaining, incentivizing and
integrating our existing and future employees. In addition to competitive base salaries, the other competitive benefits that we
provide to all employees, include annual equity and cash incentive plans, retirement benefits and an employee share purchase
plan. The principal purposes of these employee benefits are to attract, retain and reward personnel and also, through the granting
of share-based and cash-based compensation awards, in order to secure and retain the services of our employees and to provide
long-term incentives that align the interests of employees with the interests of our shareholders.
Our Core Values
Our culture is reflected in our three core values: growth, accountability and transparency. Through these core values, our
teams of highly engaged employees work to better the lives of patients and the community. This engagement is fostered by our
strong emphasis on creating a diverse and inclusive culture that drives how we treat employees and expect employees to treat one
another.
•

Growth: Horizon is a high-growth organization that values innovation, development and evolution. We are fiercely
innovating to better our communities, our patients and our employees and place a strong emphasis on personal and
professional growth. Employees have access to resources to develop their teams and themselves.

•

Accountability: We strive to do what’s right for patients and employees through quality decisions and owning successes
and failures. Employees hold each other accountable to make quality decisions that keep our company moving forward
in order to meet the needs of patients.

•

Transparency: Horizon values the collaboration that is made possible by employees trusting each other to tackle tough
challenges and difficult conversations. We are courageous in our decision making, knowing it's necessary to drive our
business forward.

Our Commitment to Employees During the COVID-19 Pandemic
Horizon’s commitment to its employees has been exemplified during the COVID-19 crisis. At the onset of the pandemic, in
addition to working to support patients, physicians and our communities, we took steps to ensure the health, safety and welfare of
our employees, including:
•
•
•
•
•

implementing travel restrictions and remote working;
providing a special one-time bonus for all employees, excluding executive officers, to support our employees through the
pandemic and to show our appreciation for their efforts and dedication during the challenging period;
implementing a COVID-19 leave policy with 100 percent pay continuation for U.S. employees affected by the virus or
needing to care for a family member with the virus, and paid leave for medical professional employees who wished to
assist with pandemic-related efforts;
providing employees with personal protective equipment; and
making no furloughs or lay-offs as a result of the pandemic.

Additionally, after noticing that employees were not taking time off in this “work from home” environment, we instituted
three additional company-wide paid days off during 2020, providing an opportunity for employees to step away, support their
health and well-being, and recharge. Furthermore, we allowed an additional five days of unused paid time off to be carried over
to 2021. In addition to our multiple established leadership development programs, we hosted 24 teleconference calls with over
250 leaders in 2020, with 13 hours of content focused on helping managers lead their teams during the COVID-19 pandemic and
the ensuing remote working environment, primarily focusing on employee engagement, well-being, team effectiveness,
supporting caregivers and mitigating burnout. Flexibility is driven by our executive leadership and managers, encouraging
employees to work adaptable hours and take breaks where needed and when possible.
Focus on Employee Benefits
At the center of our employee experience is how we reward our employees for the impact they create. We absorb most of
the costs for employee medical insurance plans. In addition to medical insurance, we offer a wide variety of benefits that support
working families. This includes our parental and caregiver programs. As part of these programs, all caregivers have flexible paid
options to care for the needs of their families. These benefits are paid at 100 percent salary. For employees pursuing adoption, we
offer competitive reimbursement for costs associated with the legal adoption of a child.
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We offer all full-time employees a “Make it Personal” account, which provides $500 annually for certain employee personal
expenses including student loan repayment, contributions to college savings plans, donations to charitable organizations, health
club memberships or purchases of personal health equipment or home office equipment. In addition, all employees have access to
an annual “Make it Personal” day. This is an additional 8 hours of paid time off that employees can use to participate in
something meaningful or personal to them – from volunteering at a local charity to spending time caring for a loved one.
We also offer competitive educational benefits for our employees and families. We value and encourage continued growth
and development of our employees and their families. To support educational goals, we offer several programs to help offset the
financial burden of college expenses, including tuition reimbursement, an executive scholarship award for graduate school and
scholarships for dependents of our employees.
Our Commitment to Inclusion and Diversity
We are committed to maintaining a workplace free of discrimination, harassment, intimidation or inappropriate conduct
based on sex/gender, race, color, religion, national origin, age, disability, veteran status, sexual orientation and/or any other
category protected by law. We also provide equal opportunity in employment to all employees and applicants. Equal opportunity
rights are applicable to recruitment, hiring, employment and employment-related decisions. In 2020, we introduced RiSE, a
strategic program to further embed inclusion, diversity, equity and allyship into the organization. Through RiSE, over 20
volunteer employee leaders work together, along with diverse working groups, to enhance and promote our approach to diverse
recruitment, professional development, community involvement and building the overall organizational inclusive culture.
Our commitment to inclusion, diversity, equity and allyship is evidenced from the top down. Our CEO, Timothy Walbert,
was one of the first signatories to the CEO Action for Diversity & Inclusion pledge. Our top leaders have gone through in-depth
assessments to determine their inclusive leadership capabilities, with coaching being made available for leaders who want to
enhance their skillset. In 2020, we allocated additional resources and clarified accountability of leaders to focus on enhancing
organizational inclusion and diversity, including appointing Irina Konstantinovsky as our Chief Diversity Officer, adding to her
responsibilities as our Chief Human Resources Officer. We also assigned a fellow to participate for one year in the CEO Action
for Racial Equity initiative, stepping away from her role at Horizon to do work for the betterment of our communities.
In 2019, a study conducted by Aon, a leading compensation consulting firm, demonstrated our gender and ethnicity pay
equity. The study analyzed employee demographic and pay data and showed that we provide equal pay for equal work, regardless
of gender or ethnicity. Based on the outputs of the study according to Aon, we ranked in the top five of the approximately 100
companies it had studied in this regard at the time of the study.
Our commitment to the engagement of our employees is evidenced by the many workplace recognitions we received during
2020, including the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

FORTUNE Best Workplaces in Health Care and BioPharma 2020 (#4) – the fourth consecutive year to be named to the
list
FORTUNE Best Small & Medium Workplaces 2020 (#10) – the fifth consecutive year to be named to the list
Great Place to Work® Best Workplaces for Parents 2020 (#27)
FORTUNE 2020 Top workplace for Millennials 2020 (#7)
Crain’s Chicago Business Most Innovative Companies in Chicago (#2)
Crain’s Chicago Business Best Places to Work in Chicago (#45) – the seventh consecutive year to be named to the list
Chicago Tribune Best Medium Sized Workplaces in Chicago (#2) – the sixth consecutive year to be named to the list
Great Place to Work® Best Workplaces in Chicago 2020 (#1) – the fourth consecutive year to be named to the list
Great Place to Work® Ireland’s Best Workplaces 2020 – Best Small (#12) – the second consecutive year to be named to
the list
Dave Thomas Adoption Foundation Top 100 Adoption-friendly Workplaces
San Francisco Bay Area’s Best and Brightest Companies to Work For
2020 People “50 Companies that Care” (#15)
National Best and Brightest Companies to Work For

Community
2020 has been an unprecedented year in many ways. Horizon has responded in an extraordinary way, donating more than
$3.7 million dollars to nonprofit partners that are meeting the basic needs of those adversely impacted by COVID-19.
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Within the United States and Canada, that support has been primarily extended through community foundations in the
communities where our global offices are located. Additional support was also provided to Americares, to support U.S. safety net
clinics as they leverage telehealth technology so patients can access the care they need from home. Within Ireland, Horizon
provided support to ALONE, Focus Ireland, Enable Ireland, Family Carers Ireland and Make A Wish Ireland. The support is
being used in Ireland to provide meaningful support for the most vulnerable populations, as well as those who care for them.
Additionally, in response to calls for stronger social justice in the United States, we donated $500,000 to organizations
designed to empower and uplift predominately Black communities. We also expanded our existing scholarships for students of
color and students with financial hardships by providing $500,000 in scholarships to Lake Forest College and creating a $500,000
Horizon Therapeutics Endowed Scholarship Fund at Howard University, as well as funding Horizon Scholars at the Asian
University for Women.
Horizon was one of the first biotech companies to join the Pledge 1% movement, joining over 6,000 companies in over 100
countries. Horizon has pledged, and is already giving, 1% of company profit, product, and time, and in 2020 we launched a new
employee equity donation match program to help fulfill giving 1% of company equity.
We are committed to organizations that share our common purpose: to transform and better the lives of those who need it
most. We work hand in hand with the community, placing special emphasis on endeavors that fall within our four pillars of
giving: healthcare, STEAM (science, technology, engineering, arts and mathematics), environmental sustainability and
innovation. We engage in purposeful giving within these areas through employee service, corporate sponsorships, events, grants
and other forms of support.
A group of 32 Horizon global employees participated in Focus Ireland’s Shine a Light Night in October 2020. Referred to
as the ‘Sleep Out at Work’ event, sponsoring companies slept outside for one night with no food or shelter, exposed to the
elements, simulating homelessness. Focus Ireland, which provides services for people who are homeless and at risk of
homelessness, hosted the Shine a Light Night to raise funds and educate. In addition to participating in Shine A Light Night,
Horizon employees also worked with Focus Ireland in August 2020 to procure, pack and distribute activity packs to over 400
children who are living in emergency accommodation in Ireland. These activity packs helped to ensure that the kids were both
educated and entertained during the Covid-19 pandemic.
Horizon also partners with Trinity College Dublin’s “Trinity Access Programme” to reach students and parents from
underrepresented communities. In 2020, Horizon donated refurbished laptops to students in need, to ensure their academic studies
were not interrupted due to a lack of technology.
We have established a transformative partnership with the Perspectives Math and Science Academy, or MSA, a Chicago
school that serves more than 500 students from under-resourced communities. MSA students are often deprived of food, live in
violent neighborhoods; others are homeless. To help ensure equitable access to education when COVID forced a transition to
online learning, Horizon provided Wi-Fi hotspots and laptops to all MSA students.
Human Rights, Bribery and Corruption
It is Horizon’s policy to promote high standards of integrity by conducting our affairs in an honest and ethical manner. Our
Code of Conduct and Ethics (the “Code”) mandates that illegal payments, gifts or entertainment must not be offered as a reward or
inducement to any business partner and that any payment, gift or entertainment that violates the terms of the Pharmaceutical
Research and Manufacturers of America Code on interactions with Healthcare Professionals (the PhRMA Code) or the Office of
Inspector General Compliance Program Guidance for Pharmaceutical Manufacturers must not be offered.
The Code stipulates that all employees are expected to know and comply with the legal and ethical obligations of the
Company. The Code also provides that in all interactions with those who prescribe, purchase or set prices for the Company’s
products, Company employees must observe high standards of integrity. These interactions must be conducted in a fair and
ethical manner to ensure that purchasing or prescribing decisions are made objectively, based on clinical need, and not on the
basis of a financial relationship.
Horizon is committed to upholding anti-bribery and anti-money laundering laws in all markets in which we operate and/or
do business. Horizon employees are required to take all necessary steps to ensure that we do not do business with any entity
suspected of money laundering.
Furthermore, we actively align our corporate social responsibility (CSR), sustainability and impact programming with 11 of
the 17 United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (UNSDG). The UNSDGs encourage and mobilize international
governments, nongovernment organizations and the private sector to achieve ambitious goals, focused on ending poverty and
tackling climate change by 2030. We are using the UNSDGs as a framework for responsible business, measuring our impact
against UNSDG targets, and seeking opportunities to further our engagement.
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In addition, Horizon is committed to strong corporate governance and adheres to best practices, as evidenced by our
corporate governance practice, described in our Proxy Statement, available on our website at www.horizontherapeutics.com.
Business Model
The Future Developments section of page 79 to 80 of this Director’s Report provides a description of the Company’s
business model.
Principal Risks
The principal risks related to the Company’s business are described in pages 14 to 67 of this Director’s Report under the
heading Principal Risks and Uncertainties.
Summary
Our mission at Horizon is simple and powerful: to improve people's lives. Whether we’re developing and marketing
medicines, supporting patient advocacy efforts, giving back to the community or protecting our environment, it’s personal for
Horizon employees, and we take that commitment seriously.
Directors During the Financial Year
The names of the persons who were directors of the Company who served as directors during the financial year are:
Timothy Walbert
Michael Grey
William F. Daniel
Jeff Himawan, Ph.D.
Susan Mahony, Ph.D.
Gino Santini
James Shannon, M.D.
H. Thomas Watkins
Pascale Witz
Directors’ and Secretary’s Interests in Shares
Except as otherwise disclosed below, no director, the secretary or any member of their immediate families had any interest
in shares or debentures of any subsidiary. The interests of the Directors and Company Secretary (including those of certain family
members, where appropriate) who were in office at December 31, 2020, in the ordinary share capital of Horizon Therapeutics plc
at December 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

At December 31, 2020

Directors:
William F. Daniel
Michael Grey
Jeff Himawan, Ph.D.
Susan Mahony, Ph.D.
Gino Santini
James Shannon, M.D.
H. Thomas Watkins
Pascale Witz
Timothy Walbert
Secretary:
Jennifer Lee(1)
Anne-Marie Dempsey(1)

Shares

At December 31, 2019

Options and Awards

Shares

Options and Awards

66,362
62,290
42,881
7,311
39,508
33,604
75,843
34,611
743,991

139,338
146,052
97,504
11,098
126,052
70,491
166,052
95,491
3,844,230

55,123
46,900
31,642
—
30,159
19,272
60,453
20,279
778,040

143,630
166,139
101,796
12,036
166,139
82,987
170,344
107,987
4,295,028

—
N/A

3,127
N/A

—
—

3,587
31,579

(1) Anne-Marie Dempsey served as Company Secretary through February 20, 2020, on which date Jennifer Lee was
appointed Company Secretary.
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for preparing the directors’ report and the group and company financial statements in
accordance with Irish law.
Irish law requires the directors to prepare Group and Parent Company financial statements for each financial year that give a
true and fair view of the Group and Parent Company’s assets, liabilities and financial position as at the end of the financial year and
of the profit or loss of the Group and Parent Company for the financial year. Under that law, the directors have prepared the Group
financial statements in accordance with U.S. accounting standards, as defined in Section 279(1) of the Companies Act 2014, to the
extent that the use of those principles in the preparation of the financial statements does not contravene any provision of the
Companies Act or of any regulations made thereunder and the Parent Company financial statements in accordance with Irish
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (accounting standards issued by the UK Financial Reporting Council, including Financial
Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland) and Irish law.
Under Irish law, the directors shall not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the Company’s assets, liabilities and financial position as at the end of the financial year and the profit or loss of the
Group and Parent Company for the financial year.
In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:
•
•
•

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
state whether the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards and
identify the standards in question, subject to any material departures from those standards being disclosed and explained
in the notes to the financial statements; and
prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and
Parent Company will continue in business.

•

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to:
•
•
•

correctly record and explain the transactions of the Group and Parent Company;
enable, at any time, the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Group and Parent Company to be
determined with reasonable accuracy; and
enable the directors to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2014 and enable those
financial statements to be audited.

The directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the
Parent Company’s website. Legislation in Ireland governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ
from legislation in other jurisdictions.
Directors’ Compliance Statement
We, the directors of Horizon Therapeutics plc, hereby say and affirm:
The directors of the Company acknowledge that they are responsible for securing the Company’s compliance with its relevant
obligations (as defined in the Companies Act 2014 (the “2014 Act”)) and, as required by Section 225 of the 2014 Act, the directors
confirm that:
(i) A compliance policy statement setting out the Company’s policies with regard to complying with the relevant obligations
under the 2014 Act has been prepared;
(ii) Arrangements and structures have been put in place that we consider sufficient to secure material compliance with the
Company’s relevant obligations; and
(iii) A review of the arrangements and structures has been conducted during the financial year to which this directors’ report
relates.
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Significant Events Since Year End
Subsequent events have been evaluated through March 30, 2021, the date this report was approved by the board of directors.
Refer to Note 30 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this report for further details.
Accounting Records
The measures taken by the directors to secure compliance with the Company’s obligation to keep adequate accounting
records are the use of appropriate systems and procedures and employment of competent persons. To achieve this, the directors
have appointed a Chief Financial Officer who makes regular reports to the board of directors and ensures compliance with the
requirements of Section 281 of the Companies Act 2014.
The accounting records are kept at the Company’s registered office at Connaught House, 1st Floor, 1 Burlington
Road, Dublin 4, D04 C5Y6, Ireland.
Audit Committee
In accordance with Section 167 of the Companies Act 2014, the directors have established an audit committee which makes
regular reports to the board of directors. The audit committee oversees financial reporting and related matters.
Disclosure of Information to Auditor
The directors in office at the date of this report have each confirmed that:
•
•

As far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and
They have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that information.
Auditor

The statutory auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC), has indicated their willingness to continue in office and a resolution
that they be re-appointed will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.
On behalf of the board

/s/ Timothy Walbert
Timothy Walbert
Director

/s/ William F. Daniel
William F. Daniel
Director
March 30, 2021
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Horizon
Therapeutics plc
Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
In our opinion:

●
●

●

●

Horizon Therapeutics plc’s consolidated financial statements and parent company financial statements (the
“financial statements”) give a true and fair view of the group’s and the parent company’s assets, liabilities and
financial position as at 31 December 2020 and of the group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended;
the consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (“US GAAP”), as defined in Section 279 of the Companies
Act 2014, to the extent that the use of those principles in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements does not contravene any provision of Part 6 of the Companies Act 2014;
the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland (accounting standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council of
the UK, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK
and Republic of Ireland” and Irish law); and
the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies
Act 2014.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the 2020 Irish Statutory Accounts (“Irish Annual Report”) (the
“Annual Report”), which comprise:

●

the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2020;

●

the Parent Company Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2020;

●

the Consolidated Profit and Loss Account and Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year
then ended;

●

the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended;

●

the Consolidated Statement of Shareholders’ Equity for the year then ended;

●

the Parent Company Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended; and

●

the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (“ISAs (Ireland)”) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under ISAs (Ireland) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the
audit of the financial statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We remained independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in Ireland, which includes IAASA’s Ethical Standard as applicable to listed entities, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

88

Our audit approach
Overview
Materiality

•

$20 million - consolidated financial statements - based on c. 5% of
consolidated income before taxation. (2019: $9.1 million consolidated financial statements - based on c. 2.5% of adjusted
EBITDA (earnings before interest, income tax expense, depreciation
and amortisation) adjusted for certain non-recurring costs).

•

$46.2 million (2019: $31.3 million) - parent company financial
statements. Financial statement line items that do not eliminate on
consolidation have been audited to the materiality level applicable to
the consolidated financial statements.

•

Based on c. 1% of net assets of the parent company.

Audit scope

•

Our group audit scope focused primarily on the U.S. component,
where a full scope audit was performed and the Ireland component,
where specific audit procedures were performed to ensure appropriate
audit coverage.

•

Taken together, the components at which audit work was performed
accounted for in excess of 95% of consolidated turnover and
consolidated assets.

Key audit matters

•

Provision for Medicaid Rebates.

The scope of our audit
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial
statements. In particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective judgements, for example in respect of
significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently
uncertain. As in all of our audits we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including
evaluating whether there was evidence of bias by the directors that represented a risk of material misstatement due to
fraud.
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Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of
the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement
(whether or not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit
strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters, and any
comments we make on the results of our procedures thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit.
Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Provision for Medicaid Rebates
As described in Notes 2 “Summary of Accounting
Policies” and 17 “Trade Discounts and Rebates” to the
consolidated financial statements, the Company has
accrued estimated government rebates and chargebacks
within “Provisions for liabilities” of $172.9 million as of
December 31, 2020. A significant portion of these
accruals relates to the Company’s Medicaid rebates.

We assessed the design and tested the effectiveness of
controls relating to the valuation of the provision for
Medicaid rebates, including controls over the
assumptions used to estimate the allowance.
We developed an independent estimate of the accrued
Medicaid rebates by utilising third-party prescription
data, the terms of the specific rebate programs, and the
historical trend of actual rebate claims paid and
compared the independent estimate to management’s
estimate to evaluate the reasonableness of management’s
estimate.

Management calculates the provision for Medicaid
rebates using the expected value method. Management
accrues estimated rebates based on estimated
percentages of medicine prescribed to qualified patients,
estimated rebate percentages and estimated levels of
stock in the distribution channel that will be prescribed
to qualified patients and records the rebates as a
reduction of revenue.

We tested the completeness, accuracy and relevance of
underlying data used by management.
We evaluated the significant assumptions used by
management including estimated percentages of
medicine prescribed to qualified patients, estimated
rebate percentages and estimated levels of inventory in
the distribution channel that will be prescribed to
qualified patients.

We determined the provision for Medicaid rebates to be
a key audit matter due to the significant judgement
required by management when determining the
allowance, and in particular the significant assumptions
related to estimated percentages of medicine prescribed
to qualified patients, estimated rebate percentages and
estimated levels of inventory in the distribution channel
that will be prescribed to qualified patients.

Evaluating management’s assumptions involved
assessing whether the assumptions were reasonable by
(i) considering the consistency of the assumptions with
historical trends, (ii) comparing assumptions and inputs
to government prices, invoices, current payment trends,
and other third party data on a test basis where relevant,
(iii) assessing whether relevant Company and industry
specific considerations have been incorporated into the
assumptions.
We tested rebate claims processed by the Company,
including evaluating those claims for consistency with
the terms of the specific rebate programs.
We also evaluated the appropriateness of the disclosures
in the financial statements.
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How we tailored the audit scope
We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial
statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the group and parent company, the accounting processes and
controls, and the industry in which the group operates.
For purposes of our group audit, we identified one financially significant component, being the U.S. and one nonsignificant component, being Ireland.
In determining our group audit scope we determined the type of work that needed to be performed at the reporting
components by us, as the Irish group engagement team, and PwC US, as the global engagement team. Our scoping
assessment focused primarily on the U.S. component, where a full scope audit was performed and the Ireland component,
where specific audit procedures were performed. Where the work was performed by PwC US, we determined the level of
involvement we needed to have in the audit work to be able to conclude whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence had
been obtained as a basis for our opinion on the financial statements as a whole. Our group engagement team’s
involvement in the work performed by PwC US was performed virtually and included regular meetings, participation in
scoping and risk assessment procedures, reviews of PwC US’ planned response to significant risks and certain audit
working papers, in addition to attending meetings with management.
Taken together, the components at which audit work was performed accounted for in excess of 95% of consolidated
turnover and consolidated assets

Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for
materiality. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature,
timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items and disclosures and in
evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.
Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:
Consolidated financial statements

Parent company financial statements

Overall materiality

$20 million (2019: $9.1 million).

$46.2 million (2019: $31.3 million).

How we determined it

2020 materiality is based on c. 5% of
consolidated income before taxation.
2019 materiality is based on c. 2.5% of
adjusted EBITDA (earnings before interest,
income tax expense, depreciation and
amortisation) adjusted for certain nonrecurring costs.

C. 1% of net assets of the parent company.

Rationale for
benchmark applied

Income before taxation is a commonly used
benchmark for profit-oriented entities.
Income before taxation is a key performance
indicator for the group and is also part of the
key metrics used by the group in the
assessment of management's performance.

As the parent company is a holding
company whose main activity is the
management of investments in subsidiaries,
net assets is considered the most
appropriate benchmark.

Financial statement line items that do not
As the Company returned to profitability
eliminate on consolidation have been
before taxation in 2020, we considered income audited to overall materiality for the
before taxation to be the most appropriate
consolidated financial statements.
performance metric on which to base our
materiality calculation.
We also considered materiality as determined
by reference to other benchmarks such as
revenues and adjusted EBITDA and $20
million falls within the range of alternatively
used common benchmarks.
We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above $1
million (group audit) (2019: $455,000) and $1 million (parent company audit) (2019: $455,000) as well as misstatements
below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.
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Conclusions relating to going concern
Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the group and parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting included:

●

agreeing the underlying base cash flow projections to management approved forecasts and assessing how
these forecasts are compiled;

●

evaluating the Company's historic performance against key assumptions within management’s forecasts;

●

assessing whether the assessment performed by management appropriately considered the potential impact
which COVID-19 may have on financial performance and liquidity for a period of 12 months from the date on
which the financial statements are authorised for issue; and

●

considering liquidity and available financial resources, including cash at bank and in hand at 31 December
2020, the availability of an undrawn revolving credit facility as described in Note 16 “Debt Agreements” and
further post year end financing activities as disclosed in Note 30 “Subsequent Events”.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group’s or the parent company’s ability to continue as a
going concern for a period of at least twelve months from the date on which the financial statements are authorised for
issue.
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in
the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.
However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the group’s
or the parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant
sections of this report.

Reporting on other information
The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements
does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent
otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or
material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the
financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report based on these responsibilities.
With respect to the Directors’ Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the Companies Act 2014
(excluding the information included in the “Non Financial Statement” as defined by that Act on which we are not required
to report) have been included.
Based on the responsibilities described above and our work undertaken in the course of the audit, ISAs (Ireland) and the
Companies Act 2014 require us to also report certain opinions and matters as described below:

●

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the
Directors’ Report (excluding the information included in the “Non Financial Statement” on which we are not
required to report) for the year ended 31 December 2020 is consistent with the financial statements and has
been prepared in accordance with the applicable legal requirements.

●

Based on our knowledge and understanding of the group and parent company and their environment
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the Directors’
Report (excluding the information included in the “Non Financial Statement” on which we are not required
to report).
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Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit
Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Statements set out on page 86, the
directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and
for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.
The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these financial statements.
Our audit testing might include testing complete populations of certain transactions and balances, possibly using data
auditing techniques. However, it typically involves selecting a limited number of items for testing, rather than testing
complete populations. We will often seek to target particular items for testing based on their size or risk characteristics.
In other cases, we will use audit sampling to enable us to draw a conclusion about the population from which the sample is
selected.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the IAASA website at:
https://www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/b2389013-1cf6-458b-9b8fa98202dc9c3a/Description_of_auditors_responsibilities_for_audit.pdf
This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report
This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance
with section 391 of the Companies Act 2014 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or
assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it
may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.
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Other required reporting
Companies Act 2014 opinions on other matters
●
●
●

We have obtained all the information and explanations which we consider necessary for the purposes of our
audit.
In our opinion the accounting records of the parent company were sufficient to permit the parent company
financial statements to be readily and properly audited.
The Parent Company Balance Sheet is in agreement with the accounting records.

Other exception reporting
Directors’ remuneration and transactions
Under the Companies Act 2014 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, the disclosures of directors’
remuneration and transactions specified by sections 305 to 312 of that Act have not been made. We have no exceptions to
report arising from this responsibility.

Prior financial year Non Financial Statement
We are required to report if the company has not provided the information required by Regulation 5(2) to 5(7) of the
European Union (Disclosure of Non-Financial and Diversity Information by certain large undertakings and groups)
Regulations 2017 in respect of the prior financial year. We have nothing to report arising from this responsibility.

/s/ Paul Barrie

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm
Dublin
30 March 2021
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HORIZON THERAPEUTICS PLC
CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
Year Ended December 31, 2020
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
For the Years Ended December 31,
Notes

Turnover
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Research and development
Selling, general and administrative
(Gain) Loss on sale of assets
Operating income
Interest payable and similar expenses
Interest receivable and similar income
Other income
Other expense
Income (Loss) before taxation
Expense (benefit) for income taxes
Profit for the financial year
Income per ordinary share – basic

2, 18
2

3
4

5

6

2020

$

2,200,429
532,695
1,667,734
209,364
973,227
(4,883)
490,026
(95,217)
3,745
3,436
(345)
401,645
11,849
$
389,796
$

Weighted average ordinary shares outstanding - basic
Income per ordinary share – diluted

2019

1.91

$

1,300,029
362,175
937,854
103,169
697,111
10,963
126,611
(165,059)
19,135
—
(911)
(20,224)
(593,244)
$
573,020
$

203,967,246
6

$

Weighted average ordinary shares outstanding -diluted

1.81
215,308,768

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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3.13
182,930,109

$

2.90
205,224,221

HORIZON THERAPEUTICS PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year Ended December 31, 2020
(In thousands)
For the Years Ended December 31,
2020

Profit for the financial year
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Other comprehensive income (loss) for the financial year
Comprehensive income for the financial year

$

$

389,796
1,760
1,760
391,556

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2019

$

$

573,020
(382)
(382)
572,638

HORIZON THERAPEUTICS PLC
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
As of December 31, 2020
(In thousands)
As of December 31,
Note

Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets:
Developed technology and other intangible assets
Goodwill
Tangible assets:
Property and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Other assets:
Deferred income taxes due after one year
Other assets
Current assets
Stocks
Debtors:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Cash at bank and in hand
Restricted cash

7
7

2020

$

1,782,962
413,669

$1,702,628
413,669

8
9

189,037
34,406

30,159
39,802

5

560,841
21,293
3,002,208

555,165
8,508
2,749,931

10

75,283

53,802

11
12

659,701
251,945
2,079,906
3,573
3,070,408

408,685
143,577
1,076,287
3,752
1,686,103

$
Liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Total current liabilities
Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
Exchangeable Senior notes
Long-term debt, net
Long-term lease liability
Other long-term liabilities
Total long-term liabilities
Provisions for liabilities
Deferred income taxes
Uncertain tax provisions
Trade discounts and rebates
Total provisions for liabilities
Net assets

2019

13
14

$

37,710
485,567
523,277
2,547,131
5,549,339

$

$

21,514
232,882
254,396
1,431,707
4,181,638

16
16
9

—
1,003,379
43,227
33,578
1,080,184

351,533
1,001,308
43,690
25,815
1,422,346

5
5
17

60,068
31,273
352,463
443,804
4,025,351

77,783
29,639
466,421
573,843
2,185,449

$
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HORIZON THERAPEUTICS PLC
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (continued)
As of December 31, 2020
(In thousands)
As of December 31,
Note

2020

2019

Equity
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital presented as equity
Share premium account
Other reserves
Profit and loss account
Total equity

21

$

$

77
4,015,766
230,102
(220,594)
4,025,351

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

On behalf of the board

/s/ Timothy Walbert
Timothy Walbert
Director

/s/ William F. Daniel
William F. Daniel
Director
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$

$

74
2,292,775
502,990
(610,390)
2,185,449

HORIZON THERAPEUTICS PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020
(In thousands, except share data)
Called-up Share Capital

Balances at January 1, 2019
Cumulative effect adjustment from adoption of ASU 2016-02
Issuance of ordinary shares – public offering
Issuance of Horizon Therapeutics plc shares in conjunction with vesting of
restricted stock units, performance stock units. stock option exercises and
ESPP program
Share-based compensation
Currency translation adjustment
Profit for the financial year
Balances at December 31, 2019
Issuance of ordinary shares in conjunction with Exchangeable Senior Notes

Issuance of ordinary shares – public offering
Issuance of Horizon Therapeutics plc shares in conjunction with vesting of
restricted stock units, performance stock units. stock option exercises and
ESPP program
Share-based compensation
Currency translation adjustment
Profit for the financial year
Balances at December 31, 2020

Ordinary
Shares
Amount
169,244,520 $
17
—
—
14,081,632
2

5,075,888
—
—
—
188,402,040 $

—
—
—
—
19

13,898,414
13,570,000

1
1

5,851,220
—
—
—

—
—
—

221,721,674 $

22

1

Deferred
Shares
Amount
40,000 $
55 $
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
40,000 $
—
—

—
—
—
—
55
—
—

—
—
—
—
40,000 $

—
—
—
—
55
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$

$

Share
Premium
Account
1,961,354
—
326,792

4,629
—
—
—
2,292,775
750,441
919,513

53,037
—
—
—
4,015,766

$

$

$

Other Reserves
Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Profit and
Other
Loss
Loss Account
Total
413,680 $
(1,523) $ (1,183,477) $
1,190,106
—
—
67
67
—
—
—
326,794
—
91,215
—
—
504,895
(354,770)
—

(66,505)
146,627
—
—
230,247

—
—

(1,905) $
—
—

—
—
—
573,020
(610,390) $
—
—

4,629
91,215
(382)
573,020
2,185,449
395,672
919,514

—
—
1,760
—
(145) $

—
—
—
389,796
(220,594) $

(13,467)
146,627
1,760
389,796
4,025,351

(382)
—
$

$

HORIZON THERAPEUTICS PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020
For the Years Ended December 31,
2020
2019
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Profit for the financial year
Adjustments to reconcile net profit to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortization expense
Equity-settled share-based compensation
Acquired in-process research and development expense
Loss on debt extinguishment
Amortization of debt discount and deferred financing costs
(Gain) loss on sale of assets
Deferred income taxes
Foreign exchange and other adjustments
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Debtors
Stocks
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable
Trade discounts and rebates
Accrued expenses
Deferred revenues
Other non-current assets and liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Payments for acquisitions
Purchases of property and equipment
Payment related to license agreement
Payments for long-term investments, net
Change in escrow deposit for property purchase
Proceeds from sale of assets
Net cash used in investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Net proceeds from the issuance of ordinary shares
Net proceeds from the issuance of senior notes
Repayment of senior notes
Net proceeds from term loans
Repayment of term loans
Contingent consideration proceeds from divestiture
Proceeds from the issuance of ordinary shares in conjunction with ESPP program
Proceeds from the issuance of ordinary shares in connection with stock option exercises
Payment of employee withholding taxes relating to share-based awards
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of the year
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of the year

100

$

$

389,796

$

573,020

279,451
146,627
77,517
31,856
12,640
(4,883)
(33,453)
1,812

237,157
91,215
—
58,835
22,602
10,963
(565,537)
574

(251,173)
(21,451)
(114,788)
16,015
(113,991)
114,621
—
25,092
555,688

56,166
(3,268)
(72,763)
(8,723)
8,591
19,788
(4,901)
2,613
426,332

(262,305)
(169,852)
(30,000)
(13,314)
6,000
5,400
(464,071)

—
(17,857 )
—
—
(6,000 )
6,000
(17,857)

919,786
—
(1,739)
—
—
—
16,168
36,869
(66,505)
904,579
7,244
1,003,440
1,080,039
2,083,479

$

326,793
590,057
(814,420)
935,404
(1,336,207)
3,297
11,317
24,882
(31,569)
(290,446)
(107)
117,922
962,117
1,080,039

HORIZON THERAPEUTICS PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(In thousands)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020

For the Years Ended December 31,
2020
2019
Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities, net of lease
incentive payments
Supplemental non-cash flow information:
Principal amount of Exchangeable Senior Notes converted into ordinary shares
Milestone payments for TEPEZZA intangible asset included in accrued expenses
Purchases of property and equipment included in accounts payable and accrued expenses
Lease liabilities arising from obtaining right-of-use assets

$

51,863
15,115

$

7,840
$

398,261
123,442
13,430
—

6,484
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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78,044
9,925

—
—
117
11,444

HORIZON THERAPEUTICS PLC
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1

Basis of Presentation

Horizon Therapeutics plc is a public company registered by shares. The Company’s registered number is 507678 and its
registered office is Connaught House, 1st Floor, Burlington Road, Dublin 4, D04 C5Y6, Ireland.
The directors have elected to prepare the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Section 279 of the Companies Act
2014, which provides that a true and fair view of the state of affairs and profit or loss may be given by preparing the financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”), as defined in
Section 279 of the Companies Act 2014, to the extent that the use of those principles in the preparation of the financial statements
does not contravene any provision of the Republic of Ireland’s Companies Act 2014 (the “Companies Act”) or of any regulations
made thereunder.
These consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with Irish Company Law, to present to the shareholders of
the Company and file with the Companies Registration Office in Ireland. Accordingly, these financial statements include disclosures
required by the Companies Act in addition to those required under U.S. GAAP. The consolidated financial statements include the
accounts of subsidiaries, after elimination of intercompany accounts and transactions. The consolidated financial information
presented herein reflects all financial information that, in the opinion of management, is necessary for a fair statement of financial
position, profit and loss and cash flows for the periods presented.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded out of period adjustments that decreased income tax benefit by
$3.2 million and increased share-based compensation expense by $1.9 million to correct for expenses that should have been recorded
in the year ended December 31, 2019. In addition, the Company recorded an out of period adjustment during the year ended
December 31, 2020, that increased employee benefit plan expense by $2.3 million to correct for expenses that should have been
recorded in the years ended 2017, 2018 and 2019. The Company evaluated the materiality of the adjustments to prior-period financial
statements and the current period, and concluded the effect of the adjustments were immaterial to both the current and prior-period
financial statements.
Unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, references to the “Company”, “we”, “us” and “our” refer to Horizon
Therapeutics plc and its consolidated subsidiaries.
Since January 1, 2019, the Company completed the following acquisitions and divestitures:
•

On March 15, 2021, the Company completed its acquisition of Viela Bio, Inc. (“Viela”), in which the Company acquired
all of the issued and outstanding shares of Viela’s common stock for $53.00 per share in cash, which represents a fully
diluted equity value of approximately $3.05 billion, or approximately $2.67 billion net of Viela’s cash and cash
equivalents. Viela has one on-market medicine in the United States and a deep mid-stage biologics pipeline for
autoimmune and severe inflammatory diseases, with four candidates currently in nine development programs. Refer to
Note 30 for further details.

•

On October 27, 2020, the Company sold its rights to develop and commercialize RAVICTI® and BUPHENYL® in Japan
to Medical Need Europe AB, part of the Immedica Group (“Immedica”).

•

On April 1, 2020, the Company acquired Curzion Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Curzion”), a privately held development-stage
biopharma company, and its development-stage oral selective lysophosphatidic acid 1 receptor (LPAR1) antagonist,
CZN001 (renamed HZN-825), for an upfront payment with additional payments contingent on the achievement of
development and regulatory milestones.

•

On June 28, 2019, the Company sold its rights to MIGERGOT to Cosette Pharmaceuticals, Inc., for an upfront payment
and potential additional contingent consideration payments.

•

Effective January 1, 2019, the Company amended its license and supply agreements with Jagotec AG and Skyepharma
AG, which are affiliates of Vectura Group plc (“Vectura”). Under these amendments, our rights to LODOTRA® in Europe
were transferred to Vectura.
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Overview
The Company is focused on researching, developing and commercializing medicines that address critical needs for people
impacted by rare, autoimmune and serious inflammatory diseases. The Company’s pipeline is purposeful: it applies scientific
expertise and courage to bring clinically meaningful therapies to patients. The Company believes science and compassion must work
together to transform lives. The Company has two reportable segments, the orphan segment and the inflammation segment, and its
portfolio is currently composed of eleven medicines in the areas of rare diseases, gout, ophthalmology and inflammation.
Effective in the first quarter of 2020, the Company (i) reorganized its commercial operations and moved responsibility for and
reporting of RAYOS® to the inflammation segment and (ii) renamed the orphan and rheumatology segment the orphan segment. Net
sales generated by TEPEZZA®, which was approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) on January 21, 2020, are
reported as part of the renamed orphan segment.
As of December 31, 2020, the Company’s marketed medicines consisted of the following:

Orphan
TEPEZZA (teprotumumab-trbw), for intravenous infusion
KRYSTEXXA® (pegloticase injection), for intravenous infusion
RAVICTI (glycerol phenylbutyrate) oral liquid
PROCYSBI® (cysteamine bitartrate) delayed-release capsules and granules, for oral use
ACTIMMUNE® (interferon gamma-1b) injection, for subcutaneous use
BUPHENYL (sodium phenylbutyrate) tablets and powder, for oral use
QUINSAIR™ (levofloxacin) solution for inhalation
Inflammation
PENNSAID® (diclofenac sodium topical solution) 2% w/w, (“PENNSAID 2%”), for topical use
DUEXIS® (ibuprofen/famotidine) tablets, for oral use
RAYOS (prednisone) delayed-release tablets, for oral use
VIMOVO® (naproxen/esomeprazole magnesium) delayed-release tablets, for oral use

The Company is a public limited company formed under the laws of Ireland. The Company operates through a number of
international and U.S. subsidiaries with principal business purposes to either perform research and development or manufacturing
operations, serve as distributors of the Company’s medicines, hold intellectual property assets or provide services and financial
support to the Company.

103

2

Summary of Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the Company’s accounts and those of its wholly owned subsidiaries. All
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.
Segment Information
The Company’s reportable segments, which are the orphan segment and the inflammation segment, are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Company’s chief operating decision maker (“CODM”). The Company’s CODM
has been identified as its chief executive officer. The Company has no transactions between reportable segments.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.
Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions
The reporting currency of the Company and its subsidiaries is the U.S. dollar.
The U.S. dollar is the functional currency for the Company’s Ireland and United States-based businesses and the majority of its
subsidiaries. The Company has foreign subsidiaries that have the Euro and the Canadian Dollar as their functional currency. Foreign
currency-denominated assets and liabilities of these subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars based on exchange rates prevailing at
the end of the period, revenues and expenses are translated at average exchange rates prevailing during the corresponding period, and
shareholders’ equity accounts are translated at historical exchange rates as of the date of any equity transaction. The effects of foreign
exchange gains and losses arising from the translation of assets and liabilities of those entities where the functional currency is not the
U.S. dollar are included as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).
Gains and losses resulting from foreign currency transactions are reflected within the Company’s results of operations.
Revenue Recognition
On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers, and subsequent amendments (ASC 606 or new guidance), using the modified retrospective method. The Company applied
the new guidance to all contracts with customers within the scope of the standard that were in effect on January 1, 2018 and
recognized the cumulative effect of initially applying the new guidance as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings.
In the United States, the Company sells its medicines primarily to wholesale distributors and specialty pharmacy providers. In other
countries, the Company sells its medicines primarily to wholesale distributors and other third-party distribution partners. These
customers subsequently resell the Company’s medicines to health care providers and patients. In addition, the Company enters into
arrangements with health care providers and payers that provide for government-mandated or privately negotiated discounts and
allowances related to the Company’s medicines. Revenue is recognized when performance obligations under the terms of a contract
with a customer are satisfied. The majority of the Company's contracts have a single performance obligation to transfer
medicines. Accordingly, revenues from medicine sales are recognized when the customer obtains control of the Company’s
medicines, which occurs at a point in time, typically upon delivery to the customer. Revenue is measured as the amount of
consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for transferring medicines and is generally based upon a list or fixed price
less allowances for medicine returns, rebates and discounts. The Company sells its medicines to wholesale pharmaceutical
distributors and pharmacies under agreements with payment terms typically less than 90 days. The Company’s process for estimating
reserves established for these variable consideration components does not differ materially from the Company’s historical practices.
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Medicine Sales Discounts and Allowances
The nature of the Company’s contracts gives rise to variable consideration because of allowances for medicine returns, rebates
and discounts. Allowances for medicine returns, rebates and discounts are recorded at the time of sale to wholesale pharmaceutical
distributors and pharmacies. The Company applies significant judgments and estimates in determining some of these allowances. If
actual results differ from its estimates, the Company will be required to make adjustments to these allowances in the future. The
Company’s adjustments to gross sales are discussed further below.
Commercial Rebates
The Company participates in certain commercial rebate programs. Under these rebate programs, the Company pays a rebate to
the commercial entity or third-party administrator of the program. The Company calculates accrued commercial rebate estimates
using the expected value method. The Company accrues estimated rebates based on contract prices, estimated percentages of
medicine that will be prescribed to qualified patients and estimated levels of stock in the distribution channel and records the rebate as
a reduction of revenue. Accrued commercial rebates are included in “Trade discounts and rebates” within “Provisions for liabilities”
on the consolidated balance sheet.
Distribution Service Fees
The Company includes distribution service fees paid to its wholesalers for distribution and stock management services as a
reduction to revenue. The Company accrues estimated distribution fees based on contractually determined amounts, typically as a
percentage of revenue. Accrued distribution service fees are included in “Trade discounts and rebates” within “Provisions for
liabilities” on the consolidated balance sheet.
Co-pay and Other Patient Assistance Programs
The Company offers discount card and other programs such as its HorizonCares program to patients under which the patient
receives a discount on his or her prescription. In certain circumstances when a patient’s prescription is rejected by a managed care
vendor, the Company will pay for the full cost of the prescription. The Company reimburses pharmacies for this discount through
third-party vendors. The Company reduces gross turnover by the amount of actual co-pay and other patient assistance in the period
based on invoices received. The Company also records an accrual to reduce gross turnover for estimated co-pay and other patient
assistance on units sold to distributors that have not yet been prescribed/dispensed to a patient. The Company calculates accrued copay and other patient assistance costs using the expected value method. The estimate is based on contract prices, estimated
percentages of medicine that will be prescribed to qualified patients, average assistance paid based on reporting from the third-party
vendors and estimated levels of stock in the distribution channel. Accrued co-pay and other patient assistance costs are included in
“Trade discounts and rebates” within “Provisions for liabilities” on the consolidated balance sheet.
Sales Returns
Consistent with industry practice, the Company maintains a return policy that allows customers to return certain medicine within
a specified period prior to and subsequent to the medicine expiration date. Generally, medicines may be returned for a period
beginning six months prior to its expiration date and up to one year after its expiration date. The right of return expires on the earlier
of one year after the medicine expiration date or the time that the medicine is dispensed to the patient. The majority of medicine
returns result from medicine dating, which falls within the range set by the Company’s policy, and are settled through the issuance of a
credit to the customer. The Company calculates sales returns using the expected value method. The estimate of the provision for
returns is based upon the Company’s historical experience with actual returns. The return period is known to the Company based on
the shelf life of medicines at the time of shipment. The Company records sales returns in “accrued expenses” and as a reduction of
revenue.
Prompt Pay Discounts
As an incentive for prompt payment, the Company offers a 2% cash discount to most customers. The Company calculates
accrued prompt pay discounts using the most likely amount method. The Company expects that all eligible customers will comply
with the contractual terms to earn the discount. The Company records the discount as an allowance against “accounts receivable” and
a reduction of revenue.
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Government Rebates
The Company participates in certain government rebate programs such as Medicare Coverage Gap and Medicaid. The
Company calculates accrued government rebate estimates using the expected value method. A significant portion of these accruals
relate to the Company’s Medicaid rebate. The Company accrues estimated rebates based on estimated percentages of medicine
prescribed to qualified patients, estimated rebate percentages and estimated levels of stock in the distribution channel that will be
prescribed to qualified patients and records the rebates as a reduction of revenue. Accrued government rebates are included in “Trade
discounts and rebates” within “Provisions for liabilities” on the consolidated balance sheet.
Chargebacks
The Company provides discounts to government qualified entities with whom the Company has contracted. These entities
purchase medicines from the wholesale pharmaceutical distributors at a discounted price and the wholesale pharmaceutical
distributors then charge back to the Company the difference between the current retail price and the contracted price that the entities
paid for the medicines. The Company calculates accrued chargeback estimates using the expected value method. The Company
accrues estimated chargebacks based on contract prices, sell-through sales data obtained from third-party information and estimated
levels of stock in the distribution channel and records the chargeback as a reduction of revenue. Accrued chargebacks are included in
“Trade discounts and rebates” within “Provisions for liabilities” on the consolidated balance sheet.
Bad Debt Expense
The Company’s medicines are sold to wholesale pharmaceutical distributors and pharmacies. The Company monitors its
accounts receivable balances to determine the impact, if any, of such factors as changes in customer concentration, credit risk and the
realizability of its accounts receivable, and records a bad debt reserve when applicable.
Stocks
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value, using the first-in, first-out convention. Stocks consist of raw
materials, work-in-process and finished goods. The Company has entered into manufacturing and supply agreements for the
manufacture or purchase of raw materials and production supplies. The Company’s stocks include the direct purchase cost of
materials and supplies and manufacturing overhead costs. The Company reviews its stock balance and purchase obligations to assess
if it has obsolete or excess stock and records a charge to “cost of sales” when applicable.
Stocks acquired in business combinations are recorded at their estimated fair values. “Step-up” represents the write-up of stock
from the lower of cost or net realizable value (the historical book value as previously recorded on the acquired company’s balance
sheet) to fair market value at the acquisition date. Stock step-up expense is recorded in the consolidated profit and loss account based
on actual turnover, or usage, using the first-in, first-out convention.
Stocks exclude medicine sample stock, which is included in other current assets and is expensed as a component of “selling,
general and administrative” expense when shipped to sales representatives.
Pre-launch Inventories
The Company capitalizes stock costs associated with its medicine candidates prior to regulatory approval when, based on
management judgment, future commercialization is considered probable and future economic benefit is expected to be realized. A
number of factors are taken into consideration by management, including the current status of the regulatory approval process and any
potential impediments to the approval process such as safety or efficacy. If future commercialization and future economic benefit is
no longer considered probable, the capitalized pre-launch stock would be expensed.
Cost of Sales
The Company recognizes cost of sales in connection with its turnover of each of its distributed medicines. Cost of sales
includes all costs directly related to the acquisition of the Company’s medicines from its third-party manufacturers, including freight
charges and other direct expenses such as insurance and supply chain costs. Cost of sales also includes amortization of intellectual
property as described in the intangible assets accounting policy below, stock step-up expense, drug substance harmonization costs,
share-based compensation, charges relating to discontinuation of clinical trials, royalty payments to third parties and loss on stock
purchase commitments.
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Pre-clinical Studies and Clinical Trial Accruals
The Company’s pre-clinical studies and clinical trials have historically been conducted by third-party contract research
organizations and other vendors. Pre-clinical study and clinical trial expenses are based on the services received from these contract
research organizations and vendors. Payments depend on factors such as the milestones accomplished, successful enrollment of
certain numbers of patients and site initiation. In accruing service fees, the Company estimates the time period over which services
will be performed and the level of effort to be expended in each period. If the actual timing of the performance of services or the level
of effort varies from the estimate, the Company adjusts the accrual accordingly.
Income (loss) per ordinary share
Basic income (loss) per ordinary share is computed by dividing income (loss) for the financial year by the weighted-average
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) reflects the potential dilution beyond
shares for basic EPS that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue ordinary shares were exercised, converted into ordinary
shares, or resulted in the issuance of ordinary shares that would have shared in the Company’s earnings.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investments, readily convertible to cash, that mature within three months or less from
date of purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of cash balances and money market funds. The
Company generally invests excess cash in money market funds and other financial instruments with short-term durations, based upon
operating requirements.
Restricted Cash
Restricted cash consists primarily of balances in interest-bearing money market accounts required by a vendor for the
Company’s sponsored employee business credit card program and collateral for a letter of credit.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts
receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses, approximate their fair values due to their short maturities.
Equity Method Investments
Investments in companies over which the Company have significant influence but not a controlling interest are accounted for
using the equity method, with the share of earnings or losses reported in Other income. During the year ended December 31, 2020,
the Company recorded investment income of $0.6 million in the Company’s consolidated profit and loss account.
Concentration of Credit Risk and Other Risks and Uncertainties
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist of cash, cash equivalents and
investments. The Company’s investment policy permits investments in U.S. federal government and federal agency securities,
corporate bonds or commercial paper, money market instruments, certain qualifying money market mutual funds, certain repurchase
agreements, and tax-exempt obligations of municipalities and places restrictions on credit ratings, maturities, and concentration by
type and issuer. The Company is exposed to credit risk in the event of a default by the financial institutions holding the Company’s
cash, cash equivalents and investments to the extent recorded on the balance sheet.
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The purchase cost of TEPEZZA drug substance and ACTIMMUNE stock are principally denominated in Euros and are subject
to foreign currency risk. In addition, the Company is obligated to pay certain milestones and a royalty on sales of TEPEZZA to F.
Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd and Hoffmann-La Roche Inc. (together referred to as “Roche”) in Swiss Francs, which obligations are
subject to foreign currency risk. The Company has contracts relating to RAVICTI, QUINSAIR and PROCYSBI for sales in Canada
which are subject to foreign currency risk. The Company also incurs certain operating expenses in currencies other than the U.S.
dollar in relation to its Irish operations and foreign subsidiaries. Therefore, the Company is subject to volatility in cash flows due to
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, particularly changes in the Euro, the Swiss Franc and the Canadian dollar.
Historically, the Company’s accounts receivable balances have been highly concentrated with a select number of customers
consisting primarily of large wholesale pharmaceutical distributors who, in turn, sell the medicines to pharmacies, hospitals and other
customers. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company’s top four customers accounted for approximately 93% and 84%,
respectively, of the Company’s total outstanding accounts receivable balances.
The Company depends on single-source suppliers and manufacturers for certain of its medicines, medicine candidates and their
active pharmaceutical ingredients.
Business Combinations
The Company accounts for business combinations in accordance with the guidance in Accounting Standards Codification Topic
805, Business Combinations (“ASC 805”) under which acquired assets and liabilities are measured at their respective estimated fair
values as of the acquisition date. The Company may be required, as in the case of intangible assets to determine the fair value
associated with these amounts by estimating the fair value using an income approach under the discounted cash flow method, which
may include revenue projections and other assumptions made by the Company to determine the fair value.
Provision for Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes based upon an asset and liability approach. Deferred tax assets and liabilities represent
the future tax consequences of the differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of assets and liabilities versus the tax
basis of assets and liabilities. Under this method, deferred tax assets are recognized for deductible temporary differences, and
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of
the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Significant judgment is required in determining whether it is probable that sufficient future
taxable income will be available against which a deferred tax asset can be utilized. In determining future taxable income, the
Company is required to make assumptions including the amount of taxable income in the various jurisdictions in which the Company
operates. These assumptions require significant judgment about forecasts of future taxable income. Actual operating results in future
years could render our current assumption of recoverability of deferred tax assets inaccurate. The impact of tax rate changes on
deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in the period that the change is enacted. From time to time, the Company executes
intercompany transactions in response to changes in operations, regulations, tax laws, funding needs and other circumstances. These
transactions require the interpretation and application of tax laws in the applicable jurisdiction to support the tax treatment taken. The
valuations which support the tax treatment of the transactions require significant estimates and assumptions within discounted cash
flow models. The Company also accounts for the uncertainty in income taxes by utilizing a comprehensive model for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure in financial statements of any uncertain tax positions that have been taken or are expected to
be taken on an income tax return. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are netted by each tax-paying entity within each
jurisdiction on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet.
Property and Equipment
Land is stated at cost. Property and equipment, other than land, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is
recognized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets for financial reporting purposes and an
accelerated method for income tax reporting purposes. Upon retirement or sale of an asset, the cost and related accumulated
depreciation and amortization are removed from the balance sheet and the resulting gain or loss is reflected in operations. Repair and
maintenance costs are charged to expenses as incurred and improvements are capitalized.
Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the applicable lease, or the useful life of the
assets, whichever is shorter.
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Depreciation and amortization periods for the Company’s property and equipment are as follows:
Buildings
Land improvements
Machinery and equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Computer equipment
Software
Trade show equipment

40 years
10 years
5 to 7 years
3 to 5 years
3 years
3 years
3 years

The Company capitalizes software development costs associated with internal use software, including external direct costs of
materials and services and payroll costs for employees devoting time to a software project. Costs incurred during the preliminary
project stage, as well as costs for maintenance and training, are expensed as incurred.
Software includes internal-use software acquired and modified to meet the Company’s internal requirements. Amortization
commences when the software is ready for its intended use.
Intangible Assets
Definite-lived intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives. The Company reviews its intangible assets when
events or circumstances may indicate that the carrying value of these assets is not recoverable and exceeds their fair value. The
Company measures fair value based on the estimated future discounted cash flows associated with these assets in addition to other
assumptions and projections that the Company deems to be reasonable and supportable. The estimated useful lives, from the date of
acquisition, for all identified intangible assets that are subject to amortization are between five and thirteen years.
Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of acquired businesses over the estimated fair value of the identifiable net
assets acquired. Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment at least annually at the reporting unit level or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. Impairment loss, if any, is recognized based on a
comparison of the fair value of the asset to its carrying value, without consideration of any recoverability. The Company tests
goodwill for impairment annually during the fourth quarter and whenever indicators of impairment exist by first assessing qualitative
factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value is less than its carrying amount. If the Company concludes it
is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, a quantitative impairment test is
performed. If the Company concludes that goodwill is impaired, it will record an impairment charge in its consolidated profit and loss
account. As of December 31, 2020, the Company concluded goodwill was not impaired.
Irish Company Law requires goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets to be amortized. However, the Company does not
believe this gives a true and fair view, as not all goodwill and intangible assets decline in value. In addition, since goodwill that does
decline in value rarely does so on a straight-line basis, straight-line amortization of goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets over
an arbitrary period does not reflect the economic reality. Therefore, goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets are not amortized.
Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses include, but are not limited to, payroll and other personnel expenses, consultant expenses,
expenses incurred under agreements with contract research organizations to conduct clinical trials, expenses incurred to manufacture
clinical trial materials and acquired in-process research and development (“IPR&D”) assets recorded to research and development
expense. Research and development expenses were $209.4 million and $103.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and
2019, respectively.
Advertising Expenses
The Company expense the costs of advertising as incurred. Advertising expenses were $114.4 million and $35.8 million for the
years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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Deferred Financing Costs
Costs incurred in connection with debt financings have been capitalized to “Long-term debt, net and “Exchangeable Senior
Notes” in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as deferred financing costs, and are charged to interest expense using the
effective interest method over the terms of the related debt agreements. These costs include document preparation costs,
commissions, fees and expenses of investment bankers and underwriters, and accounting and legal fees.
Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Comprehensive income (loss) is composed of net income (loss) and other comprehensive loss (“OCI”). OCI includes certain
changes in shareholders’ equity that are excluded from net (loss) income, which consist of foreign currency translation adjustments.
The Company reports the effect of significant reclassifications out of accumulated OCI on the respective line items in net income if
the amount being reclassified is required under GAAP to be reclassified in its entirety to net income. For other amounts that are not
required under GAAP to be reclassified in their entirety to net income in the same reporting period, the Company cross-references
other disclosures required under GAAP that provide additional detail about those amounts.
Share-Based Compensation
The Company accounts for employee share-based compensation by measuring and recognizing compensation expense for all
share-based payments based on estimated grant date fair values. The Company uses the straight-line method to allocate compensation
cost to reporting periods over each awardee’s requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period. The Company adopted
ASU No. 2016-09, Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting (“ASU No. 2016-09”) on January 1, 2017 and has
elected to retain a forfeiture rate after adoption.
Royalties
The Company records royalty expense based on each periods’ turnover as part of cost of sales.
Leases
On January 1, 2019, the Company adopted ASU 2016-02, Leases. Under ASU No. 2016-02, an entity is required to recognize
right-of-use lease assets and lease liabilities on its balance sheet and disclose key information about leasing arrangements. The
Company adopted this standard on January 1, 2019, using a modified retrospective approach at the adoption date through a
cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings. The Company applied the new guidance to all operating leases within the scope of
the standard that were in effect on January 1, 2019, or entered into after, the adoption date. Comparative information for prior periods
has not been restated and continues to be reported under the accounting standards in effect for those periods. The adoption did not
have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated profit and loss account. However, the new standard established $38.0 million
of liabilities and corresponding right-of-use assets of $36.0 million on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet for leases, primarily
related to operating leases on rented office properties, that existed as of the January 1, 2019, adoption date.
The Company’s leases primarily relate to operating leases of rented office properties. For contracts entered into on or after
January 1, 2019, at the inception of a contract the Company assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. The Company’s
assessment is based on: (1) whether the contract involves the use of a distinct identified asset, (2) whether the Company obtains the
right to substantially all the economic benefit from the use of the asset throughout the period, and (3) whether the Company has the
right to direct the use of the asset. At inception of a lease, the Company allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component based on its relative stand-alone price to determine the lease payments.
For leases with terms greater than 12 months, the Company records the related asset and obligation at the present value of lease
payments over the term. The right-of-use lease asset represents the right to use the leased asset for the lease term. The lease liability
represents the present value of the lease payments under the lease.
The right-of-use lease asset is initially measured at cost, which primarily comprises the initial amount of the lease liability, plus
any initial direct costs incurred. All right-of-use lease assets are reviewed for impairment. The lease liability is initially measured at
the present value of the lease payments, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, the Company’s secured incremental borrowing rate for the same term as the underlying lease.
The Company identified and assessed the following significant assumptions in recognizing the right-of-use lease assets and
corresponding liabilities.
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Expected lease term – The expected lease term includes both contractual lease periods and, when applicable, cancelable option
periods. When determining the lease term, the Company includes options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably
certain that the Company will exercise that option.
Incremental borrowing rate – As the Company’s leases do not provide an implicit rate, the Company obtained the incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR”) based on the remaining term of each lease. The IBR is the rate of interest that a lessee would have to pay to
borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar term an amount equal to the lease payments in a similar economic environment.
The Company has elected not to recognize right-of-use lease assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases that have a term of
12 months or less.
The Company reports right-of-use lease assets within “Tangible assets” in its consolidated balance sheet. The Company reports
the current portion of lease liabilities within “Accrued expenses” and long-term lease liabilities within “Other long-term liabilities” in
its consolidated balance sheet.
Contingencies
From time to time, the Company may become involved in claims and other legal matters arising in the ordinary course of
business. The Company records accruals for loss contingencies to the extent that it concludes that it is probable that a liability has
been incurred and the amount of the related loss can be reasonably estimated. Legal fees and other expenses related to litigation are
expensed as incurred and included in “selling, general and administrative” expenses.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
From time to time, the Company adopts new accounting pronouncements issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) or other standard-setting bodies.
In June 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326):
Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (“ASU 2016-13”), which modifies the measurement of expected credit losses
on certain financial instruments and became effective for the Company as of January 1, 2020. The adoption of ASU 2016-13 did not
have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
In December 2019, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplification and
reduce the cost of accounting for income taxes (“ASU 2019-12”), which is effective for the Company as of January 1, 2021. The
Company does not expect the adoption of ASU 2019-12 to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements
and related disclosures.
Other recent authoritative guidance issued by the FASB (including technical corrections to the Accounting Standards
Codification), the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) did not,
or are not expected to, have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
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Business Acquisitions, Divestitures and Other Arrangements

Acquisition of Curzion Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
On April 1, 2020, the Company acquired Curzion, a privately held development-stage biopharma company, and its
development-stage oral selective lysophosphatidic acid 1 receptor (LPAR1) antagonist, CZN001 (renamed HZN-825).
Under the terms of the acquisition agreement, the Company acquired Curzion for a $45.0 million upfront payment with
additional payments contingent on the achievement of development and regulatory milestones. Pursuant to ASC 805 (as amended by
ASU No. 2017-01, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Clarifying the Definition of a Business (“ASU No. 2017-01”)), the Company
accounted for the Curzion acquisition as the purchase of an in-process research and development asset and, pursuant to ASC Topic
730, Research and Development (“ASC 730”), recorded the purchase price as research and development expense during the year
ended December 31, 2020. HZN-825 was originally discovered and developed by Sanofi-Aventis U.S. LLC (“Sanofi-Aventis U.S.”),
which is eligible to receive contingent payments upon the achievement of development and commercialization milestones and
royalties based on revenue thresholds. A member of the Company’s board of directors was also a member of the board of directors of,
and held a beneficial interest in, Curzion. This related party transaction was conducted in the normal course of business on an arm’s
length basis.
Refer to Note 19 for further detail on HZN-825 milestone payments.

Sale of MIGERGOT rights
On June 28, 2019, the Company sold its rights to MIGERGOT to Cosette Pharmaceuticals, Inc., for $6.0 million and total
potential contingent consideration payments of $4.0 million (the “MIGERGOT transaction”).
Pursuant to ASU No. 2017-01, the Company accounted for the MIGERGOT transaction as a sale of assets, specifically a sale of
intellectual property rights, and a sale of stock.
The loss on sale of assets recorded to the consolidated profit and loss account during the year ended December 31, 2019, was
determined as follows (in thousands):

Cash proceeds
Less net assets sold:
Developed technology
Stock
Release of contingent consideration liability
Loss on sale of assets

$

6,000

$

(16,999 )
(236 )
272
(10,963 )

Sale of RAVICTI and BUPHENYL Rights in Japan
On October 27, 2020, the Company sold its rights to develop and commercialize RAVICTI and BUPHENYL in Japan to
Immedica for $5.4 million and recorded a gain of $4.9 million on the sale. The Company has retained the rights to RAVICTI and
BUPHENYL in North America.

Acquisition of River Vision
On May 8, 2017, the Company acquired 100% of the equity interests in River Vision Development Corp. (“River Vision”) for
upfront cash payments totaling approximately $150.3 million, including cash acquired of $6.3 million, with additional potential future
milestone and royalty payments contingent on the satisfaction of certain regulatory milestones and sales thresholds.
Under the agreement for the acquisition of River Vision, the Company is required to pay up to $325.0 million upon the
attainment of various milestones, composed of $100.0 million related to FDA approval and $225.0 million related to turnover
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thresholds for TEPEZZA. The agreement also includes a royalty payment of 3 percent of the portion of annual worldwide turnover
exceeding $300.0 million (if any). The Company made a milestone payment of $100.0 million related to FDA approval during the
first quarter of 2020 which is now capitalized as a finite-lived intangible asset representing the developed technology for TEPEZZA.
Refer to Note 19 for further detail on TEPEZZA milestone payments.
Additionally, under the Company’s license agreement with Roche, the Company made a milestone payment of CHF5.0 million
($5.2 million when converted using a CHF-to-Dollar exchange rate at the date of payment of 1.0382), during the first quarter of 2020
which the Company also capitalized as a finite-lived intangible asset representing the developed technology for TEPEZZA.
In April 2020, a subsidiary of the Company entered into an agreement with S.R. One, Limited (“S.R. One”) and an agreement
with Lundbeckfond Invest A/S (“Lundbeckfond”) pursuant to which the Company acquired all of S.R. One’s and Lundbeckfond’s
beneficial rights to proceeds from certain contingent future TEPEZZA milestone and royalty payments in exchange for a one-time
payment of $55.0 million to each of the respective parties. The total payments of $110.0 million were capitalized as a finite-lived
intangible asset representing the developed technology for TEPEZZA during the second quarter of 2020.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded $120.8 million as a finite-lived intangible asset representing
the developed technology for TEPEZZA, composed of $67.0 million in relation to the expected future attainment of various turnover
milestones payable under the acquisition agreement for River Vision and CHF50.0 million ($53.8 million when converted using a
CHF-to-Dollar exchange rate as of the date the intangible asset was recorded) in relation to the expected future attainment of various
turnover milestones payable to Roche. The liabilities relating to these turnover milestones have been recorded in accrued expenses on
the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2020 and the timing of the payments is dependent on when the applicable milestone
thresholds are attained. The Company paid the milestones to Roche in February 2021 and will pay the applicable milestones to the
former River Vision stockholders in April 2021.
Refer to Note 19 for further detail on TEPEZZA milestone payments.

Licensing agreement
On November 21, 2020, the Company entered into a global collaboration and license agreement with Halozyme Therapeutics,
Inc. (“Halozyme”) that gives the Company exclusive access to Halozyme’s ENHANZE® drug delivery technology for subcutaneous
(“SC”) formulation of medicines targeting IGF-1R. The Company intends to use ENHANZE to develop a SC formulation of
TEPEZZA, indicated for the treatment of thyroid eye disease, a serious, progressive and vision-threatening rare autoimmune disease,
potentially shortening drug administration time, reducing healthcare practitioner time and offering additional flexibility and
convenience for patients. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company agreed to pay Halozyme an upfront cash payment of $30.0
million with additional potential future milestone payments of up to $160.0 million contingent on the satisfaction of certain
development and sales thresholds. The $30.0 million upfront payment was accounted for as the acquisition of an IPR&D asset and
was recorded as a “research and development” expense in the consolidated profit and loss account during the year ended December
31, 2020. The upfront payment was paid in December 2020.
Other Arrangements
On January 3, 2019, the Company entered into a collaboration agreement with HemoShear Therapeutics, LLC (“HemoShear”),
a biotechnology company, to discover novel therapeutic targets for gout. The collaboration provides the Company with an
opportunity to address unmet treatment needs for people with gout by evaluating new targets for the control of serum uric acid levels
as well as new targets to address the inflammation associated with acute flares of gout. Under the terms of the agreement, the
Company paid HemoShear an upfront cash payment of $2.0 million with additional potential future milestone payments upon
commencement of new stages of development, contingent on the Company’s approval at each stage. In June 2019, the Company
incurred a $4.0 million progress payment, which was subsequently paid in July 2019. In June 2020, a $3.0 million progress payment
became due, which the Company subsequently paid in July 2020. These payments were recorded as “research and development”
expenses in the consolidated profit and loss account during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.
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Interest Payable and Similar Expenses

Interest payable and similar expenses for the financial years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were comprised of the
following (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,
2020

Interest expense on debt
Loss on debt extinguishment
Interest expense and similar expenses
5

$

2019

(63,361)
(31,856)
(95,217)

$

$
$

(106,224)
(58,835)
(165,059)

Income Taxes

The Company’s income (loss) before expense (benefit) for income taxes by jurisdiction for the years ended December 31, 2020
and 2019 is as follows (in thousands):
For the Years Ended December 31,
2020

Ireland
United States
Other foreign
Income (loss) before taxation

$

2019

94,527 $
(13,716)
320,834
401,645 $

$

77,272
(21,269 )
(76,227 )
(20,224 )

The components of the expense (benefit) for income taxes were as follows for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 (in
thousands):
For the Years Ended December 31,
2020

Current expense (benefit) provision
Ireland
U.S. - Federal and State
Other foreign
Total current expense (benefit) provision
Deferred benefit provision
Ireland
U.S. - Federal and State
Other foreign
Total deferred benefit
Total expense (benefit) for income taxes

$

$

$

14,413 $
18,418
1,597
34,428

2019

(1,233)
(4,663)
1,257
(4,639)

(15,844 ) $ (556,370 )
(824 )
(7,581 )
(5,911 )
(24,654 )
(22,579)
(588,605 )
11,849 $ (593,244 )

Total expense for income taxes was $11.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 and total benefit for income taxes was
$593.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. The current tax expense of $34.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2020
was primarily attributable to an Irish corporation tax liability, U.S. federal tax liability and U.S. state tax liabilities of $14.4 million,
$12.7 million and $2.7 million, respectively, arising on taxable income generated during the year ended December 31, 2020. The
deferred tax benefit of $22.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, was primarily attributable to $7.8 million deferred tax
benefit resulting from the loss on debt extinguishment recorded on exchange of our Exchangeable Senior Notes, the recognition of a
deferred tax asset resulting from an intercompany transfer of an intellectual property asset to an Irish subsidiary of $6.0 million and
the tax benefit recognized on intercompany stock transfers of $5.9 million.
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A reconciliation between the Irish income tax statutory rate to the Company’s effective tax rate for 2020 and 2019 is as follows
(in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,
2020

Irish income tax at statutory rate (12.5%)
$
Foreign tax rate differential
Share-based compensation
U.S. federal and state tax credits
Intercompany stock transfers
Change in U.S. state effective tax rate
Notional interest deduction
Disallowed interest
U.S state income taxes
Uncertain tax positions
Change in valuation allowances
Intercompany transfer of IP assets
Non-deductible in-process research and development costs
Disqualified compensation expense
Write-off of U.S. deferred tax asset related to interest
expense due to Anti-Hybrid Rules
Other, net
Expense (benefit) for income taxes
$
Effective income tax rate

50,206
(46,382 )
(23,793 )
(13,809 )
(5,918 )
(1,737 )
—
236
724
1,593
4,183
5,193
9,475
14,601

2019

$

15,250
2,027
11,849
$
3.0 %

(2,528 )
14,111
(4,614 )
(16,752 )
(24,654 )
(1,551 )
(19,982 )
1,749
(135 )
(382 )
4,069
(553,334 )
—
7,219
—
3,540
(593,244 )
2933.5 %

The overall effective income tax rate for 2020 of 3.0% was a lower rate than the Irish statutory rate of 12.5% primarily
attributable to a tax benefit of $46.4 million recognized on the pre-tax income and losses generated in jurisdictions with statutory tax
rates different than the Irish statutory tax rate, the excess tax benefits recognized on share-based compensation of $23.8 million and
$13.8 million of U.S. Federal and state tax credits generated during the year. These tax benefits are partially offset by tax expense of
$15.2 million recorded following the publication by the United States Department of Treasury and the Internal Revenue Service of the
Final Regulations on the Anti-Hybrid Rules to write off a deferred tax asset related to certain interest expense accrued to a foreign
related party, a tax expense of $14.6 million on non-deductible officer’s compensation and tax expense of $9.5 million on nondeductible IPR&D expenses recorded in connection with the acquisition of Curzion.
The overall effective income tax rate for 2019 of 2,933.5% was a higher benefit rate than the Irish statutory rate of 12.5%
primarily attributable to the recognition of a $553.3 million deferred tax asset resulting from an intercompany transfer of intellectual
property assets to an Irish subsidiary, a $24.7 million tax benefit recognized on intercompany stock transfers, a $20.0 million tax
benefit recognized on the Company’s notional interest deduction, $16.8 million of U.S. Federal and state tax credits generated during
the year (inclusive of the deferred credit amortization) and the excess tax benefits recognized on share-based compensation of $4.6
million. These tax benefits are partially offset by tax expense of $14.1 million on the pre-tax income and losses generated in
jurisdictions with statutory tax rates different than the Irish statutory tax rate, a tax expense of $7.2 million on non-deductible officer’s
compensation and a tax expense of $4.1 million on increases in net valuation allowances.
The change in the effective income tax rate in 2020 compared to that in 2019 was primarily due to the recognition of a deferred
tax asset of $553.3 million resulting from an intercompany transfer of intellectual property assets to an Irish subsidiary during the year
ended December 31, 2019.
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Significant components of the Company’s net deferred tax assets and liabilities, are as follows (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2020
2019

Deferred tax assets:
Intangible assets
Net operating loss carryforwards
Intercompany interest
Accrued compensation
Accruals and reserves
U.S. federal and state credits
Other
Total deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance
Deferred tax liabilities:
Debt discount
Other
Total deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred income tax (asset) liability
Deferred income taxes due after one year
Provision for deferred income taxes

$

$
$

$

362,599
34,258
42,239
54,770
18,267
24,409
—
536,542
(33,985 )
502,557

$

1,271
513
1,784
(500,773 )
560,841
60,068

$

$

$

332,764
35,762
60,885
40,851
14,097
31,144
5,345
520,848
(29,268 )
491,580
12,495
1,703
14,198
(477,382 )
555,165
77,783

No provision has been made for income taxes on undistributed earnings of subsidiaries because it is the Company’s intention to
indefinitely reinvest outside of Ireland undistributed earnings of its subsidiaries. In the event of the distribution of those earnings to
Ireland in the form of dividends, a sale of the subsidiaries, or certain other transactions, the Company may be liable for income taxes
in Ireland. The cumulative unremitted earnings of the Company as of December 31, 2020, were approximately $4.6 billion, and the
Company estimates that it would incur approximately $88.2 million of additional income tax on unremitted earnings were they to be
remitted to Ireland.
As of December 31, 2020, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $61.5 million for U.S. federal,
$25.0 million for various U.S. states and $6.2 million for non-U.S. losses. Net operating loss carryforwards for U.S. federal income
tax purposes that were generated prior to January 1, 2018, have a twenty-year carryforward life and the earliest layers will begin to
expire in 2031. Under the Tax Act, as modified by the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”), U.S.
federal net operating losses incurred in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017 may be carried forward indefinitely, but the
deductibility of federal net operating losses generated in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017, to the extent such net
operating losses are carried forward into taxable years beginning after December 31, 2020, is limited to 80 percent of the then current
year’s taxable income. Under the CARES Act, U.S. federal net operating losses arising in a tax year beginning after December 31,
2017, and before January 1, 2021, can be carried back five years. It remains uncertain if and to what extent various U.S. states will
conform to the Tax Act and the CARES Act. U.S. state net operating losses will start to expire in 2021 for the earliest net operating
loss layers to the extent there is not sufficient state taxable income to utilize those net operating loss carryovers. Irish net operating
losses may be carried forward indefinitely and therefore have no expiration. Utilization of the U.S. net operating loss carryforwards
may be subject to annual limitations as prescribed by federal and state statutory provisions. The imposition of the annual limitations
may result in a portion of the net operating loss carryforwards expiring unused.
Utilization of certain net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards in the United States is subject to an annual limitation due to
ownership change limitations provided by Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code. The Company is limited under the
annual limitation of $7.7 million from the year 2019 until 2028 on certain net operating losses generated before an August 2, 2012
ownership change. The U.S. federal net operating loss carryforward and U.S. federal tax credit carryforward limitation is cumulative
such that any use of the carryforwards below the limitation in a particular tax year will result in a corresponding increase in the
limitation for the subsequent tax year.
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At December 31, 2020, the Company had $5.0 million and $19.2 million of U.S. federal and state income tax credits,
respectively, to reduce future tax liabilities. The federal income tax credits consisted primarily of research and development credits.
The U.S. state income tax credits consisted primarily of California research and development credits and the Illinois Economic
Development for a Growing Economy (“EDGE”) tax credits. The U.S. federal research and development credits have a twenty-year
carryforward life and will begin to expire in 2040. The California research and development credits have indefinite lives and therefore
are not subject to expiration. The EDGE credits have a five-year carryforward life following the year of generation and will begin to
expire in 2021.
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of valuation allowances for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
is as follows (in thousands):
Valuation allowances at January 1, 2019
Increase for 2019 activity
Release of valuation allowances
Valuation allowances at December 31, 2019
Increase for 2020 activity
Release of valuation allowances
Valuation allowances at December 31, 2020

$

$

$

(26,472 )
(5,693 )
2,897
(29,268 )
(8,841 )
4,124
(33,985 )

Deferred tax valuation allowances increased by $4.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2020 and increased by $2.8
million during the year ended December 31, 2019. For the year ended December 31, 2020, the net increase in valuation allowances
resulted primarily from additional U.S. state tax credits and state net operating losses which are unlikely to be realized in the
foreseeable future, partially offset by the release of a portion of the valuation allowances with respect to the U.S. capital loss
carryforwards which expired unused. The Company continues to carry its deferred tax asset established in Ireland, which was
recognized at the end of 2019, pursuant to an intercompany transfer of intellectual property assets. The Company has evaluated the
need for a valuation allowance with respect to this deferred tax asset, and as part of that analysis, the Company reviewed its projected
earnings in the foreseeable future. Based upon all available evidence, it is more likely than not that the Company would be able to
fully realize the tax benefit on the deferred tax asset resulting from the intercompany transfer of intellectual property assets.
A reconciliation of the movement in the deferred income tax provision between the beginning and ending amounts for the years
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 is as follows (in thousands):

Deferred tax provision at January 1, 2019
Benefit during the year
Other
Deferred tax provision at December 31, 2019
Benefit during the year
Other
Deferred tax provision at December 31, 2020
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$

$

100,121
(21,137 )
(1,201 )
77,783
(16,853 )
(862 )
60,068

The Company is required to recognize the financial statement effects of a tax position when it is more likely than not, based
on the technical merits, that the position will be sustained upon examination. The Company accounts for the uncertainty in income
taxes by utilizing a comprehensive model for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure in financial statements of any
uncertain tax positions that have been taken, or are expected to be taken, on an income tax return. The changes in the Company's
uncertain income tax positions for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, including interest and penalties, consisted of the
following (in thousands):
For the Years Ended December 31,
2020

Beginning balance – uncertain tax positions
Tax positions in the year:
Additions
Acquired uncertain tax positions
Tax positions related to prior years:
Additions
Settlements and lapses
Ending balance- uncertain tax positions

$

$

2019

29,639 $

28,702

3,837
—

2,553
—

—
(2,203 )
31,273 $

1,663
(3,279 )
29,639

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the net increase in uncertain tax positions was primarily attributable to additional U.S.
federal research and development credits generated during the year, partially offset by lapses in statute for a portion of uncertain tax
positions in jurisdictions outside of the United States.
At December 31, 2020, penalties of $0.3 million and interest of $1.5 million are included in the balance of the uncertain tax
positions and penalties of $0.2 million and interest of $2.0 million were included in the balance of uncertain tax positions at December
31, 2019. The Company classifies interest and penalties with respect to income tax liabilities as a component of income tax expense.
The Company assessed that its liability for uncertain tax positions will not significantly change within the next twelve months. If
these uncertain tax positions are released, the impact on the Company’s tax provision would be a benefit of $30.2 million, including
interest and penalties.
The Company files income tax returns in Ireland, in the United States for federal and various states, as well as in certain other
jurisdictions. At December 31, 2020, all open tax years in U.S. federal and certain state jurisdictions date back to 2006 due to the
taxing authorities’ ability to adjust operating loss carryforwards. In Ireland, the statute of limitations expires five years from the end
of the tax year or four years from the time a tax return is filed, whichever is later. Therefore, the earliest year open to examination is
2016 with the lapse of statute occurring in 2021. No changes in settled tax years have occurred to date.
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Income Per Share

The following table presents basic and diluted income per share for the financial years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 (in
thousands, except share and per share data):
For the Years Ended December 31,
2020
2019

Basic income per share calculation:
Numerator - income for the financial year
Denominator - weighted average of ordinary shares outstanding
Basic income per share

$
$

389,796
203,967,246
1.91

$

573,020
182,930,109
3.13

$

For the Years Ended December 31,
2020
2019

Diluted income per share calculation:
Income for the financial year
Effect of assumed conversion of Exchangeable Senior Notes, net of tax
Numerator - income for the financial year
Denominator - weighted average of ordinary shares outstanding
Diluted income per share

$
$
$

389,796
—
389,796
215,308,768
1.81

$

573,020
22,440
595,460
205,224,221
2.90

$
$

Basic income per share is computed by dividing the income for the financial year by the weighted-average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution beyond shares for basic EPS that could occur if
securities or other contracts to issue ordinary shares were exercised, converted into ordinary shares, or resulted in the issuance of
ordinary shares that would have shared in our earnings.
The outstanding securities listed in the table below were excluded from the computation of diluted income per share for the
financial years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 due to being anti-dilutive:
For the Years Ended December 31,
2020

Stock options
Restricted stock units
Performance stock units
Employee stock purchase plans
Exchangeable Senior Notes

44,670
2,398,710
790,949
18,618
6,862,376
10,115,323

2019

233,260
1,840
586,868
2,207
—
824,175

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the potentially dilutive impact of the Company’s 2.50% Exchangeable Senior Notes
due 2022 (the “Exchangeable Senior Notes”) was determined using a method similar to the treasury stock method. Under this method,
no numerator or denominator adjustments arose from the principal and interest components of the Exchangeable Senior Notes because
the Company had the intent, at that time, and ability to settle the Exchangeable Senior Notes’ principal and interest in cash. Instead,
the Company was required to increase the diluted income per share denominator by the variable number of shares that would be issued
upon conversion if it settled the conversion spread obligation with shares. For diluted income per share purposes, the conversion
spread obligation was calculated based on whether the average market price of the Company’s ordinary shares over the reporting
period was in excess of the exchange price of the Exchangeable Senior Notes. Beginning in the fourth quarter of 2019, with the
ordinary share price significantly above the $28.66 exchange price, the Company decided that it no longer had the intent to settle the
notes for cash and, as a result, began to prospectively apply the if-converted method to the Exchangeable Senior Notes when
determining the diluted income per share. By August 3, 2020, the Exchangeable Senior Notes were fully extinguished through
exchanges for ordinary shares or cash redemption. Refer to Note 16 for further detail.
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Intangible Assets
Goodwill
The gross carrying amount of goodwill as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $413.7 million.

Effective in the first quarter of 2020, the Company (i) reorganized its commercial operations and moved responsibility for and
reporting of RAYOS to the inflammation segment and (ii) renamed the orphan and rheumatology segment the orphan segment. This
resulted in a $3.2 million increase in the Company’s allocation of goodwill to its inflammation segment and a corresponding decrease
in the goodwill allocated to the orphan segment in the first quarter of 2020. The Company allocated goodwill to its new reporting
units using a relative fair value approach. In addition, the Company completed an assessment of any potential goodwill impairment
for all reporting units immediately prior to the allocation and determined that no impairment existed.
The table below presents goodwill for the Company’s reportable segments as of December 31, 2020 (in thousands):
Orphan

Goodwill

$

357,498

Inflammation

$

56,171

Total

$

413,669

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019 there were no accumulated goodwill impairment losses.
Intangible Assets
As of December 31, 2020, the Company’s finite-lived intangible assets consisted of developed technology related to
ACTIMMUNE, BUPHENYL, KRYSTEXXA, PROCYSBI, RAVICTI, RAYOS and TEPEZZA, as well as customer relationships for
ACTIMMUNE. The intangible asset related to PENNSAID 2%, and VIMOVO developed technology was fully amortized as of
December 31, 2020.
In connection with the acquisition of River Vision, the Company capitalized payments of $336.0 million related to TEPEZZA
developed technology during the year ended December 31, 2020. See Note 3 for further details on the River Vision acquisition.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, in connection with the Immedica transaction on October 27, 2020, the Company
recorded a reduction in the net book value of developed technology related to BUPHENYL of $0.5 million. See Note 3 for further
details.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, in connection with the MIGERGOT transaction, the Company wrote off the
remaining net book value of developed technology related to MIGERGOT of $17.0 million. See Note 3 for further details.
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As of December 31, 2020, amortizable intangible assets consisted of the following (in thousands):
Developed Technology

Cost
At January 1, 2020
Capitalized milestone payments
during the year
Impairments
Divestitures during the year
At December 31, 2020
Accumulated amortization
At January 1, 2020
Amortization expense
Divestitures during the year
At December 31, 2020
Net book value
At January 1, 2020
At December 31, 2020

$

$

2,759,431

Customer Relationships

8,100

$ 2,767,531

335,929
—
(2,845)
3,092,515

—
—
—
8,100

335,929
—
(2,845)
3,100,615

(1,060,623)
(254,338)
2,398
(1,312,563)

(4,280)
(810)
—
(5,090)

(1,064,903)
(255,148)
2,398
(1,317,653)

1,698,808
1,779,952

$

Total

3,820
3,010

$

$

1,702,628
1,782,962

Amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $255.1 million and $230.4 million, respectively.
As of December 31, 2020, estimated future amortization expense was as follows (in thousands):

2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter
Total

$

248,936
247,954
247,488
246,011
243,767
548,806
$ 1,782,962
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Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):
Buildings

Construction
in Process

Land and
Land
Improvements

Machinery and
equipment

Computer
equipment

Leasehold
improvement

Software

Other

Total

Cost
At January 1, 2020

$

—

$

265

$

—

$

5,217

$

$

$

$

$

80,341

(119,914)

38,076

366

504

373

249

5

—

—

—

—

(888)

(962)

(35)

(521)

(78)

(2,484)

$

63,656

$

—

$

38,076

$

4,695

$

2,858

$

—

$

(4,289)

$

(2,434)

$

—

56,007

Transfers

80,341

—

6,334

—

$

—

14,890

183,305

At December 31, 2020

—

25,985

—

Disposals/impairments

—

3,316

Additions

183,305

26,323

$

14,618

$

6,261

$

236,828

(4,875)

$

(11,597)

$

(2,653)

$

(25,848)

Accumulated Depreciation
At January 1, 2020

$

Depreciation expense
Disposals/impairments
At December 31, 2020

$

—

$

(1,757)

—

(205)

(444)

(661)

(15,168)

(3,332)

(2,736)

—

—

—

796

966

—

521

77

(1,757)

$

—

$

(205)

$

37,871

$

(3,937)

$

758

$

(2,129)

$

(20,043)

$

(14,408)

$

(5,312)

(24,303)
2,360
$

(47,791)

$

189,037

Net Book Value
—

At January 1, 2020
At December 31, 2020

$

78,584

—

265
$

63,656

928

122

882
$

729

21,110
$

6,280

3,293
$

210

3,681
$

949

30,159

Depreciation expense for the financial years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $24.3 million and $6.7 million,
respectively. The increase in depreciation expense for the year ended December 31, 2020, primarily relates to the reduction in the
useful lives of leasehold improvements relating to the Company’s Lake Forest office.
In February 2020, the Company purchased a three-building campus in Deerfield, Illinois for total consideration and directly
attributable transaction costs of $118.5 million. The Deerfield campus totals 70 acres and consists of approximately 650,000 square
feet of office space.
Construction in process for the year ended December 31, 2020, primarily represents renovation costs of $62.7 million associated
with the Deerfield campus.
9

Lease Assets and Obligations
As of December 31, 2020, the Company had the following office space lease agreements in place for real properties:

Location

Approximate Square Feet

Lease Expiry Date

18,900
160,000
61,000
20,000
9,200
4,800
8,800

November 4, 2029
March 31, 2031
August 31, 2021
January 31, 2030
December 31, 2028
December 31, 2022
March 31, 2021 to September 15, 2022

Dublin, Ireland
Lake Forest, Illinois
Novato, California
South San Francisco, California
Chicago, Illinois
Mannheim, Germany
Other

The above table does not include details of an agreement for lease entered into on October 14, 2019, relating to approximately
63,000 square feet of office space under construction in Dublin, Ireland. Lease commencement will begin when construction of the
offices is completed by the lessor and the Company has access to begin the construction of leasehold improvements. The Company
expects to receive access to the office space in the first half of 2021 and incur leasehold improvement costs during 2021 in order to
prepare the building for occupancy.
In February 2020, the Company purchased a three-building campus in Deerfield, Illinois. The Lake Forest office employees
moved to the Deerfield campus in February 2021 and the Company is marketing the Lake Forest office space for sublease. As of
December 31, 2020, the right-of-use lease asset relating to the Lake Forest lease was $16.9 million. If the expected rent payments
received from subleasing the Lake Forest office are significantly lower than the rent payments that the Company will continue to pay
on its lease, the Company may record an impairment charge relating to the right-of-use lease asset upon vacating the Lake Forest
office. Refer to Note 8 for further detail on the purchase of the Deerfield campus.
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company had right-of-use lease assets of $34.4 million and $39.8 million, respectively;
current lease liabilities included in accrued expenses of $4.1 million and $4.4 million, respectively; and non-current lease liabilities
included in other long-term liabilities of $43.2 million and $46.5 million, respectively, in its consolidated balance sheets. During the
year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $1.7 million related to the Novato, California office
lease, which was obtained through an acquisition in a prior year. This charge was reported within selling, general and administrative
expenses in the consolidated profit and loss account.
Right-of-use lease assets as of December 31, 2020 consisted of the following (in thousands):
Recognized at January 1, 2020
Additions
Depreciation charge
Translation adjustment
Closing net book value

$

39,802
—

(5,396)
—

$

123

34,406

The Company recognizes rent expense on a monthly basis over the lease term based on a straight-line method. Rent expense
was $6.7 million and $6.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The table below reconciles the undiscounted cash flows for each of the first five years and total of the remaining years to the
operating lease liabilities recorded on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2020 (in thousands):
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter
Total lease payments
Imputed interest
Total operating lease liabilities

$

$

7,296
6,119
5,969
6,587
6,836
33,241
66,048
(18,701 )
47,347

The weighted-average discount rate and remaining lease term for operating leases as of December 31, 2020 was 7.08% and 9.83
years, respectively.
10

Stocks
The components of stocks as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 consisted of the following (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2020

Raw materials
Work-in-process
Finished goods
Stocks, net

$

$

11,760 $
33,167
30,356
75,283 $

2019

6,750
22,465
24,587
53,802

There were no significant differences at December 31, 2020, between the replacement cost of raw materials, work-in-progress
and finished goods when compared to their carrying amounts.

124

11

Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 consisted of the following (in thousands):
As of December 31,

Gross accounts receivable
Allowances
Accounts receivable

12

$
$

2020

2019

664,953 $
(5,252)
659,701 $

417,810
(9,125 )
408,685

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 consisted of the following (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2020
2019

Advance payments for stock
Deferred charge for taxes on intercompany profit
Rabbi trust assets
Prepaid income taxes and income tax receivable
Other prepaid expenses and other current assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

$

$

137,680 $
52,306
18,423
102
43,434
251,945 $

31,203
46,388
12,704
12,583
40,699
143,577

Advance payments for stock as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, primarily represented payments made to the contract
manufacturer of TEPEZZA drug substance.
13

Accounts Payable

Accounts payable as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 consisted of amounts owing to third parties under credit terms granted in
the normal course of business.
14

Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 consisted of the following (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2020
2019

Accrued milestone payments
Payroll-related expenses
Accrued royalties
Consulting and professional services
Allowances for returns
Pricing review liability
Accrued interest
Accrued income taxes
Accrued social security and payroll taxes
Accrued excise taxes
Accrued other
Accrued expenses

$

$
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123,442 $
115,976
68,006
51,610
40,918
16,046
14,207
13,583
5,601
230
35,948
485,567 $

—
80,104
19,985
32,423
45,082
9,831
18,709
2,541
4,412
238
19,557
232,882

As of December 31, 2020, accrued milestone payments represented the expected attainment in 2020 of various TEPEZZA
turnover milestones payable under the acquisition agreement for River Vision and license agreement with Roche. The Company paid
the milestones to Roche in February 2021 and will pay the applicable milestones to the former River Vision stockholders in April
2021. Refer to Note 3 for further detail.
Creditors for tax and social insurance are payable in the timeframe set down in the relevant legislation in accordance with
Section 58 (2) of the Companies Act 2014.
15

Fair Value Measurements

The following tables and paragraphs set forth the Company’s financial instruments that are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis within the fair value hierarchy. Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified in their entirety based on the lowest
level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to
the fair value measurement in its entirety requires management to make judgments and consider factors specific to the asset or
liability. The following describes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:
Level 1—Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2—Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in
markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the
full term of the assets or liabilities; and
Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the
assets or liabilities.
The Company utilizes the market approach to measure fair value for its money market funds. The market approach uses prices
and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or liabilities.
Other current assets and other long-term liabilities recorded at fair value on a recurring basis are composed of investments held
in a rabbi trust and the related deferred liability for deferred compensation arrangements. Quoted prices for this investment, primarily
in mutual funds, are available in active markets. Thus, the Company’s investments related to deferred compensation arrangements
and the related long-term liability are classified as Level 1 measurements in the fair value hierarchy.
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Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis
The following table sets forth the Company’s financial assets and liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31,
2020 and December 31, 2019 (in thousands):

December 31, 2020
Level 1

Assets:
Money market funds
Other current assets
Total assets at fair value
Liabilities:
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities at fair value

Level 2

Level 3

$ 1,906,000
18,423
$ 1,924,423 $

—
—
—

(18,423 )
(18,423 ) $

—
—

$

Total

$

—
—
—

$ 1,906,000
18,423
$ 1,924,423

$

—
—

$

(18,423 )
(18,423 )

December 31, 2019
Level 1

Assets:
Money market funds
Other current assets
Total assets at fair value
Liabilities:
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities at fair value
16

Level 2

Level 3

$ 1,029,725
12,704
$ 1,042,429 $

—
—
—

(12,704 )
(12,704 ) $

—
—

$

Total

$

—
—
—

$ 1,029,725
12,704
$ 1,042,429

$

—
—

$

(12,704 )
(12,704 )

Debt Agreements
The Company’s outstanding debt balances as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 consisted of the following (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2020

Term Loan Facility due 2026
Senior Notes due 2027
Exchangeable Senior Notes due 2022
Total face value
Debt discount
Deferred financing fees
Total long-term debt and Exchangeable Senior Notes, net

2019

$

418,026 $
418,026
600,000
600,000
—
400,000
1,018,026
1,418,026
(10,061 )
(59,922 )
(4,586 )
(5,263 )
$ 1,003,379 $ 1,352,841

Scheduled maturities with respect to the Company’s long-term debt are as follows (in thousands):
—
—
—
—
—
(1,018,026 )
$ (1,018,026 )

2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter
Total

$
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Term Loan Facility and Revolving Credit Facility
On December 18, 2019, Horizon Therapeutics USA, Inc. (formerly known as Horizon Pharma USA, Inc.) (the “Borrower”), a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, borrowed approximately $418.0 million aggregate principal amount of loans (the
“December 2019 Refinancing Loans”) pursuant to an amendment to the credit agreement, dated as of May 7, 2015, by and among the
Borrower, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries as guarantors, the lenders party thereto from time to time and Citibank, N.A., as
administrative agent and collateral agent, as amended by Amendment No. 1, dated as of October 25, 2016, Amendment No. 2, dated
March 29, 2017, Amendment No. 3, dated October 23, 2017, Amendment No. 4, dated October 19, 2018, Amendment No. 5, dated
March 11, 2019 and Amendment No. 6, dated May 22, 2019 (the “Term Loan Facility”). Pursuant to Amendment No. 5, the
Borrower received $200.0 million aggregate principal amount of revolving commitments, which was increased to $275.0 million
aggregate amount of revolving commitments (the “Incremental Revolving Commitments”) pursuant to an incremental amendment and
joinder agreement entered into on August 17, 2020 (the “Incremental Amendment”). The Incremental Revolving Commitments were
established pursuant to an incremental facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) and includes a $50.0 million letter of credit subfacility. The Incremental Revolving Commitments will terminate in March 2024. Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility are
available for general corporate purposes. As of December 31, 2020, the Revolving Credit Facility was undrawn. As used herein, all
references to the “Credit Agreement” are references to the original credit agreement, dated as of May 7, 2015, as amended through the
Incremental Amendment.
The December 2019 Refinancing Loans were incurred as a separate new class of term loans under the Credit Agreement with
substantially the same terms as the previously outstanding senior secured term loans incurred on May 22, 2019 (the “Refinanced
Loans”) to effectuate a repricing of the Refinanced Loans. The Borrower used the proceeds of the December 2019 Refinancing Loans
to repay the Refinanced Loans, which totaled approximately $418.0 million. The December 2019 Refinancing Loans bear interest at a
rate, at the Borrower’s option, equal to the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”), plus 2.25% per annum (subject to a 0.00%
LIBOR floor) or the adjusted base rate plus 1.25% per annum, with a step-down to LIBOR plus 2.00% per annum or the adjusted base
rate plus 1.00% per annum at the time the Company’s leverage ratio is less than or equal to 2.00 to 1.00. The adjusted base rate is
defined as the greatest of (a) LIBOR (using one-month interest period) plus 1.00%, (b) the prime rate, (c) the federal funds rate plus
0.50%, and (d) 1.00%.
The loans under the Revolving Credit Facility bear interest, at the Borrower’s option, at a rate equal to either LIBOR plus an
applicable margin of 2.25% per annum (subject to a LIBOR floor of 0.00%), or the adjusted base rate plus 1.25% per annum, with a
step-down to LIBOR plus 2.00% per annum or the adjusted base rate plus 1.00% per annum at the time the Company’s leverage ratio
is less than or equal to 2.00 to 1.00. The Credit Agreement provides for (i) the December 2019 Refinancing Loans, (ii) the Revolving
Credit Facility, (iii) one or more uncommitted additional incremental loan facilities subject to the satisfaction of certain financial and
other conditions, and (iv) one or more uncommitted refinancing loan facilities with respect to loans thereunder. The Credit Agreement
allows for the Company and certain of its subsidiaries to become additional borrowers under incremental or refinancing facilities.
The obligations under the Credit Agreement (including obligations in respect of the December 2019 Refinancing Loans and the
Revolving Credit Facility) and any swap obligations and cash management obligations owing to a lender (or an affiliate of a lender)
are guaranteed by the Company and each of the Company’s existing and subsequently acquired or formed direct and indirect
subsidiaries (other than certain immaterial subsidiaries, subsidiaries whose guarantee would result in material adverse tax
consequences and subsidiaries whose guarantee is prohibited by applicable law). The obligations under the Credit Agreement
(including obligations in respect of the December 2019 Refinancing Loans and the Revolving Credit Facility) and any related swap
and cash management obligations are secured, subject to customary permitted liens and other agreed upon exceptions, by a perfected
security interest in (i) all tangible and intangible assets of the Borrower and the guarantors, except for certain customary excluded
assets, and (ii) all of the capital stock owned by the Borrower and guarantors thereunder (limited, in the case of the stock of certain
non-U.S. subsidiaries of the Borrower, to 65% of the capital stock of such subsidiaries). The Borrower and the guarantors under the
Credit Agreement are individually and collectively referred to herein as a “Loan Party” and the “Loan Parties,” as applicable.
The Company elected to exercise its reinvestment rights under the mandatory prepayment provisions of the Credit Agreement
with respect to the net proceeds from the Company’s sale of its rights to PROCYSBI and QUINSAIR in the Europe, Middle East and
Africa regions to Chiesi Farmaceutici S.p.A. To the extent the Company had not applied such net proceeds to permitted acquisitions
(including the acquisition of rights to products and products lines) and/or the acquisition of capital assets within 365 days of the
receipt thereof (or committed to so apply and then applied within 180 days after the end of such 365-day period), the Company was
required to make a mandatory prepayment under the Credit Agreement in an amount equal to the unapplied net proceeds. In June
2018, the Company repaid $23.5 million under the mandatory prepayment provisions of the Credit Agreement.
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On March 18, 2019, the Company completed the repayment of $300.0 million of the outstanding principal amount of term loans
under the Credit Agreement following the closing of its underwritten public equity offering on March 11, 2019. In July 2019, the
Company repaid an additional $100.0 million of term loans under the Credit Agreement following the private placement of the
Company’s 5.5% Senior Notes due 2027 (the “2027 Senior Notes”). Following these repayments, the outstanding principal balance of
term loans under the Credit Agreement was $418.0 million.
Additionally, the Company elected to exercise its reinvestment rights under the mandatory prepayment provisions of the Credit
Agreement with respect to the net proceeds from the Company’s sale of its rights to RAVICTI and AMMONAPS outside of North
America and Japan to Medical Need Europe AB, part of the Immedica Group (the “Immedica transaction”). To the extent the
Company had not applied such net proceeds to permitted acquisitions (including the acquisition of rights to products and products
lines) and/or the acquisition of capital assets within 365 days of the receipt of proceeds from the Immedica transaction (or commit to
so apply and then apply within 180 days after the end of such 365-day period), the Company was required to make a mandatory
prepayment under the Credit Agreement in an amount equal to the unapplied net proceeds. In March 2019, the Company repaid $35.0
million under the mandatory prepayment provisions of the Credit Agreement which was included in the $300.0 million repayment
referred to above.
The Borrower is permitted to make voluntary prepayments of the loans under the Credit Agreement at any time without
payment of a premium. The Borrower is required to make mandatory prepayments of loans under the Credit Agreement (without
payment of a premium) with (a) net cash proceeds from certain non-ordinary course asset sales (subject to reinvestment rights and
other exceptions), (b) casualty proceeds and condemnation awards (subject to reinvestment rights and other exceptions), (c) net cash
proceeds from issuances of debt (other than certain permitted debt), and (d) 50% of the Company’s excess cash flow (subject to
decrease to 25% or 0% if the Company’s first lien leverage ratio is less than 2.25:1 or 1.75:1, respectively). The principal amount of
the December 2019 Refinancing Loans is due and payable on May 22, 2026, the final maturity date of the December 2019
Refinancing Loans.
The Credit Agreement contains customary representations and warranties and customary affirmative and negative covenants,
including, among other things, restrictions on indebtedness, liens, investments, mergers, dispositions, prepayment of other
indebtedness and dividends and other distributions. The Credit Agreement also contains a springing financial maintenance covenant,
which requires that the Company maintain a specified leverage ratio at the end of each fiscal quarter. The covenant is tested if both
the outstanding loans and letters of credit under the Revolving Credit Facility, subject to certain exceptions, exceed 25% of the total
commitments under the Revolving Credit Facility as of the last day of any fiscal quarter. If the Company fails to meet this covenant,
the commitments under the Revolving Credit Facility could be terminated and any outstanding borrowings, together with accrued
interest, under the Revolving Credit Facility could be declared immediately due and payable.
Other events of default under the Credit Agreement include: (i) the failure by the Borrower to timely make payments due under
the Credit Agreement; (ii) material misrepresentations or misstatements in any representation or warranty by any Loan Party when
made; (iii) failure by any Loan Party to comply with the covenants under the Credit Agreement and other related agreements; (iv)
certain defaults under a specified amount of other indebtedness of the Company or its subsidiaries; (v) insolvency or bankruptcyrelated events with respect to the Company or any of its material subsidiaries; (vi) certain undischarged judgments against the
Company or any of its restricted subsidiaries; (vii) certain ERISA-related events reasonably expected to have a material adverse effect
on the Company and its restricted subsidiaries taken as a whole; (viii) certain security interests or liens under the loan documents
ceasing to be, or being asserted by the Company or its restricted subsidiaries not to be, in full force and effect; (ix) any loan document
or material provision thereof ceasing to be, or any challenge or assertion by any Loan Party that such loan document or material
provision is not, in full force and effect; and (x) the occurrence of a change of control. If one or more events of default occurs and
continues beyond any applicable cure period, the administrative agent may, with the consent of the lenders holding a majority of the
loans and commitments under the facilities, or will, at the request of such lenders, terminate the commitments of the lenders to make
further loans and declare all of the obligations of the Loan Parties under the Credit Agreement to be immediately due and payable.
The interest on the Term Loan Facility is variable and as of December 31, 2020, the interest rate on the Term Loan Facility was
2.19% and the effective interest rate was 2.48%.
As of December 31, 2020, the fair value of the amounts outstanding under the Term Loan Facility was approximately $416.5 million,
categorized as a Level 2 instrument, as defined in Note 15.
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2027 Senior Notes
On July 16, 2019, Horizon Therapeutics USA, Inc. (formerly known as Horizon Pharma USA, Inc.), the Company’s wholly
owned subsidiary (“HTUSA”), completed a private placement of $600.0 million aggregate principal amount of 2027 Senior Notes to
several investment banks acting as initial purchasers, who subsequently resold the 2027 Senior Notes to persons reasonably believed
to be qualified institutional buyers.
The Company used the net proceeds from the offering of the 2027 Senior Notes, together with approximately $65.0 million in
cash on hand, to redeem or prepay $625.0 million of its outstanding debt, consisting of (i) the outstanding $225.0 million principal
amount of its 6.625% Senior Notes due 2023, (ii) the outstanding $300.0 million principal amount of its 8.750% Senior Notes due
2024 and (iii) $100.0 million of the outstanding principal amount of senior secured term loans under the Credit Agreement, as well as
to pay the related premiums and fees and expenses, excluding accrued interest, associated with such redemption and prepayment.
The 2027 Senior Notes are HTUSA’s general unsecured senior obligations, rank equally in right of payment with all existing
and future senior debt of HTUSA and rank senior in right of payment to any existing and future subordinated debt of HTUSA. The
2027 Senior Notes are effectively subordinate to all of the existing and future secured debt of HTUSA to the extent of the value of the
collateral securing such debt.
The 2027 Senior Notes are unconditionally guaranteed on a senior basis by the Company and all of the Company’s restricted
subsidiaries, other than HTUSA and certain immaterial subsidiaries, that guarantee the Credit Agreement. The guarantees are each
guarantor’s senior unsecured obligations and rank equally in right of payment with such guarantor’s existing and future senior debt
and senior in right of payment to any existing and future subordinated debt of such guarantor. The guarantees are effectively
subordinated to all of the existing and future secured debt of each guarantor, including such guarantor’s guarantee under the Credit
Agreement, to the extent of the value of the collateral securing such debt. The guarantees of a guarantor may be released under certain
circumstances. The 2027 Senior Notes are structurally subordinated to all of the liabilities of the Company’s subsidiaries that do not
guarantee the 2027 Senior Notes.
The 2027 Senior Notes accrue interest at an annual rate of 5.5% payable semiannually in arrears on February 1 and August 1 of
each year, beginning on February 1, 2020. The 2027 Senior Notes will mature on August 1, 2027, unless earlier exchanged,
repurchased or redeemed.
Except as described below, the 2027 Senior Notes may not be redeemed before August 1, 2022. Thereafter, some or all of the
2027 Senior Notes may be redeemed at any time at specified redemption prices, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption
date. At any time prior to August 1, 2022, some or all of the 2027 Senior Notes may be redeemed at a price equal to 100% of the
aggregate principal amount thereof, plus a make-whole premium and accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date. Also prior to
August 1, 2022, up to 40% of the aggregate principal amount of the 2027 Senior Notes may be redeemed at a redemption price of
105.5% of the aggregate principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, with the net proceeds of certain equity offerings.
In addition, the 2027 Senior Notes may be redeemed in whole but not in part at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal
amount plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional amounts, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date, if on the next date on
which any amount would be payable in respect of the 2027 Senior Notes, HTUSA or any guarantor is or would be required to pay
additional amounts as a result of certain tax related events.
If the Company undergoes a change of control, HTUSA will be required to make an offer to purchase all of the 2027 Senior
Notes at a price in cash equal to 101% of the aggregate principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but not including,
the repurchase date, subject to certain exceptions. If the Company or certain of its subsidiaries engages in certain asset sales, HTUSA
will be required under certain circumstances to make an offer to purchase the 2027 Senior Notes at 100% of the principal amount
thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the repurchase date.
The indenture governing the 2027 Senior Notes contains covenants that limit the ability of the Company and its restricted
subsidiaries to, among other things, pay dividends or distributions, repurchase equity, prepay junior debt and make certain
investments, incur additional debt and issue certain preferred stock, incur liens on assets, engage in certain asset sales, merge,
consolidate with or merge or sell all or substantially all of their assets, enter into transactions with affiliates, designate subsidiaries as
unrestricted subsidiaries, and allow to exist certain restrictions on the ability of restricted subsidiaries to pay dividends or make other
payments to the Company. Certain of the covenants will be suspended during any period in which the 2027 Senior Notes receive
investment grade ratings. The indenture governing the 2027 Senior Notes also includes customary events of default.
As of December 31, 2020, the interest rate on the 2027 Senior Notes was 5.50% and the effective interest rate was 5.76%.
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As of December 31, 2020, the fair value of the 2027 Senior Notes was approximately $641.2 million, categorized as a Level 2
instrument, as defined in Note 15.

Exchangeable Senior Notes
On March 13, 2015, Horizon Therapeutics Investment Limited (formerly known as Horizon Pharma Investment Limited)
(“Horizon Investment”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, completed a private placement of $400.0 million aggregate
principal amount of Exchangeable Senior Notes to certain investment banks acting as initial purchasers who subsequently resold the
Exchangeable Senior Notes to qualified institutional buyers as defined in Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
The net proceeds from the offering of the Exchangeable Senior Notes were approximately $387.2 million, after deducting the initial
purchasers’ discount and offering expenses payable by Horizon Investment.
The Exchangeable Senior Notes were fully and unconditionally guaranteed, on a senior unsecured basis, by the Company (the
“Guarantee”). The Exchangeable Senior Notes and the Guarantee were Horizon Investment’s and the Company’s senior unsecured
obligations. The Exchangeable Senior Notes accrued interest at an annual rate of 2.5% payable semiannually in arrears on March 15
and September 15 of each year, beginning on September 15, 2015. The Exchangeable Senior Notes were scheduled to mature on
March 15, 2022. The exchange rate was 34.8979 ordinary shares of the Company per $1,000 principal amount of the Exchangeable
Senior Notes (equivalent to an initial exchange price of approximately $28.66 per ordinary share).
The Company recorded the Exchangeable Senior Notes under the guidance in ASC Topic 470-20, Debt with Conversion and
Other Options, and separated them into a liability component and equity component. The initial carrying amount of the liability
component of $268.9 million was determined by measuring the fair value of a similar liability that does not have an associated equity
component. The initial carrying amount of the equity component of $119.1 million represented by the embedded conversion option
was determined by deducting the fair value of the liability component of $268.9 million from the initial proceeds of $387.2 million
ascribed to the convertible debt instrument as a whole. The initial debt discount of $131.1 million was charged to interest expense
over the life of the Exchangeable Senior Notes using the effective interest rate method.
On June 3, 2020, Horizon Investment issued a notice of redemption (the “Redemption Notice”) for all of the outstanding
Exchangeable Senior Notes. From June 3, 2020 through July 30, 2020, the Company issued an aggregate of 13,898,414 of its
ordinary shares to noteholders as a result of exchanges of $398.3 million in aggregate principal amount of Exchangeable Senior Notes
following the issuance of the Redemption Notice.
On August 3, 2020, the Company redeemed the remaining $1.7 million in aggregate principal amount of Exchangeable Senior
Notes and made aggregate cash payments to the holders of such Exchangeable Senior Notes of $1.8 million, including accrued
interest. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded a loss on debt extinguishment $31.9 million related to the
Exchangeable Senior Notes.
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Trade Discounts and Rebates
Provision for trade discounts and rebates as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 consisted of the following (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2020
2019

Provision for government rebates and chargebacks
Provision for co-pay and other patient assistance
Provision for commercial rebates and wholesaler fees
Provision for trade discounts and rebates
Invoiced commercial rebates and wholesaler fees,
co-pay and other patient assistance, and government
rebates and chargebacks in accounts payable
Total customer-related provisions and allowances

$

$

172,893 $
96,924
82,646
352,463 $

164,508
163,641
138,272
466,421

$

1,452
353,915 $

489
466,910

Trade discounts and rebates as of December 31, 2020 will be largely paid within one year.
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The following table summarizes changes in the Company’s customer-related accruals and allowances during the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019 (in thousands):
Wholesaler Fees
and Commercial
Rebates

Balance at January 1, 2019
Current provisions relating to turnover during the year
ended December 31, 2019
Adjustments relating to prior-year turnover
Payments relating to turnover during the year ended
December 31, 2019
Payments relating to prior-year turnover
Balance at December 31, 2019
Current provisions relating to turnover during the year
ended December 31, 2020
Adjustments relating to prior-year turnover
Payments relating to turnover during the year ended
December 31, 2020
Payments relating to prior-year turnover
Balance at December 31, 2020
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$

153,445 $
484,843
(5,296 )

$

Government
Rebates and
Chargebacks

179,462 $
1,519,712
—

128,522 $
503,652
11,121

Total

461,429
2,508,207
5,825

(346,082 ) (1,356,071 )
(339,603 ) (2,041,756 )
(148,149 )
(179,462 )
(139,184 )
(466,795 )
138,761 $ 163,641 $ 164,508 $ 466,910
322,144
(18,266 )

$

Co-Pay and
Other Patient
Assistance

880,360
(3,059 )

596,808
(7,794 )

1,799,312
(29,119 )

(240,122 )
(783,517 )
(424,401 ) (1,448,040 )
(118,419 )
(160,501 )
(156,228 )
(435,148 )
84,098 $
96,924 $ 172,893 $ 353,915

Segment and Other Information

The Company has two reportable segments, the orphan segment and the inflammation segment, and the Company reports
turnover and segment operating income for each segment.
Effective in the first quarter of 2020, the Company (i) reorganized its commercial operations and moved responsibility for and
reporting of RAYOS to the inflammation segment and (ii) renamed the orphan and rheumatology segment the orphan
segment. Turnover generated by TEPEZZA, which was approved in the first quarter of 2020, are reported as part of the renamed
orphan segment.
The orphan segment includes the medicines TEPEZZA, KRYSTEXXA, RAVICTI, PROCYSBI, ACTIMMUNE, BUPHENYL
and QUINSAIR. The inflammation segment includes the medicines PENNSAID 2%, DUEXIS, RAYOS and VIMOVO and
previously included MIGERGOT prior to the MIGERGOT transaction.
The Company’s CODM evaluates the financial performance of the Company’s segments based upon segment operating
income. Segment operating income is defined as income (loss) before expense (benefit) for income taxes adjusted for the items set
forth in the reconciliation below. Items below income from operations are not reported by segment, since they are excluded from the
measure of segment profitability reviewed by the Company’s CODM. Additionally, certain expenses are not allocated to a
segment. The Company does not report balance sheet information by segment as no balance sheet by segment is reviewed by the
Company’s CODM.
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The following table presents a summary of total turnover by medicine (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019

TEPEZZA
KRYSTEXXA
RAVICTI
PROCYSBI
ACTIMMUNE
BUPHENYL
QUINSAIR
Orphan segment turnover

$

820,008
405,849
261,615
170,102
118,834
10,549
698
$ 1,787,655

PENNSAID 2%
DUEXIS
RAYOS
VIMOVO
MIGERGOT
Inflammation segment turnover

178,011
125,331
71,811
37,621
—
412,774

$

Total turnover

$ 2,200,429

$

—
342,379
228,755
161,941
107,302
9,806
817
851,000

$

200,756
115,750
78,595
52,106
1,822
449,029

$

$ 1,300,029

The table below provides reconciliations of the Company’s segment operating income to the Company’s total income (loss)
before taxation for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 (in thousands):
2020

Segment operating income:
Orphan
$
Inflammation
Reconciling items:
Amortization and step-up:
Intangible amortization expense
Stock step-up expense
Share-based compensation
Interest expense, net
Acquisition/divestiture-related costs
Upfront and milestone payments related to license agreements
Loss on debt extinguishment
Depreciation
Impairment of long-lived assets
Drug substance harmonization costs
Foreign exchange (loss) gain
Fees relating to term loan refinancing
Litigation settlements
Charges relating to discontinuation of Friedreich's ataxia program
Restructuring and realignment costs
Gain (loss) on sale of assets
Other
Income (loss) before taxation
$
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Year Ended December 31
2019

783,560 $
212,061

306,333
174,869

(255,148 )
—
(146,627 )
(59,616 )
(49,232 )
(33,000 )
(31,856 )
(24,303 )
(1,713 )
(542 )
(297 )
(54 )
—
—
141
4,883
3,388
401,645 $

(230,424 )
(89 )
(91,215 )
(87,089 )
(1,032 )
(9,073 )
(58,835 )
(6,733 )
—
(457 )
33
(2,292 )
(1,000 )
(1,076 )
(237 )
(10,963 )
(944 )
(20,224 )

The following table presents the amount and percentage of gross turnover from customers that represented more than 10% of the
Company’s gross turnover included in its two reportable segments, and all other customers as a group for the years ended December
31, 2020 and 2019 (in thousands, except percentages):
For the Years Ended December 31,
2020
Amount

Customer A
Customer B
Customer C
Customer D
Other Customers
Gross Turnover

$

$

1,298,128
959,066
772,724
521,425
488,088
4,039,431

2019
% of Gross
Turnover

Amount

% of Gross
Turnover

32%
24%
19%
13%
12%
100%

$ 1,414,617
757,138
664,454
342,694
732,921
$ 3,911,824

36%
19%
17%
9%
19%
100%

Geographic revenues are determined based on the country in which the Company’s customers are located. The following table
presents a summary of total net turnover attributed to geographic sources for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 (in
thousands, except percentages):
Year Ended December 31, 2020
% of Total
Net
Amount
Turnover

United States
Rest of world
Total net turnover
*Less than 1%

$

2,191,111
9,318
2,200,429

$

100%

Year Ended December 31, 2019
% of Total
Net
Amount
Turnover

$

*
$

1,292,419
7,610
1,300,029

The following table presents total tangible long-lived assets by location (in thousands):

As of December 31,
2020
2019

United States
Other
Total long-lived assets (1)

$
$

214,563 $
8,880
223,443 $

(1) Long-lived assets consist of property and equipment and right-of-use lease assets.
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58,991
10,971
69,962

99%
1%

19

Commitments and Contingencies
Purchase Commitments

Under the Company’s supply agreement with AGC Biologics A/S (formerly known as CMC Biologics A/S) (“AGC Biologics”),
the Company has agreed to purchase certain minimum annual order quantities of TEPEZZA drug substance. In addition, the
Company must provide AGC Biologics with rolling forecasts of TEPEZZA drug substance requirements, with a portion of the
forecast being a firm and binding order. Under the Company’s supply agreement with Catalent Indiana, LLC (“Catalent”), the
Company must provide Catalent with rolling forecasts of TEPEZZA drug product requirements, with a portion of the forecast being a
firm and binding order. At December 31, 2020, the Company had total purchase commitments, including the minimum annual order
quantities and binding firm orders, with AGC Biologics for TEPEZZA drug substance of €134.7 million ($164.6 million converted at
an exchange rate as of December 31, 2020 of 1.2216), to be delivered through December 2022. In addition, the Company had binding
purchase commitments with Catalent for TEPEZZA drug product of $17.9 million, to be delivered through December 2021.
On December 17, 2020, the Company announced that it expected a short-term disruption in TEPEZZA supply as a result of
recent U.S. government-mandated COVID-19 vaccine production orders pursuant to the Defense Production Act of 1950 (“DPA”)
that dramatically restricted capacity available for the production of TEPEZZA at its drug product contract manufacturer, Catalent.
Pursuant to the DPA, Catalent was ordered to prioritize certain COVID-19 vaccine manufacturing at Catalent, resulting in the
cancellation of previously guaranteed and contracted TEPEZZA drug product manufacturing slots in December 2020, which were
required to maintain TEPEZZA supply. To offset the reduced slots allowed by the DPA and Catalent, the Company accelerated plans
to increase the production scale of TEPEZZA drug product. In March 2021, the FDA approved a prior approval supplement to the
previously approved Biologics Licensing Application, giving the Company authorization to manufacture more TEPEZZA drug
product resulting in an increased number of vials with each manufacturing slot. The Company plans to resupply the market beginning
in April 2021, which will end the supply disruption that began in December 2020 following U.S. government-mandated COVID-19
vaccine production orders pursuant to the DPA.
Under the Company’s agreement with Bio-Technology General (Israel) Ltd (“BTG Israel”), the Company has agreed to
purchase certain minimum annual order quantities and is obligated to purchase at least 80 percent of its annual world-wide bulk
product requirements for KRYSTEXXA from BTG Israel. The term of the agreement runs until December 31, 2030, and will
automatically renew for successive three-year periods unless earlier terminated by either party upon three years’ prior written
notice. The agreement may be terminated earlier by either party in the event of a force majeure, liquidation, dissolution, bankruptcy
or insolvency of the other party, uncured material breach by the other party or after January 1, 2024, upon three years’ prior written
notice. Under the agreement, if the manufacture of the bulk product is moved out of Israel, the Company may be required to obtain
the approval of the Israel Innovation Authority (formerly known as Israeli Office of the Chief Scientist) (“IIA”) because certain
KRYSTEXXA intellectual property was initially developed with a grant funded by the IIA. The Company issues eighteen-month
forecasts of the volume of KRYSTEXXA that the Company expects to order. The first nine months of the forecast are considered
binding firm orders. At December 31, 2020, the Company had a total purchase commitment, including the minimum annual order
quantities and binding firm orders with BTG Israel, for KRYSTEXXA of $33.0 million, to be delivered through December 2026.
Additionally, there were other purchase orders relating to the manufacture of KRYSTEXXA of $1.5 million outstanding at December
31, 2020.
Under an agreement with Boehringer Ingelheim Biopharmaceuticals GmbH (“Boehringer Ingelheim Biopharmaceuticals”),
Boehringer Ingelheim Biopharmaceuticals is required to manufacture and supply ACTIMMUNE and IMUKIN to the Company.
Following the Company’s sale of the rights to IMUKIN in all territories outside of the United States, Canada and Japan to Clinigen
Group plc (“Clinigen”), purchases of IMUKIN stock are being resold to Clinigen. The Company is required to purchase minimum
quantities of finished medicine during the term of the agreement, which term extends to at least June 30, 2024. As of December 31,
2020, the minimum purchase commitment to Boehringer Ingelheim Biopharmaceuticals was $15.8 million (converted using a Dollarto-Euro exchange rate of 1.2216 as of December 31, 2020) through June 2024.
Excluding the above, additional purchase orders and other commitments relating to the manufacture of RAVICTI, BUPHENYL,
PROCYSBI, PENNSAID 2%, DUEXIS, RAYOS and QUINSAIR of $14.7 million were outstanding at December 31, 2020.
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Royalty and Milestone Agreements
TEPEZZA
Under the acquisition agreement for River Vision, the Company agreed to pay up to $325.0 million upon the attainment of
various milestones, composed of $100.0 million related to FDA approval and $225.0 million related to turnover thresholds for
TEPEZZA. The Company made the $100.0 million milestone payment related to FDA approval during the first quarter of 2020.
The aggregate potential milestone payments of $225.0 million are payable based on certain TEPEZZA worldwide turnover
thresholds being achieved as noted in the following table:
TEPEZZA Worldwide
Net Sales Threshold

Milestone
Payment

>$250 million
>$375 million
>$500 million

$50 million
$75 million
$100 million

The agreement also includes a royalty payment of 3 percent of the portion of annual worldwide net sales exceeding $300.0
million (if any).
S.R. One and Lundbeckfond, as two of the former River Vision stockholders, both held rights to receive approximately 35.66%
of any future TEPEZZA payments. As a result of the Company’s agreements with S.R. One and Lundbeckfond in April 2020, the
Company’s remaining net obligations to make TEPEZZA payments for sales milestones and royalties to the former stockholders of
River Vision was reduced by approximately 70.25%, after including payments to a third party.
Under the Company’s license agreement with Roche, the Company is required to pay Roche up to CHF103.0 million ($116.4
million when converted using a CHF-to-Dollar exchange rate at December 31, 2020 of 1.1301) upon the attainment of various
development, regulatory and sales milestones for TEPEZZA. During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2017, CHF3.0 million
($3.0 million when converted using a CHF-to-Dollar exchange rate at the date of payment of 1.0023) and CHF2.0 million ($2.0
million when converted using a CHF-to-Dollar exchange rate at the date of payment of 1.0169), respectively, was paid in relation to
these milestones. The Company made a milestone payment of CHF5.0 million ($5.2 million when converted using a CHF-to-Dollar
exchange rate at the date of payment of 1.0382) during the first quarter of 2020. The agreement with Roche also includes tiered
royalties on annual worldwide net sales between 9 and 12 percent.
As of December 31, 2020, the Company recorded a liability of $123.4 million in accrued expenses representing net sales
milestones for TEPEZZA. During the second quarter of 2020, the Company recorded $67.0 million in relation to the expected
attainment in 2020 of various net sales milestones payable under the acquisition agreement for River Vision and CHF30.0 million
($33.9 million when converted using a CHF-to-Dollar exchange rate as of December 31, 2020 of 1.1301) in relation to the expected
attainment in 2020 of various net sales milestones payable to Roche. During the third quarter of 2020, the Company recorded an
additional CHF20.0 million ($22.6 million when converted using a CHF-to-Dollar exchange rate as of December 31, 2020 of 1.1301)
in relation to the expected attainment in 2020 of various net sales milestones payable to Roche. The timing of the payments is
dependent on when the applicable milestone thresholds are attained. The Company paid the milestones to Roche in February 2021
and will pay the applicable milestones to the former River Vision stockholders in April 2021. In addition, the Company recorded
$120.8 million as a finite lived intangible asset representing the developed technology for TEPEZZA on the consolidated balance
sheet as of December 31, 2020 and the net foreign exchange loss of $2.6 million relating to remeasurement of the liability was
recorded in the consolidated profit and loss account.
Under the Company’s license agreement with Lundquist Institute (formerly known as Los Angeles Biomedical Research
Institute at Harbor-UCLA Medical Center) (“Lundquist”), the Company is required to pay Lundquist a royalty payment of less than 1
percent of TEPEZZA turnover. The royalty terminates upon the expiration date of the longest-lived Lundquist patent rights, which is
December 2021 for the U.S. rights.
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Under the Company’s license agreement with Boehringer Ingelheim Biopharmaceuticals, the Company is required to pay
Boehringer Ingelheim Biopharmaceuticals milestone payments totaling less than $2.0 million upon the achievement of certain
TEPEZZA sales milestones.
For all of the royalty agreements entered into by the Company, a total royalty expense of $164.6 million was recorded in cost of
goods sold in the consolidated profit and loss account during the year ended December 31, 2020. A total royalty expense of $71.5
million was recorded in cost of goods sold in the consolidated profit and loss account during the year ended December 31, 2019. A
total net expense of $66.6 million was recorded during the year ended December 31, 2018, of which $68.5 million was recorded in
“cost of goods sold” and $1.9 million was recorded in “selling, general and administrative” expenses in the consolidated profit and
loss account.
KRYSTEXXA
Under the terms of a license agreement with Duke and MVP, the Company is obligated to pay Duke a mid-single-digit royalty
on its global turnover of KRYSTEXXA and a royalty of between 5% and 15% on any global sublicense revenue. The Company is
also obligated to pay MVP a mid-single-digit royalty on its turnover of KRYSTEXXA outside of the United States and a royalty of
between 5% and 15% on any sublicense revenue outside of the United States.

RAVICTI
Under the terms of an asset purchase agreement with Bausch Health Companies Inc. (formerly Ucyclyd Pharma, Inc.)
(“Bausch”), the Company is obligated to pay to Bausch mid single-digit royalties on its global turnover of RAVICTI. Under the terms
of a license agreement with Saul W. Brusilow, M.D. and Brusilow Enterprises, Inc. (“Brusilow”), the Company is obligated to pay
low single-digit royalties to Brusilow on turnover of RAVICTI that are covered by a valid claim of a licensed patent.
PROCYSBI
Under the terms of an amended and restated license agreement with The Regents of the University of California, San Diego
(“UCSD”), as amended, the Company is obligated to pay to UCSD tiered low to mid-single-digit royalties on its turnover of
PROCYSBI, including a minimum annual royalty in an amount less than $0.1 million. The Company must also pay UCSD a
percentage in the mid-teens of any fees it receives from its sublicensees under the agreement that are not earned royalties. The
Company may also be obligated to pay UCSD aggregate developmental milestone payments of $0.3 million and aggregate regulatory
milestone payments of $1.8 million for each orphan indication, and aggregate developmental milestone payments of $0.8 million and
aggregate regulatory milestone payments of $3.5 million for each non-orphan indication.
ACTIMMUNE
Under a license agreement, as amended, with Genentech Inc. (“Genentech”), who was the original developer of ACTIMMUNE,
the Company is obligated to pay a low single digit royalty to Genentech on its annual turnover of ACTIMMUNE.
Under the terms of an assignment and option agreement with Connetics Corporation (which was the predecessor parent
company to InterMune Pharmaceuticals Inc. and is now part of GlaxoSmithKline), (“Connetics”), the Company is obligated to pay
low single-digit royalties to Connetics on the Company’s turnover of ACTIMMUNE in the United States.
RAYOS and LODOTRA
During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company was obligated to pay Vectura a mid-single digit percentage
royalty on its adjusted gross sales of RAYOS and LODOTRA and on any sub-licensing income, which includes any payments not
calculated based on the adjusted gross sales of RAYOS and LODOTRA, such as license fees, and lump sum and milestone payments.
Under certain amendments to the Company’s license and supply agreements with Vectura, the royalty payable by the Company
to Vectura in respect of RAYOS sales in North America is amended whereby, effective January 1, 2019, the Company is obligated to
pay Vectura a mid-teens percentage royalty on its turnover, subject to a minimum royalty of $8.0 million per year, with the minimum
royalty requirement expiring on December 31, 2022. In addition, under the amendments, the Company ceased recording LODOTRA
revenue and is no longer required to pay a royalty in respect of LODOTRA.
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VIMOVO
The Company is required to pay Miravo Healthcare (formerly known as Nuvo Pharmaceuticals Inc.) a 10 percent royalty on
turnover of VIMOVO and other medicines sold by the Company, its affiliates or sublicensees during the royalty term that contain
gastroprotective agents in a single fixed combination oral solid dosage form with nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, subject to
minimum annual royalty obligations of $7.5 million. These minimum royalty obligations will continue for each year during which
one of Miravo’s patents covers such medicines in the United States and there are no competing medicines in the United States. The
royalty rate may be reduced to a mid-single digit royalty rate as a result of loss of market share to competing medicines. The
Company’s obligation to pay royalties to Miravo will expire upon the later of (a) expiration of the last-to-expire of certain patents
covering such medicines in the United States, and (b) ten years after the first commercial sale of such medicines in the United States.
Contingencies
The Company is subject to claims and assessments from time to time in the ordinary course of business. The Company’s
management does not believe that any such matters, individually or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. In addition, the Company from time to time has billing
disputes with vendors in which amounts invoiced are not in accordance with the terms of their contracts.
In November 2015, the Company received a subpoena from the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of New York
requesting documents and information related to its patient assistance programs and other aspects of its marketing and
commercialization activities. The Company is unable to predict how long this investigation will continue or its outcome, but it
anticipates that it may continue to incur significant costs in connection with the investigation, regardless of the outcome. The
Company may also become subject to similar investigations by other governmental agencies. The investigation by the U.S.
Attorney’s Office and any additional investigations of the Company’s patient assistance programs and sales and marketing activities
may result in damages, fines, penalties or other administrative sanctions against the Company.
On March 5, 2019, the Company received a civil investigative demand (“CID”) from the United States Department of Justice
(“DOJ”) pursuant to the Federal False Claims Act regarding assertions that certain of the Company’s payments to pharmacy benefit
managers (“PBMs”) were potentially in violation of the Anti-Kickback Statute. The CID requests certain documents and information
related to the Company’s payments to PBMs, pricing and the Company’s patient assistance program regarding DUEXIS, VIMOVO
and PENNSAID 2%. The Company is cooperating with the investigation. While the Company believes that its payments and
programs are compliant with the Anti-Kickback Statute, no assurance can be given as to the timing or outcome of the DOJ’s
investigation, or that it will not result in a material adverse effect on the Company’s business.
Other Agreements
On April 1, 2020, the Company acquired Curzion for an upfront payment of $45.0 million with additional payments of up to
$15.0 million contingent on the achievement of certain development and regulatory milestones. Under separate agreements, the
Company is also required to make contingent payments upon the achievement of certain development and regulatory milestones and
certain turnover thresholds. These separate agreements also include mid to high-single-digit royalty payments based on the portion of
annual worldwide turnover.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company committed to invest as a strategic limited partner in four venture
capital funds: Forbion Growth Opportunities Fund I C.V., Forbion Capital Fund V C.V., Aisling Capital V, L.P. and RiverVest
Venture Fund V, L.P. As of December 31, 2020, the total carrying amount of the Company’s investments in these funds is $10.6
million, which is included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheet, and the Company’s total future commitments to these
funds are $56.2 million.
On November 21, 2020, the Company entered into a global collaboration and license agreement with Halozyme that gives the
Company exclusive access to Halozyme’s ENHANZE drug delivery technology for SC formulation of medicines targeting IGF-1R.
The Company intends to use ENHANZE to develop a SC formulation of TEPEZZA. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company
agreed to pay Halozyme an upfront cash payment of $30.0 million with additional potential future milestone payments of up to $160.0
million contingent on the satisfaction of certain development and sales thresholds. The upfront payment was paid in December 2020.
As of December 31, 2020, the Company has $25.0 million of non-cancellable advertising commitments due within one year,
primarily related to agreements for advertising for TEPEZZA and KRYSTEXXA.
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Indemnification
In the normal course of business, the Company enters into contracts and agreements that contain a variety of representations and
warranties and provide for general indemnifications. The Company’s exposure under these agreements is unknown because it
involves claims that may be made against the Company in the future, but have not yet been made. The Company may record charges
in the future as a result of these indemnification obligations.
In accordance with its memorandum and articles of association, the Company has indemnification obligations to its officers and
directors for certain events or occurrences, subject to certain limits, while they are serving at the Company’s request in such
capacity. Additionally, the Company has entered into, and intends to continue to enter into, separate indemnification agreements with
its directors and executive officers. These agreements, among other things, require the Company to indemnify its directors and
executive officers for certain expenses, including attorneys’ fees, judgments, fines and settlement amounts incurred by a director or
executive officer in any action or proceeding arising out of their services as one of the Company’s directors or executive officers, or
any of the Company’s subsidiaries or any other company or enterprise to which the person provides services at the Company’s
request. The Company also has a director and officer insurance policy that enables it to recover a portion of any amounts paid for
current and future potential claims. All of the Company’s officers and directors have also entered into separate indemnification
agreements with HTUSA.
The Company has no other off-balance sheet arrangements.
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Legal
PENNSAID 2%

On November 13, 2014, the Company received a Paragraph IV Patent Certification from Watson Laboratories, Inc., now known
as Actavis Laboratories UT, Inc. (“Actavis UT”), advising that Actavis UT had filed an Abbreviated New Drug Application
(“ANDA”) with the FDA for a generic version of PENNSAID 2%. On December 23, 2014, June 30, 2015, August 11, 2015 and
September 17, 2015, the Company filed four separate suits against Actavis UT and Actavis plc (collectively “Actavis”), in the United
States District Court for the District of New Jersey, with each of the suits seeking an injunction to prevent approval of the ANDA.
The lawsuits alleged that Actavis has infringed nine of the Company’s patents covering PENNSAID 2% by filing an ANDA seeking
approval from the FDA to market a generic version of PENNSAID 2% prior to the expiration of certain of the Company’s patents
listed in the FDA’s Orange Book (the “Orange Book”). These four suits were consolidated into a single suit. On October 27, 2015
and on February 5, 2016, the Company filed two additional suits against Actavis, in the United States District Court for the District of
New Jersey, for patent infringement of three additional Company patents covering PENNSAID 2%.
On August 17, 2016, the District Court issued a Markman opinion holding certain of the asserted claims of seven of the
Company’s patents covering PENNSAID 2% invalid as indefinite. On March 16, 2017, the Court granted Actavis’ motion for
summary judgment of non-infringement of the asserted claims of three of the Company’s patents covering PENNSAID 2%. In view
of the Markman and summary judgment decisions, a bench trial was held from March 21, 2017 through March 30, 2017, regarding a
claim of one of the Company’s patents covering PENNSAID 2%. On May 14, 2017, the Court issued its opinion upholding the
validity of the claim of the patent, which Actavis had previously admitted its proposed generic diclofenac sodium topical solution
product would infringe. Actavis filed its Notice of Appeal on June 16, 2017. The Company also filed its Notice of Appeal of the
District Court’s rulings on certain claims of the Company’s patents covering PENNSAID 2%. On October 10, 2019, the Federal
Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed the District Court’s judgment of validity of U.S Patent No. 9,066,913 (the “‘913 patent”), and its
finding that the Actavis generic product would infringe the ‘913 patent. The Federal Circuit also affirmed the District Court’s
summary judgment finding that certain patents are invalid for indefiniteness and would not be infringed. On July 29, 2020, the
Company filed a Petition for Certiorari to the United States Supreme Court seeking review of the Federal Circuit’s ruling invalidating
certain patents. On November 2, 2020, the Supreme Court denied the Company’s Petition for Certiorari.
On August 18, 2016, the Company filed suit in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey against Actavis for
patent infringement of four of the Company’s newly issued patents covering PENNSAID 2%. All four of such patents are listed in the
Orange Book. This litigation is currently stayed by agreement of the parties.
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DUEXIS
On May 29, 2018, the Company received notice from Alkem Laboratories, Inc. (“Alkem”) that it had filed an ANDA with the
FDA seeking approval of a generic version of DUEXIS. The ANDA contained a Paragraph IV Patent Certification alleging that the
patents covering DUEXIS are invalid and/or will not be infringed by Alkem’s manufacture, use or sale of the medicine for which the
ANDA was submitted. The Company filed suit in the United States District Court of Delaware against Alkem on July 9, 2018,
seeking an injunction to prevent the approval of Alkem’s ANDA and/or to prevent Alkem from selling a generic version of
DUEXIS. The litigation went to trial on September 14, 2020. On November 30, 2020, the District Court issued an adverse judgment
against the Company, invalidating U.S Patent No. 8,607,033 and finding that Alkem’s generic product would not infringe the ‘033
patent. And following an adverse claim construction ruling, the District Court entered a judgment that the Alkem generic product
would not infringe U.S. Patent No. 8,607,451, subject to the Company’s right to appeal the District Court’s claim construction ruling.
On December 23, 2020, the Company initiated an appeal of the adverse judgments on the ‘033 and ‘451 patents with the Federal
Circuit Court of Appeals.
On September 26, 2018, the Company received notice from Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc. (“Teva USA”) that it had filed an
ANDA with the FDA seeking approval of a generic version of DUEXIS. The ANDA contained a Paragraph IV Patent Certification
alleging that the patents covering DUEXIS are invalid and/or will not be infringed by Teva USA’s manufacture, use or sale of the
medicine for which the ANDA was submitted. The Company filed suit in the United States District Court of New Jersey against Teva
USA on July 2, 2020, seeking to prevent Teva USA from selling a generic version of DUEXIS. The parties are currently engaged in
discovery. The court has not yet set a trial date.
VIMOVO
On February 18, 2020, the FDA granted final approval for Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Inc. and Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Ltd.
(collectively, “Dr. Reddy’s”) generic version of VIMOVO. On February 27, 2020, Dr. Reddy’s launched its generic version of
VIMOVO in the United States, and the Company now faces generic competition with respect to VIMOVO. The Company continues
to assert claims of infringement against Dr. Reddy’s based on U.S. Patent No. 8,858,996 and U.S. Patent No. 9,161,920 in the District
Court for the District of New Jersey. Settlements have been reached with four other generic companies: (i) Teva Pharmaceuticals
Industries Limited (formerly known as Actavis Laboratories FL, Inc., which itself was formerly known as Watson Laboratories, Inc. –
Florida) and Actavis Pharma, Inc., (ii) Lupin Limited (“Lupin”) and Lupin Pharmaceuticals, Inc., (iii) Mylan Pharmaceuticals Inc.,
Mylan Laboratories Limited, and Mylan Inc. (collectively, “Mylan”), and (iv) Ajanta Pharma Ltd. and Ajanta Pharma USA Inc.
Under the settlement agreements, the license entry date was August 1, 2024; however, the entry date under all four licenses was
accelerated and the licenses became effective upon Dr. Reddy’s launch of its generic version of VIMOVO on February 27, 2020. A
settlement has also been reached with Anchen Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Anchen”) following its conversion of a prior Paragraph III
Patent Certification to a Paragraph IV Patent Certification. Under the Anchen settlement, the license entry date is upon the expiration
of the ‘996 and ‘920 patents on May 31, 2022, or potentially earlier upon certain circumstances.
On November 19, 2018, the District Court granted Dr. Reddy’s and Mylan’s summary judgment ruling that U.S Patent Numbers
9,220,698 and 9,393,208 are invalid, and on January 21, 2019, it entered final judgment against the ‘698 and ‘208 patents and U.S.
Patent Number 8,945,621. On February 21, 2019, the Company appealed the adverse judgments on the ‘208 and ‘698 patents to the
Federal Circuit Court of Appeals. On January 6, 2021, the Federal Circuit affirmed the District Court judgments invalidating the ‘208
and ‘698 patents.

PROCYSBI
On June 27, 2020, the Company received notice from Lupin that it had filed an ANDA with the FDA seeking approval of a
generic version of PROCYSBI. The ANDA contained a Paragraph IV Patent Certification alleging that the patents covering
PROCYSBI are invalid and/or will not be infringed by Lupin’s manufacture, use or sale of the medicine for which the ANDA was
submitted. The Company filed suit in the United States District Court of New Jersey against Lupin on August 11, 2020, seeking to
prevent Lupin from selling a generic version of PROCYSBI.
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Called up share capital presented as equity
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, share capital was comprised as follows (in thousands, except share data):
As of December 31,
2020

Authorized
40,000 (2019: 40,000) ordinary shares €1 par value each
600,000,000 (2019: 600,000,000) ordinary shares at $0.0001 par value each

$
$

Allotted, called up and fully paid
40,000 (2019: 40,000) deferred shares €1 par value each
221,337,308 (2019: 188,017,674) outstanding ordinary shares at $0.0001 par value

$
$

2019

55
60
115

55
22
77

$
$

$
$

55
60
115

55
19
74

On June 3, 2020, Horizon Investment issued a Redemption Notice for all of the outstanding Exchangeable Senior Notes. From
June 3, 2020 through July 30, 2020, the Company issued an aggregate of 13,898,414 of its ordinary shares to noteholders as a result of
exchanges of $398.3 million in aggregate principal amount of Exchangeable Senior Notes following the issuance of the Redemption
Notice. On August 3, 2020, the Company redeemed the remaining $1.7 million in aggregate principal amount of Exchangeable Senior
Notes and made aggregate cash payments to the holders of such Exchangeable Senior Notes of $1.8 million, including accrued
interest.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company issued 13.6 million ordinary shares in connection with the closing of
its underwritten public equity offering on August 11, 2020. The Company received net proceeds of approximately $919.8 million
after deducting underwriting discounts and other offering expenses payable by the Company in connection with such offering.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company issued an aggregate of 5.9 million of ordinary shares in connection
with stock option exercises, the vesting of restricted stock units and performance stock units, and employee share purchase plan
purchases. The Company received a total of $53.0 million in net proceeds in connection with such issuances.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company made payments of $66.5 million for employee withholding taxes
relating to share-based awards.
On February 28, 2019, the Company entered into a Rights Agreement (the “Rights Agreement”), with Computershare Trust
Company, N.A., as rights agent. The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) authorized the issuance of one ordinary share
purchase right (a “Right”) for each outstanding ordinary share of the Company. Each Right represented the right to purchase one-fifth
of an ordinary share of the Company, upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Rights Agreement. The Rights were issued
to the shareholders of record on March 11, 2019 and expired on February 28, 2020.
The Board adopted the Rights Agreement to enable all shareholders of the Company to realize the long-term value of their
investment in the Company and to guard against attempts to acquire control of the Company at an inadequate price. In general terms,
the Rights Agreement works by causing significant dilution to any person or group that acquires 10% (or 15% in the case of an
existing “13G Investor” as defined in the Rights Agreement) or more of the outstanding ordinary shares of the Company without the
prior approval of the Board. The Rights Agreement is not intended to prevent an acquisition of the Company on terms that the Board
considers favorable to, and in the best interests of, all shareholders. Rather, the Rights Agreement aims to provide the Board with
adequate time to fully assess any takeover proposal and therefore comply with its fiduciary duties and to encourage anyone seeking to
acquire the Company to negotiate with the Board prior to attempting a takeover. The Rights Agreement was adopted in response to
the takeover environment in general, particularly in light of the Company’s evolution into a biopharma company focused on rare
diseases and rheumatology, the Phase 3 clinical trial results of its rare disease medicine candidate TEPEZZA announced on February
28, 2019 and the market opportunity for KRYSTEXXA and TEPEZZA and was not in response to any specific approach to the
Company or perceived imminent takeover proposal for the Company. The issuance of Rights is not taxable to the Company or to
shareholders and does not affect reported earnings per share.
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During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company issued an aggregate of 14.1 million of ordinary shares in connection
with the closing of its underwritten public equity offering on March 11, 2019. The Company received a total of approximately $326.8
million after deducting underwriting discounts and other estimated offering expenses payable by the Company in connection with
such offering.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company issued an aggregate of 5.1 million of ordinary shares in connection
with stock option exercises, the vesting of restricted stock units and performance stock units, and employee share purchase plan
purchases. The Company received a total of $36.2 million in net proceeds in connection with such issuances.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company made payments of $31.6 million for employee withholding taxes
relating to share-based awards.
On May 2, 2019, the shareholders of the Company approved an increase in the Company’s authorized share capital of an
additional 300,000,000 ordinary shares of nominal value $0.0001 per share.
On May 2, 2019, the shareholders of the Company approved the renewal of the Board’s existing authority to allot and issue
ordinary shares for cash and non-cash considerations under Irish law for a five-year period to expire on May 2, 2024. Additionally, on
May 2, 2019, the shareholders of the Company approved the renewal of the Board’s existing authority to allot and issue ordinary
shares for cash without first offering those ordinary shares to existing shareholders pursuant to the statutory pre-emption right that
would otherwise apply under Irish law for a five-year period to expire on May 2, 2024.
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Equity Incentive Plans

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. On May 17, 2014, HPI’s board of directors adopted the 2014 Employee Stock Purchase
Plan (the “2014 ESPP”). On September 18, 2014, at a special meeting of the stockholders of HPI (the “Special Meeting”), HPI’s
stockholders approved the 2014 ESPP. Upon consummation of the Company’s merger transaction with Vidara (the “Vidara Merger”),
the Company assumed the 2014 ESPP.
2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. On February 19, 2020, the compensation committee of the Company’s board of directors
(the “Compensation Committee”) adopted, subject to shareholder approval, the 2020 Employee Share Purchase Plan (“2020 ESPP”),
as successor to and continuation of the 2014 ESPP, including increasing the number of ordinary shares available for issuance to the
Company’s employees pursuant to the exercise of purchase rights under our purchase plans by an additional 2,500,000 shares. On
April 30, 2020, the shareholders of the Company approved the 2020 ESPP.
As of December 31, 2020, an aggregate of 2,994,723 ordinary shares were authorized and available for future issuance under the
2014 ESPP and 2020 ESPP combined. The 2014 ESPP will terminate following its final purchase date in June 2021. Any
unpurchased shares that remain subject to the share reserve of the 2014 ESPP following its final purchase date will be added to the
2,500,000 shares initially approved for the 2020 ESPP’s share reserve and will be available for future issuance pursuant to purchase
rights granted under the 2020 ESPP.
Share-Based Compensation Plans
2011 Equity Incentive Plan. In July 2010, HPI’s board of directors adopted the 2011 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2011 EIP”). In
June 2011, HPI’s stockholders approved the 2011 EIP, and it became effective upon the signing of the underwriting agreement related
to HPI’s initial public offering on July 28, 2011. Upon consummation of the Vidara Merger, the Company assumed the 2011 EIP, and
upon the effectiveness of the Horizon Therapeutics Public Limited Company 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2014 EIP”), no
additional stock awards were or will be made under the 2011 Plan, although all outstanding stock awards granted under the 2011 Plan
continue to be governed by the terms of the 2011 Plan.
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2014 Equity Incentive Plan and 2014 Non-Employee Equity Plan. On May 17, 2014, HPI’s board of directors adopted the 2014
EIP and the Horizon Therapeutics Public Limited Company 2014 Non-Employee Equity Plan (the “2014 Non-Employee Equity
Plan”). At the Special Meeting, HPI’s stockholders approved the 2014 EIP and 2014 Non-Employee Equity Plan. Upon
consummation of the Vidara Merger, the Company assumed the 2014 EIP and 2014 Non-Employee Equity Plan, which serve as
successors to the 2011 EIP.
The 2014 EIP provides for the grant of incentive and nonstatutory stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock
awards, restricted stock unit awards, performance awards and other stock awards that may be settled in cash, shares or other property
to the employees of the Company (or a subsidiary company). During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Compensation
Committee approved an amendment to the 2014 EIP to reserve additional shares to be used exclusively for grants of awards to
individuals who were not previously employees or non-employee directors of the Company (or following a bona fide period of nonemployment with the Company) (the “2017 Inducement Pool”), as an inducement material to the individual’s entry into employment
with the Company within the meaning of Rule 5635(c)(4) of the Nasdaq Listing Rules, (“Rule 5635(c)(4)”). The 2014 EIP was
amended by the Compensation Committee without shareholder approval pursuant to Rule 5635(c)(4). An amendment to the 2014 EIP
increasing the number of ordinary shares that may be issued under the 2014 EIP by 10,800,000 ordinary shares was approved by the
Compensation Committee on February 21, 2018 and by the shareholders of the Company on May 3, 2018.
On February 19, 2020, the Compensation Committee adopted, subject to shareholder approval, the 2020 Equity Incentive Plan
(“2020 EIP”), as successor to and continuation of the 2014 EIP, including increasing the number of ordinary shares available for the
grant of equity awards to the Company’s employees by an additional 6,900,000 shares. On April 30, 2020, the shareholders of the
Company approved the 2020 EIP.
The 2014 Non-Employee Equity Plan provides for the grant of non-statutory stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted
stock awards, restricted stock unit awards and other forms of stock awards that may be settled in cash, shares or other property to the
non-employee directors and consultants of the Company (or a subsidiary company). The Company’s board of directors has authority
to suspend or terminate the 2014 Non-Employee Equity Plan at any time.
On February 20, 2019, the Compensation Committee approved, subject to shareholder approval, an amendment to the 2014
Non-Employee Equity Plan, increasing the number of ordinary shares that may be issued under the 2014 Non-Employee Equity Plan
by 750,000 ordinary shares, subject to adjustment for certain changes in our capitalization. On May 2, 2019, the shareholders of the
Company approved such amendment to the 2014 Non-Employee Equity Plan.
As of December 31, 2020, an aggregate of 12,381,337 ordinary shares were authorized and available for future grants under the
2020 EIP and an aggregate of 574,193 ordinary shares were authorized and available for future grants under the 2014 Non-Employee
Equity Plan.
Stock Options
The following table summarizes stock option activity during the year ended December 31, 2020:

Options

Outstanding as of January 1, 2020
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Expired
Outstanding as of December 31, 2020
Exercisable as of December 31, 2020

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

9,564,202 $
—
(2,347,131 )
(61,436 )
(26,020 )
7,129,615
7,012,012 $

Stock options typically have a contractual term of ten years from grant date.

143

19.85
—
15.70
16.11
24.34
21.24
21.25

Weighted
Average
Contractual Term
Remaining
(in years)

5.43

4.60
4.55

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value
(in thousands)

$

156,270

$

370,073
363,947

The following table summarizes the Company’s outstanding stock options at December 31, 2020:

Exercise Price Ranges

$2.01 - $4.00
$4.01- $8.00
$8.01 - $12.00
$12.01 - $17.00
$17.01 - $22.00
$22.01 - $28.00
$28.01 - $36.00

Options Outstanding
Weighted Average
Weighted
Remaining
Number of options
Average
Contractual
outstanding
Exercise Price
Term (in years)

62,713 $
83,752
127,841
1,343,025
1,082,341
2,521,823
1,908,120
7,129,615 $

2.70
7.10
8.85
14.14
17.96
22.28
28.80
21.24

2.24
2.53
3.42
5.03
5.51
4.23
4.52
4.60

Options Exercisable
Weighted Weighted Average
Average
Remaining
Number
Exercise
Contractual
Exercisable
Price
Term (in years)

62,713 $
83,752
127,841
1,304,048
1,050,217
2,521,823
1,861,618
7,012,012 $

2.70
7.10
8.85
14.14
17.98
22.28
28.79
21.25

2.24
2.53
3.42
4.98
5.49
4.23
4.41
4.55

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company did not grant any stock options. During the year ended December 31,
2019, the Company granted stock options to purchase an aggregate of 69,752 ordinary shares, with a weighted average grant date fair
value of $15.77.
The total intrinsic value of the options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $79.8 million and
$28.2 million, respectively. The total fair value of stock options vested during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $3.5
million and $13.8 million, respectively.

The fair value of each stock option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The
determination of the fair value of each stock option is affected by the Company’s share price on the date of grant, as well as
assumptions regarding a number of highly complex and subjective variables. These variables include, but are not limited to, the
Company’s expected share price volatility over the expected term of the awards and actual and projected stock option exercise
behavior. The weighted average fair value per share of stock option awards granted during the year ended December 31, 2019, and
assumptions used to value stock options, are as follows:
For the Years Ended December 31,
2019

Dividend yield
Risk-free interest rate
Weighted average volatility
Expected life (in years)
Weighted average grant date fair value per share of options granted

$

—
1.6%
56.5 %
6.00
15.77

Dividend yields
The Company has never paid dividends and does not anticipate paying any dividends in the near future. Additionally, the Credit
Agreement (described in Note 15 above), as well as the indentures governing the 2027 Senior Notes, (described in Note 16 above),
contain covenants that restrict the Company from issuing dividends.
Risk-Free Interest Rate
The Company determined the risk-free interest rate by using a weighted average assumption equivalent to the expected term
based on the U.S. Treasury constant maturity rate as of the date of grant.
Volatility
The Company used an average historical share price volatility of comparable companies to be representative of future share
price volatility, as the Company did not have sufficient trading history for its ordinary shares.
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Expected Term
Given the Company’s limited historical exercise behavior, the expected term of options granted was determined using the
“simplified” method since the Company did not have sufficient historical exercise data to provide a reasonable basis upon which to
estimate the expected term. Under this approach, the expected term was presumed to be the average of the vesting term and the
contractual life of the option.
Forfeitures
As share-based compensation expense recognized in the consolidated profit and loss account is based on awards ultimately
expected to vest, it has been reduced for estimated forfeitures based on actual forfeiture experience, analysis of employee turnover and
other factors. The Company adopted ASU No. 2016-09 on January 1, 2017 and has elected to retain a forfeiture rate after adoption.
Restricted Stock Units
The following table summarizes restricted stock unit activity for the year ended December 31, 2020:

Number of
Units

Outstanding as of January 1, 2020
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Outstanding as of December 31, 2020

Weighted Average
Grant-Date Fair
Value Per Units

6,541,224 $
2,781,080
(2,995,881 )
(417,303 )
5,909,120 $

18.55
39.01
18.21
25.40
27.87

The grant-date fair value of restricted stock units is the closing price of the Company’s ordinary shares on the date of grant.
During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company granted 2,781,080 and 3,581,848 restricted stock units to
acquire shares of the Company’s ordinary shares to its employees and non-executive directors, respectively, with a weighted average
grant date fair value of $39.01 and $21.69, respectively. The restricted stock units vest annually, with a vesting period ranging from
two to four years. The Company accounts for the restricted stock units as equity-settled awards in accordance with ASU No. 2017-09.
The total fair value of restricted stock units vested during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $54.6 million and $76.4
million, respectively.
Performance Stock Unit Awards
The following table summarizes performance stock unit awards (“PSUs”) activity for the year ended December 31, 2020:

Number
of Units

Outstanding as of January 1, 2020
Granted
Forfeited
Vested
Performance based adjustment (1)
Outstanding as of December 31, 2020

(1)

3,558,900
587,802 $
(224,145 )
(1,401,574 )
89,941
2,610,924

Weighted
Average
Grant-Date
Fair Value
Per Unit

42.38
25.60
20.85
20.24

Average
Illiquidity
Discount

8.13 % $
(1.34 )%
0.00 %
0.00 %

Recorded
Weighted
Average
Fair Value
Per Unit

38.94
25.94
20.85
20.24

Represents adjustment based on the turnover performance criteria meeting 119.2% of target as of December 31, 2019 for
the 2019 PSUs (as defined below).
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On January 4, 2019, the Company awarded PSUs to key executive participants (“2019 PSUs”). The 2019 PSUs utilize two
performance metrics, a short-term component tied to business performance and a long-term component tied to relative compounded
annual shareholder rate of return (“TSR”), as follows:
•

30% of the granted 2019 PSUs that may vest (such portion of the PSU award, the “2019 Relative TSR PSUs”) are
determined by reference to the level of the Company’s relative TSR over the three-year period ending December 31,
2021, as measured against the TSR of each company included in the Nasdaq Biotechnology Index (“NBI”) during such
three-year period. Generally, in order to earn any portion of the 2019 Relative TSR PSUs, the participant must also
remain in continuous service with the Company through the earlier of January 1, 2022 or the date immediately prior to
a change in control. If a change in control occurs prior to December 31, 2021, the level of the Company’s relative TSR
will be measured through the date of the change in control.

•

70% of the granted 2019 PSUs that may vest (such portion of the PSU award, the “2019 Net Sales PSUs”), are
determined by reference to the Company’s turnover performance for its rare disease business unit (formerly named the
orphan business unit) and KRYSTEXXA. The rare disease business unit and KRYSTEXXA are part of the orphan
segment. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the turnover performance criteria was met at 119.2% of target.
Accordingly, one-third of the turnover PSUs portion have vested and the remaining two-thirds will vest in equal
installments in January 2021 and January 2022, subject to the participant’s continued service with the Company
through the applicable vesting dates.

On January 3, 2020, the Company awarded PSUs to key executive participants (“2020 PSUs”). The 2020 PSUs utilize two
performance metrics, a short-term component tied to business performance and a long-term component tied to relative compounded
annual TSR, as follows:
•

30% of the granted 2020 PSUs that may vest (such portion of the PSU award, the “2020 Relative TSR PSUs”) are
determined by reference to the level of the Company’s relative TSR over the three-year period ending December 31,
2022, as measured against the TSR of each company included in the NBI during such three-year period. Generally,
in order to earn any portion of the 2020 Relative TSR PSUs, the participant must also remain in continuous service
with the Company through the earlier of January 1, 2023 or the date immediately prior to a change in control. If a
change in control occurs prior to December 31, 2022, the level of the Company’s relative TSR will be measured
through the date of the change in control.

•

70% of the 2020 PSUs that may vest (such portion of the PSU award, the “2020 Net Sales PSUs”) are determined by
reference to the Company’s net sales for certain components of its orphan segment.

As a result of the continued impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on certain aspects of the Company’s business, the performance
goals associated with certain of the Company’s performance-based equity awards no longer reflected the Company’s expectations,
causing the awards to lose their incentive to employees. Accordingly, on July 28, 2020 the Compensation Committee approved a
modification to 57% of the 2020 Net Sales PSUs awarded on January 3, 2020 that were to vest based on KRYSTEXXA 2020 net
sales. Those 2020 Net Sales PSUs related to KRYSTEXXA may now be earned based on net sales of KRYSTEXXA achieved by the
end of a modified 18-month performance period ending July 1, 2021 instead of a 12-month performance period ending December 31,
2020. As a result, the first one-third of any 2020 PSUs earned will vest on July 1, 2021 and the vesting of the remaining two-thirds is
unchanged and will vest one-third each on January 5, 2022 and on January 5, 2023. There were twelve participants impacted by the
modification. The total compensation cost resulting from the modification is approximately $12.0 million and will be recognized over
the remaining requisite service period.
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All PSUs outstanding at December 31, 2020 may vest in a range of between 0% and 200%, with the exception of the modified
KRYSTEXXA 2020 Net Sales PSUs which are now capped at 150%, based on the performance metrics described above. The
Company accounts for the 2019 PSUs and 2020 PSUs as equity-settled awards in accordance with ASC 718. Because the value of the
2019 Relative TSR PSUs and 2020 Relative TSR PSUs are dependent upon the attainment of a level of TSR, it requires the impact of
the market condition to be considered when estimating the fair value of the 2019 Relative TSR PSUs and 2020 Relative TSR PSUs.
As a result, the Monte Carlo model is applied and the most significant valuation assumptions used related to the 2020 PSUs during the
year ended December 31, 2020, include:
Valuation date stock price
Expected volatility
Risk-free rate

$

36.10
47.3 %
1.5 %

The value of the 2020 Net Sales PSUs is calculated at the end of each quarter based on the expected payout percentage based on
estimated full-period performance against targets, and the Company adjusts the expense quarterly.
On January 4, 2019, the Company awarded a company-wide grant of PSUs (the “TEPEZZA PSUs”). Vesting of the TEPEZZA
PSUs was contingent upon receiving shareholder approval of amendments to the 2014 EIP, which approval was received on May 2,
2019. The TEPEZZA PSUs were generally eligible to vest contingent upon receiving approval of the TEPEZZA biologics license
application from the FDA no later than September 30, 2020 and the employee’s continued service with the Company. In January
2020, the Company received TEPEZZA approval from the FDA and the Company started recognizing the expense related to the
TEPEZZA PSUs on that date. As of December 31, 2020, there were 696,924 TEPEZZA PSUs outstanding. For members of the
executive committee, one-third of the TEPEZZA PSUs vested on the FDA approval date and one-third will vest on each of the first
two anniversaries of the FDA approval date, subject to the employee’s continued service through the applicable vesting dates. For all
other participants, one-half of the TEPEZZA PSUs vested on the FDA approval date and one-half vested on the one-year anniversary
of the FDA approval date, subject to the employee’s continued service through the vesting date.
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Share-Based Compensation Expense
The following table summarizes share-based compensation expense included in the Company’s consolidated profit and loss
account for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 (in thousands):
For the Years Ended December 31,
2020

Share-based compensation expense:
Cost of sales
Research and development
Selling, general and administrative
Total share-based compensation expense

$

$

7,203 $
13,973
125,451
146,627 $

2019

3,818
9,117
78,280
91,215

During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company recognized $29.3 million and $9.1 million of a tax benefit,
respectively, related to share-based compensation resulting primarily from the fair value of equity awards in effect at the time of the
exercise of stock options and vesting of restricted stock units and PSUs. As of December 31, 2020, the Company estimates that pretax unrecognized compensation expense of $139.2 million for all unvested share-based awards, including stock options, restricted
stock units and PSUs, will be recognized through the second quarter of 2023. The Company expects to satisfy the exercise of stock
options and future distribution of shares for restricted stock units and PSUs by issuing new ordinary shares which have been reserved
under the 2020 EIP.

Cash Incentive Program
On January 5, 2018, the Compensation Committee approved a performance cash incentive program for the Company’s
executive leadership team, including its executive officers (the “Cash Incentive Program”). Participants receiving awards under the
Cash Incentive Program are eligible to earn a cash bonus based upon the achievement of specified Company goals, which both
performance criteria were met on or before December 31, 2018. The Company determined that the cash bonus award under the Cash
Incentive Program is to be paid out at the maximum 150% target level of $14.1 million. The first and second installments were paid in
January 2019 and January 2020, respectively, and the remaining installment vested and was paid in January 2021.
The Company accounted for the Cash Incentive Program as a deferred compensation plan under ASC 710 and is recognizing the
payout expense using straight-line recognition through the end of the 36-month vesting period. During the year ended December 31,
2020, the Company recorded an expense of $3.7 million, to the consolidated profit and loss account related to the Cash Incentive
Program.
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Employee Benefit Plans

The Company sponsors a defined contribution 401(k) retirement savings plan covering all of its U.S. employees, whereby an
eligible employee may elect to contribute a portion of his or her salary on a pre-tax basis, subject to applicable federal limitations.
The Company is not required to make any discretionary matching of employee contributions. The Company makes a matching
contribution equal to 100% of each employee’s elective contribution to the plan of up to 3% of the employee’s eligible pay, and 50%
for the next 2% of the employee’s eligible pay. The full amount of this employer contribution is immediately vested in the plan. For
the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company recorded defined contribution expense of $12.0 million and $6.2 million,
respectively. The Company recorded an out of period adjustment during the year ended December 31, 2020, that increased employee
benefit plan expense. Refer to Note 1 for further detail.
The Company’s wholly owned Irish subsidiary sponsors a defined contribution plan covering all of its employees in Ireland.
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company recognized expenses of $0.8 million and $0.6m million, respectively
under this plan.

148

The Company has a non-qualified deferred compensation plan for executives. The deferred compensation plan obligations are
payable in cash upon retirement, termination of employment and/or certain other times in a lump-sum distribution or in installments,
as elected by the participant in accordance with the plan. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the deferred compensation plan
liabilities totaled $18.4 million and $12.7 million, respectively, and are included in “other long-term liabilities” in the consolidated
balance sheet. The Company held funds of approximately $18.4 million and $12.7 million in an irrevocable grantor's rabbi trust as of
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, related to this plan. Rabbi trust assets are classified as trading marketable securities and
are included in “other current assets” in the consolidated balance sheet. Unrealized gains and losses on these marketable securities are
included in “other income” in the consolidated profit and loss account. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the
Company recognized expenses of $1.1 million under this plan.
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Directors’ Remuneration
Directors’ remuneration for the financial years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were as follows (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,
2020
2019

Emoluments
Benefits under long-term incentive schemes(1)
Contributions to retirement benefit schemes:
Defined contribution(2)
Aggregate amount of gains by the directors on the exercise of share
options during the financial year

$

7,472
21,938
173
2,995

$

6,370
13,770
152
7,394

(1) Benefits under long-term incentive schemes relate to the aggregate amount of gains by the directors for RSUs and PSUs vested
during the financial years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.
(2) Retirement benefits are accruing to 1 director (2019: 1 director) under a defined contribution scheme.
The amounts in the above table include remuneration relating to directors and their connected persons (as defined in the
Companies Act 2014).
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Auditor’s Remuneration
Auditor’s remuneration for the financial years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was as follows (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,
2020
2019

Audit of the Group Financial statements(1)
Audit of financial statements of subsidiary companies(1)
Total

$

148
203
351

$

$

140
172
312

$

(1) The Company incurred additional fees of $3.2 million and $3.9 million during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively, payable to affiliates of PricewaterhouseCoopers, Ireland. These additional amounts reflect fees for professional
services rendered, including audit fees payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP in the U.S. for the audit of the Company's
consolidated financial statements.
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Employees
The average number of employees for the financial years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were as follows:
For the Years Ended December 31,
2020

Sales and marketing
General, finance and administration
Manufacturing, and research and development

2019

745
255
255
1,255

665
205
220
1,090

The following table represents compensation costs for the financial years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 (in thousands):
For the Years Ended December 31,
2020

2019

Wages and salaries
Share-based compensation
Social security costs and payroll taxes
Retirement benefit obligations
Other benefits

$

372,458
143,166
23,287
12,966
26,817

$

276,058
87,657
17,919
7,005
25,565

Total

$

578,694

$

414,204

The Company did not capitalize any material employee costs in stock, intangible assets or tangible assets during the year.
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Reconciliation of Amounts Reported in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC

As discussed in Note 1, these consolidated financial statements are prepared using U.S. GAAP to the extent that the use of such
principles does not contravene Irish Company Law. The Company also prepare consolidated financial statements using U.S. GAAP
which are included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed with the SEC (“Form 10-K”) on February 24, 2021. The primary
differences between these statutory financial statements and our consolidated financial statements included in our Form 10-K are the
presentational format of the profit and loss and balance sheet, terminology used and the inclusion of certain additional disclosures.
U.S. GAAP terminology
Accounts receivable
Liabilities
Operating results
Risk factors
Accumulated deficit/surplus
Net sales
Inventories

Irish Company Law terminology
Debtors
Creditors
Key performance indicators
Principal risks and uncertainties
Profit and loss account
Turnover
Stocks

Irish Company Law contains specific requirements for the classification of any liability uncertain as to the amount at which it
will be settled or as to the date on which it will be settled.
Irish Company Law requires goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets to be amortized. However, the Company does
not believe this gives a true and fair view, as not all goodwill and intangible assets decline in value. In addition, since goodwill that
does decline in value rarely does so on a straight-line basis, straight-line amortization of goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets
over an arbitrary period does not reflect the economic reality. Therefore, goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets are not
amortized.
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Subsidiary Undertakings

As of December 31, 2020, the Company had the following subsidiaries which were included in the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2020:

Name

Registered Office

Principal activities

Portion of equity
held

Horizon Medicines LLC

251 Little Falls Drive,
Wilmington, Delaware,
19808, USA

Operating company

100%

Horizon Ophthalmology, Inc.

251 Little Falls Drive,
Wilmington, Delaware,
19808, USA

Inactive company

100%

Horizon Orphan Holdings LLC

2711 Centerville Rd., Ste.
400,
Wilmington, Delaware
19808, USA

Holding company

100%

Horizon Orphan LLC

2711 Centerville Rd., Ste.
400,
Wilmington, Delaware
19808, USA

Holding company

100%

Horizon Pharma Israel Holding Corp.
Ltd

Rivlin Yosef 22,
Jerusalem, Israel

Inactive company

100%

Horizon Properties Holding LLC

251 Little Falls Drive,
Wilmington, Delaware,
19808, USA
70 Sir John Rogerson’s
Quay, Grand Canal Dock,
Dublin 2, D02 R296,
Ireland

Holding company

100%

Holding company

100%

Horizon Therapeutics Finance
Limited

70 Sir John Rogerson’s
Quay, Grand Canal Dock,
Dublin 2, D02 R296,
Ireland

Holding company

100%

Horizon Therapeutics Finance S.à r.l

19 Rue de Bitbourg,
Luxembourg, L-1273

Finance company

100%

Horizon Therapeutics GmbH

Joseph-Meyer Strasse 1315, Mannheim, Germany,
D-68167

Operating company

100%

Horizon Therapeutics Holdings
Limited

70 Sir John Rogerson’s
Quay, Grand Canal Dock,
Dublin 2, D02 R296,
Ireland

Holding company

100%

Horizon Therapeutics Capital Limited

152

Horizon Therapeutics Investment
Limited

21 Laffan St., Hamilton,
Pembroke HM09,
Bermuda

Finance company

100%

Horizon Therapeutics Ireland DAC

Connaught House, 1st
Floor, 1 Burlington Road,
Dublin 4, D04 C5Y6,
Ireland

Operating company

100%

Horizon Therapeutics, LLC

3411 Silverside Road
Rodney Bldg, Ste. 104
Wilmington, Delaware
19810, USA

Holding company

100%

Horizon Therapeutics Switzerland
GmbH

Clarahuus Centre,
Teichgasslein 9
4058 Basel, Switzerland

Operating company

100%

Horizon Therapeutics Services LLC

1209 Orange Street,
Wilmington, Delaware,
19801, USA

Operating Company

100%

Horizon Therapeutics Treasury DAC

70 Sir John Rogerson’s
Quay, Grand Canal Dock,
Dublin 2, D02 R296,
Ireland

Finance company

100%

Horizon Therapeutics USA, Inc.

1209 Orange Street
Wilmington, Delaware
19801, USA

Operating company

100%

Hyperion Therapeutics Ireland
Holding Limited

70 Sir John Rogerson’s
Quay, Grand Canal Dock,
Dublin 2, D02 R296,
Ireland

Holding company

100%

Hyperion Therapeutics Ireland
Operating Limited

70 Sir John Rogerson’s
Quay, Grand Canal Dock,
Dublin 2, D02 R296,
Ireland

Holding company

100%

HZNP Canada Limited

1959 Upper Water Street,
Suite 900, Halifax, NS,
Canada, B3J 3N2

Operating company

100%

HZNP Finance Limited

21 Laffan St., Hamilton,
Pembroke HM09,
Bermuda

Finance company

100%

HZNP Limited

21 Laffan St., Hamilton,
Pembroke HM09,
Bermuda

Holding company

100%
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Guarantees

The Company has irrevocably guaranteed the liabilities of the following Irish subsidiaries for the years ended December 31,
2020 and 2019: Horizon Pharma Aon Limited, Horizon Therapeutics Capital Limited, Horizon Pharma Do Limited, Horizon
Therapeutics Finance Limited, Horizon Therapeutics Holdings Limited, Horizon Therapeutics Ireland DAC, Horizon Pharma
Rheumatology Limited, Horizon Therapeutics Treasury DAC, Horizon Pharma Tri Limited, Hyperion Therapeutics Ireland Holdings
Limited, Hyperion Therapeutics Ireland Operating Limited and HZNP Limited.
Pursuant to the provisions of Section 357 of the Companies Act 2014, such subsidiaries have been exempted from the filing
provisions of Section 304 of the Companies Act 2014.
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Subsequent Events

On March 15, 2021, the Company completed its acquisition of Viela Bio Inc., (“Viela”), in which the Company acquired all of
the issued and outstanding shares of Viela’s common stock for $53.00 per share in cash, which represents a fully diluted equity value
of approximately $3.05 billion, or approximately $2.67 billion net of Viela’s cash and cash equivalents. Viela has one on-market
medicine in the United States and a deep mid-stage biologics pipeline for autoimmune and severe inflammatory diseases, with four
candidates currently in nine development programs. The final determination of the purchase price allocation is expected to be
completed as soon as practicable. Due to the limited time between the acquisition date and the approval of these consolidated
financial statements, it is not practicable for the Company to disclose: (i) the allocation of purchase price to assets acquired and
liabilities assumed as of the date of close, and (ii) pro forma turnover and earnings of the combined company for the financial year
ended December 31, 2020.
Amendment to Credit Agreement
On March 15, 2021, HTUSA (“Parent”) (in such capacity, the “Borrower”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Horizon Therapeutics
plc. (“Ultimate Parent” or “the Company”), borrowed $1,600.0 million aggregate principal amount of loans (the “Incremental Loans”)
pursuant to an amendment (the “Credit Facility Amendment”) to the Credit Agreement, dated as of May 7, 2015, by and among
Parent, Ultimate Parent, certain subsidiaries of Ultimate Parent party thereto as subsidiary guarantors, the lenders party thereto from
time to time and Citibank, N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent (as amended, the “Credit Agreement”). The Incremental
Loans were incurred as a separate class of term loans under the Credit Agreement with the same terms of the previously outstanding
$418.0 million senior secured term loans (the “December 2019 Refinancing Loans”) except as described below. The Credit
Agreement provides for (i) the Incremental Loans, (ii) the December 2019 Refinancing Loans, (iii) a $275.0 million revolving credit
facility (iii) one or more uncommitted additional incremental loan facilities subject to the satisfaction of certain financial and other
conditions, and (iv) one or more uncommitted refinancing loan facilities with respect to loans thereunder. The Credit Agreement
allows for Ultimate Parent and certain other subsidiaries of Ultimate Parent to become borrowers under incremental or refinancing
facilities.
The obligations under the Credit Agreement (including obligations in respect of the Incremental Loans) and any swap
obligations and cash management obligations owing to a lender (or an affiliate of a lender) thereunder are guaranteed by Ultimate
Parent and each of Ultimate Parent’s existing and subsequently acquired or formed direct and indirect subsidiaries (including the
Target and its subsidiaries) (other than certain immaterial subsidiaries, subsidiaries whose guarantee would result in material adverse
tax consequences and subsidiaries whose guarantee is prohibited by applicable law). The obligations under the Credit Agreement
(including obligations in respect of the Incremental Loans) and any such swap and cash management obligations are secured, subject
to customary permitted liens and other agreed upon exceptions, by a perfected security interest in (i) all tangible and intangible assets
of the Borrower and the guarantors, except for certain customary excluded assets, and (ii) all of the capital stock owned by the
Borrower and guarantors thereunder (limited, in the case of the stock of certain non-U.S. subsidiaries of the Borrower, to 65% of the
capital stock of such subsidiaries). The Borrower and the guarantors under the Credit Agreement are individually and collectively
referred to herein as a “Loan Party” and the “Loan Parties,” as applicable.
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The Borrower is permitted to make voluntary prepayments of the loans under the Credit Agreement at any time without
payment of a premium, except that with respect to the Incremental Loans, a 1% premium will apply to a repayment of the Incremental
Loans in connection with a repricing of, or any amendment to the Credit Agreement in a repricing of, such loans effected on or prior
to the date that is six months following March 15, 2021. The Borrower is required to make mandatory prepayments of loans under the
Credit Agreement (without payment of a premium) with (a) net cash proceeds from certain non-ordinary course asset sales (subject to
reinvestment rights and other exceptions), (b) casualty proceeds and condemnation awards (subject to reinvestment rights and other
exceptions), (c) net cash proceeds from issuances of debt (other than certain permitted debt), and (d) 50% of Ultimate Parent’s excess
cash flow (subject to decrease to 25% or 0% if Ultimate Parent’s first lien leverage ratio is less than 2.25:1 and 1.75:1, respectively).
The Incremental Loans will amortize in equal quarterly installments in an aggregate annual amount equal to 1% of the original
principal amount thereof, with any remaining balance payable on March 15, 2028, the final maturity date of the Incremental Loans.
The Incremental Loans bear interest at a rate, at Parent’s option, equal to the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”), plus
2.00% per annum (subject to a 0.50% LIBOR floor) or the adjusted base rate plus 1.00% per annum, with a step-down to LIBOR plus
1.75% per annum or the adjusted base rate plus 0.75% per annum at the time Ultimate Parent’s leverage ratio is less than or equal to
2.00 to 1.00. The adjusted base rate is defined as the greatest of (a) LIBOR (using one-month interest period) plus 1.00%, (b) the
prime rate, (c) the federal funds rate plus 0.50%, and (d) 1.00%.
The Credit Agreement contains customary representations and warranties and customary affirmative and negative covenants,
including, among other things, restrictions on indebtedness, liens, investments, mergers, dispositions, prepayment of other
indebtedness and dividends and other distributions.
Events of default under the Credit Agreement include: (i) the failure by the Borrower to timely make payments due under the
Credit Agreement; (ii) material misrepresentations or misstatements in any representation or warranty by any Loan Party when made;
(iii) failure by any Loan Party to comply with the covenants under the Credit Agreement and other related agreements; (iv) certain
defaults under a specified amount of other indebtedness of Ultimate Parent’s or its subsidiaries; (v) insolvency or bankruptcy-related
events with respect to Ultimate Parent or any of its material subsidiaries; (vi) certain undischarged judgments against Ultimate Parent
or any of its restricted subsidiaries; (vii) certain ERISA-related events reasonably expected to have a material adverse effect on
Ultimate Parent and its restricted subsidiaries taken as a whole; (viii) certain security interests or liens under the loan documents
ceasing to be, or being asserted by Ultimate Parent or its restricted subsidiaries not to be, in full force and effect; (ix) any loan
document or material provision thereof ceasing to be, or any proceeding being instituted asserting that such loan document or material
provision is not, in full force and effect; and (x) the occurrence of a change of control. If one or more events of default occurs and
continues beyond any applicable cure period, the administrative agent may, with the consent of the lenders holding a majority of the
loans and commitments under the facilities, or will, at the request of such lenders, terminate the commitments of the lenders to make
further loans and declare all of the obligations of the Loan Parties under the Credit Agreement to be immediately due and payable.
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Approval of the Financial Statements
The financial statements were approved by the directors on March 30, 2021.
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HORIZON THERAPEUTICS PLC
PARENT COMPANY BALANCE SHEET
As of December 31, 2020
(In thousands)
Fiscal Year
Note
Assets
Non-current assets
Investments in group undertakings

2020

3

$

3,088,931
3,088,931

2019

$

2,178,733
2,178,733

Current assets
Debtors:
Amounts owed by group undertakings
Prepayments and other debtors
Cash at bank and in hand

4

1,526,750
6,869
—
1,533,619

954,802
279
—
955,081

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Amounts due to group undertakings
Accrued expenses and other liabilities

5

1,358
918
2,276
4,620,274

221
631
852
3,132,962

6
7
7
7
8

77
4,015,766
621,413
298,822
(315,804)
4,620,274

74
2,292,775
541,291
301,041
(2,219)
3,132,962

Net assets
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital presented as equity
Share premium account
Other reserves
Profit and loss account
Loss for the financial year
Total equity

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
On behalf of the board
/s/ Timothy Walbert
Timothy Walbert
Director

/s/ William F. Daniel
William F. Daniel
Director
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$

HORIZON THERAPEUTICS PLC
PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020
(In thousands, except share data)

Balances at January 1, 2019
Issuance of Horizon Therapeutics plc shares in conjunction with stock
option exercises, the vesting of restricted stock units and performance
stock units, and employee share purchase plan purchases
Issuance of ordinary shares – public offering
Share-based compensation
Loss for the financial year
Balances at December 31, 2019
Issuance of Horizon Therapeutics plc shares in conjunction with stock
option exercises, the vesting of restricted stock units and performance
stock units, and employee share purchase plan purchases
Issuance of ordinary shares – public offering
Issuance of ordinary shares in conjunction with Exchangeable Senior
Notes
Share-based compensation
Loss for the financial year
Balances at December 31, 2020

Called-up Share Capital
Deferred
Ordinary Shares
Amount
Shares
169,244,520 $
17
40,000

5,075,888
14,081,632
—
—
188,402,040 $

5,851,220
13,570,000
13,898,414
—
—
221,721,674 $

1
1
—
—
19

—
—
—
—
40,000

1
1

—
—

1
—
—
22

—
—
—
40,000

Share Premium
Other
Profit and Loss
Amount
Account
Reserves
Account
$
55 $
1,961,354 $
450,076 $
301,041 $

$

—
—
—
—
55 $
—
—

$

—
—
—
55 $

4,449
326,972
—
—
2,292,775 $

53,037
919,513
750,441
—
—
4,015,766 $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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—
—
91,215
—
541,291 $

(66,505)
—
—
146,627
—
621,413 $

—
—
—
(2,219 )
298,822 $
—
—
—
—
(315,804)
(16,982) $

Total
2,712,543

4,450
326,973
91,215
(2,219 )
3,132,962

(13,467)
919,514
750,442
146,627
(315,804)
4,620,274

HORIZON THERAPEUTICS PLC
NOTES TO PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1

Statement of Compliance, basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Overview
Horizon Therapeutics plc is the ultimate parent company of a biotech group that is focused on researching, developing and
commercializing medicines that address critical needs for people impacted by rare, autoimmune and serious inflammatory diseases.
Horizon Therapeutics plc is a public company registered by shares. The Company’s registered number is 507678 and its
registered office is Connaught House, 1st Floor, Burlington Road, Dublin 4, D04 C5Y6, Ireland.
Statement of compliance
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and in accordance with Irish GAAP (accounting standards
issued by the UK Financial Reporting Council and the Companies Act 2014.) The entity financial statements comply with Financial
Reporting Standard 102, The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) and Irish Law.
The directors have considered the potential impact of the COVID-19 global pandemic described in the Impact of COVID-19
section in this Irish Annual Report and concluded that the Company has sufficient liquidity to prepare the financial statements on a
going concern basis.
Basis of Presentation
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with FRS 102 requires the use of certain key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the financial year. It also requires the directors to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the
Company’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in Note 2.
Disclosure Exemptions for Qualifying Entities Under FRS 102
FRS 102 allows a qualifying entity certain disclosure exemptions. As a qualifying entity the Company has availed of a number
of exemptions from the disclosure requirements of FRS 102 in the preparation of the entity financial statements. In accordance with
FRS 102, the Company has availed of an exemption from the following paragraphs of FRS 102 as the Company’s results are
consolidated within the Group financial statements:
-

-

Exemption from the requirements of Section 7 of FRS 102 and FRS 102 paragraph 3.17(d) to present a statement of cash
flows;
Exemption from the financial instrument disclosure requirements of Section 11 paragraphs 11.41 to 11.48A and Section
12 paragraphs 12.26 to 12.29A of FRS 102 providing the equivalent disclosures are included in the consolidated
financial statements of the group in which the entity is consolidated;
Exemption from certain disclosure requirements of Section 26 of FRS 102 (paragraphs 26.18(b), 26.19 to 26.21 and
26.23), in respect of share-based payments; and
Exemption from the requirement of FRS 102 paragraph 33.7 to disclose key management personnel compensation in
total.
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Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS 102 requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date.
Estimates are used for, but not limited to, assumptions and inputs for fair value measurements. Actual results could differ from these
estimates.
Going concern
The directors, having made enquiries, are satisfied that the Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for a period of at least twelve months from the date of approval of these financial statements and therefore can continue to trade during
this period. Consequently, the directors have adopted the going concern basis in the preparation of the financial statements.
New and amended standards and interpretations
We have considered all revised standards and new or revised interpretations but they are either not applicable, or currently do
not have a material impact on the financial statements.
Accounting Policies
The significant accounting policies adopted by Horizon Therapeutics plc are discussed below.
Functional and presentational currency
Items included in these financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the
Company operates. The financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars, which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.
Currency translation
Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of the entities were recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that were denominated in foreign currencies
were translated to the functional currency of the Company at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies were translated to U.S. dollar at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the transactions
were effected. Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation were recognized in profit or loss.
Investments in group undertakings
The Company’s shares in group undertakings were recorded at cost being the fair value of consideration given plus any directly
attributable costs, plus capital contributions less any return of capital. The investments are tested for impairment if circumstances or
indicators suggest that impairment may exist.
The Company assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if
there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a
‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial
assets that can be reliably estimated.
Debtors
Debtors are amounts due from customers or group undertakings for services performed in the ordinary course of business. If
collection is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current
assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.
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Cash at bank and in hand
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts, when applicable, are shown within borrowings
in current liabilities.
Financial Instruments
(i)

Financial Assets

Basic financial assets debtors and cash and cash equivalents are initially recognized at transaction price (including transaction
costs), unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction. Where the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction the
resulting financial asset is initially measured at the present value of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest for a
similar debt instrument.
Trade and other debtors, cash and cash equivalents and financial assets from arrangements which constitute financing
transactions are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
At the end of each financial year financial assets measured at amortized cost are assessed for impairment. If there is objective
evidence that a financial asset measured at amortized cost is impaired an impairment loss is recognized in the statement of
comprehensive income. The impairment loss is the difference between the financial asset's carrying amount and the present value of
the financial asset's estimated cash inflows discounted at the asset's original effective interest rate.
Financial assets are derecognized when (a) the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or are settled, (b)
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred to another party, or (c) control of the financial
asset has been transferred to another party who has the practical ability to unilaterally sell the financial asset to an unrelated third party
without imposing additional restrictions.
(ii)

Financial Liabilities

Basic financial liabilities, including trade and other creditors, accrued liabilities and loans from fellow group companies are
initially recognized at transaction price, unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction. Where the arrangement constitutes
a financing transaction the resulting financial liability is initially measured at the present value of the future payments discounted at a
market rate of interest for a similar debt instrument.
Trade and other creditors, loans from fellow group companies and financial liability from arrangements which constitute
financing transactions are subsequently carried at amortized cost, using the effective interest method.
Trade creditors are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers Trade creditors are recognized initially at transaction price and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest method.
Financial liabilities are derecognized when the liability is extinguished, that is when the contractual obligation is discharged,
canceled or expires.
Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year
Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the
ordinary course of business from suppliers or group undertakings. Trade creditors are classified as due within one year if payment is
due within one year or less. If not, they are presented as falling due after more than one year.
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Contingencies
Contingent liabilities, arising as a result of past events, are not recognized as a liability if it is not probable that the Company
will be required to transfer economic benefits in settlement of the obligation or the amount cannot be reliably measured. Possible but
uncertain obligations are not recognized as liabilities but are contingent liabilities. Contingent liabilities are disclosed in the financial
statements unless the probability of payment is remote. The Company has guaranteed certain liabilities and credit arrangements of the
Company's subsidiaries. The Company reviews the status of these guarantees at each reporting date and considers whether it is
required to make a provision for payment on those guarantees based on the probability of the commitment being called.
Current and deferred taxation
The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognized in the income statement, except to the extent
that it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in shareholders’ funds. In this case, the tax is also
recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in shareholders’ funds, respectively.
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date in the countries where the Company operates and generates taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
Deferred income tax is recognized on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognized if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill; or arise from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that
at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred income tax liability is settled.
Deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilized.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognized as
a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.
Share-based compensation
The Company and its subsidiaries operate equity-settled, share-based compensation plans for employees of some of its
subsidiaries.
The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the equity instruments granted in each of the subsidiaries is
recognized as an addition to the investment with a corresponding increase in equity as a contribution by the parent company.
The amount of any payments made by a subsidiary to the parent company for shares issued under the share-based compensation
plans is offset against the parent company’s investment in the subsidiary. The amount of any payments that exceed the investment in
the subsidiary is recorded in the parent company’s profit and loss account.
The proceeds received by the parent company when share options are exercised are credited to share capital (nominal value) and
the balance to share premium.
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Related party transactions
The Group discloses transactions with related parties which are not wholly owned within the same Group. Where appropriate,
transactions of a similar nature are aggregated unless, in the opinion of the directors, separate disclosure is necessary to understand the
effect of the transactions on the Group financial statements.
2

Critical accounting estimates and judgments

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The Company makes estimates and
assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are addressed below:
(a)

Estimated impairment of investments in group undertakings

The Company assesses whether investments in group undertakings have suffered any impairment in line with the accounting
policies stated. The determination of recoverable amounts requires the use of estimates. The Company’s judgements in relation to the
impairment of investments in group undertakings are included in Note 3.

(b)

Impairment of amounts due from group undertakings

The Company makes an estimate of the recoverable value of amounts due from group undertakings. When assessing
impairment of amounts due from group undertakings, management considers factors including the credit rating of the receivable, the
ageing profile of receivables and historical experience.
If collection is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as due
within one year. If not, they are presented as due after one year.

3

Investments in group undertakings
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, investments in group undertakings were comprised of (in thousands):

2020

At beginning of year
Capital contribution in respect of share-based compensation plans
Payment received in respect of share-based compensation plans
Investment during the year
Impairment during the year

$

At December 31

$
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As of December 31,
2019

2,178,733
143,166
(35,687)
802,729
(10)

$

3,088,931

$

1,666,893
87,658
(4,273)
428,455
—

2,178,733

As of December 31, 2020, the Company had the following direct subsidiaries:
Name

Registered Office

Principal activities

Horizon Therapeutics Holdings
Limited

70 Sir John Rogerson’s
Quay, Grand Canal Dock,
Dublin 2, D02 R296,
Ireland
21 Laffan St., Hamilton,
Pembroke HM09,
Bermuda

Holding company

100%

Finance company

100%

Horizon Therapeutics Investment
Limited

Portion of equity held

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company made a capital contribution of $802.7 million (2019: $428.5 million)
to Horizon Therapeutics Holdings Limited.
The directors consider the recoverable amount of the investments in Horizon Therapeutics Holdings Limited to be in excess of
the carrying value of the investments having considered the market capitalization of the Group.
Following an assessment of whether the Company’s investments in subsidiary undertakings are impaired as of 31 December
2020, the directors held the view that the investment in Horizon Therapeutics Investment Limited should be reduced to a carrying
value of $nil. As a result, an impairment loss of $10 thousand has been recorded in the statement of comprehensive income.
4

Amounts owed by group undertakings

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, amounts owed by group undertakings are unsecured and have no fixed date of repayment
and are repayable on demand. As of December 31, 2020, amounts owed by group undertakings includes a balance of $967.0 million,
which is interest bearing (2019: $22.2 million).
5

Amounts due to group undertakings

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, amounts due to group undertakings are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of
repayment and are repayable on demand.

6

Called up share capital presented as equity
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, share capital was comprised as follows (in thousands, except share data):
As of December 31,
2020

Authorized
40,000 (2019: 40,000) ordinary shares €1 par value each
600,000,000 (2019: 600,000,000) ordinary shares at $0.0001 par value each

Allotted, called up and fully paid – presented as equity
40,000 (2019: 40,000) deferred shares €1 par value each
221,337,308 (2019: 188,017,674) outstanding ordinary shares at $0.0001 par
value
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$

2019

$

$

55
60
115

$

55
60
115

$

55

$

55

$

22
77

$

19
74

On June 3, 2020, Horizon Therapeutics Investment Limited (“Horizon Investment”) issued a Redemption Notice for all of the
outstanding Exchangeable Senior Notes. From June 3, 2020 through July 30, 2020, the Company issued an aggregate of 13,898,414
of its ordinary shares to noteholders as a result of exchanges of $398.3 million in aggregate principal amount of Exchangeable Senior
Notes following the issuance of the Redemption Notice. On August 3, 2020, the Company redeemed the remaining $1.7 million in
aggregate principal amount of Exchangeable Senior Notes and made aggregate cash payments to the holders of such Exchangeable
Senior Notes of $1.8 million, including accrued interest.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company issued 13.6 million ordinary shares in connection with the closing
of its underwritten public equity offering on August 11, 2020. The Company received net proceeds of approximately $919.8 million
after deducting underwriting discounts and other offering expenses payable by the Company in connection with such offering.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company issued an aggregate of 5.9 million of ordinary shares in connection
with stock option exercises, the vesting of restricted stock units and performance stock units, and employee share purchase plan
purchases. The Company received a total of $53.0 million in net proceeds in connection with such issuances.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company made payments of $66.5 million for employee withholding taxes
relating to share-based awards.
On February 28, 2019, the Company entered into a Rights Agreement (the “Rights Agreement”), with Computershare Trust
Company, N.A., as rights agent. The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) authorized the issuance of one ordinary share
purchase right (a “Right”) for each outstanding ordinary share of the Company. Each Right represented the right to purchase one-fifth
of an ordinary share of the Company, upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Rights Agreement. The Rights were issued
to the shareholders of record on March 11, 2019 and expired on February 28, 2020.
The Board adopted the Rights Agreement to enable all shareholders of the Company to realize the long-term value of their
investment in the Company and to guard against attempts to acquire control of the Company at an inadequate price. In general terms,
the Rights Agreement works by causing significant dilution to any person or group that acquires 10% (or 15% in the case of an
existing “13G Investor” as defined in the Rights Agreement) or more of the outstanding ordinary shares of the Company without the
prior approval of the Board. The Rights Agreement is not intended to prevent an acquisition of the Company on terms that the Board
considers favorable to, and in the best interests of, all shareholders. Rather, the Rights Agreement aims to provide the Board with
adequate time to fully assess any takeover proposal and therefore comply with its fiduciary duties and to encourage anyone seeking to
acquire the Company to negotiate with the Board prior to attempting a takeover. The Rights Agreement was adopted in response to
the takeover environment in general, particularly in light of the Company’s evolution into a biopharma company focused on rare
diseases and rheumatology, the Phase 3 clinical trial results of its rare disease medicine candidate TEPEZZA announced on February
28, 2019 and the market opportunity for KRYSTEXXA and TEPEZZA and was not in response to any specific approach to the
Company or perceived imminent takeover proposal for the Company. The issuance of Rights is not taxable to the Company or to
shareholders and does not affect reported earnings per share.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company issued an aggregate of 14.1 million of ordinary shares in connection
with the closing of its underwritten public equity offering on March 11, 2019. The Company received a total of approximately $326.8
million after deducting underwriting discounts and other estimated offering expenses payable by the Company in connection with
such offering.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company issued an aggregate of 5.1 million of ordinary shares in connection
with stock option exercises, the vesting of restricted stock units and performance stock units, and employee share purchase plan
purchases. The Company received a total of $36.2 million in net proceeds in connection with such issuances.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company made payments of $31.6 million for employee withholding taxes
relating to share-based awards.
On May 2, 2019, the shareholders of the Company approved an increase in the Company’s authorized share capital of an
additional 300,000,000 ordinary shares of nominal value $0.0001 per share.
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On May 2, 2019, the shareholders of the Company approved the renewal of the Board’s existing authority to allot and issue
ordinary shares for cash and non-cash considerations under Irish law for a five-year period to expire on May 2, 2024. Additionally, on
May 2, 2019, the shareholders of the Company approved the renewal of the Board’s existing authority to allot and issue ordinary
shares for cash without first offering those ordinary shares to existing shareholders pursuant to the statutory pre-emption right that
would otherwise apply under Irish law for a five-year period to expire on May 2, 2024.

7

Reserves
Share premium
Share premium represents proceeds received from the issuance of share capital in excess of par value.
Other reserves
Other reserves relates to share-based payments.
Profit and loss reserve
This represents the accumulated comprehensive income of the Company.

8

Loss attributable to Horizon Therapeutics Plc

In accordance with Section 304 of the Companies Act 2014, the Company is availing of the exemption from presenting and
filing its individual profit and loss account. Horizon Therapeutics Plc’s loss for financial year 2020 and financial year 2019 as
determined in accordance with Irish GAAP (FRS 102) was $315.8 million and $2.2 million, respectively.
The loss for financial year 2020 was primarily attributable to an expense of $350.6 million recorded by the parent company in
respect of its obligations under a reimbursement and settlement agreement effective July 1, 2019 between the parent company and its
wholly owned subsidiary, Horizon Investment. Under the terms of this agreement, the parent company agreed to reimburse Horizon
Investments amounts due to the external noteholders in excess of the principal amount of the Exchangeable Senior Notes in the event
of a repurchase, redemption or exchange of these notes. Pursuant to this agreement, the parent company reimbursed Horizon
Investment $350.6 million during the financial year 2020 as a result of exchanges of $398.3 million in aggregate principal amount of
Exchangeable Senior Notes.

9

Directors’ Remuneration
Note 24 to the group’s Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements provide details of directors’ remuneration paid by the Group.

10

Auditor’s Remuneration

For the year ended December 31, 2020, $22,000 was payable for the statutory audit of the parent company financial statements
to its auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers (2019: $21,000). No remuneration was payable in respect of other assurance services, tax
advisory services or other non-audit services.
11

Financial Commitments
At December 31, 2020, the Company had no annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases.

The Company has irrevocably guaranteed the liabilities of the following Irish subsidiaries for the years ended December 31,
2020 and 2019: Horizon Pharma Aon Limited, Horizon Therapeutics Capital Limited, Horizon Pharma Do Limited, Horizon
Therapeutics Finance Limited, Horizon Therapeutics Holdings Limited, Horizon Therapeutics Ireland DAC, Horizon Pharma
165

Rheumatology Limited, Horizon Therapeutics Treasury DAC, Horizon Pharma Tri Limited, Hyperion Therapeutics Ireland Holdings
Limited, Hyperion Therapeutics Ireland Operating Limited and HZNP Limited. In addition, the Company has acted as a guarantor for
the following external debt held by subsidiaries of the Group:
Term Loan Facility
On December 18, 2019, Horizon Therapeutics USA, Inc. (the “Borrower”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
borrowed approximately $418.0 million aggregate principal amount of loans (the “December 2019 Refinancing Loans”) pursuant to
an amendment to the credit agreement, dated as of May 7, 2015, by and among the Borrower, the Company and certain of its
subsidiaries as guarantors, the lenders party thereto from time to time and Citibank, N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent,
as amended by Amendment No. 1, dated as of October 25, 2016, Amendment No. 2, dated March 29, 2017, Amendment No. 3, dated
October 23, 2017, Amendment No. 4, dated October 19, 2018, Amendment No. 5, dated March 11, 2019 and Amendment No. 6, dated
May 22, 2019 (the “Term Loan Facility”). Pursuant to Amendment No. 5, the Borrower received $200.0 million aggregate principal
amount of revolving commitments, which was increased to $275.0 million aggregate amount of revolving commitments (the
“Incremental Revolving Commitments”) pursuant to an incremental amendment and joinder agreement entered into on August 17,
2020 (the “Incremental Amendment”). The Incremental Revolving Commitments were established pursuant to an incremental facility
(the “Revolving Credit Facility”) and includes a $50.0 million letter of credit sub-facility. The Incremental Revolving Commitments
will terminate in March 2024. Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility are available for general corporate purposes. As of
December 31, 2020, the Revolving Credit Facility was undrawn.
2027 Senior Notes
On July 16, 2019, Horizon Therapeutics USA, Inc., the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary (“HTUSA”), completed a private
placement of $600.0 million aggregate principal amount of 2027 Senior Notes to several investment banks acting as initial purchasers,
who subsequently resold the 2027 Senior Notes to persons reasonably believed to be qualified institutional buyers.
The Company used the net proceeds from the offering of the 2027 Senior Notes, together with approximately $65.0 million in
cash on hand, to redeem or prepay $625.0 million of its outstanding debt, consisting of (i) the outstanding $225.0 million principal
amount of its 6.625% Senior Notes due 2023, (ii) the outstanding $300.0 million principal amount of its 8.750% Senior Notes due
2024 and (iii) $100.0 million of the outstanding principal amount of senior secured term loans under the Credit Agreement, as well as
to pay the related premiums and fees and expenses, excluding accrued interest, associated with such redemption and prepayment.

Exchangeable Senior Notes
On March 13, 2015, Horizon Therapeutics Investment Limited (“Horizon Investment”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, completed a private placement of $400.0 million aggregate principal amount of Exchangeable Senior Notes to certain
investment banks acting as initial purchasers who subsequently resold the Exchangeable Senior Notes to qualified institutional buyers
as defined in Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The net proceeds from the offering of the Exchangeable
Senior Notes were approximately $387.2 million, after deducting the initial purchasers’ discount and offering expenses payable by
Horizon Investment.
The Exchangeable Senior Notes were fully and unconditionally guaranteed, on a senior unsecured basis, by the Company (the
“Guarantee”). The Exchangeable Senior Notes and the Guarantee were Horizon Investment’s and the Company’s senior unsecured
obligations. The Exchangeable Senior Notes accrued interest at an annual rate of 2.5% payable semiannually in arrears on March 15
and September 15 of each year, beginning on September 15, 2015. The Exchangeable Senior Notes were scheduled to mature on
March 15, 2022. The exchange rate was 34.8979 ordinary shares of the Company per $1,000 principal amount of the Exchangeable
Senior Notes (equivalent to an initial exchange price of approximately $28.66 per ordinary share).
On June 3, 2020, Horizon Investment issued a notice of redemption (the “Redemption Notice”) for all of the outstanding
Exchangeable Senior Notes. From June 3, 2020 through July 30, 2020, the Company issued an aggregate of 13,898,414 of its ordinary
shares to noteholders as a result of exchanges of $398.3 million in aggregate principal amount of Exchangeable Senior Notes
following the issuance of the Redemption Notice.
On August 3, 2020, the Company redeemed the remaining $1.7 million in aggregate principal amount of Exchangeable Senior
Notes and made aggregate cash payments to the holders of such Exchangeable Senior Notes of $1.8 million, including accrued
interest. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded a loss on debt extinguishment $31.9 million related to the
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Exchangeable Senior Notes.

12

Related Parties

On April 1, 2020, an affiliate of the parent company acquired Curzion Pharmaceuticals Inc (“Curzion”) a privately held
development-stage biopharma company, and its development-stage oral selective lysophosphatidic acid 1 receptor (LPAR1)
antagonist, CZN001 (renamed HZN-825). A member of the Company’s board of directors, was executive chairman of, and held a
beneficial interest in, Curzion. In connection with the acquisition, entities affiliated with the director may receive an aggregate of
approximately $8.0 million in upfront and milestone payments. This related party transaction was conducted in the normal course of
business on an arm’s length basis.
Transactions with Horizon Therapeutics plc and with other wholly owned subsidiary companies of Horizon Therapeutics plc are
not disclosed as the Company has availed of the exemption available under FRS 102 from presenting such transactions. Accordingly,
the parent company financial statements do not contain disclosures of transactions with such entities.

13

Employees
The Company did not have any employees during the years ended December 31, 2020 or 2019.

14

Subsequent Event

On March 15, 2021, the Group completed its acquisition of Viela, in which the Group acquired all of the issued and outstanding
shares of Viela’s common stock for $53.00 per share in cash, which represents a fully diluted equity value of approximately $3.05
billion, or approximately $2.67 billion net of Viela’s cash and cash equivalents. Viela has one on-market medicine in the United
States and a deep mid-stage biologics pipeline for autoimmune and severe inflammatory diseases, with four candidates currently in
nine development programs. The final determination of the purchase price allocation is expected to be completed as soon as
practicable. Due to the limited time between the acquisition date and the approval of these consolidated financial statements, it is not
practicable for the Group to disclose: (i) the allocation of purchase price to assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the date of
close, and (ii) pro forma turnover and earnings of the combined company for the financial year ended December 31, 2020.
Amendment to Credit Agreement
On March 15, 2021, HTUSA (“Parent”) (in such capacity, the “Borrower”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Horizon Therapeutics
plc. (“Ultimate Parent” or “the Group”), borrowed $1,600.0 million aggregate principal amount of loans (the “Incremental Loans”)
pursuant to an amendment (the “Credit Facility Amendment”) to the Credit Agreement, dated as of May 7, 2015, by and among
Parent, Ultimate Parent, certain subsidiaries of Ultimate Parent party thereto as subsidiary guarantors, the lenders party thereto from
time to time and Citibank, N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent (as amended, the “Credit Agreement”). The Incremental
Loans were incurred as a separate class of term loans under the Credit Agreement with the same terms of the previously outstanding
$418.0 million senior secured term loans (the “December 2019 Refinancing Loans”) except as described below. The Credit
Agreement provides for (i) the Incremental Loans, (ii) the December 2019 Refinancing Loans, (iii) a $275.0 million revolving credit
facility (iii) one or more uncommitted additional incremental loan facilities subject to the satisfaction of certain financial and other
conditions, and (iv) one or more uncommitted refinancing loan facilities with respect to loans thereunder. The Credit Agreement
allows for Ultimate Parent and certain other subsidiaries of Ultimate Parent to become borrowers under incremental or refinancing
facilities.
The obligations under the Credit Agreement (including obligations in respect of the Incremental Loans) and any swap
obligations and cash management obligations owing to a lender (or an affiliate of a lender) thereunder are guaranteed by Ultimate
Parent and each of Ultimate Parent’s existing and subsequently acquired or formed direct and indirect subsidiaries (including the
Target and its subsidiaries) (other than certain immaterial subsidiaries, subsidiaries whose guarantee would result in material adverse
tax consequences and subsidiaries whose guarantee is prohibited by applicable law). The obligations under the Credit Agreement
(including obligations in respect of the Incremental Loans) and any such swap and cash management obligations are secured, subject
to customary permitted liens and other agreed upon exceptions, by a perfected security interest in (i) all tangible and intangible assets
of the Borrower and the guarantors, except for certain customary excluded assets, and (ii) all of the capital stock owned by the
Borrower and guarantors thereunder (limited, in the case of the stock of certain non-U.S. subsidiaries of the Borrower, to 65% of the
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capital stock of such subsidiaries). The Borrower and the guarantors under the Credit Agreement are individually and collectively
referred to herein as a “Loan Party” and the “Loan Parties,” as applicable.
The Borrower is permitted to make voluntary prepayments of the loans under the Credit Agreement at any time without
payment of a premium, except that with respect to the Incremental Loans, a 1% premium will apply to a repayment of the Incremental
Loans in connection with a repricing of, or any amendment to the Credit Agreement in a repricing of, such loans effected on or prior
to the date that is six months following March 15, 2021. The Borrower is required to make mandatory prepayments of loans under the
Credit Agreement (without payment of a premium) with (a) net cash proceeds from certain non-ordinary course asset sales (subject to
reinvestment rights and other exceptions), (b) casualty proceeds and condemnation awards (subject to reinvestment rights and other
exceptions), (c) net cash proceeds from issuances of debt (other than certain permitted debt), and (d) 50% of Ultimate Parent’s excess
cash flow (subject to decrease to 25% or 0% if Ultimate Parent’s first lien leverage ratio is less than 2.25:1 and 1.75:1, respectively).
The Incremental Loans will amortize in equal quarterly installments in an aggregate annual amount equal to 1% of the original
principal amount thereof, with any remaining balance payable on March 15, 2028, the final maturity date of the Incremental Loans.
The Incremental Loans bear interest at a rate, at Parent’s option, equal to the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”), plus
2.00% per annum (subject to a 0.50% LIBOR floor) or the adjusted base rate plus 1.00% per annum, with a step-down to LIBOR plus
1.75% per annum or the adjusted base rate plus 0.75% per annum at the time Ultimate Parent’s leverage ratio is less than or equal to
2.00 to 1.00. The adjusted base rate is defined as the greatest of (a) LIBOR (using one-month interest period) plus 1.00%, (b) the
prime rate, (c) the federal funds rate plus 0.50%, and (d) 1.00%.
The Credit Agreement contains customary representations and warranties and customary affirmative and negative covenants,
including, among other things, restrictions on indebtedness, liens, investments, mergers, dispositions, prepayment of other
indebtedness and dividends and other distributions.
Events of default under the Credit Agreement include: (i) the failure by the Borrower to timely make payments due under the
Credit Agreement; (ii) material misrepresentations or misstatements in any representation or warranty by any Loan Party when made;
(iii) failure by any Loan Party to comply with the covenants under the Credit Agreement and other related agreements; (iv) certain
defaults under a specified amount of other indebtedness of Ultimate Parent’s or its subsidiaries; (v) insolvency or bankruptcy-related
events with respect to Ultimate Parent or any of its material subsidiaries; (vi) certain undischarged judgments against Ultimate Parent
or any of its restricted subsidiaries; (vii) certain ERISA-related events reasonably expected to have a material adverse effect on
Ultimate Parent and its restricted subsidiaries taken as a whole; (viii) certain security interests or liens under the loan documents
ceasing to be, or being asserted by Ultimate Parent or its restricted subsidiaries not to be, in full force and effect; (ix) any loan
document or material provision thereof ceasing to be, or any proceeding being instituted asserting that such loan document or material
provision is not, in full force and effect; and (x) the occurrence of a change of control. If one or more events of default occurs and
continues beyond any applicable cure period, the administrative agent may, with the consent of the lenders holding a majority of the
loans and commitments under the facilities, or will, at the request of such lenders, terminate the commitments of the lenders to make
further loans and declare all of the obligations of the Loan Parties under the Credit Agreement to be immediately due and payable.

15

Approval of Financial Statements
The directors approved the financial statements on March 30, 2021.
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